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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information

In addition to historical information, this Form 10-K contains certain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 (PSLRA). This statement is included for the express purpose of availing IsoRay, Inc. of the protections of the safe harbor provisions of
the PSLRA.

All statements contained in this Form 10-K, other than statements of historical facts, that address future activities, events or developments are forward-
looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements containing the words "believe," "expect," "anticipate," "intends," "estimate,” "forecast,"
"project,” and similar expressions. All statements other than statements of historical fact are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements,
including any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management for future operations, any statements concerning proposed new products,
services, developments or industry rankings; any statements regarding future revenue, economic conditions or performance; any statements of belief; and
any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by us in light of our
experience and our assessment of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments as well as other factors we believe are appropriate
under the circumstances. However, whether actual results will conform to the expectations and predictions of management is subject to a number of risks
and uncertainties described under Item 1A — Risk Factors beginning on page 27 below that may cause actual results to differ materially.

Consequently, all of the forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K are qualified by these cautionary statements and there can be no assurance
that the actual results anticipated by management will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or
effects on our business operations. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements as they speak only of the
Company's views as of the date the statement was made. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

PART I

As used in this Form 10-K, unless the context requires otherwise, "we" or "us" or the "Company" means IsoRay, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
ITEM 1 - BUSINESS

General

CENTURY PARK PicTURES CORPORATION (CENTURY) WAS ORGANIZED UNDER MINNESOTA LAW IN 1983. CENTURY HAD NO OPERATIONS SINCE ITS FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPT
30, 1999 through June 30,2005.

ON Jury 28, 2005, IsoRAY MEDICAL, INC. (MEDICAL) BECAME A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF CENTURY PURSUANT TO A MERGER. CENTURY CHANGED ITS NAME TO Isc
Inc. (IsoRay or the Company). In the merger, the Medical stockholders received approximately 82% of the then outstanding securities of the Company.

MEDICAL, A DELAWARE CORPORATION, WAS INCORPORATED ON JUNE 15, 2004 TO DEVELOP, MANUFACTURE AND SELL ISOTOPE-BASED MEDICAL PRODUCTS AND DEVICES FO
treatment of cancer and other malignant diseases. Medical is headquartered in Richland, Washington.

IsoRAY INTERNATIONAL LLC (INTERNATIONAL), A WASHINGTON LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, WAS FORMED ON NOVEMBER 27, 2007 AND IS A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIAR
the Company. International has not had any significant transactions since its inception.

Available Information

THE COMPANY ELECTRONICALLY FILES ITS ANNUAL REPORTS ON FORM 10-K, QUARTERLY REPORTS ON FORM 10-Q, CURRENT REPORTS ON FORM 8-K, AND ALL AMENDMENTS 1
REPORTS AND OTHER INFORMATION WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE CommissioN (SEC). THESE REPORTS CAN BE OBTAINED BY ACCESSING THE SEC's WEBSITE
WWW.SEC.GOV. THE PUBLIC CAN ALSO OBTAIN COPIES BY VISITING THE SEC's PuBLIc REFERENCE Room AT 100 F STREET NE, WASHINGTON, DC 20549 OR BY CALLING *
SEC ar 1-800-SEC-0330. IN ADDITION, THE COMPANY MAKES COPIES OF ITS ANNUAL AND QUARTERLY REPORTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC AT ITS WEBSITE AT WWW_.ISORAY i
Information on this website is not a part of this Report.
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Business Operations

Overview

In 2003, [SORAY OBTAINED CLEARANCE FROM THE FDA FOR TREATMENT FOR ALL SOLID TUMOR APPLICATIONS USING CESIUM-131. SUCH APPLICATIONS INCLUDE PROSTATE CA
OCULAR MELANOMA; HEAD, NECK AND LUNG TUMORS; BREAST CANCER; LIVER CANCER; BRAIN CANCER; COLORECTAL CANCER; GYNECOLOGICAL CANCER; ESOPHAGEAL CA!
PANCREATIC CANCER. THE BRACHYTHERAPY SEED FORM OF CESIUM-131 MAY BE USED IN SURFACE, INTERSTITIAL AND INTRACAVITY APPLICATIONS FOR TUMORS WITH KNOWN 1|
SENSITIVITY. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES ITS Cs-131 TECHNOLOGY WILL ALLOW IT TO BECOME A LEADER IN THE BRACHYTHERAPY MARKET. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THE
PrROXCELAN CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED REPRESENTS THE FIRST MAJOR ADVANCEMENT IN BRACHYTHERAPY TECHNOLOGY IN OVER 21 YEARS WITH ATTRIBUTES THA
make it the long-term "seed of choice" for internal radiation therapy procedures.

BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS ARE SMALL DEVICES USED IN AN INTERSTITIAL RADIATION PROCEDURE. THE PROCEDURE HAS BECOME ONE OF THE PRIMARY TREATMENTS FOR PROSTATE
THE BRACHYTHERAPY PROCEDURE PLACES RADIOACTIVE SEEDS AS CLOSE AS POSSIBLE TO (IN OR NEAR) THE CANCEROUS TUMOR (THE WORD "BRACHYTHERAPY'" MEANS
THERAPY). THE SEEDS DELIVER THERAPEUTIC RADIATION THEREBY KILLING THE CANCEROUS TUMOR CELLS WHILE MINIMIZING EXPOSURE TO ADJACENT HEALTHY TISSUE
PROCEDURE ALLOWS DOCTORS TO ADMINISTER A HIGHER DOSE OF RADIATION DIRECTLY TO THE TUMOR. EACH SEED CONTAINS A RADIOISOTOPE SEALED WITHIN A WELDED T
CAPSULE. WHEN BRACHYTHERAPY IS THE ONLY TREATMENT (MONOTHERAPY) USED IN THE PROSTATE, APPROXIMATELY 70 TO 120 SEEDS ARE PERMANENTLY IMPLANTED IN
PROSTATE IN AN OUTPATIENT PROCEDURE LASTING LESS THAN ONE HOUR. THE NUMBER OF SEEDS USED VARIES BASED ON THE SIZE OF THE PROSTATE AND THE ACTIVITY
SPECIFIED BY THE PHYSICIAN. WHEN BRACHYTHERAPY IS COMBINED WITH EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION OR INTENSITY MODULATED RADIATION THERAPY (DUAL THERAPY), -
APPROXIMATELY 40 TO 80 SEEDS ARE USED IN THE PROCEDURE. THE ISOTOPE DECAYS OVER TIME AND EVENTUALLY THE SEEDS BECOME INERT. THE SEEDS MAY BE USED A¢
PRIMARY TREATMENT OR IN CONJUNCTION WITH OTHER TREATMENT MODALITIES, SUCH AS CHEMOTHERAPY, OR AS TREATMENT FOR RESIDUAL DISEASE AFTER EXCISION OF
tumors. The number of seeds for other treatment sites will vary from as few as 8 to16 to as many as 117 to 123 depending on the type of cancer, the location of
the tumor being treated and the type of therapy being utilized.

IsORAY BEGAN PRODUCTION AND SALES OF PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS IN OCTOBER 2004 FOR THE TREATMENT OF PROSTATE CANCER AFTER CLEARAN
PREMARKET NOTIFICATION (510(k)) BY THE Foop AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION (FDA). IN DECEMBER 2007, ISORAY BEGAN SELLING ITS PROXCELAN Cs-131 SEEDS FOR
TREATMENT OF OCULAR MELANOMA, HOWEVER, THE MARKET FOR THE TREATMENT HAS BEEN LIMITED GENERATING A MINIMAL AMOUNT OF REVENUE FOR THE COMPAN
COMPANY CONTINUES TO MAKE THE TREATMENT AVAILABLE TO INTERESTED PHYSICIANS AND MEDICAL FACILITIES. IN JUNE 2009, THE COMPANY BEGAN SELLING ITS PROXCE
Cs-131 SEEDS FOR TREATMENT OF HEAD AND NECK TUMORS, COMMENCING WITH TREATMENT OF A TUMOR THAT COULD NOT BE ACCESSED BY OTHER TREATMENT MODALITIES
OBTAINING CLEARANCE IN AUGUST 2009 FrROM THE FDA TO PERMIT LOADING CESIUM-131 INTO BIOABSORBABLE BRAIDED STRANDS, THIS CLEARANCE PERMITS THE PRODUCT ~
COMMERCIALLY DISTRIBUTED FOR TREATMENT OF LUNG, HEAD AND NECK TUMORS AS WELL AS TUMORS IN OTHER ORGANS. DURING THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2(
COMPANY EXPANDED THE NUMBER OF AREAS OF THE BODY IN WHICH THE PROXCELAN Cs-131 SEEDS WERE BEING UTILIZED FOR TREATMENT BY ADDING LUNG CANCER IN AUC
2009, COLORECTAL CANCER IN OCTOBER 2009, AND CHEST WALL CANCER IN DECEMBER 2009. DURING THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012, THE COMPANY CONTINUE
EXPANSION IN THE NUMBER OF AREAS OF THE BODY IN WHICH THE PROXCELAN Cs-131 SEEDS WERE BEING UTILIZED THROUGH THE ADDITION OF THE TREATMENT OF BRAIN C
IN SEPTEMBER 2010 AND THE TREATMENT OF GYNECOLOGICAL CANCER IN DECEMBER 2010. WHILE THE COMPANY HAS THE DELIVERY SYSTEMS FOR BREAST CANCER, MANAGE
FOCUSED IN FISCAL 2012 ON OBTAINING ITS REGULATORY CLEARANCES AND FINAL RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT OF ITS GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM AND MAR
ITS BRAIN AND LUNG PRODUCTS. THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM IS THE WORLD’S ONLY SYSTEM THAT ENABLES DOCTORS TO USE LIQUID RADIATION IN AREAS
THE CANCER IS MOST LIKELY TO REMAIN AFTER BRAIN SURGERY AND TUMOR REMOVAL. WHILE MANAGEMENT HAS NOT IDENTIFIED NEW OPPORTUNITIES TO EXPAND TREATM
OTHER SITES IN THE BODY, IT CONTINUES TO INVESTIGATE OPPORTUNITIES WITH INTERESTED PHYSICIANS AND MEDICAL FACILITIES. MANAGEMENT IS NOW FOCUSING PRIMARILY
the brain and lung markets while the Company is researching delivery systems other than those historically used by the Company.

Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012 Powered by Momingstar® Document Research™

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



IN MarcH 2011, THE COMPANY RECEIVED CLEARANCE TO COMMERCIALLY DELIVER PROXCELAN™ CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS THAT ARE PRELOADED
BIOABSORBABLE BRAIDED STRANDS INTO EUROPE. THIS CLEARANCE PERMITS THE PRODUCT TO BE COMMERCIALLY DISTRIBUTED FOR TREATMENT OF LUNG, HEAD AND NECK TUM
well as tumors in other organs in Europe.

IN AuGust 2011, ISORAY MEDICAL RECEIVED CLEARANCE FROM THE FDA FOR ITS PREMARKET NOTIFICATION (510(k)) FORGHRSITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEMIHE
GliaSite® Radiation Therapy System is the only FDA-cleared balloon catheter device used in the treatment of brain cancer.

IN May 2012, IsoRay MEepicaL RECEIVED A CE MARK FOR THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM WHICH STATES THAT THE COMPANY CONFORMS WITH THE PRO
REQUIREMENTS OF THE EUROPEAN CouNciL DRecTIVE 93/42/EEC. THE CE MARK ALLOWS THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM TO BE soLD IN 31 Euro
countries and to be marketed in the European Free Trade Associate member states and the European Union.

Industry Information
Incidence of Prostate Cancer

THE PROSTATE IS A WALNUT-SIZED GLAND LOCATED IN FRONT OF THE RECTUM AND UNDERNEATH THE URINARY BLADDER. PROSTATE CANCER IS A MALIGNANT TUMOR THAT BE
OFTEN IN THE PERIPHERY OF THE GLAND AND, LIKE OTHER FORMS OF CANCER, MAY SPREAD BEYOND THE PROSTATE TO OTHER PARTS OF THE BODY. ACCORDING TO THE AM
CANCER SOCIETY, APPROXIMATELY ONE MAN IN SIX WILL BE DIAGNOSED WITH PROSTATE CANCER DURING HIS LIFETIME AND ONE MAN IN THIRTY-SIX WILL DIE OF PROSTATE CAN
IT 1S THE MOST COMMON FORM OF CANCER IN MEN AFTER SKIN CANCER, AND THE SECOND LEADING CAUSE OF CANCER DEATHS IN MEN FOLLOWING LUNG AND BRONCHUS CAM
THE AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY ESTIMATES THERE WILL BE ABOUT 241,740 NEW CASES OF PROSTATE CANCER DIAGNOSED AND AN ESTIMATED 28,170 DEATHS ASSOCIATED
THE DISEASE IN THE UNITED STATES IN 2012. BECAUSE OF EARLY DETECTION TECHNIQUES (E.G., SCREENING FOR PROSTATE SPECIFIC ANTIGEN, OR PSA), APPROXIMATEINE OUT
OF TEN PROSTATE CANCERS ARE FOUND IN THE LOCAL AND REGIONAL STAGES (LOCAL MEANS IT IS STILL CONFINED TO THE PROSTATE; REGIONAL MEANS IT HAS SPREAD FROM TH!
to nearby areas, but not distant sites, such as bone).

PROSTATE CANCER ACCOUNTS FOR ABOUT 9% OF CANCER RELATED DEATHS IN MEN. PROSTATE CANCER INCIDENCE AND MORTALITY INCREASE WITH AGE. THE AMERICAN
Society has reported that the incidence of prostate cancer rises rapidly after age 50. Almost 2 of 3 prostate cancers are found in men over the age of 65.

Incidence of Lung Cancer

AN ESTIMATED 226,160 NEW CASES OF LUNG CANCER ARE EXPECTED IN 2012, ACCOUNTING FOR 14% OF ALL CANCER DIAGNOSES IN THE UNITED STATES. LUNG CANCER AC(
FOR THE MOST CANCER RELATED DEATHS IN BOTH MEN AND WOMEN IN THE UNITED STATES. AN ESTIMATED 160,340 DEATHS, ACCOUNTING FOR ABOUT 28% OF ALL CANCER I
ARE EXPECTED TO OCCUR IN 2012. (AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY 2012) THIS EXCEEDS THE COMBINED NUMBER OF DEATHS FROM THE NEXT THREE LEADING CAUSES OF CA
(BREAST, PROSTATE, AND COLON CANCERS). LUNG CANCER ALSO ACCOUNTS FOR 6% OF ALL DEATHS FROM ANY SOURCE IN THE UNITED S®mese Management: A
Multidisciplinary Approach, 11th ed. (2008). Richard Pazdur, Lawrence R. Coia, William J. Hoskins, Lawrence D. Wagman; American Cancer Society, 2009.)

CIGARETTE SMOKING IS BY FAR THE MOST IMPORTANT RISK FACTOR FOR LUNG CANCER. TOBACCO SMOKE CAUSES NEARLY 8 OUT OF 10 CASES OF LUNG CANCER. THE LONGER A
HAS BEEN SMOKING AND THE MORE PACKS A DAY SMOKED, THE GREATER THE RISK. OTHER RISK FACTORS INCLUDE OCCUPATIONAL OR ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURE TO SECOND
SMOKE, RADON, ASBESTOS (PARTICULARLY AMONG SMOKERS), CERTAIN MINERALS AND METALS (CHROMIUM, CADMIUM, ARSENIC), SOME ORGANIC CHEMICALS, RADIATION, .
POLLUTION, FAMILY HISTORY OF LUNG CANCER, CERTAIN VITAMINS (BETA CAROTENE SUPPLEMENTS), RADIATION TREATMENT TO THE LUNGS TO TREAT OTHER CANCERS, AND A H
TUBERCULOSIS. GENETIC SUSCEPTIBILITY PLAYS A CONTRIBUTING ROLE IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF LUNG CANCER, ESPECIALLY IN THOSE WHO DEVELOP THE DISEASE AT A YOU
age. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

The 5-year survival rate is 49% for cases detected when the disease is still localized. (American Cancer Society, 2012)
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Incidence of Brain Cancer

AN ESTIMATED 22,910 NEW CASES OF MALIGNANT TUMORS OF THE BRAIN OR SPINAL CORD ARE EXPECTED IN 2012. THE CHANCES OF A PERSON DEVELOPING A MALIGNANT Tl
OF THE BRAIN OR SPINAL CORD ARE APPROXIMATELY 1%. THE ESTIMATED DEATHS RELATED TO MALIGNANT TUMORS IN THE BRAIN OR SPINAL CORD IS 13,700 (APPROXIMATELY
men and 5,980 women). (American Cancer Society, 2012).

THE RISK FACTORS FOR DEVELOPING MALIGNANT BRAIN OR SPINAL CORD TUMORS ARE RADIATION EXPOSURE (I‘E. MOST COMMONLY SOME FORM OF RADIATION THERAPY TO THE
TO TREAT OTHER CANCERS)7 FAMILY HISTORY, GENETIC DISORDERS, PEOPLE WITH A HISTORY OF TUBEROUS SCLEROSIS, AND IMMUNE SYSTEM DISORDERS. (AMERICAN CANCER Sc
2012)

THE SURVIVAL RATES FOR BRAIN CANCER DEPEND ON THE TYPE OF MALIGNANT BRAIN OR SPINAL CORD TUMOR AND THE AGE OF THE PERSON. THE SURVIVAL RATES FOR TI
COMMON TYPES OF MALIGNANT BRAIN AND SPINAL CORD TUMORS ARE AS FOLLOWS: LOW-GRADE (DIFFUSE) ASTROCYTOMA BETWEEN 40 AND 59%, ANAPLASTIC ASTRO(
BETWEEN 8 AND 49%, GLIOBLASTOMA BETWEEN 3 AND 16%, OLIGODENDROGLIOMA BETWEEN 65 AND 85%, ANAPLASTIC OLIGODENDROGLIOMA BETWEEN 33 AND 66%,
ependymoma/anaplastic ependymoma between 84 and 91%. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

Incidence of Head and Neck Cancers

AN ESTIMATED 52,610 NEW CASES OF HEAD AND NECK CANCER ARE EXPECTED TO BE DIAGNOSED IN THE UNITED STATES IN 2012 INCLUDING 26,740 CASES OF ORAL CA
cancer (i.e. tongue, mouth and other oral cavity), 12,360 cases of laryngeal cancer, and 13,510 cases of pharyngeal cancer. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

SYMPTOMS MAY INCLUDE A SORE IN THE THROAT OR MOUTH THAT BLEEDS EASILY AND DOES NOT HEAL, A LUMP OR THICKENING IN THE CHEEK, EAR PAIN, A NECK MASS, COUGE
UP BLOOD, AND A RED OR WHITE PATCH THAT PERSISTS ON THE GUMS, TONGUE, TONSIL, OR LINING OF THE MOUTH. DIFFICULTIES IN CHEWING, SWALLOWING, OR MOVING THE TO
or jaw are often late symptoms. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

KNOWN RISK FACTORS INCLUDE ALL FORMS OF SMOKED AND SMOKELESS TOBACCO PRODUCTS AND EXCESSIVE CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOL. MANY STUDIES HAVE REPORT
SYNERGISM BETWEEN SMOKING AND ALCOHOL USE, RESULTING IN MORE THAN A 100 TIMES THE RISK OF THESE CANCERS TO THOSE INDIVIDUALS WHO BOTH SMOKE AND D
heavily. Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) infection is associated with certain types of oropharyngeal cancer. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

Incidence of Ocular Melanoma

THE AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY ESTIMATES THAT 2,6 10 NEW CASES OF CANCERS OF THE EYE AND ORBIT (PRIMARILY MELANOMA) WILL BE DIAGNOSED IN 2012 AND ABOUT
DEATHS FROM CANCER OF THE EYE WILL OCCUR IN 2012 IN THE UNITED STATES. PRIMARY EYE CANCER CAN OCCUR AT ANY AGE BUT MOST OCCUR IN PEOPLE OVER 50 YEARS ¢
(American Cancer Society, 2012)

MANY PATIENTS WITH EYE MELANOMA (CANCER) HAVE NO SYMPTOMS UNLESS THE CANCER GROWS IN CERTAIN PARTS OF THE EYE OR BECOMES MORE ADVANCED. SIGNS A
SYMPTOMS OF EYE MELANOMAS CAN INCLUDE PROBLEMS WITH VISION INCLUDING BLURRY VISION OR SUDDEN LOSS OF VISION, FLOATERS OR FLASHES OF LIGHT, VISUAL FIELD LC
growing dark spot on the iris, change in the size or shape of the pupil, change in position of the eyeball within its socket, bulging of the eye, and/or change in
THE WAY THE EYE MOVES WITHIN THE SOCKET. KNOWN RISK FACTORS FOR OCULAR MELANOMA INCLUDE SUN EXPOSURE, CERTAIN OCCUPATIONS (E.G. WELDERS, FARMERS, FISHEF
CHEMICAL WORKERS AND LAUNDRY WORKERS), RACE/ETHNICITY/EYE AND SKIN COLOR, AND CERTAIN INHERITED CONDITIONS SUCH AS DYSPLASTIC NEVUS SYNDROME. (AME
Cancer Society, 2012)

Incidence of Colorectal Cancer

AN ESTIMATED 143,460 NEW CASES OF COLORECTAL CANCER ARE EXPECTED IN THE UNITED STATES IN 2012 INCLUDING 103,170 NEW CASES OF COLON CANCER AND 40,29(
cases of rectal cancer. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

SYMPTOMS MAY INCLUDE A CHANGE IN BOWEL HABITS INCLUDING DIARRHEA, CONSTIPATION, OR NARROWING OF THE STOOL THAT LASTS FOR MORE THAN A FEW DAYS, A FEEI
THE NEED TO HAVE A BOWEL MOVEMENT WHICH IS NOT RELIEVED BY DOING SO, RECTAL BLEEDING, DARK STOOLS OR BLOOD IN THE STOOL, CRAMPING OR ABDOMINAL
weakness and fatigue, and unintended weight loss.
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RISK FACTORS RELATED TO COLORECTAL CANCERS ARE CLASSIFIED IN TWO GROUPS, THOSE THAT PATIENTS CANNOT CONTROL AND THOSE THAT PATIENTS CAN CONTROL. "
DEVELOPING COLORECTAL CANCER IN A LIFETIME IS ABOUT 1 IN 20 OR APPROXIMATELY 5.1%. COLORECTAL CANCER IS THE SECOND LEADING CANCER DEATH IN THE UNITES
when men and women are combined and third for both men and women when they are considered separately. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

KNOWN RISK FACTORS THAT PATIENTS CANNOT CONTROL INCLUDE AGE (9 OUT OF 10 PEOPLE WITH COLORECTAL CANCER ARE OLDER THAN 50), PERSONAL HISTORY OF COLOREC
OR COLORECTAL CANCER, PERSONAL HISTORY OF INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE, PERSONAL HISTORY OF TYPE 2 DIABETES, FAMILY HISTORY OF COLORECTAL CANCER, CERTAI
syndromes (i.e. gene changes or inherited mutations) and racial or ethnic background. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

KNOWN RISK FACTORS THAT ARE LINKED TO THINGS PATIENTS CAN CONTROL INCLUDE CERTAIN TYPES OF DIETS (THOSE HIGH IN RED AND PROCESSED MEATS CAN INCREASE RISK \
DIET HIGH IN FRUITS AND VEGETABLES HAVE BEEN LINKED TO A LOWER RISK), LACK OF EXERCISE, BEING OVERWEIGHT, SMOKING, AND ALCOHOL USE.. (AMER]CAN CANCER SO(
2012)

THE 5-YEAR RELATIVE SURVIVAL RATES FOR COLON CANCER ARE 74% IN STAGE I, A RANGE OF 37% T0 67% IN STAGE II, A RANGE OF 28% 10 73% IN STAGE IIl AND 6% IN S
THE 5-YEAR RELATIVE SURVIVAL RATES FOR RECTAL CANCER ARE 74% IN STAGE I, A RANGE OF 32% TO 65% IN STAGE II, A RANGE OF 33% 1O 74% IN STAGE IIl AND 6% IN !
(American Cancer Society, 2012)

Prostate Cancer Treatment Options and Protocol

THE INDUSTRY HAS EXPERIENCED AN OVERALL DECREASE IN THE NUMBER OF CASES OF PROSTATE CANCER TREATED WITH BRACHYTHERAPY AS PHYSICIANS HAVE ELECTED TO
other treatment modalities, or to defer treatment altogether at a higher rate than historically.

MINIMALLY INVASIVE BRACHYTHERAPY HAS SIGNIFICANT ADVANTAGES OVER COMPETING TREATMENTS INCLUDING LOWER COST, EQUAL OR BETTER SURVIVAL DATA, FEWE
effects, faster recovery time and the convenience of a single outpatient implant procedure that generally lasts less than one hour (Grimm, et al., British Journal
ofF UroLoGY INTERNATIONAL, VoL. 109 (SuppL 1), 2012; MERRICK, ET AL., TECHNIQUES IN UrRoLOGY, VoL. 7, 2001; POTTERS, ET AL., JOURNAL oF UROLOGY, M2
Sharkey, et al., Current Urology Reports, 2002).

IN ADDITION TO BRACHYTHERAPY, LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANCER CAN BE TREATED WITH PROSTATECTOMY SURGERY (RP FOR RADICAL PROSTATECTOMY), EXTERNAL BEAM
THERAPY (EBRT), INTENSITY MODULATED RADIATION THERAPY (IMRT), DUAL OR COMBINATION THERAPY, HIGH DOSE RATE BRACHYTHERAPY (HDR), CRYOSURGERY, HOR
THERAPY, AND WATCHFUL WAITING. THE SUCCESS OF ANY TREATMENT IS MEASURED BY THE FEASIBILITY OF THE PROCEDURE FOR THE PATIENT, MORBIDITIES ASSOCIATED WIT
TREATMENT, OVERALL SURVIVAL, AND COST. WHEN THE CANCEROUS TISSUE IS NOT COMPLETELY ELIMINATED, THE CANCER TYPICALLY RETURNS TO THE PRIMARY SITE, OF
metastases to other areas of the body.

Prostatectomy Surgery Options. RADICAL PROSTATECTOMY IS SURGERY THAT IS DONE TO CURE PROSTATE CANCER. IT IS USED MOST OFTEN IF IT LOOKS LIKE THE CANCER F
spread outside of the gland. In this operation, a surgeon will remove the entire prostate gland plus some of the tissue around it, including the seminal vesicles.
ACCORDING TO A STUDY PUBLISHED IN THEJournal of the American Medical Association IN JANUARY 2000, APPROXIMATELY 60% OF MEN WHO HAD A RP REPORTE
erectile dysfunction as a result of surgery. This same study stated that approximately 40% of the patients observed reported at least occasional incontinence.

NEW METHODS SUCH AS LAPAROSCOPIC AND ROBOTIC PROSTATECTOMY SURGERIES ARE CURRENTLY BEING USED MORE FREQUENTLY IN ORDER TO MINIMIZE THE NERVE DAMAGE
leads to impotence and incontinence, but these techniques require a high degree of surgical skill. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

Primary External Beam Radiation Therapy (EBRT). EBRT INVOLVES DIRECTING A BEAM OF RADIATION FROM OUTSIDE THE BODY AT THE PROSTATE GLAND TO DESI
CANCEROUS TISSUE. EBRT TREATMENTS ARE RECEIVED ON AN OUTPATIENT BASIS FIVE DAYS PER WEEK USUALLY OVER A PERIOD OF FOUR TO SIX WEEKS. TODAY, STANDARD EB
USED MUCH LESS OFTEN THAN IN THE PAST. SIDE EFFECTS OF EBRT CAN INCLUDE BOWEL PROBLEMS, BLADDER PROBLEMS, INCONTINENCE, IMPOTENCE, FATIGUE, LYMPHEDEM.
and urethral stricture. (American Cancer Society, 2012)
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Intensity Modulated Radiation Therapy. IMRT IS CONSIDERED A MORE ADVANCED FORM OF EBRT IN WHICH SOPHISTICATED COMPUTER CONTROL IS USED TO AIM TH
BEAM AT THE PROSTATE FROM MULTIPLE DIFFERENT ANGLES AND TO VARY THE INTENSITY OF THE BEAM. THUS, DAMAGE TO NORMAL TISSUE AND CRITICAL STRUCTURES IS MIM
BY DISTRIBUTING THE UNWANTED RADIATION OVER A LARGER GEOMETRIC AREA. THIS COURSE OF TREATMENT IS SIMILAR TO EBRT BUT REQUIRES DAILY DOSES OVER A PE
SEVEN TO NINE WEEKS TO DELIVER THE TOTAL DOSE OF RADIATION PRESCRIBED TO KILL THE TUMOR. AN INCREASINGLY POPULAR THERAPY FOR PATIENTS WITH MORE AD'
PROSTATE CANCER IS A COMBINATION OF IMRT WITH SEED BRACHYTHERAPY, KNOWN AS COMBINATION OR DUAL THERAPY. IMRT IS GENERALLY MORE EXPENSIVE THAN O
common treatment modalities. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

Dual or Combination Therapy. DUAL THERAPY IS THE COMBINATION OF IMRT OR 3-DIMENSIONAL CONFORMAL EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION AND SEED BRACHYTHERAP
TREAT EXTRA-PROSTATIC EXTENSIONS OR HIGH RISK PROSTATE CANCERS THAT HAVE GROWN OUTSIDE THE PROSTATE. COMBINATION THERAPY TREATS HIGH RISK PATIENTS WIT
coURSE OF IMRT or EBRT OVER A PERIOD OF SEVERAL WEEKS. WHEN THIS INITIAL TREATMENT IS COMPLETED, THE PATIENT MUST THEN WAIT FOR SEVERAL MORE WEI
MONTHS TO HAVE THE PROSTATE SEED IMPLANT. (AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY, 2012) MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES THAT AT LEAST 25% OF ALL PROSTATE IMPLANTS ARE NO
therapy cases.

High Dose Rate Temporary Brachytherapy. HDR TEMPORARY BRACHYTHERAPY INVOLVES PLACING VERY TINY PLASTIC CATHETERS INTO THE PROSTATE GLAND, AND
GIVING A SERIES OF RADIATION TREATMENTS THROUGH THESE CATHETERS. THE CATHETERS ARE THEN REMOVED, AND NO RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL IS LEFT IN THE PROSTATE
COMPUTER-CONTROLLED MACHINE INSERTS A SINGLE HIGHLY RADIOACTIVE IRIDIUM SEED INTO THE CATHETERS ONE BY ONE. THIS PROCEDURE IS TYPICALLY REPEATED AT LEAST
times while the patient is hospitalized for at least 24 hours. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

Cryosurgery. CRYOSURGERY IS SOMETIMES USED TO TREAT PROSTATE CANCER BY FREEZING THE CELLS WITH COLD METAL PROBES. IT IS USED ONLY FOR PROSTATE CANCER T
NOT SPREAD, BUT MAY NOT BE A GOOD OPTION FOR MEN WITH LARGE PROSTATE GLANDS. THE PROBES ARE PLACED THROUGH CUTS (INCISIONS) BETWEEN THE ANUS ANI
SCROTUM. COLD GASES ARE THEN PASSED THROUGH THE PROBES, WHICH CREATES ICE BALLS THAT DESTROY THE PROSTATE GLAND. THERE ARE BENEFITS AND DRAWE
CRYOSURGERY. BECAUSE IT IS LESS INVASIVE THAN RADICAL SURGERY, THERE IS LESS LOSS OF BLOOD, A SHORTER HOSPITAL STAY, SHORTER RECOVERY TIME, AND LESS P
FREEZING CAN DAMAGE NERVES NEAR THE PROSTATE, WHICH RESULTS IN A HIGH RATE OF IMPOTENCE. FOR THIS REASON, MOST DOCTORS DO NOT INCLUDE CRYOSURGERY AMO
first options they recommend for treating prostate cancer. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

Additional Treatments. ADDITIONAL TREATMENTS INCLUDE HORMONE THERAPY AND CHEMOTHERAPY. HORMONE THERAPY IS GENERALLY USED TO SHRINK THE TUMOR OR M
GROW MORE SLOWLY BUT WILL NOT ERADICATE THE CANCER. LIKEWISE, CHEMOTHERAPY WILL NOT ERADICATE THE CANCER BUT CAN SLOW THE TUMOR GROWTH AND CAN BE (
MOUTH OR BY AN INJECTION INTO THE VEIN ADDITIONALLY, VACCINE TREATMENT CAN BE USED TO EXTEND THE LIFE OF A PATIENT WITH ADVANCED PROSTATE CANCER THAT DC
RESPOND TO HORMONE THERAPY GENERALLY, THESE TREATMENT ALTERNATIVES ARE USED BY DOCTORS TO EXTEND PATIENTS' LIVES ONCE THE CANCER HAS REACHED AN A
STAGE OR IN CONJUNCTION WITH OTHER TREATMENT METHODS. HORMONE THERAPY CAN CAUSE IMPOTENCE, DECREASED LIBIDO, FATIGUE, WEIGHT GAIN, DEPRESS
OSTEOPOROSIS, ANEMIA, AND BREAST ENLARGEMENT. MOST RECENTLY, HORMONE THERAPY HAS BEEN LINKED TO AN INCREASED RISK OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE IN MEM
CERTAIN PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS SUCH AS HEART DISEASE OR DIABETES. CHEMOTHERAPY CAN CAUSE ANEMIA, NAUSEA, HAIR LOSS, DIARRHEA, MOUTH SORES, AND LOV
RESISTANCE TO INFECTION, AND FATIGUE. THE VACCINE TREATMENT IS MILDER THAN THE HORMONE OR CHEMOTHERAPY TREATMENTS BUT SOME COMMON SIDE EFFECTS INC
fever, back and joint pain, chills, fatigue, and headaches. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

Watchful Waiting and Active Surveillance. BECAUSE PROSTATE CANCER OFTEN GROWS VERY SLOWLY, SOME MEN (ESPECIALLY THOSE WHO ARE OLDER OR WHO HAVE (
major health problems) may never need treatment for their cancer. Instead, their doctor may suggest approaches called watchful waiting (also called expectant
MANAGEMENT OR ACTIVE SURVEILLANCE). UNTIL RECENTLY, WATCHFUL WAITING MEANT WAITING UNTIL THE CANCER WAS CAUSING SYMPTOMS BEFORE STARTING ANY TRE!
Now, IT IS MORE COMMON TO WATCH THE PATIENT CLOSELY WITH A COMBINATION OF REGULAR PSA TESTS, RECTAL EXAMS, AND ULTRASOUNDS TO SEE IF THE CANCER IS GROW
the cancer does seem to be growing or getting worse, the doctor may suggest starting treatment.

NOT ALL EXPERTS AGREE HOW OFTEN TESTING SHOULD OCCUR FOR ACTIVE SURVEILLANCE. THERE IS ALSO DEBATE ABOUT WHEN IS THE BEST TIME TO START TREATMENT. S
EARLY STUDIES HAVE SHOWN THAT AMONG MEN WHO CHOOSE ACTIVE SURVEILLANCE, THOSE WHO ELECT NOT TO BE TREATED DO AS WELL AS THOSE WHO DECIDE TO START TF
RIGHT AWAY. ACTIVE SURVEILLANCE MAY BE A GOOD CHOICE IF THE CANCER IS NOT CAUSING ANY SYMPTOMS, IS LIKELY TO GROW SLOWLY, AND IS SMALL AND CONTAINED IN ¢
PLACE IN THE PROSTATE. IF THE PATIENT IS YOUNG, HEALTHY, AND HAS A CANCER THAT IS GROWING FAST, ACTIVE SURVEILLANCE MAY NOT PROVIDE ADEQUATE PROTECTION FR
CANCER SPREADING TO OTHER PARTS OF THE BODY. SOME MEN CHOOSE WATCHFUL WAITING BECAUSE, IN THEIR VIEW, THE SIDE EFFECTS OF STRONG TREATMENT OUTWEIG
BENEFITS. OTHERS ARE WILLING TO ACCEPT THE POSSIBLE SIDE EFFECTS OF ACTIVE TREATMENTS IN ORDER TO TRY TO REMOVE OR DESTROY THE CANCER. (AMERICAN CANCEF
2012)
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Comparing Cesium-131 to I-125 and Pd-103 Clinical Results

LONG-TERM SURVIVAL DATA IS NOW AVAILABLE FOR BRACHYTHERAPY WITH I-125 AND PD-103, WHICH SUPPORT THE EFFICACY OF BRACHYTHERAPY. CLINICAL DATA INDICAT
BRACHYTHERAPY OFFERS SUCCESS RATES FOR EARLY-STAGE PROSTATE CANCER TREATMENT THAT ARE EQUAL TO OR BETTER THAN THOSE OF RP orR EBRT. WHILE HIsTORICA
STUDIES OF BRACHYTHERAPY HAVE FOCUSED PRIMARILY ON RESULTS FROM BRACHYTHERAPY WITH I-125 AND PD-103, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THESE DATA ARE ALSO RE
FOR BRACHYTHERAPY WITH CESIUM-131. IN FACT, IT APPEARS THAT CESIUM-131 OFFERS IMPROVED CLINICAL OUTCOMES OVER I-125 AND PD-103, GIVEN ITS SHORTER HAL
and higher energy.

Improved patient outcomes. A NUMBER OF PUBLISHED STUDIES DESCRIBING THE USE OF I-125 AND Pp-103 BRACHYTHERAPY IN THE TREATMENT OF EARLY-STAGE PROS
CANCER HAVE BEEN VERY POSITIVE WHEN COMPARED TO OTHER TREATMENT OPTIONS. A RECENT STUDY OF 2,963 PROSTATE CANCER PATIENTS WHO UNDERWENT BRACHYTHER/
THEIR SOLE THERAPEUTIC MODALITY AT 11 INSTITUTIONS ACROSS THE U.S. CONCLUDED THAT LOW-RISK PATIENTS (WHO MAKE UP THE PREPONDERANCE OF LOCALIZED CASE
UNDERWENT ADEQUATE IMPLANTS EXPERIENCED RATES OF PSA RELAPSE SURVIVAL OF GREATER THAN 90% BETWEEN EIGHT AND TEN YEARS (ZELEFSKY MJ, ET AL,
INSTITUTIONAL ANALYSIS OF LONG-TERM OUTCOME FOR STAGES T1-T2 PROSTATE CANCER TREATED WITH PERMANENT SEED IMPLANTAImea'hational Journal of Radiation
Oncology Biology Physics, Volume 67, Issue 2,2007,327-333).

OTHER RECENT STUDIES HAVE DEMONSTRATED SIMILAR, DURABLY HIGH RATES OF CONTROL FOLLOWING BRACHYTHERAPY FOR LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANCER OUT TO 15 v
TREATMENT (SYLVESTER J, ET AL. "15-YEAR BIOCHEMICAL RELAPSE FREE SURVIVAL IN CLINICAL STAGE T1-T3 PROSTATE CANCER FOLLOWING COMBINED EXTERNA
RADIOTHERAPY AND BRACHYTHERAPY; SEATTLE EXPERIENCEHfernational Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics, VoL. 67, IssuE 1, 2007, 57-64). THE
cumulative effect of these series has been the conclusion by leaders in the field that brachytherapy offers a disease control rate as high as surgery, though with
A LESSER SIDE-EFFECT PROFILE THAN SURGERY (CIEZKI JP. "PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY FOR LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANwrrent Treatment Options in Oncology, VOLUME 6,
2005,389-393).

Reduced Incidence of Side Effects. SEXUAL IMPOTENCE AND URINARY INCONTINENCE ARE TWO MAJOR CONCERNS MEN FACE WHEN CHOOSING AMONG VARIOUS FORMS
TREATMENT FOR PROSTATE CANCER. STUDIES HAVE SHOWN THAT BRACHYTHERAPY WITH EXISTING SOURCES RESULTS IN LOWER RATES OF IMPOTENCE AND INCONTINENCE THAN
(BUrRON C, ET AL. "BRACHYTHERAPY VERSUS PROSTATECTOMY IN LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANCER: RESULTS OF A FRENCH MULTICENTER PROSPECTIVE MEDICO-ECONOMIC S1
International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics, VoLuME 67, 2007, 812-822). COMBINED WITH THE HIGH DISEASE CONTROL RATES DESCRIBED I
many studies, these findings have driven the adoption of brachytherapy as a front-line therapy for localized prostate cancer.

IT HAS BEEN NOTED, HOWEVER, THAT A SIGNIFICANT PROPORTION OF PATIENTS WHO UNDERGO [-125 OR PD-103 BRACHYTHERAPY EXPERIENCE ACUTE URINARY IRRITATIVE SYME
FOLLOWING TREATMENT — IN FACT MORE SO THAN WITH SURGERY OR EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION THERAPY (FRANK SJ, ET AL, "AN ASSESSMENT OF QUALITY OF LIFE FOLLOWI
PROSTATECTOMY, HIGH DOSE EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION THERAPY, AND BRACHYTHERAPY IODINE IMPLANTATION AS MONOTHERAPIES FOR LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANOER'1a! of
Urology, VoLuME 177,2007,2151-2156). It was POSTULATED THAT CESIUM-13 1, WITH THE SHORTEST AVAILABLE HALF-LIFE FOR A LOW-DOSE RATE THERAPY ISOTOPE, :
RESULT IN A QUICKER RESOLUTION OF THESE IRRITATIVE SYMPTOMS BASED ON THE SHORTER TIME INTERVAL OVER WHICH NORMAL TISSUE RECEIVES RADIATION FROM THE IMPI
sources.

PRELIMINARY DATA DRAWN FROM SEVERAL CLINICAL STUDIES SUGGEST THAT PATIENTS TREATED WITH Cs-131 DO IN FACT EXPERIENCE A FASTER RESOLUTION OF THESE SIDE E
COMPARISON TO SIMILAR STUDIES PUBLISHED FOR OTHER ISOTOPES (DEFOE SG, ET AL, "IS THERE A DECREASED DURATION OF ACUTE URINARY AND BOWEL SYMPTOMS AFTER PR
BRACHYTHERAPY WITH CEstuM 131 1sotope?", International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics, VOLUME 72 (SUPPLEMENT 1), S317; JONES A, ET AL
"IPSS TrENDS FOR Cs-131 PERMANENT PROSTATE BRACHYTHERABruchytherapy, VOLUME 7, Issuk 2, 194; PLatta CS, ET AL, "EARLY OUTCOMES OF PROSTATE £
ImpLANTS wWiTH 131Cs: Toxicity AND INITIAL PSA DyNAMICS FROM A SINGLE INsTITUTIONIternational Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics, VOLUME
72 (Supplement 1),2008, S323-4).
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A CESIUM-131 MONOTHERAPY TRIAL FOR THE TREATMENT OF PROSTATE CANCER WAS FULLY ENROLLED IN FEBRUARY 2007. THE TRIAL WAS A 100 PATIENT MULTI-INSTI"
STUDY THAT SOUGHT TO (1) DOCUMENT THE DOSIMETRIC CHARACTERISTICS OF CESIUM-131, (2) TO SUMMARIZE THE SIDE EFFECT PROFILE OF CESIUM-131 TREATMENT, AND
track biochemical (PSA) results in patients following Cesium-131 therapy.

THE INVESTIGATORS RESPONSIBLE FOR CONDUCTING THE STUDY CONCLUDED BASED ON THE RESULTS OF THE MONOTHERAPY TRIAL THAT CESIUM-131 IS A VIABLE ALTERNATI\
ISOTOPE FOR PERMANENT SEED PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY (PRESTIDGE BR, BicE WS, "CLiNicAL oUTCOMES OF A PHASE II, MULTI-INSTITUTIONAL CESIUM-131 PERMA?
prostate brachytherapy trial". Brachytherapy, Volume 6, Issue 2, April-June 2007, Page 78).

Some of'the significant and specific findings were as follows:
1. PATIENT REPORTED IRRITATIVE URINARY SYMPTOMS (IPSS SCORES) WERE MILD TO MODERATE WITH RELATIVELY RAPID RESOLUTION WITHIN 4-6 MONTHS. THE FIGURE 1

DEPICTS THE SYMPTOM SCORES IN THE CESIUM-131 STUDY AS COMPARED TO PUBLISHED REPORTS OF PATIENTS WHO UNDERWENT I-125 BRACHYTHERAPY. ESPECIALLY NOTABLE
the steep drop in the Cesium-131 group scores (purple line) as opposed to the more gradual drop in the I-125 group scores (green and blue lines).

rage IPSS Score Post Brachytharapy

2. GLAND COVERAGE WAS EXCELLENT AND THE DOSE DELIVERED TO CRITICAL STRUCTURES OUTSIDE THE PROSTATE WAS WELL WITHIN ACCEPTABLE LIMITS. (BICE WS, P
BR, "Cesium-131 permanent prostate brachytherapy: The dosimetric analysis of a multi-institutional Phase Il trial". Brachytherapy 2007(6); 88-89.).

3. An abstract detailing the outcomes of'the 100 patient multi-institutional Cesium-131 study was prepared for the 3274 Annual Meeting of the American
BRACHYTHERAPY SOCIETY (APRIL 2011), NOTABLY, THE PSA CONTROL RATE AT 5 YEARS WAS REPORTED AS 98%. NO OTHER STUDY OF BRACHYTHERAPY UTILIZING THE CO
isotopes lodine-125 and Palladium-103 has reported five year rates as high as 98%.

SEVERAL OTHER SERIES HAVE BEEN REPORTED THAT HAVE COMPARED DOSIMETRIC PARAMETERS (INDICATORS OF DOSE) AMONG CEsium-131, Pp-103, anp I-125. Tu
COMPARATIVE STUDIES HAVE SHOWN A CLEAR ADVANTAGE TO CESIUM-131 FROM A DOSIMETRIC POINT-OF-VIEW, IN TERMS OF SUCCESSFUL GLAND COVERAGE OBTAINED (TYPIC:
MEASURED BY D90) WHILE KEEPING UNNECESSARY GLAND OVER-DOSING (TYPICALLY MEASURED BY V150 or V200) To A MINIMUM (MUSMACHER JS, ET AL, "DOSIMETR
CompaRISON OF CESiuM-131 AND PaLLaDIUM-103 FOR PERMANENT PrOSTATE BRACHYTHERAPHIfernational Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics,
VoruME 69, (SuppLEMENT 3), 2007, S730-1; Yararrarvi R, ET AL, "Is Cs-131 or I-125 or Pp-103 THE IDEAL ISOTOPE FOR PROSTATE B0oOST BRACHYTHERAP
DosimeTrIC VIEW PoINT." International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics, VOLUME 69 (SUPPLEMENT 3), 2007, S677-8; SUTLIEF S AND WALLNER ]
"Cs-131 PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY AND TREATMENT PLAN ParameTER&ical Physics, VoLuMme 34, 2007, 2431; Kurrzman S, "DosIMETRIC EVALUATION o
Permanent Prostate Brachytherapy Using Cs-131 Sources" International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics, Volume 66 (Supplement 3), S395).
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THE PROSPECTIVE RANDOMIZED MONOTHERAPY TRIAL HEADED BY DR. BRIAN MORAN OF THE CHICAGO PROSTATE CANCER CENTER ISSUED FOUR YEAR PSA RESULTS AT 14
Annual Meeting of the American Brachytherapy Society (April 2011). Dr. Moran's study revealed a 95% PSA control rate at four years. When considering risk
GROUPING, THE FOUR YEAR RESULTS WERE 98% FOR LOW RISK, 91% FOR INTERMEDIATE RISK, AND 88% FOR HIGH RISK PATIENTS. (MORAN B, ET AL. Cesium-131 P
Brachytherapy:PSA outcome. International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics 2010, 78(2 Supp!):S375.)

As oF ArriL 2011, THE 100 SUBJECT CLINICAL STUDY OF CESIUM-131 FOR THE TREATMENT OF LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANCER (ORIGINALLY ENROLLED BEGINNING IN 200
REACHED THE POINT WHERE A FIVE-YEAR RESULT HAD BEEN OBTAINED AND REPORTED IN A SUPPLEMENT TO THE OFFICIAL JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN BRACHYTHERAPY §
(Brachytherapy) DOCUMENTING THE SCIENTIFIC PROGRAM FOR THE SOCIETY'S 2011 ANNUAL MEETING. IN THIS SUPPLEMENT, DRS. BRADLEY PrESTIDGE, WiLLIAM Bic, B
MORAN AND COLLEAGUES REPORTED THE FIVE-YEAR FREEDOM FROM BiocHEMICAL FAILURE (FFBF — A MEASURE OF SUCCESS USING PROSTATE SPECIFIC ANTIGEN) FOR TH!
patients as 97.9%.

ALTHOUGH SEVERAL LONG-TERM REPORTS EXIST IN THE LITERATURE DESCRIBING OUTCOMES FOR IODINE-125 AND PALLADIUM-103 AS HIGHLY EFFECTIVE, THERE HAS BEEN NC
MADE AT FIVE YEARS AFTER THE INTRODUCTION OF THESE ISOTOPES DETAILING A FFBF As HIGH As 97.9%. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THESE IMPRESSIVE RESULTS AT TH
YEAR MARK SHOULD CREATE FURTHER SCIENTIFIC SUPPORT FOR CESIUM-131 AS AN ATTRACTIVE TREATMENT FOR LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANCER, OVERCOMING AT LEAST SO?
initial resistance predicated on the lack of long-term follow-up reports.

A COMBINED THERAPY STUDY INCORPORATING A SLIGHTLY ATTENUATED DOSE OF CESIUM-131 IN CONCERT WITH INTENSITY MODULATED RADIATION THERAPY (IMRT) HAs
OPENED AND IS ENROLLING INTERMEDIATE AND HIGH RISK PATIENTS. THE INVESTIGATORS FOR THIS STUDY ARE HOPING TO EVALUATE THE HYPOTHESIS THAT A SUCCE
combination therapy can be developed that controls locally advanced prostate cancer while providing a very low rate of urinary side effects.

DURING THE SUMMER OF 2011, THE COMPANY LAUNCHED AN ONLINE DATA COLLECTION SYSTEM THAT ENABLES STANDARDIZED DATA COLLECTION FOR THE COMPANY'S S1
providing participating institutions and physicians with a means to share data and increase collaboration.

Non-Prostate Product Offerings
Lung Cancer Treatment Options

LUNG CANCER HAS HISTORICALLY BEEN TREATED UTILIZING SURGERY, RADIATION THERAPY, OTHER LOCAL TREATMENTS, CHEMOTHERAPY AND TARGETED THERAPY. MORE THAI
of treatment may be used, depending on the stage of the patient's cancer and other factors. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

1. SURGERY GENERALLY INVOLVES REMOVING A PORTION OF THE LUNG (LOBECTOMY, SEGMENTECTOMY, AND WEDGE RESECTION), THE ENTIRE LUNG (PNEUMONECTOMY )
SLEEVE RESECTION FOR SOME CANCERS IN THE LARGE AIRWAYS IN THE LUNGS. THE TYPE OF OPERATION DEPENDS ON THE SIZE AND PLACE OF THE TUMOR AND ON HOW
the patient's lungs are working.

2. CHEMOTHERAPY MAY BE USED EITHER AS A PRIMARY TREATMENT OR A SECONDARY TREATMBNEENDING ON THE TYPE AND STAGE OF THE LUNG CANCE
Chemotherapy ("CHEMO") IS TREATMENT WITH ANTI-CANCER DRUGSHAT ARE PUT INTO A VEIN OR TAKEN BY MOUTH. THESE DRUGSTER THE BLOODSTREAM AND (
THROUGHOUT THE BODY, MAKINGTHIS TREATMENT USEFUL FOR CANCER THAT HAS SPREAD (METASTASIZED DRGANS BEYOND THE LUNG. DOCTORS GIVE CHEMO 1
cycles, WITH EACH ROUND OF TREATMENT FOLLOWED BY A BREAK TO ALLHWBODY TIME TO RECOVER. CHEMO CYCLES GENERALLY LAST ABGUTO 4 WEEKS, AND TH
TREATMENTS MAY INVOLVE 4 TO 6 CYCLESCHEMOTHERAPY MAY BE USED AS A MAIN TREATMENT FOR MORE ADVANCER'ANCERS OR FOR SOME PEOPLE WHO ARE NC
healthy enough for surgery, to try to shrink a tumor before surgery, or after surgery to try to kill any cancer cells that may have been left behind.

3. RADIATION TREATMENT IS THE USE OF HIGH-ENERGY RAYS TO KILL CANCER CELLS OR SHRINK TUMORS. THE RADIATION MAY COME FROM OUTSIDE THE BODY (EX
radiation) or from radioactive seeds placed into or next to the tumor (brachytherapy).
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e  ExTERNAL BEAaM RaDpIATION THERAPY (EBRT) IS FOCUSED FROM OUTSIDE THE BODY ON THE CANCER. THIS IS THE TYPE OF RADIATION MOST OFTEN USE
TREAT A PRIMARY LUNG CANCER OR ITS SPREAD TO OTHER ORGANS. MOST OFTEN, RADIATION TREATMENTS ARE GIVEN 5 DAYS A WEEK FOR 4 TO 7 WEEKS. NEV
of'this type of radiation are called 3D-CRT, IMRT, and stereotactic body radiation therapy.

e  Hign Dost Rate (HDR) BRACHYTHERAPY (INTERNAL RADIATION THERAPY) IS USED MOST OFTEN TO SHRINK TUMORS TO RELIEVE SYMPTOMS CAUSED BY
CANCER THAT IS BLOCKING AN AIRWAY AND IS INCREASINGLY BEING USED AS PART OF A LARGER TREATMENT PLAN TO ATTEMPT TO CURE THE CANCER. FOR THIS
TREATMENT, THE DOCTOR PLACES A SMALL SOURCE OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL (OFTEN IN THE FORM OF SEEDS OR PELLETS) RIGHT INTO THE CANCER OR INTO T
NEXT TO THE CANCER. THIS IS USUALLY DONE THROUGH A BRONCHOSCOPE, AND IS INCREASINGLY DONE DURING SURGERY. THE PELLETS ARE USUALLY REMOVE]
a short time.

e Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy is most often used in combination with surgery in early stage (stages I and II) non-smcall cell lung cancers for
PATIENTS WHO CANNOT TOLERATE THE SURGICAL REMOVAL OF A LARGE PORTION OF THEIR LUNG. IN THESE CASES, A SMALLER AMOUNT OF LUNG TISSUE THAM
REMOVED AT SURGERY, AT WHICH TIME A NUMBER OF PERMANENTLY IMPLANTED SEEDS ARE PLACED INTO THE CUT TISSUE. THE ADDITION OF BRACHYTHERA!
SURGERY IN THESE PATIENTS HAS BEEN SHOWN TO REDUCE THE RECURRENCE OF CANCER REGROWTH (COLONIAS A, ET AL. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF R
Oncology, Biology, Physics Volume 79, p 105-9,2011.)

THE COMPANY BELIEVES THAT CESIUM-13 1, WITH ITS SHORTER HALF-LIFE AND HIGH ENERGY (FASTER RATE OF DECAY ), IS BETTER SUITED FOR TREATING LUNG CANCER IN STAG
Il than I-125. The bioabsorbable mesh used in this procedure to apply the Proxcelan Cesium-131 brachytherapy seeds generally dissolves after about 45 days.
CEestuM-131 DELIVERS 90% OF ITS DOSE IN 33 DAYS AND IS THEREFORE WELL-SUITED TO USE WITH BIOABSORBABLE MESH. A REPORT WAS PUBLISHED IN NOVEMBER 20
DESCRIBING THE MORE TECHNICAL DETAILS APPLICABLE TO CESIUM-131 IMPLANTS (PArRAsHAR B, ET AL. CEsium-131 PERMANENT SEED BRACHYTHERAPY: Dosivi
Evaluation and Radiation Exposure to Surgeons, Radiation Oncology, and Staff. Brachytherapy 10(6):508-513,2011).

THE COMPANY HAS ALSO INITIATED AN ANTICIPATED 100 PATIENT STUDY OF CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY IN THE TREATMENT OF EARLY STAGE NON-SMALL CELL LUNG C
("NSCLC"). IN THIS STUDY, PATIENTS WHO ARE POOR CANDIDATES FOR LARGE SURGICAL RESECTIONS UNDERGO A LIMITED ("SUB-LOBAR") RESECTION FOLLOWED BY CESIU
MESH BRACHYTHERAPY. THIS STUDY IS BASED UPON STRONG EVIDENCE COLLECTED TO DATE SUGGESTING THAT IODINE-125 MESH IMPLANTS UTILIZED IN A SIMILAR WAY ASSIST
LIMITED SURGICAL RESECTION IN ACHIEVING HIGH RATES OF LOCAL CANCER CONTROL. (SEE COLONIAS, ET AL. MATURE FoLLow-UP FOR HiGH Risk STAGE I NoN-SmaLL CE
CARCINOMA TREATED WITH SUB-LOBAR RESECTION AND INTRA-OPERATIVE IODINE-125 BRACHYTHERAPY. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF RADIATION ONCOLOGY BloLoGy
2011,79(1), 105.) As of June 30,2012, 19 patients were enrolled in the study and entered in the study database.

Brain Cancer Treatment Options

MOST BRAIN AND SPINAL CORD TUMORS ARE DIFFICULT TO TREAT AND REQUIRE SEVERAL SPECIALISTS. THE MOST COMMON FORMS OF TREATMENT ARE RESECTION AT
(CRANIOTOMY); RADIATION THERAPY INCLUDING EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION THERAPY (EBRT), THREE-DIMENSIONAL CONFORMAL RADIATION THERAPY (3D-CRT), INTI
MODULATED RADIATION THERAPY (IMRT), CONFORMAL PROTON BEAM RADIATION THERAPY, STEREOTACTIC RADIOSURGERY, AND BRACHYTHERAPY; CHEMOTHERAPY; T.
therapy; and other types of drugs (including corticosteroids, and anti-seizure drugs). (American Cancer Society, 2012)

TREATMENT IS DETERMINED BASED ON AN INDIVIDUAL’S SPECIFIC TYPE OF TUMOR AS WELL AS OTHER FACTORS AND IN MANY CASES THE BEST COURSE OF ACTION IS A COMBIN/
of the treatment options discussed above.

IN JUNE 2012, THE WORLD’S FIRST CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED SUTURED MESH WAS IMPLANTED ON A PATIENT SUFFERING FROM A RECURRING MENINGIOMA TUMOR.
TREATMENT OF BRAIN CANCER NOW HAS SEVERAL SEVERAL DELIVERY METHODS, INCLUDING THE IMPLANTABLE MESH DESCRIBED ABOVE, SINGLE SEED APPLICATIONS, IMPLAN'
STRANDS, AND BY IMPLANTABLE DEVICE, INCLUDING GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM, THE WORLD’S ONLY LIQUID RADIATION BALLOON CATHETER DEVICE USED
TREATMENT OF BRAIN CANCER. THE COMPANY RECENTLY STARTED A PROGRAM PERMITTING HOSPITALS TO INVENTORY LIMITED AMOUNTS OF CESIUM-131 SO IT IS AVAIL
immediately when needed.
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Head and Neck Cancer Treatment Options

MOST HEAD AND NECK CANCERS HISTORICALLY HAVE BEEN TREATED WITH SOME COMBINATION OF SURGERY INCLUDING TUMOR RESECTION; MOHS MICROGRAPHIC SURGERY; Fi
PARTIAL MANDIBLE (JAW BONE) RESECTION; MAXILLECTOMY; LARYNGECTOMY; NECK DISSECTION; PEDICLE OR FREE FLAP RECONSTRUCTION; TRACHEOSTOMY; GASTROSTOMY T
DENTAL EXTRACTION AND IMPLANTS; CHEMOTHERAPY AND RADIATION THERAPY INCLUDING EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION THERAPY (EBRT), ACCELERATED AND HYPERFRACT
RADIATION THERAPY, THREE-DIMENSIONAL CONFORMAL RADIATION THERAPY (3D-CRT) AND INTENSITY MODULATED RADIATION THERAPY (IMRT), AND BRACHYTHERAPY
high-dose rate (HDR) and low-dose rate (LDR)). (American Cancer Society, 2012)

SURGERY IS THE MOST COMMON OPTION. CHEMOTHERAPY IS OFTEN USED IN CONJUNCTION WITH SURGERY OR RADIATION THERAPY DEPENDING ON THE TYPE AND STAGE OF
CANCER. EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION THERAPY AND BRACHYTHERAPY HAVE BEEN USED TOGETHER OR IN COMBINATION WITH SURGERY OR CHEMOTHERAPY. (AMERICAN C
Society, 2012)

Management believes Proxcelan Cesium-131 continues to represent an improved approach to brachytherapy treatment of specific head and neck cancers.
Ocular Melanoma Treatment Options

IN ADDITION TO BRACHYTHERAPY TO TREAT OCULAR MELANOMA, OTHER TREATMENT OPTIONS INCLUDE SURGERY, EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION, CHEMOTHERAPY, AND LASER
SURGERY COULD INCLUDE REMOVAL OF PART OF THE IRIS, A PORTION OF THE OUTER EYEBALL, OR THE REMOVAL OF THE ENTIRE EYEBALL, AND IS USED LESS OFTEN THAN IN T
THE USE OF RADIATION THERAPY HAS GROWN. EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION (INCLUDING CONFORMAL PROTON BEAM RADIATION THERAPY AND STEREOTACTIC RADIOSURGERY) 1
SENDING RADIATION FROM A SOURCE OUTSIDE THE BODY THAT IS FOCUSED ON THE CANCER BUT HAS NOT BEEN AS WIDELY USED TO DATE FOR OCULAR MELANOMA. LASER TI
RARELY USED NOW TO TREAT OCULAR MELANOMA, BURNS THE CANCEROUS TISSUE BY USING A HIGHLY FOCUSED, HIGH-ENERGY LIGHT BEAM. LASER THERAPY CAN BE EFFECT
very small melanomas but it is more often used to treat side effects from radiation. (American Cancer Society, 2012)

BRACHYTHERAPY HAS BECOME THE MOST COMMONLY USED RADIATION TREATMENT FOR MOST EYE MELANOMAS. STUDIES HAVE SHOWN THAT IN MANY CASES IT IS AS EFFECTIV
surgery (enucleation). Brachytherapy using Cesium-131, I-125, or Pd-103 is done by placing the seeds in a plaque (shaped like a small cap) that is attached to
THE EYEBALL WITH MINUTE STITCHES IN A PROCEDURE THAT LASTS | TO 2 HOURS AND ARE USUALLY KEPT IN PLACE FOR 4 TO 7 DAYS. THE PATIENT GENERALLY STAYS IN THE
UNTIL THE PLAQUE IS REMOVED FROM THE EYE FOLLOWING A PROCEDURE THAT TAKES LESS THAN | HOUR. BRACHYTHERAPY CURES APPROXIMATELY 9 OUT OF 10 SMALL TUM
CAN PRESERVE THE VISION OF SOME PATIENTS. (AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY, 2012). MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT WHILE CESIUM-131 PROVIDES THE BEST TREATMI
ALTERNATIVE, IT IS AT A DISADVANTAGE TO [-125 OR PD-103 As A RESULT OF Cs-131'S SHORT HALF LIFE AS MOST PATIENTS ARE UNWILLING TO WAIT FOR IT TO BE ORDERED
other products are often available immediately.

Colorectal Treatment Options

COLORECTAL CANCER HAS HISTORICALLY BEEN TREATED USING SURGERY, RADIATION THERAPY, CHEMOTHERAPY, IMMUNOTHERAPY AND OTHER TARGETED THERAPIES. (A
Cancer Society, 2012)

FOR THE TREATMENT OF EARLY STAGE COLON AND RECTAL CANCERS, SURGERY IS OFTEN THE MAIN TREATMENT. COLORECTAL SURGERIES INCLUDE OPEN COLECTOMY, LAP/
ASSISTED COLECTOMY, AND POLYPECTOMY AND LOCAL EXCISION. RECTAL SURGERIES INCLUDE POLYPECTOMY AND LOCAL EXCISION, LOCAL TRANSANAL RESECTION, TRA
ENDOSCOPIC MICROSURGERY (TEM), LOWER ANTERIOR RESECTION, PROCTECTOMY WITH COLOANAL ANASTOMOSIS, ABDOMINOPERINEAL RESECTION AND PELVIC EXENTER/
(American Cancer Society, 2012)

FOR THE TREATMENT OF COLORECTAL CANCERS BEYOND EARLY STAGE, OTHER SURGERY TREATMENTS (RADIOFREQUENCY ABLATION, ETHANOL ABLATION, CRYOSURGERY AND HI

EMBOLIZATION), RADIATION THERAPY (EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION, ENDOCAVITARY RADIATION, BRACHYTHERAPY, YTTRIUM-90 MICROSPHERE RADIOEMBOLIZATION), CHEMOTHE
and targeted therapies (Avastin, Erbitux, Vectibix) can be used. (American Cancer Society, 2012)
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Low-DoSE RATE (LDR) BRACHYTHERAPY INCLUDING PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 IS TYPICALLY UTILIZED IN TREATING INDIVIDUALS WITH RECTAL CANCER WHO ARE NOT H
ENOUGH TO TOLERATE CURATIVE SURGERY. THIS IS GENERALLY A ONE-TIME ONLY PROCEDURE AND DOES NOT REQUIRE ONGOING VISITS FOR SEVERAL WEEKS AS IS COMMO!
OTHER TYPES OF RADIATION THERAPY SUCH AS EXTERNAL-BEAM RADIATION THERAPY AND ENDOCAVITARY RADIATION THERAPY. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THE ADV
PROVIDED BY CESIUM-131 SHOWN THROUGH THE TREATMENT OF OTHER CANCERS WILL BENEFIT PATIENTS UTILIZING PROXCELAN CESIUM -131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS It
treatment of their colorectal cancers with low-dose rate brachytherapy.

Brachytherapy Isotope Comparison

INCREASINGLY, PROSTATE CANCER PATIENTS AND THEIR DOCTORS WHO DECIDE TO USE SEED BRACHYTHERAPY AS A TREATMENT OPTION CHOOSE Cs-131 BECAUSE OF ITS SIGNT
advantages over Palladium-103 (Pd-103) and lodine-125 (I-125), two other isotopes currently in use. These advantages include:

Higher Energy
Cesium-131 has a higher average energy than any other commonly used prostate brachytherapy isotope on the market. Energy is a key factor in how

UNIFORMLY THE RADIATION DOSE CAN BE DELIVERED THROUGHOUT THE PROSTATE. THIS QUALITY OF A PROSTATE IMPLANT IS KNOWN AS HOMOGENEITY. EARLY §°
DEMONSTRATE CESIUM-131 IMPLANTS ARE ABLE TO DELIVER THE REQUIRED DOSE WHILE MAINTAINING HOMOGENEITY ACROSS THE GLAND ITSELF AND POTEN"
REDUCING UNNECESSARY DOSE TO CRITICAL STRUCTURES SUCH AS THE URETHRA AND RECTUM. (PRESTIDGE B.R., BicE W.S., Jurkovic L, ET AL. CEsium-131 PEr!
Prostate Brachytherapy: An Initial Report. Int. J. Radiation Oncology Biol. Phys.2005: 63 (1) 5336-5337.)

Shorter Half-Life

CESIUM-131 HAS THE SHORTEST HALF-LIFE OF ANY COMMONLY USED PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY ISOTOPE AT 9.7 DAYS. CESIUM-131 DELIVERS 90% OF THE PRESCR
DOSE IN JUST 33 DAYS COMPARED TO 58 DAYS FOR Pp-103 AnND 204 pAYs For I-125. By FAR THE MOST COMMONLY REPORTED SIDE EFFECTS OF PROSI
BRACHYTHERAPY ARE IRRITATIVE AND OBSTRUCTIVE SYMPTOMS IN THE ACUTE PHASE POST-IMPLANT (NEILL B, ET AL. THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF URINARY MORB!
RELATION TO PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY URETHRAL DosiMEBrachytherapy 2007:6(3)173-9.). THE SHORT HALF-LIFE OF CESIUM-131 REDUCES THE DURATION
time during which the patient experiences the irritating effects of the radiation.

Improved Coverage ofthe Prostate

PERMANENT PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY UTILIZING CESIUM-131 SEEDS ALLOWS FOR BETTER DOSE HOMOGENEITY AND SPARING OF THE URETHRA AND RECTUM
PROVIDING COMPARABLE PROSTATE COVERAGE COMPARED TO I-125 oR Pp-103 SEEDS WITH COMPARABLE OR FEWER SEEDS AND NEEDLES. SEVERAL STUDIES H
DEMONSTRATED DOSIMETRIC ADVANTAGES OF CESIUM-131 OVER THE OTHER COMMONLY USED PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY ISOTOPES. (MUSMACHER JS, ET
DosiMETRIC ComPARISON OF CESIUM-131 aAND PArLLADIUM-103 FOR PERMANENT PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAHWZ J. Radiation Oncology Biol. Phys.
2007:69(3)S730-1.) (YararpPALVI R, ET AL. Is Cs-131 or I-125 or Pp-103 THE "IDEAL" IsOTOPE FOR PROSTATE BoOST BRACHYTHERAPY? A DOSIMETRIC

PoiNt. Int. J. Radiation Oncology Biol. Phys.2007:69(3)S677-8) (SUTLIEF S, ET AL. Cs-131 PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY AND TREATMENT PLAN PArAM
Medical Physics 2007:34(6)2431.) (YANG R, ET AL. DOSIMETRIC COMPARISON OF PERMANENT PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY PLANS UtiLizing Cs-131, I-125
Pd-103 Seeds. Medical Physics 2008:35(6)2734.)

Rapid Resolution of Side Effects
STUDIES DEMONSTRATE THAT OBJECTIVE MEASURES OF COMMON SIDE-EFFECTS SHOWED AN EARLY PEAK IN SYMPTOMS IN THE 2- WEEK TO 1-MONTH TIME FRAN

RESOLUTION OF MORBIDITY RESOLVED RAPIDLY WITHIN 4-6 MONTHS. (PRESTIDGE B, ET. AL. CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF A PHASE-II, MULTI-INSTITUTIONAL CESIUM
PERMANENT PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY TRIBrachytherapy. 2007: 6 (2)78.) (MoraN B, ET AL. CEsiuM-131 PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY: AN EARLY EXPERIEM
Brachytherapy 2007:6(2)80.) (JonNEs A, ET AL. IPSS TRENDS FOR Cs-131 PERMANENT PROSTATE BRACHYTHERBrchytherapy 2008:7(2)194.) (DEFoE SG,
ET AL. Is THERE DECREASED DURATION OF ACUTE URINARY AND BOWEL SyMPTOMS AFTER PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY WITH CESiUM 131 RabIoisofored.
Radiation Oncology Biol. Phys. 2008:72(S1)S317.) RECENT STUDIES WITH LONGER FOLLOW-UP PERIODS CONTINUE TO SUPPORT THE RESOLUTION OF URINARY
RECTAL SIDE EFFECTS IN A RAPID FASHION FOLLOWING TREATMENT WITH CEsiuM-131. (JacoBs B, ET AL. ACUTE LOWER URINARY TRACT SYMPTOMS AFTER I
brachytherapy with Cesium-131. Urology. 2010:76(5)1143.)
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Higher Biologically Effective Dose

ANOTHER BENEFIT TO THE SHORT HALF-LIFE OF CESIUM-131 IS WHAT IS KNOWN AS THE "BIOLOGICAL EFFECTIVE DOSE" orR BED. BED IS A WAY FOR HEALTI
PROVIDERS TO PREDICT HOW AN ISOTOPE WILL PERFORM AGAINST CANCERS EXHIBITING DIFFERENT CHARACTERISTICS — FOR INSTANCE, SLOW VERSUS FAST GROWING T
STUDIES HAVE SHOWN CESIUM-131 1S ABLE TO DELIVER A HIGHER BED ACROSS A WIDE RANGE OF TUMOR TYPES THAN EITHER I-125 oRrR Pp-103. ALTHOUGH PRO
CANCER IS TYPICALLY VIEWED AS A SLOW GROWING CANCER IT CAN PRESENT WITH AGGRESSIVE FEATURES. CESIUM-131's HIGHER BED MAY BE PARTICULARLY BENEF
IN SUCH SITUATIONS. (ARMPILIA CL ef al. THE DETERMINATION OF RADIOBIOLOGICALLY OPTIMIZED HALF-LIVES FOR RADIONUCLIDES USED IN PERMANE
Brachytherapy Implants. Int. J. Radiation Oncology Biol. Phys.2003; 55 (2): 378-385.)

PSA Control

INVESTIGATORS TRACKING PSA IN BOTH SINGLE ARM AND RANDOMIZED TRIALS HAVE CONCLUDED CESIUM-131's PSA RESPONSE RATES SHOW SIMILAR EARLY Tl
CONTROL TO [-125, LONG CONSIDERED THE GOLD STANDARD IN PERMANENT SEED BRACHYTHERAPY. LONGITUDINAL PSA MEASUREMENTS FROM ONGOING Ct¢
CLINICAL SERIES DEMONSTRATE TRENDS VERY SIMILAR TO THOSE SEEN WITH OTHER ISOTOPES. (MORAN B, ET. AL. CESIUM-131 PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY" At
Experience. Brachytherapy.2007:6(2)80.) (BicE W, ET. AL. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PERMANENT PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY WITH 131Cs: A CONSENSUS REP!
FROM THE CESIUM ADVISORY Group. Brachytherapy 2008:7(4)290-296.) (PLatta CS, ET AL. EARLY OUTCOMES OF PROSTATE SEED IMPLANTS WiTH 13
Toxicity and Initial PSA Dynamics from a Single Institution. Int. J. Radiation Oncology Biol. Phys. 2008:72(S1)S323-4.)

STUDIES WITH LONGER FOLLOW-UP PERIODS REPORT VERY HIGH RATES OF PSA CONTROL POST-TREATMENT WITH CESIUM-131 FOR PROSTATE CANCER: 95% AT FOU
(MoraN B, ET AL. CEstuM-131 ProsTaTE BRACHYTHERAPY: PSA OutcoMmrt. J. Radiation Oncology Biol Phys. 2010:78(3S1) S375.) AND 98% AT FIvE
YEARS. (PRESTIDGE B. ET AL. FIVE-YEAR BIOCHEMICAL CONTROL FOLLOWING CESIUM-131 PERMANENT PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY IN A MULTI-INSTITUTIONA
Brachytherapy 10(3S1)S27.)

Our Strategy
The key elements of IsoRay's strategy for fiscal year 2013 include:

Continue to introduce the Proxcelan Cesium-131 brachytherapy seed into the U.S. market for prostate cancer. PROSTATE CANCER TREATMENT REPRESENTS
ORIGINAL AND CORE BUSINESS FOR THE COMPANY'S PROXCELAN CEsiuM-131 PRODUCT. WITH FIVE YEAR DATA RELATING TO BIOCHEMICAL (PSA) CONTROL OF PROSTATE C
NOW PRESENTED TO THE PROSTATE CANCER FIELD, ISORAY INTENDS TO CONTINUE TO SEEK TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF CENTERS USING PROXCELAN THROUGH ITS DIRECT SAL
BECAUSE INTERMEDIATE- TO LONG-TERM FOLLOW-UP DATA IS REQUIRED TO CONVINCE CLINICIANS AND PATIENTS TO CONSIDER ANY PARTICULAR THERAPY FOR LOCALIZED P
CANCER, THE AVAILABILITY OF FIVE-YEAR DATA WITH PROXCELAN IN THE TREATMENT OF PROSTATE CANCER REPRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT MILESTONE. ISORAY HOPES TO CAPTUI
OF THE INCREMENTAL MARKET GROWTH IF AND WHEN SEED IMPLANT BRACHYTHERAPY RECOVERS MARKET SHARE FROM OTHER TREATMENTS, TAKE MARKET SHARE FROM
competitors, and expand the use of Cesium-131 as a dual therapy option where it has experienced success.

Return the GliaSite® radiation therapy system to market in the United States and European Union (EU). IN JUNE oF 2010, THE COMPANY ACQUIRED EXCLUSIVE
worldwide distribution rights to the GliaSite® Radiation Therapy System, the only FDA-cleared balloon catheter device used in the treatment of brain cancer,
FrROM Horogic Inc. THE ComPANY RECEIVED A CE MARK IN MAY 2012 ALLOWING DISTRIBUTION IN 31 COUNTRIES. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THE EUROPEAN MARKET
BE RECEPTIVE TO THIS TREATMENT OPTION AND THE PRODUCT FACES FEWER REGULATORY HURDLES THERE THAN IN THE UNITED STATES. THE COMPANY INTENDS TO DISTRIE
PRODUCT FROM GERMANY (THE LOCATION OF THE FIRST EUROPEAN SALE IN JuLY 2012) TO OTHER EUROPEAN NATIONS. THE COMPANY PLANS TO CONTACT PREVIOUS USERS
PRODUCT AND LEVERAGE SIGNIFICANT EXISTING CLINICAL DATA RELATED TO THE SAFETY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE GLIASITE SYSTEM IN ORDER TO RESTORE GLIASITE A
treatment option for patients suffering from primary and metastatic brain cancers.

Increase utilization of Cesium-131 in treatment of other solid tumor applications such as lung, head and neck, chest wall, and colorectal cancers. IsoRay
MEDICAL HAS CLEARANCE FROM THE FDA FOR ITS PREMARKET NOTIFICATION (510(K)) FOR PROXCELAN™ BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS THAT ARE PRELOADED INTO BIOABS
BRAIDED STRANDS AND BIOABSORBABLE BRAIDED STRANDS ATTACHED TO BIOABSORBABLE MESH. THIS ORDER CLEARED THE PRODUCT FOR COMMERCIAL DISTRIBUTION FOR TREA’
LUNG AND HEAD AND NECK TUMORS AS WELL AS TUMORS IN OTHER ORGANS. ISORAY HAS SUCCESSFULLY LAUNCHED AN INITIATIVE TO MARKET ITS PROXCELAN™ sq
BIOABSORBABLE CARRIER MATERIAL AS A LUNG CANCER TREATMENT. IT HAS BEGUN SELLING ITS LUNG CANCER TREATMENT PRODUCT BUT HAS NOT BEEN IN THE MARKET LONG F
DETERMINE LONG-TERM SUCCESS OF THE PRODUCT. ISORAY WILL CONTINUE TO EXPLORE LICENSES OR JOINT VENTURES WITH OTHER COMPANIES TO DEVELOP THE APPROI
technologies and therapeutic delivery systems for treatment of other solid tumors.
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Support clinical research and sustained product development. THE PUBLICATION AND PRESENTATION OF SPECULATIVE AND REAL-WORLD DATA CONTRIBUTE TO
ACCEPTABILITY OF CESIUM-131 IN THE ONCOLOGIC MARKETPLACE, AND DISCUSSION IN THE MEDICO-SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY OF ESTABLISHED AND NOVEL CESIUM-131
APPLICATIONS 1S CONSIDERED A PREREQUISITE TO EXPANSION INTO UNTAPPED MARKETS. THE COMPANY PLANS TO STRUCTURE AND SUPPORT CLINICAL STUDIES ON THE THERAPE!
BENEFITS OF CESIUM-131 FOR THE TREATMENT OF SOLID TUMORS AND OTHER PATIENT BENEFITS. WE ARE AND WILL CONTINUE TO SUPPORT CLINICAL STUDIES WITH SEVERAL I
RADIATION ONCOLOGISTS TO CLINICALLY DOCUMENT PATIENT OUTCOMES, PROVIDE SUPPORT FOR OUR PRODUCT CLAIMS, AND COMPARE THE PERFORMANCE OF OUR SEED
COMPETING SEEDS. ISORAY PLANS TO SUSTAIN LONG-TERM GROWTH BY IMPLEMENTING RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS WITH LEADING MEDICAL INSTITUTIONS IN '
U.S. AND OTHER COUNTRIES TO IDENTIFY AND DEVELOP OTHER APPLICATIONS FOR ISORAY'S CORE RADIOISOTOPE TECHNOLOGY. THE COMPANY HAS DEPLOYED A SEC
regulatory environment compliant, online information system capable of large usable databases to participating investigators.

OVER FISCAL YEAR 2012, FIVE PRESENTATIONS WERE ACCEPTED BY THE JOINT AMERICAN BRACHYTHERAPY SOCIETY / EUROPEAN SOCIETY FOR RADIOTHERAPY AND ONC(
MEETING DESCRIBING CESIUM-131 TREATMENT OF PROSTATE, LUNG AND HEAD AND NECK CANCERS. TWO PRESENTATIONS WERE ACCEPTED BY THE ANNUAL MEETING OF
AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR RADIATION ONcoLoGY (ASTRO), AND FIVE PUBLICATIONS WERE ABSTRACTED TO THE MEDLINE DATABASE OF CITATIONS OF THE MEDICAL LITE
THAT REPORTED TOPICS RELATED TO CESIUM-131 AS A CANCER TREATMENT. THE COMPANY WILL CONTINUE TO SEEK TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF REPORTS MADE TO S
meetings and the peer reviewed literature in order to seek to enhance the standing ofits products in the scientific community.

Maintain ISO 13485:2003 certification. IN Aucust 2008, THE COMPANY OBTAINED ITS INITIAL ISO 13485:2003 CERTIFICATION. THIS PERMITTED THE COMPANY T(
REGISTER ITS PRODUCTS IN EUROPE IN 2008 AND IN CANADA AND RUSSIA DURING FISCAL YEAR 2009. THE ISO 13485:2003 CERTIFICATION DEMONSTRATES THAT THE CoM
IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS INTERNATIONALLY RECOGNIZED QUALITY STANDARD AND THE INITIAL CERTIFICATION WAS VALID FOR A THREE YEAR PERIOD. IN JUNE 201
COMPANY RECEIVED A RECERTIFICATION TO ISO 13485:2003 FOR AN ADDITIONAL THREE YEAR PERIOD, WHICH WAS AFFIRMED THROUGH A SURVEILLANCE AUDIT IN JULY |
THIS RECERTIFICATION WAS IMPORTANT AS IT ALLOWS THE COMPANY TO CONTINUE TO REGISTER ITS PRODUCTS IN FOREIGN MARKETS THAT UTILIZE THIS CERTIFICATION AS
their medical device approval processes.

Products

Proxcelan Cesium-131

ISORAY MARKETS THE PROXCELAN CESIUM-13 IBRACHYTHERAPY SEED FOR THE TREATMENT OF PROSTATE CANCER; LUNG CANCER; OCULAR MELANOMA; HEAD AND NECK C/
COLORECTAL CANCER, BRAIN CANCER; AND GYNECOLOGICAL CANCER. THE COMPANY INTENDS TO MARKET CESIUM-131 FOR THE TREATMENT OF OTHER MALIGNANT DISE
OPPORTUNITIES ARE IDENTIFIED IN THE FUTURE THROUGH THE USE OF EXISTING PROVEN TECHNOLOGIES THAT HAVE RECEIVED FDA-CLEARANCE. THE STRATEGY OF UTILIZING E
FDA-cleared technologies reduces the time and cost required to develop new applications of Cesium-131 and deliver them to market.

Competitive Advantages of Proxcelan Cesium-131

Management believes that the Proxcelan Cesium-131 brachytherapy seed has specific clinical advantages for treating cancer over I-125 and Pd-103, the other
ISOTOPES CURRENTLY USED IN BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS. THE TABLE BELOW HIGHLIGHTS THE KEY DIFFERENCES OF THE THREE SEEDS. THE COMPANY BELIEVES THAT THE SHOR
LIFE, HIGH-ENERGY CHARACTERISTICS OF CESIUM-131 WILL INCREASE INDUSTRY GROWTH AND FACILITATE MEANINGFUL PENETRATION INTO THE TREATMENT OF OTHER FORMS C

such as lung cancer.

Isotope Delivery Over Time

Isotope Half-Life Energy 90% Dose Total Dose
Cs-131 9.7 days 30.4 KeV 33 days 115 Gy
Pd-103 17 days 20.8 KeV 58 days 125 Gy
I-125 60 days 28.5 KeV 204 days 145 Gy
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Cesium-131 Manufacturing Process and Suppliers
Product Overview

CESIUM-131 1S A RADIOACTIVE ISOTOPE THAT CAN BE PRODUCED BY THE NEUTRON BOMBARDMENT OF BARIUM-130 (Ba-130). WHEN PLACED INTO A NUCLEAR REACTOR
EXPOSED TO A FLUX OF NEUTRONS, BA-130 BECOMES Ba-131, THE RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL THAT IS THE PARENT ISOTOPE OF CESIUM-131. THE RADIOACTIVE 1SOTOPE CES
131 1S NORMALLY PRODUCED BY PLACING A QUANTITY OF STABLE NON-RADIOACTIVE BARIUM (IDEALLY BARIUM ENRICHED IN ISOTOPE BA-130) INTO THE NEUTRON FLUX
NUCLEAR REACTOR. THE IRRADIATION PROCESS CONVERTS A SMALL FRACTION OF THIS MATERIAL INTO A RADIOACTIVE FORM OF BARIUM (BA-131). THE Ba-131 DECAYS BY 1
capture to the radioactive isotope of interest (Cesium-131).

To PRODUCE THE PROXCELAN SEED, THE PURIFIED CESIUM-131 ISOTOPE IS ADSORBED ONTO A CERAMIC CORE CONTAINING A GOLD X-RAY MARKER. THIS INTERNAL CORE ASSE!
IS SUBSEQUENTLY INSERTED INTO A TITANIUM CAPSULE THAT IS THEN WELDED SHUT AND BECOMES A SEALED RADIOACTIVE SOURCE AND A BIOCOMPATIBLE MEDICAL DEVICE. *
DIMENSIONAL TOLERANCES FOR THE CERAMIC CORE, GOLD X-RAY MARKER, AND THE TITANIUM CAPSULE ARE EXTREMELY IMPORTANT. TO DATE THE COMPANY HAS USED SOLE-¢
PROVIDERS FOR CERTAIN COMPONENTS SUCH AS THE GOLD X-RAY MARKER AND THE TITANIUM CAPSULE AS THESE SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN VALIDATED BY OUR QUALITY DEPART
and they have been cost effective.

Isotope Suppliers

DUE TO THE SHORT HALF-LIFE OF BOTH THE BA-131 AND CESIUM-131 ISOTOPES, POTENTIAL SUPPLIERS MUST BE CAPABLE OF REMOVING IRRADIATED MATERIALS FROM THE RI
CORE ON A ROUTINE BASIS FOR SUBSEQUENT PROCESSING TO PRODUCE ULTRA-PURE CESIUM-131. THE SUPPLIER'S NUCLEAR REACTOR FACILITY MUST HAVE SUFFICIENT IRRAD
CAPACITY TO ACCOMMODATE BARIUM TARGETS AND THE NUCLEAR REACTORS MUST HAVE SUFFICIENT NEUTRON FLUX TO COST EFFECTIVELY PRODUCE COMMERCIALLY VIABLE QU
of Cesium-131 and Ba-131.

THE COMPANY HAS IDENTIFIED KEY REACTOR FACILITIES IN THE U.S. AND RUSSIA THAT ARE CAPABLE OF MEETING THESE REQUIREMENTS. IN ORDER TO MAINTAIN A STABLE SU
AND PRICING OF CEsIUM-131 FrRoM URALDIAL, LLC (A Russian LLC), ISORAY RENEWED ITS SUPPLY AGREEMENT WITH THE SUPPLIER DURING 2011 TO PROVIDE CESIUM-12
1SOTOPE FROM RussiA TO THE COMPANY'S FACILITY IN RicHLAND, WA THROUGH DECEMBER 31,2012. URALDIAL HISTORICALLY HAS OBTAINED CESIUM-131 FROM TWO REAC
but as one of the reactors has been shut down now relies on one reactor.

THE COMPANY ALSO RECEIVES IRRADIATED BARIUM FROM THE MURR REACTOR LOCATED IN THE UNITED STATES. FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,2012, WE OBTAINEL
CESIUM FROM OUR DOMESTIC SOURCE THAN EVER BEFORE AS APPROXIMATELY SIXTY PERCENT (60%) OoF OUR CESIUM-131 WAS SUPPLIED BY OUR RUSSIAN SUPPLIER AND FOR
PERCENT (40%) FROM DOMESTIC SOURCES. THE COMPANY HAS DEMONSTRATED THE CAPABILITY TO EXPAND CESIUM-131 MANUFACTURING CAPABILITY AT THE MURR REAC
IN A COST EFFECTIVE MANNER TO MEET THE CURRENT NEEDS OF THE COMPANY, HOWEVER, THE COMPANY WILL CONTINUE TO OBTAIN CESIUM-131 FROM ITS FOREIGN SUPPLIE
mitigate the risk of reliance on a single source.

IN RECENT YEARS, MANAGEMENT BELIEVED THAT FAILURE TO OBTAIN DELIVERIES OF CESIUM-131 FROM ITS RuUssIAN SUPPLIER (URALDIAL, LLC) WOULD HAVE A MATERIAL Al
EFFECT ON SEED PRODUCTION. MANAGEMENT NOW BELIEVES THAT ITS EXISTING DOMESTIC SUPPLIER CAN MEET THE COMPANY'S ISOTOPE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE NEAR FUTURE
CAN MITIGATE THE PERIODIC REQUIRED SHUTDOWNS AT THE FOREIGN FACILITY. IN THE FISCAL YEAR 2012, THE COMPANY CONTINUED TESTING THE PRODUCTION CAPABILITIES C
REACTOR AT THE MURR FACILITY TO DETERMINE WHETHER IT COULD PRODUCE AN INCREASED QUANTITY OF ISOTOPE IN A COST EFFECTIVE MANNER. THESE TESTS FOCUSED (
within the reactor previously thought to be impracticable. This testing process validated management's belief that the MURR facility can be utilized to offset
EITHER A SHORT-TERM OR LONG TERM SUPPLY ISSUE WITH ISOTOPE THAT MEETS OR EXCEEDS THE PURITY LEVELS THAT ARE SPECIFIED FOR USE IN THE COMPANY'S PRODUCTS.
COMPANY HAS ALSO IDENTIFIED OTHER REACTORS THAT COULD PROVIDE IRRADIATION SERVICES BUT UNTIL FURTHER TESTING IS COMPLETED MANAGEMENT IS NOT CERTAIN W
they are adequate to meet the needs ofthe Company.
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Quality Controls

WE HAVE ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS TO COMPLY WITH THE FDA'S QUALITY SYSTEM REGULATION. THE COMPANY CONSTANTLY MONITORS THESE PROCEDURES
CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY ARE OPERATING PROPERLY, THEREBY WORKING TO MAINTAIN A HIGH-QUALITY PRODUCT. ALSO, THE QUALITY, PRODUCTION, AND CUSTOMER
DEPARTMENTS MAINTAIN OPEN COMMUNICATIONS TO ENSURE THAT ALL REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS FOR THE FDA, DOT, AND APPLICABLE NUCLEAR RADIATION AND I
authorities are fulfilled.

IN Jury 2008, [SORAY HAD ITS BASELINE INSPECTION BY THE FDA AT ITS MANUFACTURING AND ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES IN RICHLAND, WA. THIS INSPECTION WAS CARRIED C
OVER A FIVE DAY PERIOD OF TIME DURING WHICH THE INVESTIGATOR PERFORMED A COMPLETE INSPECTION FOLLOWING QUALITY SySTEMS INsPECTION TECHNIQUES (QSIT).
the end of the inspection, no report of deviations from Good Manufacturing Practices or list of observations (form FDA 483) was issued to IsoRay.

In JunEe 2012, ISORAY COMPLETED A RECERTIFICATION TO ISO13485:2003 Aupit By BSI (BRITISH STANDARDS INSTITUTION) WITH NO NONCONFORMITIES. THE COMPAN"
SUBJECT TO A COMPREHENSIVE AUDIT EVERY THREE YEARS WITH A MAINTENANCE AUDIT OCCURRING IN THE OTHER TWO YEARS OF THE AUDIT CYCLE. THE COMPLETION OF A
WITHOUT NONCONFORMITIES CONFIRMS THE COMPANY’S COMMITMENT AND SUCCESS IN ACHIEVING THE STANDARDS OF MANUFACTURING AND QUALITY SYSTEMS WHICH ALLC
the Company to continue to market products in Canada and Europe.

Order Processing

THE COMPANY HAS IMPLEMENTED A JUST-IN-TIME PRODUCTION PROCESS THAT IS RESPONSIVE TO CUSTOMER INPUT AND ORDERS TO ENSURE THAT INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMERS RECE
A HIGHER LEVEL OF CUSTOMER SERVICE THAN RECEIVED FROM OUR COMPETITORS WHO HAVE THE LUXURY OF LONGER LEAD TIMES DUE TO LONGER HALF-LIFE PRODUCTS. Tl
ORDER CONFIRMATION TO COMPLETION OF PRODUCT MANUFACTURE IS REDUCED TO SEVERAL WORKING DAYS, INCLUDING RECEIPT OF IRRADIATED BARIUM (FROM THE DO
SUPPLIER'S REACTOR) OR UNPURIFIED CESIUM-131 (FROM THE INTERNATIONAL SUPPLIER'S REACTOR), SEPARATION AND PURIFICATION OF CESIUM-131, ISOTOPE LABELING OF
core, loading of cores into pre-welded titanium "cans" for final welding, testing, quality assurance and shipping.

IT IS UP TO EACH PHYSICIAN TO DETERMINE THE DOSAGE NECESSARY FOR IMPLANTS AND ACCEPTABLE DOSAGES VARY AMONG PHYSICIANS. MANY OF THE PHYSICIANS ORDER M
seeds than necessary to assure themselves that they have a sufficient quantity. Upon receipt of an order, the Company either delivers the seeds from its facility
DIRECTLY TO THE PHYSICIAN IN EITHER LOOSE OR PRELOADED FORM OR SENDS THE ORDER TO AN INDEPENDENT PRELOADING SERVICE THAT DELIVERS THE SEEDS PRELOAD
NEEDLES OR CARTRIDGES JUST PRIOR TO IMPLANT. IF THE IMPLANT IS POSTPONED OR RESCHEDULED, THE SHORT HALF-LIFE OF THE SEEDS MAKES THEM UNSUITABLE FOR U
therefore they must be re-ordered.

DUE TO THE LEAD TIME FOR OBTAINING AND PROCESSING THE CESIUM-131 ISOTOPE AND THE SHORT HALF-LIFE, THE COMPANY RELIES ON SALES FORECASTS AND HIST!
KNOWLEDGE TO ESTIMATE THE PROPER INVENTORY LEVELS OF ISOTOPE NEEDED TO FULFILL ALL CUSTOMER ORDERS. CONSEQUENTLY, SOME PORTION OF THE ISOTOPE IS LOST 1
DECAY AND IS NOT USED IN AN END PRODUCT. MANAGEMENT CONTINUES TO REDUCE THE VARIANCES BETWEEN ORDERED ISOTOPE AND ISOTOPE DELIVERIES AND IS CONTINU
improving its ordering process efficiencies.

To PROVIDE THE CESIUM-131 REQUIRED BY MANY PATIENTS FOR BRAIN CANCER, THE COMPANY RECENTLY INSTITUTED A PROGRAM PROVIDING CERTAIN HOSPITALS AN INVENT
of Cesium-131 so that it is available when needed.

Automated Manufacturing Process

IN FiscaL 2011 anDp 2012, ISORAY PURSUED FURTHER AUTOMATION IDENTIFIED BY MANAGEMENT TO REDUCE COST AND INCREASE RADIATION SAFETY WHILE ALLOWI
EXPANSION OF PRODUCT LOADING CONFIGURATIONS. IN FISCAL YEAR 2013, THE COMPANY INTENDS TO CONTINUE TO EVALUATE AND IMPLEMENT AUTOMATION IN THE FUTURE
SUPPORTS PROCESS IMPROVEMENT, EMPLOYEE SAFETY AND RESOURCE MANAGEMENT. THE COMPANY CONTINUES TO CONTRACT WITH A THIRD PARTY TO OUTSOURCE CERTAIN
processes where cost effective.

Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012 Powered by Momingstar® Document Research™

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



Pre-loading Services

IN ADDITION TO PROVIDING LOOSE SEEDS TO CUSTOMERS, MOST BRACHYTHERAPY MANUFACTURERS OFFER THEIR SEED PRODUCT TO THE END USER PACKAGED IN V/
configurations provided in a sterile or non-sterile package depending on the customer's preference. These include:

= Pre-loaded needles (loaded typically with three to five seeds and spacers)

= Pre-loaded Mick™ cartridges (fits the Mick™ applicator)

= Strands of seeds (consists of seeds and spacers in a biocompatible "carrier sleeve")

= Preloaded strands (strands loaded into the needle)

= Pre-loaded braided strands (seeds loaded into a flexible bioabsorbable strand)

= Pre-loaded braided strands attached to bioabsorbable mesh (creates planar implants out of braided strands and bioabsorbable mesh)

IN FISCAL YEAR 2012, THE COMPANY DELIVERED APPROXIMATELY 50% OF ITS PROXCELAN SEEDS TO CUSTOMERS CONFIGURED IN MICK CARTRIDGES, APPROXIMATELY 40% OF
Proxcelan seed configured in both stranded and braided strand forms and the remaining 10% in a loose form.

THE ROLE OF THE PRELOADING SERVICE IS TO PACKAGE, ASSAY AND CERTIFY THE CONTENTS OF THE FINAL PRODUCT CONFIGURATION SHIPPED TO THE CUSTOMER. A COMMONLY
METHOD OF PROVIDING THIS SERVICE IS THROUGH INDEPENDENT RADIOPHARMACIES. MANUFACTURERS SEND LOOSE SEEDS ALONG WITH THE PHYSICIAN'S INSTRUCTIONS TO
RADIOPHARMACY WHICH, IN TURN, LOADS NEEDLES AND/OR STRANDS THE SEEDS ACCORDING TO THE DOCTOR'S INSTRUCTIONS. THESE RADIOPHARMACIES THEN STERILIZE THE
and certify the final packaging prior to shipping directly to the end user.

ISORAY CURRENTLY HAS AGREEMENTS WITH SEVERAL INDEPENDENT RADIOPHARMACIES TO ASSAY, PRELOAD, AND STERILIZE LOOSE SEEDS. SHIPPING TO INDEPENDENT PHARM/
CREATES ADDITIONAL LOSS OF OUR ISOTOPE THROUGH DECAY. WHILE THE COMPANY PRE-LOADS MANY OF ITS CURRENT ORDERS, WE HAVE CONTINUED TO UTILIZE LOADING Sl
to supplement our own custom preloading operation and to meet the requests of the ordering physicians.

WE CURRENTLY LOAD APPROXIMATELY 93% OF MICK CARTRIDGES IN OUR OWN FACILITY WHICH IN FISCAL YEAR 2012 ACCOUNTED FOR APPROXIMATELY 56% OF SEEDS
APPROXIMATELY 33% OF SEEDS SOLD ARE STRAND CONFIGURATIONS INCLUDING STRANDS PRE-LOADED IN NEEDLES AND THE REMAINING 11% OF SEEDS ARE SOLD AS LOOSE
ALTHOUGH HE COMPANY PERFORMS IN-HOUSE ANALYTICAL SERVICES TO ELIMINATE LOSS IN ISOTOPE ACTIVITY DUE TO RADIOACTIVE DECAYHE COMPANY UTILIZES
independent radiopharmacies to back up its own preloading operation, handle periodic increases in demand and cater to certain doctors' preferences.

INDEPENDENT RADIOPHARMACIES TRADITIONALLY PROVIDE THE FINAL PACKAGING OF THE PRODUCT DELIVERED TO THE END USER THEREBY ELIMINATING THE OPPORTUNI]
REINFORCING THE "BRANDING" OF OUR SEED PRODUCT. BY PROVIDING OUR OWN REPACKAGING SERVICE, WE ARE ABLE TO PRESERVE THE PRODUCT BRANDING OPPORTUNITY, RE
ISOTOPE DECAY LOSS, CONTROL OVERALL PRODUCT QUALITY AND ELIMINATE ANY CONCERNS RELATED TO THE HANDLING OF OUR PRODUCT BY A THIRD PARTY PRIOR TO RECEI
end user.

BY PROVIDING CUSTOM PACKAGING CONFIGURATIONS THAT ARE PRODUCED BY OUR PERSONNEL, WE CAN ENHANCE THE OVERALL CONTROL OF THE QUALITY OF OUR PRODUC"
PROVIDING LARGER INCREMENTAL MARGINS TO THE COMPANY THROUGH A DECREASED COST OF LOADING SEEDS WHEN COMPARED TO THE COST OF LOADING THROUGH THIRT
LOADING SERVICE. USING THE LOADING SERVICES OF THE COMPANY ALLOWS A LARGER PERCENTAGE OF THE LOADING PRICING PREMIUMS CHARGED TO OUR CUSTOMERS 1
RETAINED BY THE COMPANY. THE END USERS OF THESE PACKAGING OPTIONS ARE WILLING TO PAY A PREMIUM FOR THESE LOADING SERVICES IN LIEU OF LOADING SEE
THEMSELVES BECAUSE OF THE COST SAVINGS REALIZED AS THE RESULT OF THE RISK REDUCTION THAT OCCURS THROUGH ELIMINATING THE NEED FOR LOOSE SEED HANDL
LOADING REQUIREMENTS ON-SITE BY THEIR STAFF, ELIMINATING THE NEED FOR ADDITIONAL STAFFING TO STERILIZE SEEDS AND NEEDLES AFTER LOADING THEM, AND ELIMINAT
additional expense of assaying of the seeds.

WITH CLEARANCE FROM THE FDA RECEIVED IN 2009 THAT ALLOWS FOR PRELOADING FLEXIBLE BRAIDED STRANDS AND BIOABSORBABLE MESH, IsoRAY BECAME THE s

COMPANY IN THE INDUSTRY THAT HAS 510(K) CLEARANCE TO PRELOAD BOTH THE STRANDS AND THE MESH. THIS ALLOWS ISORAY TO REDUCE LOADING COSTS BY PROVIDINC
seeds loaded into flexible braided strands and flexible braided strands attached to bioabsorbable mesh directly to our customers.
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IN FISCAL YEAR 2012, ISORAY WAS ABLE TO ADD THE CAPABILITY TO CE MARK THE PRODUCTS WHICH ALLOWS FOR SHIPMENT OF SEEDS LOADED INTO FLEXIBLE BRAIDED S
and flexible strands attached to bioabsorbable mesh into the European Union.

GliaSite® Radiation Therapy System

IsoRAY MARKETS THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM (RTS) FOR THE TREATMENT OF BRAIN CANCER, I.E. PRIMARY AND RECURRENT GLIOMAS AND METASTIC BRAIN T
SPECIFICALLY, THE INTENDED USE OF GLIASITE® RTS IS THE MANAGEMENT OF SURGICALLY RESECTABLE BRAIN TUMORS WHERE ADJUVANT RADIATION THERAPY OF THI
resection tissue bed is indicated.

Product Overview

GLIASITE® RTS 18 THE ONLY FDA CLEARED BALLOON CATHETER DEVICE USED IN THE TREATMENT OF BRAIN CANCER. THE MAIN COMPONENTS INCLUDED IN THE GLIASITER
are the GliaSite Catheter Tray, lotrex Radiotherapy Solution, GliaSite Access Tray and lotrex Solidifier.

Manufacturing Process and Key Suppliers

THE CATHETER TRAY INCLUDES A GLIASITE® RTS CATHETER, TWO NON-CORING NEEDLES, AND TWO RIGHT ANCHORING CLIPS. ON ONE END OF THE CATHETER SUBASSEMI
BALLOON DEVICE WHICH IS LATER FILLED WITH IOTREX RADIOTHERAPY SOLUTION AND ON THE OTHER END IS AN INFUSION PORT WHICH IS ATTACHED TO THE SKULL AND IS PUM
BY A NEEDLE TO GET THE SOLUTION TO THE BALLOON AT THE END OF THE CATHETER. THE GLIASITE CATHETER IS AVAILABLE IN 3 DIFFERENCE SIZES, INCLUDING 2, 3, AND 4
appropriate size to be used is determined at time of implant by the physician to ensure adequate conformance of the resection cavity.

A DUAL BALLOON CONFIGURATION IS USED TO ACT AS A PRIMARY AND SECONDARY RESERVOIR FOR THE IOTREX RADIOTHERAPY SOLUTION WITHIN THE RESECTION CAVITY IN Tk
THE SIZE OF THE BALLOON DIFFERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SIZE OF THE CATHETER AND WITH SIZES RANGING FROM 5 cc, 15 cc AND 35 cc FOR A 2cM, 3CM AND 4CM CAT
RESPECTIVELY. THE BALLOON CATHETER IS MANUFACTURED BY VESTA AND CONFORMS TO THE APPLICABLE REQUIRED ISORAY QUALITY STANDARDS. IN ADDITION ISORAY E
that testing is performed to ensure that the balloons are properly produced and will not leak.

THE INFUSION PORT CONSISTS OF A PORT BODY, RESERVOIR BASE, AND A SELF SEALING SEPTUM. THE INFUSION PORT IS PRODUCED BY SMITH MEDICAL AND CONFORMS TO
APPLICABLE REQUIRED ISORAY QUALITY STANDARDS. IT IS ATTACHED TO THE CATHETER SUBASSEMBLY AND IS BONDED IN PLACE. IT IS DESIGNED TO ALLOW REPEATED PUN
with a 20 gauge needle and the design prevents complete penetration of the reservoir with the needle.

The lotrex Radiotherapy Solution is inserted in the balloon catheter through the infusion port using a needle. lotrex is the radiation source with the GliaSite®
CATHETER TO DELIVER THE INTRACRANIAL RADIATION THERAPY. JOTREX IS SUPPLIED IN STERILE UNIT DOSE VIALS WITH EACH CONTAINING 195 MCI AT THE TIME OF CALIBRATI
key suppliers of the Iotrex Radiotherapy Solution are Iso-Tex and Anazao. The typical treatment doses of Iotrex Radiotherapy Solution are 1 - 3 vials.

OTHER ACCESSORIES SOLD AND PACKAGED WITH THE GLIASITE® CATHETER TRAYS INCLUDE ACCESS TRAYS AND SOLIDIFIER. THESE ACCESSORIES ASSIST IN THE DELIVERY
TIOTREX AND SUBSEQUENT REMOVAL AFTER COMPLETION OF THE RADIOTHERAPY TREATMENT. INCLUDED IN THE ACCESS TRAY PACKAGE ARE INFUSION SETS, SYRINGE ASSE
SAFETY LUMEN ACCESS SUPPLIES, GAUZE PADS, ETC. EACH OF WHICH ASSIST IN THE SURGICAL IMPLANT AND REMOVAL OF THE GLIASITE® DEVICE AND ARE ASSEMBLED Al
IsoRAy raciLITY. THE SOLIDIFIER (IS 8000 SOLIDIFIER) IS A PRODUCT THAT SOLIDIFIES LIQUID RADIOACTIVE WASTE ASSOCIATED WITH THE IOTREX. ALL ACCESSORIES ARE OB
from distributors and are sterilized and tested by the Company to ensure compliance with quality standards.

FROM START TO FINISH, INCLUDING THE CREATION OF THE GLIASITE CATHETER SUBASSEMBLIES, THE MANUFACTURE OF THE DEVICE TAKES APPROXIMATELY 4 WEEKS. THE CoM
MAINTAINS ON HAND A NUMBER OF SUBASSEMBLIES THAT REDUCE THE MANUFACTURE TIME TO 2 WEEKS, WHICH INCLUDES STERILIZATION OF THE FINAL PRODUCT.
SUBASSEMBLIES ARE MAINTAINED IN A CLEAN ROOM FACILITY AND ARE NOT DATED UNTIL THE ENTIRE GLIASITE MEDICAL DEVICE IS GAMMA STERILIZED. MANAGE
PERIODICALLY EVALUATES THE APPROPRIATE LOT SIZES IN WHICH TO MANUFACTURE THE GLIASITE PRODUCT TO ENSURE THAT STERILIZATION CAPACITY IS OPTIMIZED, EN
PRODUCT IS ON HAND TO MEET CUSTOMER NEEDS, AND REDUCE THE RISK OF EXPIRED PRODUCT UTILIZING THE HISTORY OF PRIOR GLIASITE DEVICE MANUFACTURERS AND
forecasts.
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Quality Control

WE HAVE ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS TO COMPLY WITH THE FDA'S QUALITY SYSTEM REGULATION. THE COMPANY CONSTANTLY MONITORS THESE PROCEDURES
CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY ARE OPERATING PROPERLY, THEREBY WORKING TO MAINTAIN A HIGH-QUALITY PRODUCT. ALSO, THE QUALITY, PRODUCTION, AND CUSTOMER
DEPARTMENTS MAINTAIN OPEN COMMUNICATIONS TO ENSURE THAT ALL REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS FOR THE FDA, DOT, AND APPLICABLE NUCLEAR RADIATION AND I
authorities are fulfilled.

IN Jury 2008, [ISORAY HAD ITS BASELINE INSPECTION BY THE FDA AT ITS MANUFACTURING AND ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES IN RICHLAND, WA. THIS INSPECTION WAS CARRIED C
OVER A FIVE DAY PERIOD OF TIME DURING WHICH THE INVESTIGATOR PERFORMED A COMPLETE INSPECTION FOLLOWING QUALITY SySTEMS INsPECTION TECHNIQUES (QSIT).
the end of the inspection, no report of deviations from Good Manufacturing Practices or list of observations (form FDA 483) was issued to IsoRay.

In June 2012, IsoRAY cOMPLETED AN ANNUAL ISO13485:2003 aupit FrRoM BSI (BRITISH STANDARDS INSTITUTION) WITH NO NONCONFORMITIES. THE COMPANY 1S SUBJ
TO AN AUDIT EVERY THREE YEARS WITH A MAINTENANCE AUDIT EVERY YEAR. THE SUCCESSFUL AUDIT, CONFIRMS THE COMPANY’S COMMITMENT AND SUCCESS IN MEETING
standards of manufacturing and quality systems that allows the Company to continue to market products in Canada and Europe.

Order Processing

ISORAY MEDICAL REQUIRES HOSPITALS TO HAVE 6 GLIASITE CATHETERS AT TIME OF SURGICAL IMPLANT IN THE PATIENT, WHICH INCLUDES 2 CATHETERS OF EACH SIZE. THE FAC
ARE ENCOURAGED TO MAINTAIN AN INVENTORY OF THE 6 CATHETERS ON HAND AND TO RE-ORDER AFTER AN IMPLANT TO ENSURE THAT THESE LEVELS ARE MAINTAINED. AT T
THE SURGICAL IMPLANT THE CATHETER SIZE IS DETERMINED BASED ON THE SIZE OF THE RESECTION AND AN EXTRA IS ON HAND IN THE CASE OF A FAILURE WITH THE IMPLAN1
first catheter.

THE COMPANY IMPLEMENTS A JUST-IN-TIME ORDER PROCESS FOR THE IOTREX RADIOTHERAPY SOLUTION. THE IODINE-125 STOCK 1S ORDERED BY THE COMPANY AND D
SHIPPED TO ISO-TEX, THE COMPANY’S CONTRACTED MANUFACTURER OF IOTREX. THE IODINE-125 1s TESTED BY ISO-TEX AND IF ACCEPTED IS USED TO MANUFACTURE THE IcC
RADIOTHERAPY SOLUTION WHICH HAS A 30 DAY SHELF LIFE ONCE MANUFACTURED. ONCE MANUFACTURE IS COMPLETE BY ISO-TEX, TESTING IS PERFORMED ON THE PRODUCT AN
TEST RESULTS ARE SENT TO ISORAY ALONG WITH THE BATCH RECORD FOR REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE. ISO-TEX THEN SHIPS THE VIALS OF IOTREX TO THE RADIOPHARMACIES V
ship to the related facilities performing the implants.

DUE TO THE LEAD TIME FOR OBTAINING AND PROCESSING THE IODINE-125 BY IoTREX, THE COMPANY RELIES ON SALES FORECASTS AND HISTORICAL KNOWLEDGE FROM
MANUFACTURERS TO ESTIMATE THE PROPER INVENTORY LEVELS OF CATHETERS AS WELL AS IOTREX GIVEN THE 1 YEAR AND 30 DAY SHELF LIFE RESPECTABLY. CONSEQUEN1
portions of the product including the lotrex or GliaSite device itself are lost through decay and are subsequently destroyed.

Manufacturing Facility

THE COMPANY MAINTAINS A PRODUCTION FACILITY LOCATED AT APPLIED PROCESS ENGINEERING LABORATORY (APEL). THE APEL FACILITY BECAME OPERATIONAL
SEPTEMBER 2007. THE PRODUCTION FACILITY HAS OVER 15,000 SQUARE FEET AND INCLUDES SPACE FOR ISOTOPE SEPARATION, SEED PRODUCTION, ORDER DISPENSING, A CL
ROOM FOR RADIOPHARMACY WORK, AND A DEDICATED SHIPPING AREA. A DESCRIPTION OF THE LEASE TERMS FOR THE APEL FACILITY IS LOCATED IN THE COMMITMENTS
CONTINGENCIES NOTE INCLUDED IN ITEM 7 BELOW. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THE APEL FACILITY WILL BE UTILIZED FOR MANUFACTURING SPACE THROUGH FISCAL YEAR
WHICH IS THE ORIGINAL LEASE TERM PLUS THE TWO THREE-YEAR RENEWAL OPTIONS. MANAGEMENT HAS EXERCISED THE FIRST OF TWO THREE-YEAR RENEWAL OPTIONS TO EX
APEL facility lease through April 2013 and it believes that the Company will exercise the second three-year renewal option through April 2016.

Marketing and Sales

Marketing Strategy

THE COMPANY IS MARKETING PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS AS THE "SEED OF CHOICE" FOR PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY. BASED ON CURRENT AND PRELIMI
CLINICAL STUDIES, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THERE IS NO APPARENT CLINICAL REASON TO USE OTHER ISOTOPES WHEN CESIUM-131 IS AVAILABLE. THE ADVANTAGES ASSOCL

WITH THE HIGHER ENERGY AND SHORTER HALF-LIFE OF THE ISOTOPE ARE GENERALLY ACCEPTED WITHIN THE SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY AND THE COMPANY INTENDS TO HELP EC
potential patients about the clinical benefits from Cesium-131 for their brachytherapy seed treatment.
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THE MARKET FOR TREATMENTS FOR LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANCER TREATMENT IS VERY COMPETITIVE AND LARGELY HINGES UPON THE DEMONSTRATION OF LONG TERM FOLLOV
THAT HAS BEEN PRESENTED TO THE PROSTATE CANCER TREATMENT PROFESSION. THEREFORE, HIGHLY COMPELLING TECHNICAL ARGUMENTS ALONE — ABSENT PUBLISHED LOM
FOLLOW-UP DATA — CAN FAIL TO PROVIDE SIGNIFICANT MARKETABILITY, EVEN FOR TREATMENTS THAT ULTIMATELY PROVE HIGHLY EFFECTIVE. THE FACT THAT PROXCELAN CES
WAS INTRODUCED TO THE PROSTATE CANCER MARKETPLACE MORE THAN A DECADE AFTER [ODINE-125 AND PALLADIUM-103, AND THE RESULTING TIME FOR MATURE CLINICAI
BE DEVELOPED HAS PROVEN AN OBSTACLE TO WIDESPREAD MARKET ACCEPTANCE. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THE IMPRESSIVE RESULTS ACHIEVED FOR TREATMENT WITH CE:
131 AT THE FIVE-YEAR MARK SHOULD CREATE FURTHER SCIENTIFIC SUPPORT FOR CESIUM-131 AS AN ATTRACTIVE TREATMENT FOR LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANCER, OVERCOMIN(
some of the initial resistance predicated on the lack of long-term follow-up reports.

ISORAY HAS CHOSEN TO IDENTIFY ITS PROPRIETARY CESIUM-131 SEED WITH THE TRADEMARKED BRAND OF "PROXCELAN." MANAGEMENT IS USING THIS BRAND TO DIFFERE
CESIUM-131 SEEDS FROM SEEDS USING THE OTHER ISOTOPES. WE CONTINUE TO TARGET THE COMPETING ISOTOPE PRODUCTS OF IODINE-125 AND PALLADIUM-103 RATHER 1
THE VARIOUS MANUFACTURERS AND DISTRIBUTORS OF THESE ISOTOPES. USING THIS STRATEGY, THE CHOICE OF BRACHYTHERAPY ISOTOPES SHOULD BE LESS DEPENDENT ON THE
and distribution strengths of the various iodine and palladium manufacturers and distributors and more dependent on the therapeutic benefits of Cesium-131.

THE PROFESSIONAL AND PATIENT MARKET SEGMENTS EACH PLAY A ROLE IN THE ULTIMATE CHOICE OF CANCER TREATMENT AND THE SPECIFIC ISOTOPE CHOSEN FOR
BRACHYTHERAPY TREATMENT. THE COMPANY HAS DEVELOPED A CUSTOMIZED BRAND MESSAGE FOR EACH AUDIENCE. THE COMPANY'S WEBSITE WWW.ISORAY.COM DELIVERS T
MESSAGE THAT CESIUM-131 IS FOR THE TREATMENT OF CANCERS THROUGHOUT THE BODY AND INCLUDES SECTIONS THAT PROVIDE BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON THE CoMm
CANCER TREATMENT UTILIZING BRACHYTHERAPY IN PROSTATE, LUNG, OCULAR AND BRAIN, PHYSICIAN/CLINICIAN RESOURCES, INVESTOR INFORMATION, CURRENT EVEN
REPRESENTATIVES WILL ATTEND, AND CONTACT INFORMATION. [SORAY ALSO MAINTAINS PRINT AND VISUAL MEDIA (INCLUDING PHYSICIAN BROCHURES DISCUSSING THE CLIN
ADVANTAGES OF CESIUM-131, CLINICAL INFORMATION BINDERS, INFORMATIONAL DVDs, SINGLE SHEET GLOSSIES WITH TARGETED CLINICAL DATA, ETC.), AND ADVERTISEME!
leading medical journals. In addition, the Company attends national professional meetings, including the following:

=  American Brachytherapy Society (ABS);

= American Society for Therapeutic Radiation and Oncology (ASTRO);
= Association of American Physicists in Medicine (AAPM);

=  Congress of Neurological Surgeson (CNS);

= Society for Neuro-Oncology (SNO);

=  American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS);

=  American Association for Thoracic Surgery (AATS);

= 2012 Multidisciplinary Symposium on Thoracic Oncology; and

= various local chapter meetings.

THE COMPANY ALSO CONTINUES TO CONSULT WITH NOTED CONTRIBUTORS FROM THE MEDICAL PHYSICS COMMUNITY AND EXPECTS ARTICLES FOR PROFESSIONAL JOURNALS SU
Medical Physics, the Brachytherapy Journal, aND THEInternational Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, and Physics REGARDING THE BENEFITS OF AN
clinical trials involving Cesium-131 will continue to be submitted.

ISORAY HAS CONDUCTED PHYSICIAN TRAINING PROGRAMS IN THE PAST BUT IS NO LONGER DOING SO AS IT NO LONGER BELIEVES THE COSTS OF THESE TRAINING PROGRAMS ARE (
by improved sales.

IN ToDAY'S U.S. HEALTH CARE MARKET, PATIENTS ARE MORE INFORMED AND INVOLVED IN THE MANAGEMENT OF THEIR HEALTH THAN IN THE PAST. MANY PHYSICIANS |

INCIDENTS OF THEIR PATIENTS COMING FOR CONSULTATIONS ARMED WITH ARTICLES RESEARCHED ON THE INTERNET AND OTHER SOURCES DESCRIBING NEW TREATMEN
medications. In many cases, these patients are demanding a certain therapy or drug and the physicians are complying when medically appropriate.
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BECAUSE OF THIS CONSUMER-DRIVEN MARKET FACTOR, WE ALSO PROMOTE OUR PRODUCTS DIRECTLY TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC. WE TARGET THE PROSTATE CANCER PATIENT, HIS
FAMILY AND CARE GIVERS. WE EMPHASIZE TO THESE SEGMENTS THE SPECIFIC ADVANTAGES OF THE PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED THROUGH OUR WEBS
(LOCATED AT WWW.ISORAY.COM AND WWW.PROXCELAN.COM), PATIENT ADVOCACY EFFORTS, INFORMATIONAL PATIENT BROCHURES AND DVDS WITH PATIENT TESTIMONIALS, PA
FOCUSED INFORMATIONAL WEBSITE (WWW.PROXCELAN.COM), AND ADVERTISEMENTS IN SPECIFIC MARKETS SUPPORTING BRACHYTHERAPY. NONE OF OUR WEBSITES SHOULD
considered a part of this Report.

IN ADDITION, THE COMPANY CONTINUES TO PROMOTE THE CLINICAL FINDINGS OF THE VARIOUS PROTOCOLS THROUGH PRESENTATIONS BY RESPECTED THOUGHT LEADERS
Company will continually review and update all marketing materials as more clinical information is gathered from the protocols and studies.

APART FROM CLINICAL STUDIES AND PAPERS SPONSORED BY THE COMPANY, SEVERAL PHYSICIANS ACROSS THE COUNTRY ARE NOW INDEPENDENTLY PUBLISHING PAPERS Al
studies on the benefits of Cesium-131.

THE COMPANY’S MARKETING PLAN WITH REGARD TO NON-PROSTATE SEGMENTS INCLUDES IDENTIFYING AND EXHIBITING AT SCIENTIFIC MEETINGS ATTENDED BY SPECIAL
PHYSICIANS WHO PERFORM PROCEDURES RELATED TO COMPANY’S PRODUCT OFFERINGS; DIRECT SALES CONTACT WITH SUCH PHYSICIANS (FOR EXAMPLE THORACIC SURGEONS
NEURO-SURGEONS); AND THE DEVELOPMENT AND DISSEMINATION OF TRAINING VIDEOS AND OTHER MEDIA THAT OUTLINE COMPANY’s PRODUCTS. THE COMPANY ALSO CONTINI
to work with its existing radiation oncology physician customers and to educate them as to additional or new Company products.

Sales and Distribution

ACCORDING TO A RECENT INDUSTRY SURVEY, APPROXIMATELY 2,000 HOSPITALS AND FREE STANDING CLINICS ARE CURRENTLY OFFERING RADIATION ONCOLOGY SERVICES
United States. Not all of these facilities offer seed brachytherapy services. These institutions are staffed with radiation oncologists and medical physicists who
PROVIDE EXPERTISE IN RADIATION THERAPY TREATMENTS AND SERVE AS CONSULTANTS FOR UROLOGISTS AND PROSTATE CANCER PATIENTS. WE TARGET THE RADIATION ONCOLOC
the medical physicists as well as urologists as key clinical decision-makers in the type of radiation therapy offered to prostate cancer patients.

WITH RESPECT TO NON-PROSTATE APPLICATIONS, THE COMPANY TARGETS NEUROSURGEONS AND THORACIC SURGEONS IN ADDITION TO RADIATION ONCOLOGISTS. AFTER
DECISION MAKERS DETERMINE TO USE THE COMPANY'S RADIATION THERAPY, THE COMPANY THEN NEEDS APPROVAL FOR THE PROCEDURE FROM THE MEDICAL PHYSICISTS ON ST.
THE SALES CYCLE FOR NON-PROSTATE APPLICATIONS HAS PROVED A LONGER PROCESS THAN PROSTATE AND OFTEN TAKES NINE MONTHS BEFORE THE COMPANY IS LICENSED IN A
hospital and can make its first sale.

ISORAY HAS A DIRECT SALES ORGANIZATION CONSISTING OF SEVEN TERRITORIAL SALES MANAGERS TO INTRODUCE PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS TO R.
ONCOLOGISTS AND MEDICAL PHYSICISTS FOR USE IN TREATING CANCER THROUGHOUT THE BODY. ALL OF THE COMPANY'S SALES FORCE SOLICITS POTENTIAL SPECIALIST PHYSICL/
ALL AREAS OF THE BODY AND NONE SPECIALIZE SOLELY IN THE PROSTATE OR OTHER ORGANS. THIS APPROACH ALLOWS OUR SALES REPRESENTATIVES TO CALL ON A SINGLE LOX
THE VARIOUS SPECIALTIES SO THAT IF A PARTICULAR PHYSICIAN IS UNAVAILABLE THEY CAN CONTACT THOSE WHO ARE AVAILABLE RESULTING IN A MORE EFFICIENT SALES APP
Compensation paid to the sales force is uniform for sales made regardless of the organ treated.

WITH THE ASSISTANCE OF AN EXECUTIVE SEARCH FIRM, THE COMPANY IS CURRENTLY ACTIVELY RECRUITING ONE TO TWO ADDITIONAL SALES PERSONS WITH PREVIOUS EXPERIE!
radiation oncology and specifically with brachytherapy sales.

THE COMPANY EXPECTS TO CONTINUE TO EXPAND ITS CUSTOMER BASE OUTSIDE THE U.S. MARKET THROUGH USE OF ESTABLISHED DISTRIBUTORS IN THE KEY MARKETS OF (
COUNTRIES. THIS STRATEGY SHOULD REDUCE THE TIME AND EXPENSES REQUIRED TO IDENTIFY, TRAIN AND PENETRATE THE KEY IMPLANT CENTERS AND ESTABLISH RELATIONSHI
THE KEY OPINION LEADERS IN THESE MARKETS. USING ESTABLISHED DISTRIBUTORS ALSO SHOULD REDUCE THE TIME SPENT ACQUIRING THE PROPER RADIATION HANDLING LIC
and other regulatory requirements of these markets.
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Reimbursement

REIMBURSEMENT BY THIRD PARTY PAYERS IS THE PRIMARY MEANS OF PAYMENT FOR ALL ISORAY PRODUCTS. THE CENTERS FOR MEDICARE AND MEDICAID SERVICES (CMS) 1s -
PRIMARY PAYER, PROVIDING COVERAGE FOR APPROXIMATELY 65% OF ALL PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY CASES. WELL ESTABLISHED BRACHYTHERAPY COVERAGE AND PAY
POLICIES ARE CURRENTLY IN PLACE BY CMS AND OTHER NON-GOVERNMENTAL PAYERS. IN 2003, CMS ESTABLISHED A UNIQUE HCPCS coDE FOR CEsIUM-131 BRACHYTHEF
SEEDS THAT PERMITTED PROVIDERS TO REPORT THE USE OF CESIUM-131 DIRECTLY TO PAYERS. IN Jury 2007, CMS ESTABLISHED TWO SEPARATE CESIUM-131 CODES
PROVIDERS TO REPORT LOOSE SEEDS AND STRANDED SEEDS DUE TO THE COST DIFFERENTIAL OF THESE TWO PRODUCTS. REIMBURSEMENT FOR PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY SERV
SOURCES IS WELL ESTABLISHED IN THE US AND MOST PROVIDERS (HOSPITALS AND PHYSICIANS) ARE NOT FACED WITH REIMBURSEMENT CHALLENGES WHEN PROVIDING °
treatment option to patients.

PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY IS TYPICALLY PERFORMED IN AN OUTPATIENT SETTING, AND AS SUCH, IS COVERED BY THE CMS OUTPATIENT PROSPECTIVE PAYMENT SYSTEM, W
SINCE 2010 HAS PROVIDED A FIXED REIMBURSEMENT PER SEED FOR STRANDED AND LOOSE SEEDS. IODINE, PALLADIUM AND CESIUM EACH HAVE THEIR OWN REIMBURSEME'
VALUES FOR STRANDED AND LOOSE SEEDS. IF REPORTED CORRECTLY WHEN SEEDS ARE SUBMITTED FOR PAYMENT TO CMS, PROVIDERS ARE REIMBURSED AT A FLAT RAT
EQUIVALENT TO THE COST OF THE SEEDS. IT IS EXPECTED THAT THIS REIMBURSEMENT SYSTEM ESTABLISHED IN JANUARY 2010 WILL CONTINUE AS IT IS CURRENTLY SCHI
THROUGH CALENDAR 2013 BUT THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT THIS WILL OCCUR. PRIVATE INSURANCE COMPANIES HAVE HISTORICALLY FOLLOWED THE CMS REIMBUR
POLICIES. THE COMPANY EXPECTS THAT CMS WILL CONTINUE ITS ANNUAL REVIEW OF PAYMENTS PROVIDED AS REIMBURSEMENT FOR OUR VARIOUS PRODUCTS AND THAT CMS
continue to provide favorable reimbursement rates for our Cesium-131 brachytherapy seeds with a slight decrease in reimbursement from 2012 to 2013.

UNLIKE PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY IMPLANTS, LUNG AND BRAIN PROCEDURES UTILIZING EITHER SEED BRACHYTHERAPY OR THE GLIASITE RTS ARE PERFORMED WHEN THE I
HAS BEEN ADMITTED TO THE HOSPITAL. IN-PATIENT PROCEDURES, AS THEY ARE KNOWN, ARE COVERED BY CMS WHICH REMITS A SET AMOUNT DEPENDING ON THE KIND OF SUR
BEING PERFORMED AND THE STATUS OF THE PATIENT. UNDER THIS DIAGNOSTIC RELATED GROUP OR “DRG” SYSTEM, THE HOSPITAL PAYS FOR ALL THE ITEMS INVOLVED IN THE
OF THE PATIENT EXCLUDING PHYSICIAN FEES. THE BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS OR THE GLIASITE RTS IN THESE IN-PATIENT CASES ARE NOT PAID FOR SEPARATELY BY CMS, BUT R/
the hospital pays for the seeds out of the DRG payments from CMS. Because the Company's seeds may be more expensive than the cost incurred by a hospital
for a competing treatment, this reimbursement method can sometimes result in greater difficulty convincing the hospitals to use the Company's products.

Other Information
Customers

THE TOP FIVE FACILITIES OR PHYSICIAN PRACTICES THAT UTILIZE MULTIPLE SURGICAL FACILITIES AT WHICH PROCEDURES ARE PERFORMED ACCOUNT FOR APPROXIMATELY 48.43
the total Company product sales for the twelve months ended June 30,2012 include:

El Camino, Los Gatos, & other facilities (Northern CA) (1) 26.35% ofrevenue
University of Pittsburgh Medical Center 6.73% ofrevenue
Biocompatibles, Inc 6.12% of revenue
York Cancer Center 5.01% ofrevenue
Sentara Healthcare 4.22% of revenue
Total of top five facilities or physician practices 48.43% ofrevenue

(1) THE SINGLE LARGEST PHYSICIAN ALSO SERVES AS THE COMPANY'S MEDICAL DIRECTOR. DURING THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012, THIS PHYSICIAN AD
additional physicians to his practice which is expected to reduce risk associated with seasonality.

THE LOSS OF EITHER THE SINGLE LARGEST PHYSICIAN OR A COMBINATION OF THE OTHER SIGNIFICANT PHYSICIANS COULD HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT ON THE Comi

REVENUES, WHICH WOULD CONTINUE UNTIL THE COMPANY LOCATED NEW CUSTOMERS TO REPLACE THEM AND THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THIS WOULD OCCUR IN A T
manner or at all.
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Proprietary Rights

THE COMPANY RELIES ON A COMBINATION OF PATENT, COPYRIGHT AND TRADEMARK LAWS, TRADE SECRETS, SOFTWARE SECURITY MEASURES, LICENSE AGREEMENT
NONDISCLOSURE AGREEMENTS TO PROTECT ITS PROPRIETARY RIGHTS. SOME OF THE COMPANY'S PROPRIETARY INFORMATION MAY NOT BE PATENTABLE. THE COMPANY HA
registered U.S. trademark for Proxcelan.

THE COMPANY INTENDS TO VIGOROUSLY DEFEND ITS PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGIES, TRADEMARKS, AND TRADE SECRETS. MEMBERS OF MANAGEMENT, EMPLOYEES, AND CE
EQUITY HOLDERS HAVE PREVIOUSLY SIGNED NON-DISCLOSURE, NON-COMPETE AGREEMENTS, AND FUTURE EMPLOYEES, CONSULTANTS, ADVISORS, WITH WHOM THE COMPA
ENGAGES, AND WHO ARE PRIVY TO THIS INFORMATION, WILL BE REQUIRED TO DO THE SAME. A PATENT FOR THE CESIUM SEPARATION AND PURIFICATION PROCESS WAS GRANTE
May 23,2000 By THE U.S. PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE (USPTO) UNDER PATENT NUMBER 6,066,302, WITH AN EXPIRATION DATE OF MAY 23,2020. THE PROCESS
DEVELOPED BY LANE BRrAY, CHIEF CHEMIST AND A SHAREHOLDER OF THE COMPANY, AND HAS BEEN ASSIGNED EXCLUSIVELY TO ISORAY. ISORAY'S PREDECESSOR ALSO FILEL
patent protection in four European countries under the Patent Cooperation Treaty. Those patents have been assigned to IsoRay.

OUR MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT CERTAIN ASPECTS OF THE ISORAY SEED DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION TECHNIQUES ARE PATENTABLE INNOVATIONS. THESE INNOVATIONS H
BEEN DOCUMENTED IN ISORAY LABORATORY RECORDS, AND A PATENT APPLICATION WAS FILED WITH THE USPTO oN NovEMBER 12, 2003. IN August 2008, THIS PATENT
GRANTED BY THE USPTO UNDER PATENT NUMBER 7,410,458, WITH AN EXPIRATION DATE OF NOVEMBER 12, 2023. CERTAIN METHODOLOGIES REGARDING ISOTOPE PRODUCT
SEPARATION, AND SEED MANUFACTURE ARE RETAINED AS TRADE SECRETS AND ARE EMBODIED IN ISORAY'S PROCEDURES AND DOCUMENTATION. IN JUNE 2004, JuLy 2004,
FEBRUARY 2007, FIVE PATENT APPLICATIONS WERE FILED RELATING TO METHODS OF DERIVING CESIUM-131 DEVELOPED BY ISORAY EMPLOYEES. THE COMPANY IS CURRENT
working on developing and patenting additional methods of deriving Cesium-131 and other isotopes.

THERE ARE SPECIFIC CONDITIONS ATTACHED TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF THE CESIUM-131 PATENT FROM LANE BRAY. IN PARTICULAR, THE ASSOCIATED ROYALTY AGREEMENT PRO'
FOR 1% OF GROSS PROFIT PAYMENT FROM SEED SALES TO LANE BRAY AND 1% OF GROSS PROFIT FROM ANY USE OF THE CESIUM-131 PROCESS PATENT FOR NON-SEED PRODUC
ISORAY REASSIGNS THE ROYALTY AGREEMENT TO ANOTHER COMPANY, THESE ROYALTIES INCREASE TO 2%. THE ROYALTY AGREEMENT HAS AN ANTI-SHELVING CLAUSE °
REQUIRES ISORAY TO RETURN THE PATENT IF ISORAY PERMANENTLY ABANDONS SALES OF PRODUCTS USING THE INVENTION. DURING FISCAL YEARS 2012 AND 2011, THE Con
recorded royalty expense of $19,497 and $26,474, respectively, related to this patent.

THE TERMS OF A LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH THE LAWRENCE FAMILY TRUST (SUCCESSOR TO DON LAWRENCE) FOR A PATENT APPLICATION AND RELATED "KNOW-HOW" REQU
PAYMENT OF A ROYALTY BASED ON THE NET FACTORY SALES PRICE, AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT, OF LICENSED PRODUCT SALES. BECAUSE THE LICENSOR'S PATENT APPLI
WAS ULTIMATELY ABANDONED, ONLY A 1% "KNOW-HOW" ROYALTY REMAINS APPLICABLE. TO DATE, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THERE HAVE BEEN NO PRODUCT S
INCORPORATING THE "KNOW-HOW;" AND THEREFORE BELIEVES NO ROYALTY IS DUE PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT ULTIMA]
royalties should be paid under this agreement as there is no intent to use this "know-how" in the future.

THE LAWRENCE FAMILY TRUST HAS DISPUTED MANAGEMENT'S CONTENTION THAT IT IS NOT USING THIS "KNOW-HOW". ON SEPTEMBER 25, 2007 AND AGAIN ON OCTOBER
2007, THE COMPANY PARTICIPATED IN NONBINDING MEDIATION REGARDING THIS MATTER; HOWEVER, NO SETTLEMENT WAS REACHED WITH THE LAWRENCE FAMILY TRUST. A’
ADDITIONAL SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS, WHICH ENDED IN APRIL 2008, THE PARTIES FAILED TO REACH A SETTLEMENT. THE PARTIES MAY DEMAND BINDING ARBITRATION AT
time.

Research and Development

DURING THE THREE-YEAR PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2012, ISORAY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES INCURRED APPROXIMATELY $1.5 MILLION IN COSTS RELATED TO RESEARCH
development activities. The Company expects to continue ongoing research and development activities for the foreseeable future.

Government Regulation

THE COMPANY'S PRESENT AND FUTURE INTENDED ACTIVITIES IN THE DEVELOPMENT, MANUFACTURE AND SALE OF CANCER THERAPY PRODUCTS ARE SUBJECT TO EXTENSIVE
REGULATIONS, REGULATORY APPROVALS AND GUIDELINES. WITHIN THE UNITED STATES, THE COMPANY'S THERAPEUTIC RADIOLOGICAL DEVICES MUST COMPLY WITH THE
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, which is enforced by the FDA. The Company is also required to adhere to applicable FDA Quality System Regulations,
ALSO KNOWN As THE GOOD MANUFACTURING PRACTICES, WHICH INCLUDE EXTENSIVE RECORD KEEPING AND PERIODIC INSPECTIONS OF MANUFACTURING FACILITIES. '
COMPANY'S PREDECESSOR OBTAINED FDA 510(k) CLEARANCE IN MARCH 2003 TO MARKET THE PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED FOR THE TREATMENT OF LOCALIZED SOLID T
AND OTHER MALIGNANT DISEASE AND ISORAY OBTAINED FDA 510(k) CLEARANCE IN NOVEMBER 2006 TO MARKET PRELOADED BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS AND IN AUGUST 200
preloading flexible braided strands and bioabsorbable mesh.
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IN THE UNITED STATES, THE FDA REGULATES, AMONG OTHER THINGS, NEW PRODUCT CLEARANCES AND APPROVALS TO ESTABLISH THE SAFETY AND EFFICACY OF THESE PRODU
are also subject to other federal and state laws and regulations, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act and the Environmental Protection Act.

THE FEDERAL Foop, DRUG, AND COSMETIC ACT AND OTHER FEDERAL STATUTES AND REGULATIONS GOVERN OR INFLUENCE THE RESEARCH, TESTING, MANUFACTURE, SAFETY
STORAGE, RECORD KEEPING, APPROVAL, DISTRIBUTION, USE, REPORTING, ADVERTISING AND PROMOTION OF SUCH PRODUCTS. NONCOMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS
RESULT IN CIVIL PENALTIES, RECALL, INJUNCTION OR SEIZURE OF PRODUCTS, REFUSAL OF THE GOVERNMENT TO APPROVE OR CLEAR PRODUCT APPROVAL APPLICATIONS, DISQUALII
FROM SPONSORING OR CONDUCTING CLINICAL INVESTIGATIONS, PREVENTING US FROM ENTERING INTO GOVERNMENT SUPPLY CONTRACTS, WITHDRAWAL OF PREVIOUSLY APPRC
applications, and criminal prosecution.

IN THE UNITED STATES, MEDICAL DEVICES ARE CLASSIFIED INTO THREE DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OVER WHICH THE FDA APPLIES INCREASING LEVELS OF REGULATION: CrLass I, C
AND Crass III. MosT CLAss | DEVICES ARE EXEMPT FROM PREMARKET NOTIFICATION [510(k]); MosT CLass II DEVICES REQUIRE PREMARKET NOTIFICATION [510(k)]; AND
Class III devices require premarket approval. Our Proxcelan Cesium-131 seed is a Class Il device and received 510(k) clearance in March 2003.

APPROVAL OF NEW CLASS III MEDICAL DEVICES IS A LENGTHY PROCEDURE AND CAN TAKE A NUMBER OF YEARS AND REQUIRE THE EXPENDITURE OF SIGNIFICANT RESOURCES. TH
A SHORTER FDA REVIEW AND CLEARANCE PROCESS FOR CLASS Il MEDICAL DEVICES, THE PREMARKET NOTIFICATION OR 510(K) PROCESS, WHEREBY A COMPANY CAN MARKET Cl
Crass Il MEDICAL DEVICES THAT CAN BE SHOWN TO BE SUBSTANTIALLY EQUIVALENT TO OTHER LEGALLY MARKETED DEVICES. SINCE BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS HAVE BEEN CLA
by the FDA as a Class Il device, we have been able to achieve market clearance for our Cesium-131 seed using the 510(k) process.

AS A REGISTERED MEDICAL DEVICE MANUFACTURER WITH THE FDA, WE ARE SUBJECT TO INSPECTION TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS CURRENT GOOD MANUFACTURING PRA
OR CGMP. THESE REGULATIONS REQUIRE THAT WE AND ANY OF OUR CONTRACT MANUFACTURERS DESIGN, MANUFACTURE AND SERVICE PRODUCTS, AND MAINTAIN DOCUMEN
PRESCRIBED MANNER WITH RESPECT TO MANUFACTURING, TESTING, DISTRIBUTION, STORAGE, DESIGN CONTROL, AND SERVICE ACTIVITIES. MODIFICATIONS OR ENHANCEMENT
could significantly affect the safety or effectiveness of a device or that constitute a major change to the intended use of the device require a new 510(k) notice
for any product modification.

THE MEDICAL DEVICE REPORTING REGULATION REQUIRES THAT WE PROVIDE INFORMATION TO THE FDA ON DEATHS OR SERIOUS INJURIES ALLEGED TO BE ASSOCIATED WITH T}
OF OUR DEVICES, AS WELL AS PRODUCT MALFUNCTIONS THAT ARE LIKELY TO CAUSE OR CONTRIBUTE TO DEATH OR SERIOUS INJURY IF THE MALFUNCTION WERE TO RECUR. LAB
promotional activities are regulated by the FDA and, in some circumstances, by the Federal Trade Commission.

AS A MEDICAL DEVICE MANUFACTURER, WE ARE ALSO SUBJECT TO LAWS AND REGULATIONS ADMINISTERED BY GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES AT THE FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LI
EXAMPLE, OUR FACILITY IS LICENSED AS A MEDICAL DEVICE MANUFACTURING FACILITY IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON AND IS SUBJECT TO PERIODIC STATE REGULATORY INSPEC1
Our customers are also subject to a wide variety of laws and regulations that could affect the nature and scope of their relationships with us.

IN supPPORT OF ISORAY'S GLOBAL STRATEGY TO EXPAND MARKETING TO CANADA, THE EUROPEAN UNION (EU) AND RussiA, WE INITIATED THE PROCESS IN FISCAL YEAR 20!
OBTAIN THE EUROPEAN CE MARK, CANADIAN REGISTRATION, AND CERTIFICATION TO ISO 13485:2003, AN INTERNATIONALLY RECOGNIZED QUALITY SYSTEM. EUROPE:
REQUIRES THAT MEDICAL DEVICES SOLD IN ANY EU MEMBER STATE COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE EUROPEAN MEDICAL DEVICE DIRECTIVE (MDD) OR THE Ac
IMPLANTABLE MEDICAL DEVICE DIRECTIVE (AIMDD). ISORAY'S BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS ARE CLASSIFIED IN EUROPE AS AN ACTIVE IMPLANTABLE AND ARE SUBJECT TC
AIMDD anD GLIASITE RTS 1s AN EU CLASS 3 DEVICE SUBJECT TO THE MEDICAL DEVICE DIRECTIVE, (MDD). CompPLIANCE WITH THE AIMDD, MDD, AND OBTAINING A (
MARK INVOLVES BEING CERTIFIED TO ISO 13485:2003 AND OBTAINING APPROVAL OF THE PRODUCT TECHNICAL FILE BY A NOTIFIED BODY THAT IS RECOGNIZED BY COMPET
AUTHORITIES OF A MEMBER STATE. COMPLIANCE WITH ISO 13485:2003 1S ALSO REQUIRED FOR REGISTRATION OF A COMPANY FOR SALE OF ITS PRODUCTS IN CANADA. MANY
RECOGNIZED EU NoOTIFIED BODIES ARE ALSO RECOGNIZED BY HEALTH CANADA TO cONDUCT THE ISO 13485:2003 INSPECTIONS FOR CANADIAN REGISTRATION. DURING
YEAR 2009, THE COMPANY RECEIVED ITS CERTIFICATION TO ISO 13485:2003 AND OBTAINED APPROVAL FROM HEALTH CANADA FOR ITS CANADIAN REGISTRATION. THE CoMm
continues to focus on the Canadian and Russian markets while renewing its efforts to penetrate the European Union market.
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IN THE UNITED STATES, AS A MANUFACTURER OF MEDICAL DEVICES AND DEVICES UTILIZING RADIOACTIVE BYPRODUCT MATERIAL, WE ARE SUBJECT TO EXTENSIVE REGULATION
ONLY FEDERAL GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITIES, SUCH AS THE FDA, BUT ALSO BY STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITIES, SUCH AS THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPAR
Health, TO ENSURE SUCH DEVICES ARE SAFE AND EFFECTIVE. IN WASHINGTON STATE, THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, BY AGREEMENT WITH THE FEDERAL NUCLEAR REG
CommissioN (NRC), REGULATES THE POSSESSION, USE, AND DISPOSAL OF RADIOACTIVE BYPRODUCT MATERIAL AS WELL AS THE MANUFACTURE OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOUR
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH STATE AND FEDERAL LAWS AND REGULATIONS. OUR CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS AND THE GLIASITE® RTS CONSTITUTE BOTH MEDICAL D
AND RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND ARE SUBJECT TO THESE REGULATIONS. THE COMPANY HAS RECEIVED SEALED SOURCE DEVICE APPROVAL FROM THE STATE OF WASH
Department of Health for the GliaSite® RTS, components of which are manufactured at our Richland facility.

MOREOVER, OUR USE, MANAGEMENT, AND DISPOSAL OF CERTAIN RADIOACTIVE SUBSTANCES AND WASTES ARE SUBJECT TO REGULATION BY SEVERAL FEDERAL AND STATE 2
depending on the nature of the substance or waste material. We believe that we are in compliance with all federal and state regulations for this purpose.

INn August 2011, [ISORAY MEDICAL RECEIVED CLEARANCE FROM THE FDA FOR ITS PREMARKET NOTIFICATION (510(k)) FORGHRSITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEMIHE
GliaSite® Radiation Therapy System is the only FDA-cleared balloon catheter device used in the treatment of brain cancer.

In ApriL 2012, IsSoRAY MEDICAL RECEIVED A CE MARK FOR THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM WHICH STATES THAT THE COMPANY CONFORMS WITH THE PRO
REQUIREMENTS OF THE EUROPEAN CounciL DIRecTIVE 93/42/EEC. THE CE MARK ALLOWS THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM TO BE SoLD IN 31 Euro
countries and to be marketed in the European Free Trade Associate member states and the European Union.

Seasonality

THE COMPANY BELIEVES THAT SOME SEED IMPLANTATION PROCEDURES ARE DEFERRED AROUND PHYSICIAN VACATIONS (PARTICULARLY IN THE SUMMER MONTHS), HOLIDAYS, A
MEDICAL CONVENTIONS AND CONFERENCES RESULTING IN A SEASONAL INFLUENCE ON THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS. THESE FACTORS CAUSE A MOMENTARY DECLINE IN REVE
WHICH MANAGEMENT BELIEVES IS ULTIMATELY REALIZED LATER. BECAUSE APPROXIMATELY FORTY-EIGHT PERCENT (48%) OF THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS IS DEPENDENT ON FI
physicians, simultaneous vacations by these five physicians could cause significant drops in the Company's productivity during those reporting periods.

Employees

As oF SEPTEMBER 28, 2012, ISORAY EMPLOYED THIRTY-SIX FULL-TIME INDIVIDUALS AND ONE PART-TIME INDIVIDUAL. THE COMPANY'S FUTURE SUCCESS WILL DEPEND, IN PAR
ON ITS ABILITY TO ATTRACT, RETAIN, AND MOTIVATE HIGHLY QUALIFIED SALES, TECHNICAL AND MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL. FROM TIME TO TIME, THE COMPANY MAY EM
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANTS OR CONTRACTORS TO SUPPORT ITS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, MARKETING, SALES, ACCOUNTING AND ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATIONS. NONE
COMPANY'S EMPLOYEES ARE REPRESENTED BY ANY COLLECTIVE BARGAINING UNIT. AT JUNE 30, 2012, THE COMPANY EMPLOYED SIX DIRECT SALES PEOPLE, WHICH HA
increased to seven as of the date of this Report.

Competition

THE COMPANY COMPETES IN A MARKET CHARACTERIZED BY TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATION, EXTENSIVE RESEARCH EFFORTS, AND SIGNIFICANT COMPETITION. IN GENERAL,
PrOXCELAN CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED COMPETES WITH CONVENTIONAL METHODS OF TREATING LOCALIZED CANCER, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ALL FO
PROSTATECTOMY SURGERY AND EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION THERAPY WHICH INCLUDES INTENSITY MODULATED RADIATION THERAPY, AS WELL AS COMPETING PERM
BRACHYTHERAPY DEVICES. SURGERY HAS HISTORICALLY REPRESENTED THE MOST COMMON MEDICAL TREATMENT FOR EARLY-STAGE, LOCALIZED PROSTATE CANCER BUT USE Ol
PROSTATECTOMY HAS DECLINED IN RECENT YEARS. EBRT IS ALSO A WELL-ESTABLISHED METHOD OF TREATMENT AND IS WIDELY ACCEPTED FOR PATIENTS WHO REPRESENT .
SURGICAL RISK OR WHOSE PROSTATE CANCER HAS ADVANCED BEYOND THE STAGE FOR WHICH SURGICAL TREATMENT IS INDICATED. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT IF G
CONVERSION FROM THESE TREATMENT OPTIONS (OR OTHER ESTABLISHED OR CONVENTIONAL PROCEDURES) TO THE PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED DOES OCCU
CONVERSION WILL LIKELY BE THE RESULT OF A COMBINATION OF EQUIVALENT OR BETTER EFFICACY, REDUCED INCIDENCE AND DURATION OF SIDE EFFECTS AND COMPLICATIONS,
cost, better quality of life outcomes, and pressure by health care providers and patients.
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History has shown the advantage of being the first to market a new brachytherapy product. For example, Theragenics Corp., which introduced the original Pd-
103 SEED, CLAIMED OVER 59% OF THE PD-103 MARKET SHARE (THROUGH CR BARD, OTHER DISTRIBUTORS, AND DIRECT DISTRIBUTION) IN 2008. (SOURCE: MILLENNIUM RE
Corp, 2008). ALTHOUGH FACTORS OTHER THAN BEING FIRST TO MARKET CONTRIBUTE TO BECOMING A MARKET LEADER, THE COMPANY BELIEVES IT HAS THE OPPORTUNITY TO
a similar and significant advantage by being the first to introduce a Cesium-131 seed.

THE COMPANY'S PATENTED CESIUM-131 SEPARATION PROCESS IS LIKELY TO PROVIDE A SUSTAINABLE COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE. PRODUCTION OF CESIUM-131 ALSO REQUIRI
SPECIALIZED FACILITIES THAT REPRESENT HIGH COST AND LONG LEAD TIME IF NOT READILY AVAILABLE. IN ADDITION, A COMPETITOR WOULD NEED TO DEVELOP A METH(
ISOTOPE ATTACHMENT AND SEED ASSEMBLY, WOULD NEED TO CONDUCT TESTING TO MEET NRC AND FDA REQUIREMENTS, AND WOULD NEED TO OBTAIN REGULATORY CLEA
before marketing a competing device.

SEVERAL COMPANIES HAVE OBTAINED REGULATORY CLEARANCE TO PRODUCE AND DISTRIBUTE PD-103 AND [-125 SEEDS, WHICH COMPETE DIRECTLY WITH OUR SEED. HOWEV1
THE COMPANY EXPANDS THE APPLICATION OF ITS PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED TO OTHER CANCERS (OTHER THAN PROSTATE), MANAGEMENT BELIEVES IT MAY IMPROVE
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES OVER PD-103 AND I-125 WHICH DO NOT HAVE AS WIDE OF AN APPLICATION TO OTHER CERTAIN LOCATIONS OR HAVE THE POTENTIAL FOR GREATE
EFFECTS. IT IS POSSIBLE THAT THREE OR FOUR OF THE CURRENT [-125 OR PD-103 SEED MANUFACTURERS (E.G., CR BARD, ONCURA, THERAGENICS, ETC.) ARE CAPABLE OF PR
AND MARKETING A CESIUM-131 SEED, BUT NONE HAVE REPORTED EFFORTS TO DO SO. BEST MEDICAL OBTAINED A SEED CORE PATENT IN 1992 THAT NAMED TEN DIFFI
ISOTOPES, INCLUDING CESIUM-131, FOR USE IN THEIR SEEDS. BEST MEDICAL RECEIVED FDA 510(K) CLEARANCE TO MARKET A CESIUM-131 SEED ON JUNE 6, 1993 BUT TO D
HAS NOT PRODUCED ANY PRODUCTS FOR SALE. IN ADDITION TO THE FDA AND THE NRC, BEST MEDICAL WOULD BE REQUIRED TO SUBMIT A CESIUM-131 SEED TO THE TG-4:
GROUP OF THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF PHYSICISTS IN MEDICINE TO DETERMINE THE SEED'S CHARACTERISTICS SUCH AS ANISOTROPY, DOSE RATE CONSTANT, ETC. TO DATE
has been no submission to the TG-43 task group for a competing Cesium-131 seed.

THE GLIASITE RTS AND THE COMPANY’S BRACHYTHERAPY PRODUCTS USED IN NON-PROSTATE APPLICATIONS TYPICALLY COMPETE WITH EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION THEF
(EBRT), WHICH CAN BE PROVIDED AS CONVENTIONAL OR INTENSITY MODULATED RADIATION THERAPY, OR AS STEREOTACTIC RADIOSURGERY, A TECHNIQUE THAT DELIVERS HIGI
ofradiation to a target in a much fewer number of sessions than other forms of EBRT.

MANUFACTURERS OF EBRT EQUIPMENT INCLUDE VARIAN MEDICAL SYSTEMS, SIEMENS HEALTHCARE, ELEKTA AB, AND ACCURAY INCORPORATED, AMONG OTHERS. IN THE CA
LUNG AND BRAIN TUMORS (AND OTHER SOLID TUMORS), A SURGEON WILL REMOVE THE TUMOR IF IT IS MEDICALLY PRUDENT AND THIS OFFERS THE PATIENT SOME BENEFIT IN TE
CONTROLLING THE GROWTH OF THE CANCER OR ITS SYMPTOMS. IN MANY CASES, RADIATION THERAPY IS ADDED FOLLOWING THE SURGERY; THIS IS KNOWN AS “ADJUVANT” RA
THERAPY. THE COMPANY BELIEVES THAT ITS FORM OF ADJUVANT RADIATION THERAPY DEPLOYABLE IN SUCH CASES OFFERS ADVANTAGES OVER EXTERNAL BEAM METHODS. How
external beam holds the vast majority of the market for adjuvant radiation therapy.

There are also various vaccines that are available for brain cancer but have not proven effective to date.

Additional Growth Opportunities

MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY SEES GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH SALES FROM EXPANSION INTO INTERNATIONAL MARKETS AND ADDITIONAL TREATMENT FOR CANCER
THAN PROSTATE. THE COMPANY PLANS TO CONTINUE TO INTRODUCE CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED THERAPY FOR THE TREATMENT OF PROSTATE, LUNG AND BRAIN CANCE
CaNADA, THE EUROPEAN UNION (EU) AND RUSSIA AND LATER INTO OTHER INTERNATIONAL MARKETS THROUGH PARTNERSHIPS AND STRATEGIC ALLIANCES WITH CHANNEL PAF

MANUFACTURING AND/OR DISTRIBUTION BUT HAS NO DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENTS OR PARTNERSHIPS IN PLACE FOR BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS AS OF SEPTEMBER 28, 2012.
Company does have a distribution agreement with a German distributor for its GliaSite® RTS.
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CEestuM-131 HAS FDA CLEARANCE TO BE USED FOR TREATMENTS FOR A BROAD SPECTRUM OF CANCERS INCLUDING BREAST, BRAIN, LUNG, AND LIVER CANCER, AND THE Cc
believes that a major opportunity exists as an adjunct therapy for the treatment of residual lung, head and neck, and other cancers. The Company has supplied
PROXCELAN™ CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS FOR USE IN TREATING LUNG CANCER; OCULAR MELANOMA; HEAD AND NECK CANCER; COLORECTAL CANCER; BRAIN CAN(
GYNECOLOGICAL CANCER AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT. ALTHOUGH IT HAS CLEARANCE FOR BREAST CANCER, MANAGEMENT HAS DETERMINED NOT TO FOCUS ON THIS APP
UNTIL IT OBTAINS GREATER MARKET ACCEPTANCE FOR ITS LUNG AND BRAIN APPLICATIONS. THE COMPANY CONTINUES TO HAVE DISCUSSIONS WITH PROMINENT PHYSICIANS AND
evaluate treatments for other cancer sites.

THERE IS ALSO AN OPPORTUNITY TO DEVELOP AND MARKET OTHER RADIOACTIVE ISOTOPES TO THE UNITED STATES MARKET, AND TO MARKET CESIUM-131 ISOTOPE ITSELF, SE
FROM ITS USE IN OUR SEEDS. THE COMPANY IS ALSO IN THE PRELIMINARY STAGES OF EXPLORING ALTERNATE METHODS OF DELIVERING OUR ISOTOPES TO VARIOUS OR!
THROUGHOUT THE BODY. OUR NEW LIQUID FORM OF CESIUM-131 MAY BE ADVANTAGEOUS TO USE IN OTHER FDA CLEARED DEVICES AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO OUR TITA
ENCAPSULATED SEED TO DELIVER RADIATION TO THESE OTHER BODY SITES , BUT IT HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE FDA FOR USE AND THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT IT
approved.

CONSISTENT WITH THE STRATEGY OF IDENTIFYING ALTERNATIVE METHODS OF DELIVERING OUR ISOTOPES TO NEW LOCATIONS, THE COMPANY HAS OBTAINED EXCLUSIVE WORL
DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS TO THE GLIASITE® RTS, THE WORLD'S ONLY FDA-CLEARED BALLOON CATHETER DEVICE USED IN THE TREATMENT OF BRAIN CANCER. THIS TECHNOL
PREVIOUSLY USED TO TREAT APPROXIMATELY 500 CASES ANNUALLY IN SOME 40 HOSPITALS WORLDWIDE HOWEVER THIS TECHNOLOGY HAS NOT BEEN AVAILABLE FOR SALE
2007. THIS EXCLUSIVE WORLDWIDE LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH HoLoGIC INC. ALIGNS WITH THE COMPANY STRATEGY TO LOCATE EXISTING FDA-CLEARED TECHNOLOG
PROVIDE NEW WAYS TO TREAT OTHER ORGANS. THE COMPANY HAS OBTAINED THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS TO MANUFACTURE THE I0TREX SOLUTION (IoDINE-125) Fo
THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM AND HAS CONTRACTED WITH A COMPANY FOR THE PRODUCTION OF IOTREX AND A RADIOPHARMACY TO HANDLE THE PATIENT DC
THE SOLUTION FOR USE IN PROCEDURES. THE COMPANY NEGOTIATED A CONTRACT WITH A PREVIOUS DISTRIBUTOR OF THE GLIASITE® RTS N THE EuropEAN UNIiO
DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS TO THE SYSTEM IN GERMANY, AUSTRIA, SWITZERLAND AND ITALY. THE COMPANY HAS MODIFIED THE ORIGINAL FDA-CLEARED DEVICE AND HAS REC
CLEARANCE FROM THE FDA TO MARKET THE PRODUCT, WITH THE MODIFICATIONS, WHICH ARE DESIGNED TO IMPROVE ITS PERFORMANCE AND MANUFACTURABILITY, IN THE U
StaTES. THE COMPANY HAS OBTAINED THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS TO MANUFACTURE THE IOTREX SOLUTION (IoDINE-125) FOR USE IN THE GLIASITE® RTS, ant
CONTRACTED WITH A COMPANY FOR THE PRODUCTION OF IOTREX AND A RADIOPHARMACY TO HANDLE THE PATIENT DOSING OF THE SOLUTION FOR USE IN PROCEDURES. WITH
of a CE Mark for the GliaSite® RTS, the product may be sold in 31 European countries.

THE COMPANY DEVELOPED A LIQUID CESIUM-131 SOLUTION FOR USE AS AN ALTERNATIVE BRACHYTHERAPY RADIATION SOURCE IN FDA CLEARED DEVICES INCLUDING FOR U¢
THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM AS EITHER A SUBSTITUTE FOR THE IOTREX SOLUTION OR AS A FUTURE ALTERNATIVE TREATMENT OPTION FOR PHYSICIANS
INDEPENDENTLY. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT WAS CONDUCTED DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 IN PREPARATION TO SEEK REGULATORY APPROVAL OF LIQUID CES
131 for use in combination with the GliaSite® RTS but there is no assurance approval will be obtained.

ITEM 1A - RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Industry and Operations

Our Revenues Depend Upon One Product. WITH THE EXCEPTION OF THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM WHICH THE COMPANY BEGAN SELLING IN THE 2012 Fiss
year, our revenues depend solely upon the successful production, marketing, and sales of the Proxcelan Cesium-131 brachytherapy seed. The rate and level of
MARKET ACCEPTANCE OF THIS PRODUCT VARIES DEPENDING ON THE PERCEPTION BY PHYSICIANS AND OTHER MEMBERS OF THE HEALTHCARE COMMUNITY OF ITS SAFETY .
EFFICACY AS COMPARED TO THAT OF COMPETING PRODUCTS, IF ANY; THE CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF THE PATIENTS TREATED; THE EFFECTIVENESS OF OUR SALES AND MARKETING EF
THE UNITED STATES, CANADA, THE EUROPEAN UNION (EU) AND RUSSIA; ANY UNFAVORABLE PUBLICITY CONCERNING OUR PRODUCT OR SIMILAR PRODUCTS; OUR PRODUCT'S
RELATIVE TO OTHER PRODUCTS OR COMPETING TREATMENTS; ANY DECREASE IN CURRENT REIMBURSEMENT RATES FROM THE CENTERS FOR MEDICARE AND MEDICAID SERVICES
PARTY PAYERS; REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS RELATED TO THE MANUFACTURE OR CONTINUED USE OF THE PRODUCT; AVAILABILITY OF SUFFICIENT SUPPLIES OF BARIUM FOR C
131 SEED PRODUCTION; ABILITY TO PRODUCE SUFFICIENT QUANTITIES OF CESIUM-131; THE ABILITY OF PHYSICIANS TO APPLY THE CORRECT DOSAGE OF SEEDS AND A\
EXCESSIVE LEVELS OF RADIATION TO PATIENTS; AND THE ABILITY TO USE THIS PRODUCT TO TREAT MULTIPLE TYPES OF CANCERS IN VARIOUS ORGANS. BECAUSE OF OUR RELIANCE
PRODUCT AS THE PRIMARY SOURCE OF OUR REVENUE, ANY MATERIAL ADVERSE DEVELOPMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE COMMERCIALIZATION OF THIS PRODUCT MAY CAUSE
continue to incur losses rather than profits in the future.
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Although Cleared To Treat Any Malignant Tissue, Our Dominant Product Is Primarily Used To Treat A Single Type Of Cancer. CURRENTLY, THE PROXCEL
CESIUM-131 SEED IS USED ALMOST EXCLUSIVELY FOR THE TREATMENT OF PROSTATE CANCER (APPROXIMATELY EIGHTY-SIX PERCENT OF OUR SALES). WE HAVE BEEN TREATING
CANCER WHICH AMOUNTS TO APPROXIMATELY 8% OF OUR PRODUCT SALES AND OTHER CANCERS INCLUDING HEAD AND NECK; COLORECTAL; GYNECOLOGICAL AND BRA
COMBINED CONSTITUTE APPROXIMATELY 3% OF OUR PRODUCT SALES. DURING THE FISCAL YEAR 2012, THE COMPANY INTRODUCED THE GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY Sy
WHICH CONTRIBUTED 3% OF OUR PRODUCT SALES. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THE PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED WILL CONTINUE TO BE USED TO TREAT OTHER TYPES OF CAN
THE COMPANY IDENTIFIES EXISTING DELIVERY SYSTEMS THAT CAN BE UTILIZED OR DEVELOPS NEW DELIVERY METHODS FOR THE PRODUCT, HOWEVER THESE DELIVERY SYSTEMS
NOT PROVE AS EFFECTIVE AS ANTICIPATED MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT CLINICAL DATA GATHERED BY SELECT GROUPS OF PHYSICIANS UNDER TREATMENT PROTOCOLS SPEC
OTHER ORGANS WILL BE NEEDED PRIOR TO WIDESPREAD ACCEPTANCE OF OUR PRODUCT FOR TREATING OTHER CANCER SITES. IF OUR CURRENT AND FUTURE PRODUCTS DO NO
accepted in treating cancers of other sites, our sales will depend solely on treatment of prostate cancer, a market with increasing competition and ongoing loss
of market share by all brachytherapy products.

We Have Ongoing Cash Requirements. THE COMPANY HAS GENERATED MATERIAL OPERATING LOSSES SINCE INCEPTION. WE EXPECT TO CONTINUE TO EXPERIENC
SIGNIFICANT NET OPERATING LOSSES. DUE TO OUR RECENT SUCCESSFUL CAPITAL RAISE, PREVIOUS CAPITAL INVESTMENTS AND SUBSTANTIAL COST REDUCTIONS, MANAGEMENT BE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ON HAND AT JUNE 30, 2012 WILL BE SUFFICIENT TO MEET OUR ANTICIPATED CASH REQUIREMENTS FOR OPERATIONS, DEBT SERVICE, AND C2
EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS THROUGH AT LEAST THE NEXT FISCAL YEAR. MANAGEMENT NOW ESTIMATES THAT OPERATIONAL CASHFLOW BREAKEVEN WILL BE ACH!
APPROXIMATELY $750,000 IN MONTHLY REVENUE. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE AS TO WHEN BREAK-EVEN WILL OCCUR. IF WE ARE UNABLE TO GENERATE PROFI
unable to obtain additional financing to meet our working capital requirements, we may have to significantly reduce or curtail our business.

We Rely Heavily On A Limited Number Of Suppliers. SOME MATERIALS USED IN OUR PRODUCTS ARE CURRENTLY AVAILABLE ONLY FROM A LIMITED NUMBER OF SUPPLIERS
FISCAL 2012, APPROXIMATELY SIXTY PERCENT (60%) oF oUR CEsiUM-131 was SUPPLIED THROUGH URALDIAL FROM REACTORS LOCATED IN Russia. UNLEss THE Com
SUBSTANTIALLY INCREASES ITS PURCHASE REQUIREMENTS RESULTING FROM SIGNIFICANT INCREASES IN DEMAND FOR ITS PRODUCT, THE COST OF CESIUM-131 v Russia ¢
INCREASE FROM CURRENT PRICING. OUR CURRENT CONTRACT WITH URALDIAL TERMINATES ON DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND WILL HAVE TO BE RENEGOTIATED. MANAGEMENT WIL
NEGOTIATE FAVORABLE PRICING BUT THERE IS NO ASSURANCE AS TO THE OUTCOME OF THESE NEGOTIATIONS. MANAGEMENT IS EVALUATING OTHER REACTORS THAT MEET
SPECIFICATIONS TO YIELD CESIUM-131 OF THE PURITY THAT THE COMPANY REQUIRES FOR USE IN ITS PRODUCTS BUT THUS FAR HAS ONLY CONFIRMED SUCH AVAILABILITY I
MURR.

RELIANCE ON ANY SINGLE SUPPLIER INCREASES THE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH CONCENTRATING ISOTOPE PRODUCTION AT A SINGLE REACTOR FACILITY WHICH CAN BE SUBIE
UNANTICIPATED SHUTDOWNS. FAILURE TO OBTAIN DELIVERIES OF CESIUM-131 FROM MULTIPLE SOURCES COULD HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT ON SEED PRODUCTION AND
may be a delay before we could locate alternative suppliers beyond the three currently used.

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO LOCATE ADDITIONAL SUPPLIERS OUTSIDE OF Russia, OTHER THAN MURR, CAPABLE OF PRODUCING THE LEVEL OF OUTPUT OF CESIUM AT THE QI
STANDARDS WE REQUIRE. ADDITIONAL FACTORS THAT COULD CAUSE INTERRUPTIONS OR DELAYS IN OUR SOURCE OF MATERIALS INCLUDE LIMITATIONS ON THE AVAILABILIT"
MATERIALS OR MANUFACTURING PERFORMANCE EXPERIENCED BY OUR SUPPLIERS AND A BREAKDOWN IN OUR COMMERCIAL RELATIONS WITH ONE OR MORE SUPPLIERS. SOME OF T
factors may be completely out of our and our suppliers' control.

VIRTUALLY ALL TITANIUM TUBING USED IN BRACHYTHERAPY SEED MANUFACTURE COMES FROM A SINGLE SOURCE, ACCELLENT CORPORATION. WE CURRENTLY OBTAIN
COMPONENT OF OUR SEED CORE FROM ANOTHER SINGLE SUPPLIER. WE DO NOT HAVE FORMAL WRITTEN AGREEMENTS WITH ACCELLENT CORPORATION. ANY INTERRUPTION OR D
THE SUPPLY OF MATERIALS REQUIRED TO PRODUCE OUR PRODUCTS COULD HARM OUR BUSINESS IF WE WERE UNABLE TO OBTAIN AN ALTERNATIVE SUPPLIER OR SUBSTITUTE EQUI
MATERIALS IN A COST-EFFECTIVE AND TIMELY MANNER. TO MITIGATE ANY POTENTIAL INTERRUPTIONS, THE COMPANY CONTINUALLY EVALUATES ITS INVENTORY LEVEI
management believes that the Company maintains a sufficient quantity on hand to alleviate any potential disruptions.

VIRTUALLY ALL OF THE COMPONENTS USED IN THE PRODUCTION OF THE GLIASITE RTS ARE FROM SINGLE SOURCES. WE DO NOT HAVE FORMAL WRITTEN AGREEMENTS WIT
SUPPLIERS. ANY INTERRUPTION OR DELAY IN THE SUPPLY OF THESE COMPONENTS COULD HARM OUR BUSINESS AS THE COST AND / OR TIME REQUIRED TO MEET THE REGUL.
REQUIREMENTS OF THE FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION FOR THE UNITED STATES AND OUR NOTIFIED BODY FOR OUR CE MARK BRITISH STANDARDS INSTITUTE IN THE EU
Union may be prohibitive.
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Unfavorable Industry Trends in the Prostate Market. SEVERAL FACTORS OCCURRED IN FISCAL 2009 THAT CAUSED OUR REVENUES TO SIGNIFICANTLY DECLINE AND
FACTORS CONTINUED INTO FISCAL YEAR 2012 CONTRIBUTING TO OUR FAILURE TO IMPROVE SALES IN THE PROSTATE MARKET. BEGINNING IN THE FALL oF 2008, U.S. con
SIGNIFICANTLY CURTAILED ALL SPENDING (EVEN FOR LIFE SAVING MEDICAL PROCEDURES) WHICH IMPACTED THE BRACHYTHERAPY INDUSTRY AS A WHOLE. IN FEBRUARY OF
NOTED UROLOGISTS ANNOUNCED AT A MEDICAL CONFERENCE THAT PROSTATE SPECIFIC ANTIGEN (PSA) TESTING WAS NOT AS NECESSARY AS PREVIOUSLY BELIEVED. THEIR STATE
WERE WIDELY PUBLICIZED. MANAGEMENT CONTINUES TO BELIEVE THAT MANY PEOPLE HAVE BEEN INFLUENCED BY THESE STATEMENTS TO CUT BACK ON PSA TESTING THER
decreasing the number of prostate procedures performed.

IN 2010, THE AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY REVISED THEIR ADVICE REGARDING PSA TESTING WARNING THAT REGULAR TESTING FOR PROSTATE CANCER IS OF QUESTIONABLE VA
can do men more harm than good.

ALSO THE EMERGENCE OF IMRT AS THE PREFERRED TREATMENT ALTERNATIVE AS A RESULT OF A MUCH HIGHER REIMBURSEMENT RATE TO PHYSICIANS COMPARED TO BRACHY
TREATMENTS HAS RESULTED IN DECLINING MARKET SHARE FOR BRACHYTHERAPY TREATMENT. IN FISCAL 2012, EACH OF THESE FACTORS CONTINUED TO IMPACT THE PERFORMAN
COMPANY IN THE PROSTATE MARKET AND THE INDUSTRY AS A WHOLE AND THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT THEY WILL NOT CONTINUE TO IMPACT SALES OF THE COMPANY
prostate market through fiscal 2013.

Future Production Increases Will Depend on Our Ability to Acquire Larger Quantities of Cesium-131 and Hire More Employees. ISORAY CURRENTLY OBTAIN
CESIUM-131 THROUGH ITS CONTRACT WITH URALDIAL AND THROUGH REACTOR IRRADIATION OF NATURAL BARIUM AND SUBSEQUENT SEPARATION OF CESIUM-131 FROM THE IR
BARIUM TARGETS. THE AMOUNT OF CESIUM-131 THAT CAN BE PRODUCED FROM A GIVEN REACTOR SOURCE IS LIMITED BY THE POWER LEVEL AND VOLUME AVAILABLE WITHI
REACTOR FOR IRRADIATING TARGETS. THIS LIMITATION CAN BE OVERCOME BY UTILIZING BARIUM FEEDSTOCK THAT IS ENRICHED IN THE STABLE ISOTOPE BA-130. HowEVE
number of suppliers of enriched barium is limited and they may be unable to produce this material in sufficient quantities and at a reasonable price.

ISORAY ENTERED INTO AN EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENT (THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2012) witH URALDIAL IN Russia To PROVIDE CESIUM-131 IN QUANTITIES SUFFICIENT TO SUPP
SIGNIFICANT PERCENTAGE OF FUTURE DEMAND FOR THIS ISOTOPE. AS THE RESULT OF THE PURCHASE OF ENRICHED BARIUM IN JUNE 2007, ISORAY HAS ACCESS TO SUFFI
QUANTITIES OF ENRICHED BARIUM THAT MAY BE RECYCLED TO INCREASE THE PRODUCTION OF CESIUM-131 AND WHICH WILL INCREASE THE PRODUCTION YIELD PER IRRAD
TARGET. ALTHOUGH THE URALDIAL AGREEMENT PROVIDES FOR SUPPLYING CESIUM-131 IN SIGNIFICANT QUANTITIES, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT THIS WILL RESULT IN
GAINING ACCESS TO A CONTINUING SUFFICIENT SUPPLY OF ENRICHED BARIUM FEEDSTOCK. IF WE WERE UNABLE TO OBTAIN SUPPLIES OF ISOTOPES FROM RUSSIA IN THE FUTURE,
overall supply of Cesium-131 would be reduced significantly unless the Company has a source of enriched barium for utilization in domestic reactors.

We Have Entered Into An Agreement With A Single Distributor For Our Cesium-131 From Russia. IN DEcEMBER 2010, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO A NEW
AGREEMENT WHICH HAS BEEN RENEWED TWICE THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2012, witH URALDIAL TO PURCHASE CESIUM-131 DIRECTLY FROM URALDIAL INSTEAD OF DIRECTL
INsTITUTE OF NUCLEAR MATERIALS (INM) AND RESEARCH INSTITUTE OF ATOoMIC REACTORS (RIAR) As THE COMPANY HAD DONE PRIOR TO THE ORIGINAL AGREEME
UraLDiaL IN DECEMBER 2008. As A RESULT, THE COMPANY CONTINUES TO RELY ON URALDIAL TO OBTAIN CESIUM-131 FROM RUSSIAN SOURCES. ALTHOUGH URALDIAL 2
TO MAINTAIN AT LEAST TWO RUSSIAN SOURCES OF ITS CESIUM-131, IT NOW ONLY HAS ONE REACTOR, THROUGH WHICH IT IS ABLE TO OBTAIN CESIUM-131. THROUGH THE UR.
AGREEMENT WE HAVE OBTAINED SET PRICING FOR OUR RUSSIAN CESIUM-131 THROUGH THE END OF 2012. THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT URALDIAL WILL ALWAYS BE /
SUPPLY US WITH SUFFICIENT CESTUM-131 OR WILL RENEW OUR EXISTING CONTRACT ON FAVORABLE TERMS IN DECEMBER 2012, WHICH COULD BE DUE IN PART TO RISKS ASSOCI:
WITH FOREIGN OPERATIONS AND BEYOND EITHER OUR OR URALDIAL'S CONTROL. IF WE WERE UNABLE TO OBTAIN SUPPLIES OF ISOTOPES FROM RUSSIA IN THE FUTURE, OUR |
supply of Cesium-131 could be reduced significantly unless we have a source of enriched barium for utilization in domestic reactors beyond the quantity that
WE ALREADY OWN. THE COMPANY HAS TESTED THE UTILIZATION OF OTHER REFLECTOR REGIONS WITHIN THE REACTOR AT MURR AND FOUND THAT CESIUM-131 CAN BE PROD
ECONOMICALLY VIABLE QUANTITIES AT A VIABLE PRICE. THESE REFLECTOR REGIONS THAT WERE TESTED ARE AREAS LOCATED IN THE REACTOR POOL, HOWEVER, OUTSIDE O]
TRAP. THE FLUX TRAP IS THE PRIMARY LOCATION OF IRRADIATION UTILIZED FOR THE PRODUCTION OF ISOTOPE USED IN OUR PRODUCT AND IS LOCATED IN THE REACTOR POO
CENTER OF THE FUEL ARRAY. THE TEST RESULTS PROVIDE VALIDATION OF ALTERNATIVE IRRADIATION LOCATIONS WITHIN THE MURR REACTOR THAT TYPICALLY ARE AVAILABL
supplement or replace existing sources of our supply of Cesium — 131.
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We Are Subject To Uncertainties Regarding Reimbursement For Use Of Our Products. HOSPITALS AND FREESTANDING CLINICS MAY BE LESS LIKELY TO PURCHASE O
PRODUCTS IF THEY CANNOT BE ASSURED OF RECEIVING FAVORABLE REIMBURSEMENT FOR TREATMENTS USING OUR PRODUCTS FROM THIRD-PARTY PAYERS, SUCH AS MEDICAF
PRIVATE HEALTH INSURANCE PLANS. CURRENTLY, MEDICARE REIMBURSES HOSPITALS AT FIXED RATES THAT COVER THE COST OF STRANDED AND LOOSE SEEDS. CLINICS AND PHY
PERFORMING PROCEDURES IN A FREE STANDING CENTER ARE REIMBURSED AT THE ACTUAL COST OF THE SEEDS. IT IS EXPECTED THAT CMS WILL CONTINUE TO REIMBURSE PRi
using this same methodology in 2013.

IN 2003, IsoRAY APPLIED TO THE CMS AND RECEIVED A REIMBURSEMENT CODE FOR OUR Cs-131 sgep. ON Jury 1, 2007, CMS REVISED THE CODING SYSTEM 1
BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS AND SEPARATED THE SINGLE CODE INTO TWO CODES — ONE CODE FOR LOOSE SEEDS AND A SECOND CODE FOR STRANDED SEEDS. THIS METHODOLOG
APPLIED TO ALL COMPANIES MANUFACTURING BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS. REIMBURSEMENT AMOUNTS ARE REVIEWED AND REVISED ANNUALLY BASED UPON INFORMATION SUBMIT
TO CMS ON CLAIMS BY PROVIDERS. ALTHOUGH ISORAY ANTICIPATES A SLIGHT DECREASE IN REIMBURSEMENT, WE DO NOT BELIEVE IT WILL HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT FOR 2
THESE CHANGES CAN POSITIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AFFECT MARKET DEMAND FOR OUR PRODUCTS. WE MONITOR THESE CHANGES AND PROVIDE COMMENTS, AS PERMITTED, W
changes are proposed, prior to implementation.

IN 2011, IsoRAY INTRODUCED THE GLIASITE RTS THAT HAD AN EXISTING REIMBURSEMENT CODE. AS AN IN-PATIENT PROCEDURE COVERED BY CMS, HOSPITALS ARE PAID BA¢
ON THE TYPE OF SURGERY AND THE STATUS OF THE PATIENT. THESE PROCEDURES ARE DONE AS PART OF A DIAGNOsTIC RELATED GroUP OR “DRG” SYSTEM UNDER WHI
hospital pays for all items involved in the care of the patient exclusive of the physician fees.

HISTORICALLY, PRIVATE INSURERS HAVE FOLLOWED MEDICARE GUIDELINES IN ESTABLISHING REIMBURSEMENT RATES. HOWEVER, THIRD-PARTY PAYERS ARE INCREAS
CHALLENGING THE PRICING OF CERTAIN MEDICAL SERVICES OR DEVICES, AND WE CANNOT BE SURE THAT THEY WILL REIMBURSE OUR CUSTOMERS AT LEVELS SUFFICIENT FO
MAINTAIN FAVORABLE SALES AND PRICE LEVELS FOR OUR PRODUCTS. THERE IS NO UNIFORM POLICY ON REIMBURSEMENT AMONG THIRD-PARTY PAYERS, AND WE CAN PROVIDE
ASSURANCE THAT OUR PRODUCTS WILL CONTINUE TO QUALIFY FOR REIMBURSEMENT FROM ALL THIRD-PARTY PAYERS OR THAT REIMBURSEMENT RATES WILL NOT BE REDUCED. AR
in or elimination of third-party reimbursement for treatments using our products would likely have a material adverse effect on our revenues.

FURTHERMORE, ANY FEDERAL AND STATE EFFORTS TO REFORM GOVERNMENT AND PRIVATE HEALTHCARE INSURANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS THOSE PASSED BY THE FEDERAL GOVER
2010, COULD SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECT THE PURCHASE OF HEALTHCARE SERVICES AND PRODUCTS IN GENERAL AND DEMAND FOR OUR PRODUCTS IN PARTICULAR. MEDICARE IS TH
IN APPROXIMATELY 65% OF ALL U.S. PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY CASES AND MANAGEMENT ANTICIPATES THIS PERCENTAGE TO INCREASE ANNUALLY. WE ARE UNABLE TO PRED!
IMPACT OF THE HEALTHCARE REFORM PASSED IN 2010, THOSE REFORMS THAT MAY BE ENACTED IN THE FUTURE, WHETHER OTHER HEALTHCARE LEGISLATION OR REGULATIONS
THE BUSINESS MAY BE PROPOSED OR ENACTED IN THE FUTURE OR WHAT EFFECT ANY SUCH LEGISLATION OR REGULATIONS WOULD HAVE ON OUR BUSINESS, FINANCIAL CONDIT
results of operations.

Our Operating Results Will Be Subject To Significant Fluctuations. OUR QUARTERLY REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND OPERATING RESULTS ARE LIKELY TO FLUC
SIGNIFICANTLY IN THE FUTURE. FLUCTUATION MAY RESULT FROM A VARIETY OF FACTORS, WHICH ARE DISCUSSED IN DETAIL THROUGHOUT THIS "RISK FACTORS" s

including:

. our achievement of product development objectives and milestones;

. demand and pricing for the Company's products;

. effects of aggressive competitors;

. hospital, clinic and physician purchasing decisions;

. research and development and manufacturing expenses;

= patient outcomes from our therapy;

. physician acceptance of our products;

. government or private healthcare reimbursement policies;

. healthcare reform;

. our manufacturing performance and capacity;

. incidents, if any, that could cause temporary shutdown of our manufacturing facility;

= the amount and timing of sales orders;

. rate and success of future product approvals;

. timing of FDA clearance, if any, of competitive products and the rate of market penetration of competing products;
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L] seasonality of purchasing behavior in our market;

. overall economic conditions;
. the successful introduction or market penetration of alternative therapies; and
L] the outcome of the FDA's evaluation of the clearance process for class Il devices.

We Are Subject To The Risk That Certain Third Parties May Mishandle Our Product. WE RELY ON THIRD PARTIES, SUCH AS FEDERAL EXPRESS, TO DELIVER !
PrOXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED, AND ON OTHER THIRD PARTIES, INCLUDING VARIOUS RADIOPHARMACIES, TO PACKAGE OUR PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED IN CERTAIN SPECIALL
PACKAGING FORMS REQUESTED BY CUSTOMERS. WE ARE SUBJECT TO THE RISK THAT THESE THIRD PARTIES MAY MISHANDLE OUR PRODUCT, WHICH COULD RESULT IN ADVERSE E
particularly given the radioactive nature of our product.

It Is Possible That Other Treatments May Be Deemed Superior To Brachytherapy. OUR PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED FACES COMPETITION NOT ONLY FRO
COMPANIES THAT SELL OTHER RADIATION THERAPY PRODUCTS, BUT ALSO FROM COMPANIES THAT ARE DEVELOPING ALTERNATIVE THERAPIES FOR THE TREATMENT OF CANCI
POSSIBLE THAT ADVANCES IN THE PHARMACEUTICAL, BIOMEDICAL, OR GENE THERAPY FIELDS COULD RENDER SOME OR ALL RADIATION THERAPIES, WHETHER CONVENTIO
BRACHYTHERAPY, OBSOLETE. IF ALTERNATIVE THERAPIES ARE PROVEN OR EVEN PERCEIVED TO OFFER TREATMENT OPTIONS THAT ARE SUPERIOR TO BRACHYTHERAPY, P
adoption of our product could be negatively affected and our revenues from our product could decline.

Our Industry Is Intensely Competitive. THE MEDICAL DEVICE INDUSTRY IS INTENSELY COMPETITIVE. WE COMPETE WITH BOTH PUBLIC AND PRIVATE MEDICAL DEVICE,
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies that have been in existence longer than we have, have a greater number of products on the market, have greater
FINANCIAL AND OTHER RESOURCES, AND HAVE OTHER TECHNOLOGICAL OR COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES. AS PHYSICIANS MIGRATE TO MEDICAL DEVICES SUCH AS EXTERNAL
RADIATION THAT HAVE A MUCH HIGHER CAPITAL COST TO REPAY AND HIGHER PROFIT MARGINS, THIS PUTS INCREASING PRESSURE ON ALL BRACHYTHERAPY PRODUCTS TO CO
REGARDLESS OF THEIR SUPERIOR TREATMENT RESULTS. THE MARKET SHARE FOR BRACHYTHERAPY CONTINUES TO DECLINE AS A RESULT OF THIS PRESSURE FROM INCREASING
ONCOLOGISTS OF EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION. IN ADDITION, CENTERS THAT WISH TO OFFER THE PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED MUST COMPLY WITH LICENSING REQUIRE:
SPECIFIC TO THE STATE, PROVINCE, AND/OR COUNTRY IN WHICH THEY DO BUSINESS AND THESE LICENSING REQUIREMENTS MAY TAKE A CONSIDERABLE AMOUNT OF TIME TO COM
WITH. CERTAIN CENTERS MAY CHOOSE NOT TO OFFER OUR PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED DUE TO THE TIME REQUIRED TO OBTAIN NECESSARY LICENSE AMENDMENTS. WE
COMPETE WITH ACADEMIC INSTITUTIONS, GOVERNMENT AGENCIES, AND PRIVATE RESEARCH ORGANIZATIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF TECHNOLOGIES AND PROCESSES ANL
ACQUIRING KEY PERSONNEL. ALTHOUGH WE HAVE PATENTS GRANTED AND PATENTS APPLIED FOR TO PROTECT OUR ISOTOPE SEPARATION PROCESSES AND CESiuM-131 s
MANUFACTURING TECHNOLOGY, WE CANNOT BE CERTAIN THAT ONE OR MORE OF OUR COMPETITORS WILL NOT ATTEMPT TO OBTAIN PATENT PROTECTION THAT BLOCKS OR AL
AFFECTS OUR PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS. TO MINIMIZE THIS POTENTIAL, WE HAVE ENTERED INTO EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENTS WITH KEY SUPPLIERS OF ISOTOPES AND ISO1
PRECURSORS, WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO BECOMING NON-EXCLUSIVE AS WE HAVE FAILED TO MEET MINIMUM PURCHASE REQUIREMENTS. THE CoMPANY’s GLIASITE RT!
BRACHYTHERAPY PRODUCTS TYPICALLY COMPETE WITH EXTERNAL BEAM RADIATION THERAPY (EBRT), WHICH CAN BE PROVIDED AS CONVENTIONAL OR INTENSITY MODUI
RADIATION THERAPY, OR AS STEREOTACTIC RADIOSURGERY, A TECHNIQUE THAT DELIVERS HIGH DOSES OF RADIATION TO A TARGET IN A MUCH FEWER NUMBER OF SESSIONS TH
FORMS OF EBRT. MANUFACTURERS OF EBRT EQUIPMENT INCLUDE VARIAN MEDICAL SYSTEMS, SIEMENS HEALTHCARE, ELEKTA AB, AND ACCURAY INCORPORATED, AN
OTHERS. IN THE CASE OF BRAIN TUMORS, A SURGEON WILL REMOVE THE TUMOR AND RADIATION THERAPY IS ADDED FOLLOWING THE SURGERY; THIS IS KNOWN AS “AD.
RADIATION THERAPY. THE COMPANY BELIEVES THAT ITS FORM OF ADJUVANT RADIATION THERAPY DEPLOYABLE IN SUCH CASES OFFERS ADVANTAGES OVER EXTERNAL BEAM ME’
However, external beam holds the vast majority of the market for adjuvant radiation therapy.

We May Be Unable To Adequately Protect Or Enforce Our Intellectual Property Rights Or Secure Rights To Third-Party Patents. OUR ABILITY AND THE ABILITIE
OF OUR PARTNERS TO OBTAIN AND MAINTAIN PATENT AND OTHER PROTECTION FOR OUR PRODUCTS WILL AFFECT OUR SUCCESS. WE ARE ASSIGNED, HAVE RIGHTS TO, OR HAVE E:
LICENSES TO PATENTS AND PATENTS PENDING IN THE U.S. AND NUMEROUS FOREIGN COUNTRIES. THE PATENT POSITIONS OF MEDICAL DEVICE COMPANIES CAN BE HIGHL)
UNCERTAIN AND INVOLVE COMPLEX LEGAL AND FACTUAL QUESTIONS. OUR PATENT RIGHTS MAY NOT BE UPHELD IN A COURT OF LAW IF CHALLENGED. OUR PATENT RIGHTS M.
PROVIDE COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES FOR OUR PRODUCTS AND MAY BE CHALLENGED, INFRINGED UPON OR CIRCUMVENTED BY OUR COMPETITORS. WE CANNOT PATENT OUR PRODI
in all countries or afford to litigate every potential violation worldwide.
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BECAUSE OF THE LARGE NUMBER OF PATENT FILINGS IN THE MEDICAL DEVICE AND BIOTECHNOLOGY FIELD, OUR COMPETITORS MAY HAVE FILED APPLICATIONS OR BEEN ISSI
PATENTS AND MAY OBTAIN ADDITIONAL PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS RELATING TO PRODUCTS OR PROCESSES COMPETITIVE WITH OR SIMILAR TO OURS. WE CANNOT BE C
that U.S. or foreign patents do not exist or will not be issued that would harm our ability to commercialize our products and product candidates.

The Value Of Our Granted Patents, and Our Patents Pending, Is Uncertain. ALTHOUGH OUR MANAGEMENT STRONGLY BELIEVES THAT OUR PATENT ON THE PROCESS
PRODUCING CESIUM-131, OUR PATENTS ON ADDITIONAL METHODS FOR PRODUCING CESIUM-131 AND OTHER ISOTOPES, OUR PATENT PENDING ON THE MANUFACTURE OF T
BRACHYTHERAPY SEED, AND ANTICIPATED FUTURE PATENT APPLICATIONS, WHICH HAVE NOT YET BEEN FILED, HAVE SIGNIFICANT VALUE, WE CANNOT BE CERTAIN THAT OTHER
kind processes may not exist or be discovered, that any of these patents is enforceable, or that any of our patent applications will result in issued patents.

Failure To Comply With Government Regulations Could Harm Our Business. AS A MEDICAL DEVICE AND MEDICAL ISOTOPE MANUFACTURER, WE ARE SUBJECT "
EXTENSIVE, COMPLEX, COSTLY, AND EVOLVING GOVERNMENTAL RULES, REGULATIONS AND RESTRICTIONS ADMINISTERED BY THE FDA, BY OTHER FEDERAL AND STATE AGENCI
BY GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITIES IN OTHER COUNTRIES. COMPLIANCE WITH THESE LAWS AND REGULATIONS IS EXPENSIVE AND TIME-CONSUMING, AND CHANGES TO OR FAILU
comply with these laws and regulations, or adoption of new laws and regulations, could adversely affect our business.

IN THE UNITED STATES, AS A MANUFACTURER OF MEDICAL DEVICES AND DEVICES UTILIZING RADIOACTIVE BY-PRODUCT MATERIAL, WE ARE SUBJECT TO EXTENSIVE REGULAT
FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITIES, SUCH AS THE FDA AND THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEAIAMSURE SUCH DEVICES ARE SAFE AN
EFFECTIVE. REGULATIONS PROMULGATED BY THE FDA UNDER THE U.S. Foop, DrRUG AND CosMETIC AcT, oR THE FDC ACT, GOVERN THE DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT, TES
MANUFACTURING, PACKAGING, LABELING, DISTRIBUTION, MARKETING AND SALE, POST-MARKET SURVEILLANCE, REPAIRS, REPLACEMENTS, AND RECALLS OF MEDICAL DEVIC
WASHINGTON STATE, THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, BY AGREEMENT WITH THE FEDERAL NUCLEAR REGULATORY ComMmissioN (NRC), REGULATES THE POSSESSION, US
DISPOSAL OF RADIOACTIVE BYPRODUCT MATERIAL AS WELL AS THE MANUFACTURE OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH STATE AND FEDERAL [
REGULATIONS. OUR PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS AND THE GLIASITE® RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM CONSTITUTE BOTH MEDICAL DEVICES AND RADIO
sealed sources and are subject to these regulations.

UNDER THE FDC ACT, MEDICAL DEVICES ARE CLASSIFIED INTO THREE DIFFERENT CATEGORIES, OVER WHICH THE FDA APPLIES INCREASING LEVELS OF REGULATION: CLass I, C
AND CLAss III. Our PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED HAS BEEN CLASSIFIED AS A CLASS Il DEVICE AND HAS RECEIVED CLEARANCE FROM THE FDA THROUGH THE 510(K) PRE-M
NOTIFICATION PROCESS. ANY MODIFICATIONS TO THE DEVICE THAT WOULD SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECT SAFETY OR EFFECTIVENESS, OR CONSTITUTE A MAJOR CHANGE IN INTENDE
would require a new 510(k) submission. As with any submittal to the FDA, there is no assurance that a 510(k) clearance would be granted to the Company.

IN ADDITION TO FDA-REQUIRED MARKET CLEARANCES AND APPROVALS FOR OUR PRODUCTS, OUR MANUFACTURING OPERATIONS ARE REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH THE FDA's (
SysTEM REGULATION, OR QSR, WHICH ADDRESSES REQUIREMENTS FOR A COMPANY'S QUALITY PROGRAM SUCH AS MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY, GOOD MANUFACTUR
PRACTICES, PRODUCT AND PROCESS DESIGN CONTROLS, AND QUALITY CONTROLS USED IN MANUFACTURING. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS IS MONI
THROUGH PERIODIC INSPECTIONS BY THE FDA OFFICE OF REGULATORY AFFAIRS (ORA). WE ANTICIPATE BOTH ANNOUNCED AND UNANNOUNCED INSPECTIONS BY THE FDA. Su
INSPECTIONS COULD RESULT IN NON-COMPLIANCE REPORTS (FORM 483) WHICH, IF NOT ADEQUATELY RESPONDED TO, COULD LEAD TO ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS. THE FDA
INSTITUTE A WIDE VARIETY OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS RANGING FROM PUBLIC WARNING LETTERS TO MORE SEVERE SANCTIONS SUCH AS FINES; INJUNCTIONS; CIVIL PENALTIES;
OF OUR PRODUCTS; OPERATING RESTRICTIONS; SUSPENSION OF PRODUCTION; NON-APPROVAL OR WITHDRAWAL OF PRE-MARKET CLEARANCES FOR NEW PRODUCTS OR EXISTING PR
AND CRIMINAL PROSECUTION. THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT WE WILL NOT INCUR SIGNIFICANT COSTS TO COMPLY WITH THESE REGULATIONS IN THE FUTURE OR T
regulations will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

THE MARKETING OF OUR PRODUCTS IN FOREIGN COUNTRIES WILL, IN GENERAL, BE REGULATED BY FOREIGN GOVERNMENTAL AGENCIES SIMILAR TO THE FDA. FOREIGN REGU
REQUIREMENTS VARY FROM COUNTRY TO COUNTRY. THE TIME AND COST REQUIRED TO OBTAIN REGULATORY APPROVALS COULD BE LONGER THAN THAT REQUIRED FOR FDA CLE
THE UNITED STATES AND THE REQUIREMENTS FOR LICENSING A PRODUCT IN ANOTHER COUNTRY MAY DIFFER SIGNIFICANTLY FROM FDA REQUIREMENTS. WE WILL RELY, IN P
FOREIGN DISTRIBUTORS TO ASSIST US IN COMPLYING WITH FOREIGN REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS. WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO OBTAIN THESE APPROVALS WITHOUT INCU
SIGNIFICANT EXPENSES OR AT ALL, AND THE FAILURE TO OBTAIN THESE APPROVALS WOULD PREVENT US FROM SELLING OUR PRODUCTS IN THE APPLICABLE COUNTRIES. THIS
limit our sales and growth.

32

Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012 Powered by Momingstar® Document Research™

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



Our Business Exposes Us To Product Liability Claims. OUR DESIGN, TESTING, DEVELOPMENT, MANUFACTURE, AND MARKETING OF PRODUCTS INVOLVE AN INHERENT RIS}
EXPOSURE TO PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIMS AND RELATED ADVERSE PUBLICITY. INSURANCE COVERAGE IS EXPENSIVE AND DIFFICULT TO OBTAIN, AND, ALTHOUGH WE CURRENTLY
FIVE MILLION DOLLAR POLICY, IN THE FUTURE WE MAY BE UNABLE TO OBTAIN OR RENEW COVERAGE ON ACCEPTABLE TERMS, IF AT ALL. [F WE ARE UNABLE TO OBTAIN O]
SUFFICIENT INSURANCE AT AN ACCEPTABLE COST OR IF A SUCCESSFUL PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIM IS MADE AGAINST US, WHETHER FULLY COVERED BY INSURANCE OR NOT, OUR B
could be harmed.

Our Business Involves Environmental Risks. OUR BUSINESS INVOLVES THE CONTROLLED USE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS, CHEMICALS, BIOLOGICS, AND RADIOAC
COMPOUNDS. MANUFACTURING IS EXTREMELY SUSCEPTIBLE TO PRODUCT LOSS DUE TO RADIOACTIVE, MICROBIAL, OR VIRAL CONTAMINATION; MATERIAL OR EQUIPMENT FAI
VENDOR OR OPERATOR ERROR; OR DUE TO THE VERY NATURE OF THE PRODUCT'S SHORT HALF-LIFE. ALTHOUGH WE BELIEVE THAT OUR SAFETY PROCEDURES FOR HANDLING ANT
OF SUCH MATERIALS COMPLY WITH STATE AND FEDERAL STANDARDS THERE WILL ALWAYS BE THE RISK OF ACCIDENTAL CONTAMINATION OR INJURY. IN ADDITION, RADIC
MICROBIAL, OR VIRAL CONTAMINATION MAY CAUSE THE CLOSURE OF THE RESPECTIVE MANUFACTURING FACILITY FOR AN EXTENDED PERIOD OF TIME. BY LAW, RADIOACTIVE MA1
MAY ONLY BE DISPOSED OF AT STATE-APPROVED FACILITIES. AT OUR LEASED FACILITY WE USE COMMERCIAL DISPOSAL CONTRACTORS. WE MAY INCUR SUBSTANTIAL COSTS RELA
THE DISPOSAL OF THESE MATERIALS. I[F WE WERE TO BECOME LIABLE FOR AN ACCIDENT, OR IF WE WERE TO SUFFER AN EXTENDED FACILITY SHUTDOWN, WE COULD INCUR SIG!
costs, damages, and penalties that could harm our business.

We Rely Upon Key Personnel. OUR SUCCESS WILL DEPEND, TO A GREAT EXTENT, UPON THE EXPERIENCE, ABILITIES AND CONTINUED SERVICES OF OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, ¢
STAFF AND KEY SCIENTIFIC PERSONNEL. IF WE LOSE THE SERVICES OF SEVERAL OFFICERS, SALES PERSONNEL, OR KEY SCIENTIFIC PERSONNEL, OUR BUSINESS COULD BE HARMEI
SUCCESS ALSO WILL DEPEND UPON OUR ABILITY TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN OTHER HIGHLY QUALIFIED SCIENTIFIC, MANAGERIAL, SALES, AND MANUFACTURING PERSONNEL Al
ABILITY TO DEVELOP AND MAINTAIN RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY INDIVIDUALS IN THE INDUSTRY. COMPETITION FOR THESE PERSONNEL AND RELATIONSHIPS IS INTENSE AND
COMPETE WITH NUMEROUS PHARMACEUTICAL AND BIOTECHNOLOGY COMPANIES AS WELL AS WITH UNIVERSITIES AND NON-PROFIT RESEARCH ORGANIZATIONS. WE MAY NOT BE 2
to continue to attract and retain qualified personnel.

Our Ability To Operate In Foreign Markets Is Uncertain. OUR FUTURE GROWTH WILL DEPEND IN PART ON OUR ABILITY TO ESTABLISH, GROW AND MAINTAIN PRODUCT SAL
foreign markets, particularly in Canada, the European Union (EU) and Russia. However, we have limited experience in marketing and distributing products in
OTHER COUNTRIES. ANY FOREIGN OPERATIONS WOULD SUBJECT US TO ADDITIONAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES, INCLUDING OUR CUSTOMERS' ABILITY TO OBTAIN REIMBURSEME
PROCEDURES USING OUR PRODUCTS IN FOREIGN MARKETS; THE BURDEN OF COMPLYING WITH COMPLEX AND CHANGING FOREIGN REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS; TIME-SENSI
DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS DUE TO THE SHORT HALF-LIFE OF OUR PRODUCT; LANGUAGE BARRIERS AND OTHER DIFFICULTIES IN PROVIDING LONG-DISTANCE CUSTOMER

POTENTIALLY INCREASE TIME TO COLLECT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE; SIGNIFICANT CURRENCY FLUCTUATIONS, WHICH COULD CAUSE THIRD-PARTY DISTRIBUTORS TO REDUCE THE NI
PRODUCTS THEY PURCHASE FROM US BECAUSE THE COST OF OUR PRODUCTS TO THEM COULD FLUCTUATE RELATIVE TO THE PRICE THEY CAN CHARGE THEIR CUSTOMERS;
PROTECTION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS IN SOME FOREIGN COUNTRIES; AND THE POSSIBILITY THAT CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS GOVERNED BY FOREIGN LAWS WC
INTERPRETED DIFFERENTLY THAN INTENDED IN THE EVENT OF A CONTRACT DISPUTE. ANY FUTURE FOREIGN SALES OF OUR PRODUCTS COULD ALSO BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED

LICENSE REQUIREMENTS, THE IMPOSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL CONTROLS, POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC INSTABILITY, TRADE RESTRICTIONS, CHANGES IN TARIFFS, AND DIFFICUL
STAFFING AND MANAGING FOREIGN OPERATIONS. MANY OF THESE FACTORS MAY ALSO AFFECT OUR ABILITY TO IMPORT CESIUM-131 FROM RUSSIA UNDER OUR CONTRAC'
UralDial.

Our Ability To Expand Operations And Manage Growth Is Uncertain. OUR EFFORTS TO EXPAND OUR OPERATIONS WILL RESULT IN NEW AND INCREASED RESPONSIBILI
FOR MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND WILL PLACE A STRAIN UPON THE ENTIRE COMPANY. TO COMPETE EFFECTIVELY AND TO ACCOMMODATE GROWTH, IF ANY, WE MAY BE REQU
TO CONTINUE TO IMPLEMENT AND TO IMPROVE OUR MANAGEMENT, MANUFACTURING, SALES AND MARKETING, OPERATING AND FINANCIAL SYSTEMS, PROCEDURES AND CONTRO!
A TIMELY BASIS AND TO EXPAND, TRAIN, MOTIVATE AND MANAGE OUR EMPLOYEES. THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT OUR PERSONNEL, SYSTEMS, PROCEDURES, AND CONTROL
BE ADEQUATE TO SUPPORT OUR FUTURE OPERATIONS. IF THE PROXCELAN CESIUM-131 SEED WERE TO RAPIDLY BECOME THE "SEED OF CHOICE," IT IS UNLIKELY THAT WE C
IMMEDIATELY MEET DEMAND. WE COULD EXPERIENCE SIGNIFICANT CASH FLOW DIFFICULTIES AND MAY HAVE DIFFICULTY OBTAINING THE WORKING CAPITAL REQUIRED
MANUFACTURE OUR PRODUCTS AT THOSE LEVELS. THIS COULD CAUSE CUSTOMER DISCONTENT AND INVITE COMPETITION. THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT OUR PERS
systems, procedures, and controls will be adequate to immediately react to that growth.
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Risks Related to Our Stock and Reporting Requirements

If We Are Unable To Successfully Address The Material Weakness In Our Internal Controls, Our Ability To Report Our Financial Results On A Timely And
Accurate Basis May Be Adversely Affected. Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. If
WE CANNOT PROVIDE RELIABLE FINANCIAL REPORTS OR PREVENT FRAUD, OUR REPUTATION AND OPERATING RESULTS COULD BE HARMED. WE HAVE IN THE PAST DISCOVERED, AN
IN THE FUTURE DISCOVER, AREAS OF OUR INTERNAL CONTROLS THAT NEED IMPROVEMENT. IN ITS ASSESSMENT OF THE EFFECTIVENESS IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
As oF JUNE 30, 2012, THE COMPANY DETERMINED THAT THERE WERE DEFICIENCIES THAT TOGETHER CONSTITUTED A MATERIAL WEAKNESS. SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPANY DI
MAINTAIN ADEQUATE SEGREGATION OF FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING DUTIES, DID NOT HAVE A CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, AND DID NOT HAVE A HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER
APPROPRIATE TRAINING AND EXPERIENCE. THE COMPANY CONTINUES THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REMEDIATION PLAN TO ADDRESS THE MATERIAL WEAKNESS DESCRIBED ABO'
ALONG WITH THE DEFICIENCIES ALSO IDENTIFIED IN THE ASSESSMENT, WHICH ARE DESCRIBED UNDER ITEM 9A BELOW. SPECIFICALLY, IN APRIL 2012, THE COMPANY HIRED
SENIOR ACCOUNTANT WITH SUPERVISORY EXPERIENCE FROM A BIG FOUR PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM TO ADDRESS THE ISSUES WITH SEGREGATION OF DUTIES AND THE COMPAN®
ASSESSING ADDITIONAL STEPS THAT MAY BE TAKEN IN FISCAL YEAR 2013 TO IMPROVE INTERNAL CONTROLS. WE CANNOT BE CERTAIN THAT THESE MEASURES WILL ENSURE
IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE CONTROLS OVER OUR FINANCIAL PROCESSES AND REPORTING IN THE FUTURE. ANY FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT REQUIRED NEW OR IMPRi
CONTROLS, OR DIFFICULTIES ENCOUNTERED IN THEIR IMPLEMENTATION, COULD HARM OUR OPERATING RESULTS OR CAUSE US TO FAIL TO MEET OUR REPORTING OBLIGATIONS. ]
INTERNAL CONTROLS COULD ALSO CAUSE INVESTORS TO LOSE CONFIDENCE IN OUR REPORTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION, WHICH COULD HAVE A NEGATIVE EFFECT ON THE TRAD]
of our stock.

Our Reporting Obligations As A Public Company Are Costly. OPERATING A PUBLIC COMPANY INVOLVES SUBSTANTIAL COSTS TO COMPLY WITH REPORTING OBLIGATION
UNDER FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS THAT HAVE CONTINUED TO INCREASE AS PROVISIONS OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002 HAVE BEEN IMPLEMENTED. SECTION 4(
reporting obligations were permanently exempted through legislation passed in July 2010.

Our Stock Price Is Likely To Be Volatile. THERE 1S GENERALLY SIGNIFICANT VOLATILITY IN THE MARKET PRICES AND LIMITED LIQUIDITY OF SECURITIES OF EARLY :
COMPANIES, AND PARTICULARLY OF EARLY STAGE MEDICAL PRODUCT COMPANIES. CONTRIBUTING TO THIS VOLATILITY ARE VARIOUS EVENTS THAT CAN AFFECT OUR STOCK PRI
POSITIVE OR NEGATIVE MANNER. THESE EVENTS INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO: GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS OF OR REFUSALS TO APPROVE REGULATIONS OR ACTIONS;

ACCEPTANCE AND SALES GROWTH OF OUR PRODUCTS; LITIGATION INVOLVING THE COMPANY OR OUR INDUSTRY; DEVELOPMENTS OR DISPUTES CONCERNING OUR PATENTS OR

PROPRIETARY RIGHTS; CHANGES IN THE STRUCTURE OF HEALTHCARE PAYMENT SYSTEMS; DEPARTURE OF KEY PERSONNEL; FUTURE SALES OF OUR SECURITIES; FLUCTUATION
FINANCIAL RESULTS OR THOSE OF COMPANIES THAT ARE PERCEIVED TO BE SIMILAR TO US; SWINGS IN SEASONAL DEMANDS OF PURCHASERS; INVESTORS' GENERAL PERCEPTION
and general economic, industry and market conditions. If any of these events occur, it could cause our stock price to fall.

The Price Of Our Common Stock May Be Adversely Affected By The Future Issuance And Sale Of Shares Of Our Common Stock Or Other Equity Securities.
WE CANNOT PREDICT THE SIZE OF FUTURE ISSUANCES OR SALES OF OUR COMMON STOCK OR OTHER EQUITY SECURITIES FUTURE ACQUISITIONS OR CAPITAL RAISING ACTIVITIES
EFFECT, IF ANY, THAT SUCH ISSUANCES OR SALES MAY HAVE ON THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK. THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF SUBSTANTIAL AMOUNTS OF COMMON §
or other equity securities or announcement that such issuances and sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Our Reduced Stock Price May Adversely Affect Our Liquidity. OUR COMMON STOCK HAS BEEN TRADING AT LESS THAN $1.00 PER SHARE PERIODICALLY IN THE 1

YEAR. MANY MARKET MAKERS ARE RELUCTANT TO MAKE A MARKET IN STOCK WITH A TRADING PRICE OF LESS THAN $1.00 PER SHARE. TO THE EXTENT THAT WE HAVE FEW
makers for our common stock, our volume and liquidity will likely decline, which could further depress our stock price.
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Future Sales By Shareholders, Or The Perception That Such Sales May Occur, May Depress The Price Of Our Common Stock. THE SALE OR AVAILABILITY FOR SA
OF SUBSTANTIAL AMOUNTS OF OUR SHARES IN THE PUBLIC MARKET, INCLUDING SHARES ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF OUTSTANDING PREFERRED STOCK OR EXERCISE OF CO
STOCK WARRANTS AND OPTIONS, OR THE PERCEPTION THAT SUCH SALES COULD OCCUR, COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK AND ALSO COUL
OUR ABILITY TO RAISE CAPITAL THROUGH FUTURE OFFERINGS OF OUR SHARES. As of JUNE 30, 2012, we HAD 30,950,108 OUTSTANDING SHARES OF COMMON STOCK, A
following additional shares were reserved for issuance: 2,371,306 shares upon exercise of outstanding options, 1,959,799 shares upon exercise of outstanding
WARRANTS, AND 59,065 SHARES UPON CONVERSION OF PREFERRED STOCK. ANY DECLINE IN THE PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK MAY ENCOURAGE SHORT SALES, WHICH COULD 1
further downward pressure on the price of our common stock and may impair our ability to raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities.

The Issuance Of Shares Upon Exercise Of Derivative Securities May Cause Immediate And Substantial Dilution To Our Existing Shareholders. THE 1SSUANCE
OF SHARES UPON CONVERSION OF THE PREFERRED STOCK AND THE EXERCISE OF COMMON STOCK WARRANTS AND OPTIONS MAY RESULT IN SUBSTANTIAL DILUTION TO THE INTEI
OTHER SHAREHOLDERS SINCE THESE SELLING SHAREHOLDERS MAY ULTIMATELY CONVERT OR EXERCISE AND SELL ALL OR A PORTION OF THE FULL AMOUNT ISSUABLE UPON EXER
DERIVATIVE SECURITIES WERE CONVERTED OR EXERCISED INTO SHARES OF COMMON STOCK, THERE WOULD BE APPROXIMATELY AN ADDITIONAL 4,400,000 SHARES OF COM
STOCK OUTSTANDING AS A RESULT. THE ISSUANCE OF THESE SHARES WILL HAVE THE EFFECT OF FURTHER DILUTING THE PROPORTIONATE EQUITY INTEREST AND VOTING POWER O
of our common stock.

Failure to Comply with NYSE MKT Listing Standards And Any Resulting Delisting Could Adversely Affect The Market For Our Common Stock. OUR COMMON
sTOCK 18 PRESENTLY LISTED ON THE NYSE MKT. THE NYSE MKT WILL CONSIDER DELISTING A COMPANY'S SECURITIES IF, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE COMPANY FAILS
MAINTAIN MINIMUM STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY OR THE COMPANY HAS SUSTAINED LOSSES WHICH ARE SO SUBSTANTIAL IN RELATION TO ITS OVERALL OPERATIONS OR ITS EXI
FINANCIAL RESOURCES, OR ITS FINANCIAL CONDITION HAS BECOME SO IMPAIRED THAT IT APPEARS QUESTIONABLE, IN THE OPINION OF THE NYSE MKT, AS TO WHETHER SUCH IS¢
WILL BE ABLE TO CONTINUE OPERATIONS AND/OR MEET ITS OBLIGATIONS AS THEY MATURE. THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT WE WILL BE ABLE TO MAINTAIN OUR LISTING
NYSE MKT INDEFINITELY. WE FELL BELOW THE MINIMUM STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY REQUIREMENT FOR THE QUARTER ENDED JUNE 30, 2012, BUT RAISED ADDITIONAL CAPI
JuLy 2012 WITH NET PROCEEDS OF APPROXIMATELY $3.3 MILLION. IN THE EVENT THAT OUR COMMON STOCK IS DELISTED FROM THE NYSE MKT, TRADING, IF ANY, IN
COMMON STOCK WOULD BE CONDUCTED IN THE OVER-THE-COUNTER MARKET. AS A RESULT, OUR SHAREHOLDERS WOULD LIKELY FIND IT MORE DIFFICULT TO DISPOSE OF, OR TO
accurate quotations as to the market value of, our common stock.

We Do Not Expect To Pay Any Dividends For The Foreseeable Future. WE DO NOT ANTICIPATE PAYING ANY DIVIDENDS TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS FOR THE FORESEEA
FUTURE EXCEPT FOR DIVIDENDS ON THE SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK WHICH WE INTEND TO PAY ON OR BEFORE DECEMBER 31, 2012 IF REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH THE FORM
ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS. SHAREHOLDERS MUST BE PREPARED TO RELY ON SALES OF THEIR COMMON STOCK AFTER PRICE APPRECIATION TO EARN AN INVESTMENT RETURN,
MAY NEVER OCCUR. ANY DETERMINATION TO PAY DIVIDENDS IN THE FUTURE WILL BE MADE AT THE DISCRETION OF OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND WILL DEPEND ON OUR RESU
operations, financial conditions, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable laws and other factors that our Board deems relevant.

Certain Provisions of Minnesota Law and Our Charter Documents Have an Anti-Takeover Effect. THERE EXIST CERTAIN MECHANISMS UNDER MINNESOTA LAW AN
OUR CHARTER DOCUMENTS THAT MAY DELAY, DEFER OR PREVENT A CHANGE OF CONTROL. ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS OF OUR ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, BYLAWS AND M1
LAW COULD DIMINISH THE OPPORTUNITY FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PARTICIPATE IN ACQUISITION PROPOSALS AT A PRICE ABOVE THE THEN-CURRENT MARKET PRICE OF OUR CON
STOCK. FOR EXAMPLE, WHILE WE HAVE NO PRESENT PLANS TO ISSUE ANY PREFERRED STOCK, OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS, WITHOUT FURTHER SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL, M;
SHARES OF UNDESIGNATED PREFERRED STOCK AND FIX THE POWERS, PREFERENCES, RIGHTS AND LIMITATIONS OF SUCH CLASS OR SERIES, WHICH COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT THE
POWER OF THE COMMON SHARES. IN ADDITION, OUR BYLAWS PROVIDE FOR AN ADVANCE NOTICE PROCEDURE FOR NOMINATION OF CANDIDATES TO OUR BOARD OF DIRECTOR
COULD HAVE THE EFFECT OF DELAYING, DETERRING OR PREVENTING A CHANGE IN CONTROL. FURTHER, AS A MINNESOTA CORPORATION, WE ARE SUBJECT TO PROVISIONS
MINNESOTA BUSINESs CORPORATION AcT, OR MBCA, REGARDING "BUSINESS COMBINATIONS," WHICH CAN DETER ATTEMPTED TAKEOVERS IN CERTAIN SITUATIONS. PURSUAN
THE TERMS OF A SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN ADOPTED IN FEBRUARY 2007, EACH OUTSTANDING SHARE OF COMMON STOCK HAS ONE ATTACHED RIGHT. THE RIGHTS WIL
SUBSTANTIAL DILUTION OF THE OWNERSHIP OF A PERSON OR GROUP THAT ATTEMPTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY ON TERMS NOT APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AN
HAVE THE EFFECT OF DETERRING HOSTILE TAKEOVER ATTEMPTS. THE EFFECT OF THESE ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS MAY BE TO DETER BUSINESS COMBINATION TRANSACTIC
APPROVED BY OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS, INCLUDING ACQUISITIONS THAT MAY OFFER A PREMIUM OVER THE MARKET PRICE TO SOME OR ALL SHAREHOLDERS. WE MAY, IN THE F
CONSIDER ADOPTING ADDITIONAL ANTI-TAKEOVER MEASURES. THE AUTHORITY OF OUR BOARD TO ISSUE UNDESIGNATED PREFERRED OR OTHER CAPITAL STOCK AND THE ANTI-
PROVISIONS OF THE MBCA, AS WELL AS OTHER CURRENT AND ANY FUTURE ANTI-TAKEOVER MEASURES ADOPTED BY US, MAY, IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES, DELAY, DETER OR 1
takeover attempts and other changes in control of the Company not approved by our Board of Directors.
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ITEM 1B — UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

As a smaller reporting company, the Company is not required to provide Item 1B disclosure in this Annual Report.

ITEM 2 — PROPERTIES

THE COMPANY'S EXECUTIVE OFFICES ARE LOCATED AT 350 Hirrs STreeT, Suite 106, RicHLanD, WA 99354, (509) 375-1202, wWHERE ISORAY CURRENTLY L
APPROXIMATELY 15,900 SQUARE FEET OF OFFICE AND LABORATORY SPACE FOR APPROXIMATELY $23,100 PER MONTH PLUS MONTHLY JANITORIAL EXPENSES OF APPROXIMA1
$430 rroM ENERGY NORTHWEST, THE OWNER OF THE APPLIED PROCESS ENGINEERING LABORATORY (THE APEL FACILITY). THE COMPANY IS NOT AFFILIATED WITH THIS L
THE MONTHLY RENT IS SUBJECT TO ANNUAL INCREASES BASED ON THE CONSUMER PRICE INDEX. THE CURRENT LEASE WAS ENTERED INTO IN MAY 2010, EXPIRES ON APRI

2013, and has one additional three-year renewal option remaining.

THE COMPANY'S MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT ALL FACILITIES OCCUPIED BY THE COMPANY ARE ADEQUATE FOR PRESENT REQUIREMENTS, AND THAT THE COMPANY'S CUR
equipment is in good condition and is suitable for the operations involved.

ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is not involved in any material legal proceedings as of the date of this Report.
ITEM 4 — MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable

PART II

ITEM 5 — MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

THE COMPANY'S ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION PROVIDE THAT THE COMPANY HAS THE AUTHORITY TO ISSUE 200,000,000 SHARES OF CAPITAL STOCK, WHICH ARE CURR
DIVIDED INTO TWO CLASSES AS FOLLOWS: 193,000,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE OF $0.001 PER SHARE; AND 7,000,000 SHARES OF PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VAI

$0.001 per share. As of September 25,2012, we had 34,584,868 outstanding shares of Common Stock and 59,065 outstanding shares of Preferred Stock.

ON ApRIL 19, 2007, OUR COMMON STOCK BEGAN TRADING ON THE AMERICAN STOCK ExcHANGE (Now THE NYSE MKT) unDER THE symBoL "ISR." EVEN THOUGH WE H2
obtained our NYSE MKT listing, there is still limited trading activity in our securities.

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported on the NYSE MKT.

Year ended June 30,2012 High Low

First quarter $ 129 $ 0.90
Second quarter 0.99 0.65
Third quarter 0.73 0.48
Fourth quarter 1.28 0.39
Year ended June 30,2011 High Low

First quarter $ 148 § 1.00
Second quarter 1.55 1.07
Third quarter 1.52 1.02
Fourth quarter 1.23 0.88
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THE COMPANY HAS NEVER PAID ANY CASH DIVIDENDS ON ITS COMMON STOCK AND DOES NOT PLAN TO PAY ANY CASH DIVIDENDS IN THE FORESEEABLE FUTURE. ON DECEMBE
16, 2011, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS DECLARED A DIVIDEND ON THE SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK OF ALL OUTSTANDING AND CUMULATIVE DIVIDENDS THROUGH DECEM
2011. THE TOTAL SERIES B ACCRUED DIVIDENDS OF $10,632 WERE PAID AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2011. At June 30, 2012, THERE WERE 59,065 SERIES B PREFERRED SH
outstanding and cumulative dividends in arrears were $5,316. There is no Series A or Series C Preferred Stock outstanding.

As OF SEPTEMBER 25, 2012, WE HAD APPROXIMATELY 291 SHAREHOLDERS OF RECORD, EXCLUSIVE OF SHARES HELD IN STREET NAME. THE CLOSING PRICE OF OUR COMMON §
was $0.84 on September 25,2012.

Equity Compensation Plans

ON May 27, 2005, THE CoMPANY ADOPTED THE 2005 Stock OpTION PLAN (THE OPTION PLAN) AND THE 2005 EmMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN (THE EMPLOYEE PL2
PURSUANT TO WHICH IT MAY GRANT EQUITY AWARDS TO ELIGIBLE PERSONS. ON AucGust 15, 2006, THE CoMPANY ADOPTED THE 2006 DIRECTOR STOCK OPTION PLAN
DIRECTOR PLAN) PURSUANT TO WHICH IT MAY GRANT EQUITY AWARDS TO ELIGIBLE PERSONS. EACH OF THE PLANS HAS SUBSEQUENTLY BEEN AMENDED. THE OPTION PLAN
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO GRANT OPTIONS TO PURCHASE UP TO 1,800,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK TO DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, KEY EMPLOYEES AND SERVICE PROVIDERS
COMPANY, AND THE EMPLOYEE PLAN ALLOWS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO GRANT OPTIONS TO PURCHASE UP TO 2,000,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK TO OFFICERS AN
EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY. THE DIRECTOR PLAN ALLOWS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO GRANT OPTIONS TO PURCHASE UP TO 1,000,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK TO DIF
ofF THE CoMPANY. OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER ALL OF THE PLANS HAVE A TEN YEAR MAXIMUM TERM, AN EXERCISE PRICE EQUAL TO AT LEAST THE FAIR MARKET VALUE
COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK (BASED ON THE TRADING PRICE ON THE NYSE MKT) ON THE DATE OF THE GRANT, AND WITH VARYING VESTING PERIODS AS DETERMINED BY
Board.

As of June 30,2012, the following options had been granted under the option plans.

Number of Weighted- Number of
securities to average securities
be issued on exercise remaining
exercise of price of available for
outstanding  outstanding future
options, options, issuance
warrants, warrants, under equity
and rights and rights compensation
Plan Category # $ plans
Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders N/A N/A N/A
Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders 2,381,306 $ 1.82 1,350,512
Total 2,381,306 $ 1.82 1,350,512

Sales of Unregistered Securities

All sales of unregistered securities during the 2012 fiscal year were previously reported, except as follows:
ON JunE 27,2012, THE COMPANY ISSUED WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 2,500 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK TO AN INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY CONSULTANT, CHUCK DOwNS, WIT

EXERCISE PRICE EQUAL TO $0.98. THE WARRANTS WERE ISSUED PURSUANT TO THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY §4(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 19%
amended.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
ON OcTOBER 27, 2009, WE FILED A REGISTRATION STATEMENT ON FORM S-3 TO REGISTER SECURITIES UP TO $15 MILLION IN VALUE FOR FUTURE ISSUANCE IN OUR CAPITAL

ACTIVITIES. THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT BECAME EFFECTIVE ON NOVEMBER 13,2009, AND THE COMMISSION FILE NUMBER ASSIGNED TO THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT IS Z
162694.
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ON NOVEMBER 22, 2010, A SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT WAS EXECUTED BETWEEN AN INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR AND THE COMPANY FOR 2,250,000 SHARES OF COM
STOCK WITH AURORA CAPITAL ACTING AS THE PLACEMENT AGENT FOR THE TRANSACTION. AS PART OF THE TRANSACTION, THE INVESTOR RECEIVED FOUR SERIES OF
(COLLECTIVELY, THE "WARRANTS"). THE SERIES A AND SERIES C WARRANTS WERE AMENDED AND RESTATED VIA AN AMENDMENT AGREEMENT DATED DECEMBER 27, 201(
the Series C Warrants were further amended and restated via an Amendment Agreement dated March 31,2011.

THE SHARES AND WARRANTS WERE ISSUED PURSUANT TO THE COMPANY'S SHELF REGISTRATION STATEMENT (THE "REGISTRATION STATEMENT") oN Form S-3 (FiLE Nc
162694), which became effective on November 13,2009, and prospectus supplements filed on November 24,2010 and on December 29, 2010.

BY LETTER AGREEMENT DATED OCTOBER 27,2010, LIFETECH CAPITAL, A DIVISION OF AURORA CAPITAL, LLC, ACTED AS PLACEMENT AGENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE PLAC
OF THE SECURITIES IN THE NOVEMBER 2010 OFFERING. LIFETECH RECEIVED A CASH FEE OF 5% OF THE GROSS PROCEEDS RECEIVED UNDER THE OFFERING (EXCLUDING PROC
RECEIVED ON THE EXERCISE OF C OR D WARRANTS), AND ALSO RECEIVED WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 3% OF THE COMMON STOCK SOLD IN THE OFFERING AND 3% OF THE SER
AND C WARRANTS EXERCISED AT ANY TIME, WHICH WARRANTS ISSUED TO LIFETECH SHALL NOT BE EXERCISABLE FOR SIX MONTHS FOLLOWING THE CLOSING, SHALL HAVE A F
term, and an exercise price of $1.56 per share.

THE NovEMBER 2010 OFFERING YIELDED NET CASH OF $2,026,255 WHICH WAS NET OF OFFERING COSTS OF $223,745 ($112,500 oF commissioN EXPENSE, $108,927 ¢
LEGAL AND ACCOUNTING EXPENSE AND $2,318 OF OTHER COSTS). WARRANT LIABILITIES THAT TOTAL $1,724,000 WAS ESTABLISHED RELATED TO SERIES A, B
warrants. Deferred financing costs of $193,051 were established related to the warrant liabilities for Series A, B, and C warrants.

The Series A warrants were exercised on March 24,2011 for 538,660 shares of common stock in exchange for $475,000 net of commission expense.

THE COMPANY RECORDED FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO THE SERIES A WARRANT LIABILITY THROUGH THE EXERCISE OF THE WARRANTS ON MARcH 24, 2011. THe Cc
EXPENSED THE UNAMORTIZED DEFERRED FINANCING COST OF $16,044 AS FINANCING EXPENSE IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS. THE SERIES A WARF
LIABILITY WAS RECLASSIFIED TO EQUITY AT THE FAIR VALUE REPORTED ON MARcH 24, 2011 ofF $119,000 DURING THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARcH 31, 2011 AS THE
holder exercised the warrants during this period.

The Series B Warrants expired without being exercised and the fair value of the warrant liability for Series B was reclassified to equity was $152,000.

THE SERIES C WARRANT LIABILITY WAS RECHARACTERIZED FROM A WARRANT LIABILITY TO EQUITY AT THE FAIR VALUE REPORTED USING THE BLACK-SCHOLES OPTION '
MobpEL ON MARcH 31, 2011 AS THE WARRANT HOLDER AND THE COMPANY AMENDED THE AGREEMENT ON THAT DATE TO ALLOW FOR THE EQUITY TREATMENT OF THE
WARRANTS. THE FAIR VALUE OF THE WARRANT LIABILITY FOR SERIES C THAT WAS RECLASSIFIED TO EQUITY WAS $1,119,000. THE COMPANY EXPENSED THE UNAMORTIZED D
financing cost of $142,809 as financing expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

ON OctoBER 13, 2011, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO AN UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT WITH WESTPARK CAPITAL, INC. AS MANAGING UNDERWRITER FOR A BEST EFFORT!
NOTHING UNDERWRITTEN REGISTERED OFFERING OF 2,500,000 SHARES OF THE COMPANY’S COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE $0.001 PER SHARE, AT AN OFFERING PRICE TO THE PUB
$0.92 pPER SHARE. WITH EVERY FIVE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK PURCHASED, THE PURCHASER RECEIVED A WARRANT TO PURCHASE ONE SHARE OF COMMON STOCK WITH AN EX
PRICE OF $1.058 WITH A FIVE YEAR TERM FOR A TOTAL OF 500,003 WARRANTS ISSUED IN THE INITIAL TRANSACTION. UNDER THE TERMS OF THE UNDERWRITING AGREEM
COMPANY ALSO GRANTED THE UNDERWRITERS A 45 DAY OPTION TO SELL UP TO AN ADDITIONAL 1,027,173 sHARES OF COMMON STOCK (WITH WARRANTS TO PURCHASE Ul
ADDITIONAL 205,435 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK) TO COVER OVER-ALLOTMENTS, IF ANY, AT THE OFFERING PRICE. THERE WERE 317,988 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK SOLD FR
OVER-ALLOTMENT AND 63,598 WARRANTS ISSUED AS PART OF THE SALE OF THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SHARES. NONE OF THE WARRANTS FROM EITHER THE INITIAL SALE C
COMMON STOCK OR FROM THOSE SOLD AS PART OF THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SALE OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK HAVE BEEN EXERCISED. THE GROSS PROCEEDS TO THE COMPANY
THE SALE OF THE INITIAL 2.5 MILLION SHARES OF COMMON STOCK WERE $2,300,000 AND THERE WERE NET PROCEEDS TO THE CoMPANY OF $2,013,363. GROSS PROCEEDS
THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SALE OF 317,988 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK WERE $292,549 AND NET PROCEEDS WERE $261,123. THESE SHARES AND WARRANTS WERE ISSUED PU
to the Registration Statement and a prospectus supplement filed on October 13,2011.
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THERE WAS NO MATERIAL CHANGE IN THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM OUR PUBLIC OFFERINGS AS DESCRIBED IN OUR FINAL PROSPECTUSES FOR THESE OFFERINGS FILED WITH THE
PURSUANT TO RULE 424 (B). THROUGH JUNE 30, 2012 WE HAD BEGUN TO USE THE NET PROCEEDS CONSISTENT WITH THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM OUR PUBLIC OFFERIN(
described in our final prospectuses for these offerings filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424 (b) and as further described in the table below, and invested the
remaining net proceeds in cash and cash equivalents.

No OFFERING EXPENSES WERE PAID DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO ANY OF OUR DIRECTORS OR OFFICERS (OR THEIR ASSOCIATES) OR PERSONS OWNING TEN PERCENT OR MORE OF At
of our equity securities or to any other affiliates.

The net cash received from the public offerings is:

Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to registered public offering, net $ 2,219,306
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to at the market offering, net 250,632
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to exercise of Series A warrants, net 475,000
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to registered public offering, net 2,274,486
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to exercise of Series C warrants, net 834,797
Total proceeds from public offerings through June 30,2012 $ 6,054,221
Proceeds used in the year ended June 30,2012:

Purchase and installation of machinery and equipment $ 55,057
Indirect payment to directors and officers for database development 31,350
Direct payments of salaries to directors and officers 708,864
Working capital 1,754,094
Total proceeds used in the year ended June 30,2012 $ 2,549,365

ITEM 6 — SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
As a smaller reporting company, the Company is not required to provide Item 6 disclosure in this Annual Report.
ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE COMPANY'S FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS IS BASED UPON ITS CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME
WHICH HAVE BEEN PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. THE PREPARATION OF THESE FINAN
STATEMENTS REQUIRES MANAGEMENT TO MAKE ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS THAT AFFECT THE REPORTED AMOUNTS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, REVENUES AND EXPENSES, AND R
DISCLOSURES OF CONTINGENT LIABILITIES. ON AN ON-GOING BASIS, MANAGEMENT EVALUATES PAST JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES, INCLUDING THOSE RELATED TO BAD D
INVENTORIES, ACCRUED LIABILITIES, AND CONTINGENCIES. MANAGEMENT BASES ITS ESTIMATES ON HISTORICAL EXPERIENCE AND ON VARIOUS OTHER ASSUMPTIONS THA1
BELIEVED TO BE REASONABLE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES, THE RESULTS OF WHICH FORM THE BASIS FOR MAKING JUDGMENTS ABOUT THE CARRYING VALUES OF ASSETS AND LIA
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

THE COMPANY BELIEVES THE FOLLOWING CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AFFECT ITS MORE SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES USED IN THE PREPARATION OF
consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

THE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS CODIFICATION (ASC) 820, FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND DISCLOSURES, OF THE FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BoARD (FASB), PEF
BUT DOES NOT REQUIRE, ENTITIES TO MEASURE MANY FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CERTAIN OTHER ITEMS NOT SPECIFICALLY IDENTIFIED IN OTHER TOPICS OF THE ASC, su
available-for-sale investments, at fair value. We have not elected to measure additional assets and liabilities at fair value.
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FAIR VALUE IS DEFINED AS THE PRICE THAT WOULD BE RECEIVED IN THE SALE OF AN ASSET, OR PAID TO TRANSFER A LIABILITY, IN AN ORDERLY TRANSACTION BETWEE!
PARTICIPANTS AT THE MEASUREMENT DATE. A THREE-LEVEL VALUATION HIERARCHY IS USED TO QUALIFY FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS BASED UPON THE TRANSPARENCY OF INP
the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date:

LEVEL 1. INPUTS TO THE VALUATION METHODOLOGY ARE QUOTED PRICES (UNADJUSTED) FOR IDENTICAL ASSETS OR LIABILITIES IN ACTIVE MARKETS. LEVEL 1 Ass
LIABILITIES INCLUDE DEBT AND EQUITY SECURITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ACTIVELY TRADED ON EXCHANGES, AS WELL AS U.S. TREASURY SEC
and U.S. Government and agency mortgage-backed securities that are actively traded in highly liquid over-the-counter markets.

LEVEL 2. MODEL INPUTS ARE OBSERVABLE INPUTS, OTHER THAN LEVEL 1 PRICES, SUCH AS QUOTED PRICES FOR SIMILAR ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN ACTIVE MAT
QUOTED PRICES FOR IDENTICAL OR SIMILAR ASSETS OR LIABILITIES IN MARKETS THAT ARE NOT ACTIVE, AND INPUTS THAT ARE OBSERVABLE OR CAN BE CORROBORATE
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, FOR SUBSTANTIALLY THE FULL TERM OF THE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT. LEVEL 2 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INCLUDE DEBT INSTRUMENTS THAT

LESS FREQUENTLY THAN EXCHANGE TRADED SECURITIES AND DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS, FOR WHICH THE MODEL INPUTS ARE OBSERVABLE IN THE MARKET OR

CORROBORATED BY MARKET OBSERVABLE DATA. EXAMPLES IN THIS CATEGORY ARE LESS FREQUENTLY TRADED MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES, CORPORATE DEBT SE
and derivative contracts.

LEVEL 3. INPUTS TO THE VALUATION METHODOLOGY ARE UNOBSERVABLE BUT SIGNIFICANT TO THE FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT. EXAMPLES IN THIS CATEGORY IN(
interests in loans held for sale, certain securitized financial assets or certain private equity investments.

FAIR VALUE IS APPLIED TO ELIGIBLE ASSETS BASED ON QUOTED MARKET PRICES, WHERE AVAILABLE. FOR FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FOR WHICH QUOTES FROM RECENT EXC
TRANSACTIONS ARE NOT AVAILABLE, FAIR VALUBASED ON DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ANALYSIS AND COMPARISONS TO SIMILAR INSTRUMENTS. DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ANALYSI
dependent upon estimated future cash flows and the level of interest rates.

THE METHODS USED FOR CURRENT FAIR VALUE CALCULATIONS OF LEVEL 2 AND LEVEL 3 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MAY NOT BE INDICATIVE OF NET REALIZABLE VALUE OR REFL
FUTURE FAIR VALUES. IF READILY DETERMINED MARKET VALUES BECAME AVAILABLE, OR IF ACTUAL PERFORMANCE WERE TO VARY APPRECIABLY FROM ASSUMPTIONS
ASSUMPTIONS MAY NEED TO BE ADJUSTED, WHICH COULD RESULT IN MATERIAL DIFFERENCES FROM THE RECORDED CARRYING AMOUNTS. WE BELIEVE OUR METHODS OF DETERM
FAIR VALUE ARE APPROPRIATE AND CONSISTENT WITH OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS. HOWEVER, THE USE OF DIFFERENT METHODOLOGIES OR APPLICATION OF DIFFERENT ASSUM
to value certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value.

ErrecTive Jury 1, 2008, THE CompPANY IMPLEMENTED ASC 820, FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND DISCLOSURES, OF THE FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS Bc
(FASB), ASC 820 DEFINES FAIR VALUE, ESTABLISHES A FRAMEWORK FOR MEASURING FAIR VALUE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED I
UNITED STATES, AND EXPANDS DISCLOSURES ABOUT FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS. THE COMPANY ELECTED TO IMPLEMENT THIS STANDARD WITH THE ONE-YEAR DEFERRAL PERM
FOR NONFINANCIAL ASSETS AND NONFINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE, EXCEPT THOSE THAT ARE RECOGNIZED OR DISCLOSED ON A RECURRING BASIS. THIS 1
APPLIED TO FIXED ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSET IMPAIRMENT TESTING AND INITIAL RECOGNITION OF ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS FOR WHICH FAIR VALUE IS USED.
Company does not expect any significant impact to our consolidated financial statements when we implement ASC 820 for these assets and liabilities.

ASC 820 REQUIRES DISCLOSURES THAT CATEGORIZE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE INTO ONE OF THREE DIFFERENT LEVELS DEPENDING ON THE OBSERVAE
THE INPUTS EMPLOYED IN THE MEASUREMENT. LEVEL 1 INPUTS ARE QUOTED PRICES IN ACTIVE MARKETS FOR IDENTICAL ASSETS OR LIABILITIES. LEVEL 2 INPUTS ARE OBSERY
INPUTS OTHER THAN QUOTED PRICES INCLUDED WITHIN LEVEL | FOR THE ASSET OR LIABILITY, EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY THROUGH MARKET-CORROBORATED INPUTS.
INPUTS ARE UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS FOR THE ASSET OR LIABILITY REFLECTING SIGNIFICANT MODIFICATIONS TO OBSERVABLE RELATED MARKET DATA OR OUR ASSUMPTIONS
pricing by market participants.

At June 30,2012, all ofthe Company's financial assets and liabilities are accounted and reported at fair value using Level 1 inputs.
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AvLso EFFECTIVE JuLy 1, 2008, THE CompaNY ADOPTED ASC Topic 825, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. THE STATEMENT ALLOWS ENTITIES TO VALUE MANY FINANCIAL INSTRUM
AND CERTAIN OTHER ITEMS AT FAIR VALUE. ASC 825 PROVIDES GUIDANCE OVER THE ELECTION OF THE FAIR VALUE OPTION, INCLUDING THE TIMING OF THE ELECTION AND SPI
ITEMS ELIGIBLE FOR THE FAIR VALUE ACCOUNTING. IF THE FAIR VALUE OPTION IS ELECTED THEN UNREALIZED GAINS AND LOSSES ARE REPORTED IN EARNINGS AT EACH SUBS
REPORTING DATE. THE COMPANY ELECTED NOT TO MEASURE ANY ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OR OTHER ITEMS AT FAIR VALUE AS OF JULY 1, 2008 IN ACCORDAN(C
ASC 825. ACCORDINGLY, THE ADOPTION OF ASC 825 DID NOT IMPACT OUR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. THE COMPANY DID ELECT TO FAIR VALUE ITS ARS RrIG
that were received in October 2008 and exercised in January 2009 in accordance with ASC 825.

Accounts Receivable

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ARE STATED AT THE AMOUNT THAT MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY EXPECTS TO COLLECT FROM OUTSTANDING BALANCES. MANAGEMENT PROVIL
PROBABLE UNCOLLECTIBLE AMOUNTS THROUGH AN ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS. ADDITIONS TO THE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS ARE BASED ON MANA
JUDGMENT, CONSIDERING HISTORICAL WRITE-OFFS, COLLECTIONS AND CURRENT CREDIT CONDITIONS. BALANCES WHICH REMAIN OUTSTANDING AFTER MANAGEMENT HA
REASONABLE COLLECTION EFFORTS ARE WRITTEN OFF THROUGH A CHARGE TO THE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS AND A CREDIT TO THE APPLICABLE ACCOUNTS
Payments received subsequent to the time that an account is written off are considered bad debt recoveries.

Inventory

INVENTORY IS REPORTED AT THE LOWER OF COST OR MARKET. COST OF RAW MATERIALS IS DETERMINED USING THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE METHOD. COST OF WORK IN PROC
finished goods is computed using standard cost, which approximates actual cost, on a first-in, first-out basis.

Fixed Assets
FIXED ASSETS ARE CAPITALIZED AND CARRIED AT THE LOWER OF COST OR NET REALIZABLE VALUE. NORMAL MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS ARE CHARGED TO EXPENSE AS INCURR]
ASSETS ARE SOLD OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF, THE COST AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ARE REMOVED FROM THE ACCOUNTS AND ANY RESULTING GAIN OR LOSS IS RECOGN

operations.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Production equipment 3 to 7 years
Office equipment 2 to 5 years
Fumniture and fixtures 2 to 5 years

Leasehold improvements and capital lease assets are amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or the estimated useful life of the asset.

MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY PERIODICALLY REVIEWS THE NET CARRYING VALUE OF ALL OF ITS EQUIPMENT ON AN ASSET BY ASSET BASIS. THESE REVIEWS CONSIDER TH
realizable value of each asset to determine whether an impairment of value has occurred, and if there is a need for any asset impairment write-down.

ALTHOUGH MANAGEMENT HAS MADE ITS BEST ESTIMATE OF THE FACTORS THAT AFFECT THE CARRYING VALUE BASED ON CURRENT CONDITIONS, IT IS REASONABLY POSSIB
CHANGES COULD OCCUR WHICH COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT MANAGEMENT'S ESTIMATE OF NET CASH FLOWS EXPECTED TO BE GENERATED FROM ITS ASSETS, AND NECESSITAT
impairment write-downs.

Deferred Financing Costs

FINANCING COSTS RELATED TO THE ACQUISITION OF DEBT ARE DEFERRED AND AMORTIZED OVER THE TERM OF THE RELATED DEBT USING THE EFFECTIVE INTEREST Defeived
FINANCING COSTS INCLUDE THE FAIR VALUE OF COMMON SHARES ISSUED TO CERTAIN SHAREHOLDERS FOR THEIR GUARANTEE OF CERTAIN COMPANY DEBT IN ACCORDANCE WITH
820 Capitalization of Interest AND (ASC) 230 Statement of Cash Flows. THE VALUE OF THE SHARES ISSUED WAS THE ESTIMATED MARKET PRICE OF THE SHARES AS OF
date of issuance. Amortization of deferred financing costs, totaling none and $13,277 for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively, is included in
financing expense on the statements of operations.
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DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS RELATED THE CREATION OF WARRANT LIABILITIES AS THE RESULT OF THE ISSUANCE OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ARE DEFERRED AND AMORTIZEI
TERM OF THE RELATED WARRANT ON A STRAIGHT-LINE BASIS. DEFERRED FINANCING COST RELATED TO THE CREATION OF THE WARRANT LIABILITY WAS RECORDED ON A PROPORT
WITH THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT OF THE TOTAL OFFERING. AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS, TOTALING $61,511 AND $193,052 FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 3
AND 2011, RESPECTIVELY, IS INCLUDED IN FINANCING AND INTEREST EXPENSE ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS. DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS WERE
amortized at the year ended June 30,2012 and June 30,2011.

Licenses
Amortization of licenses is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated economic useful lives of the assets.

AMORTIZATION OF LICENSES WAS $11,721 anDp $11,721 ForR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011, RESPECTIVELY. BASED ON THE LICENSES RECORDED AT JUNI
2012, AND ASSUMING NO SUBSEQUENT IMPAIRMENT OF THE UNDERLYING ASSETS, THE ANNUAL AMORTIZATION EXPENSE FOR EACH FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30 1S EXPECTEL
be as follows: $11,721 for 2013, $0 for all years thereafter.

Other Assets

OTHER ASSETS, WHICH INCLUDE DEFERRED CHARGES AND PATENTS, ARE STATED AT COST LESS ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION. AMORTIZATION OF PATENTS IS COMPUTED USI}
straight-line method over the estimated economic useful lives of the assets. The Company periodically reviews the carrying values of patents and other assets.
Impairments are recognized when the expected future operating cash flows to be derived from such assets are less than their carrying value.

AMORTIZATION OF OTHER ASSETS WAS $15,731 aND $15,129 FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011 RESPECTIVELY. BASED ON THE PATENTS AND OTHER INTAM
ASSETS RECORDED IN OTHER ASSETS AT JUNE 30, 2012, AND ASSUMING NO SUBSEQUENT IMPAIRMENT OF THE UNDERLYING ASSETS, THE ANNUAL AMORTIZATION EXPENSE FOR
fiscal year ending June 30 is expected to be as follows: $16,597 for each year 2013 through 2016, $14,109 for 2017 and $122,758 thereafter.

Asset Retirement Obligation

THE FAIR VALUE OF THE FUTURE RETIREMENT COSTS OF THE COMPANY'S LEASED ASSETS ARE RECORDED AS A LIABILITY ON A DISCOUNTED BASIS WHEN THEY ARE INCURREI
EQUIVALENT AMOUNT IS CAPITALIZED TO PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT. THE INITIAL RECORDED OBLIGATION IS DISCOUNTED USING THE COMPANY'S CREDIT-ADJUSTED RISK FREE-
AND IS REVIEWED PERIODICALLY FOR CHANGES IN THE ESTIMATED FUTURE COSTS UNDERLYING THE OBLIGATION. THE COMPANY AMORTIZES THE INITIAL AMOUNT CAPITALIZE
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RECOGNIZES ACCRETION EXPENSE IN CONNECTION WITH THE DISCOUNTED LIABILITY OVER THE ESTIMATED REMAINING USEFUL LIFE OF THE LE
assets.

IN SEPTEMBER 2007, AN ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION OF $473,096 WAS ESTABLISHED REPRESENTING THE DISCOUNTED COST OF THE COMPANY'S ESTIMATE OF THE OBLIGAT
TO REMOVE ANY RESIDUAL RADIOACTIVE MATERIALS AND ALL LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS AT THE END OF THE LEASE TERM AT ITS NEW PRODUCTION FACILITY. THE ESTIM
DEVELOPED BY QUALIFIED PRODUCTION PERSONNEL AND THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR OF THE NEW FACILITY. THE COMPANY HAS REVIEWED THE ESTIMATE AGAIN BASED (
experience with decommissioning its old facility and believes that the original estimate continues to be applicable.

During the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, the asset retirement obligations changed as follows:

2012 2011
Beginning balance $ 662,181 $ 605,391
Accretion of discount 62,117 56,790
Ending balance $ 724298 $ 662,181

BEcAUSE THE COMPANY DOES NOT EXPECT TO INCUR ANY EXPENSES RELATED TO ITS ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS IN FISCAL YEAR 2013, THE ENTIRE BALANCE AS OF JU
2012 is classified as a noncurrent liability.
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Financial Instruments

THE COMPANY DISCLOSES THE FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, BOTH ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, RECOGNIZED AND NOT RECOGNIZED IN THE BALANCE SHEET, FOR WHIC
PRACTICABLE TO ESTIMATE THE FAIR VALUE. THE FAIR VALUE OF A FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT IS THE AMOUNT AT WHICH THE INSTRUMENT COULD BE EXCHANGED IN A (
transaction between willing parties, other than a forced liquidation sale.

THE CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, INCLUDING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS, ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
notes payable, approximated their fair values at June 30,2012 and 2011.

Revenue Recognition

THE COMPANY APPLIES THE PROVISIONS OF ASC Toric 605, Revenue Recognition. ASC 605 PROVIDES GUIDANCE ON THE RECOGNITION, PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSUR
OF REVENUE IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. ASC 605 OUTLINES THE BASIC CRITERIA THAT MUST BE MET TO RECOGNIZE REVENUE AND PROVIDES GUIDANCE FOR THE DISCLOSI
REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICIES. THE COMPANY RECOGNIZES REVENUE RELATED TO PRODUCT SALES WHEN (1) PERSUASIVE EVIDENCE OF AN ARRANGEMENT EXISTS, (I1) SHIPME
has occurred, (iii) the fee is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.

REVENUE FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30,2012 AND 2011 WAS DERIVED PRIMARILY FROM SALES OF THE PROXCELAN Cs-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED, WHICH IS USED I
TREATMENT OF CANCER. THE COMPANY BEGAN SHIPPING ITS GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM IN THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 WHICH IS USED IN T
TREATMENT OF BRAIN CANCER. THE COMPANY RECOGNIZES REVENUE ONCE THE PRODUCT HAS BEEN SHIPPED TO THE CUSTOMER. PREPAYMENTS, IF ANY, RECEIVED FROM CUSTON
PRIOR TO THE TIME THAT PRODUCTS ARE SHIPPED ARE RECORDED AS DEFERRED REVENUE. IN THESE CASES, WHEN THE RELATED PRODUCTS ARE SHIPPED, THE AMOUNT RECO
DEFERRED REVENUE IS THEN RECOGNIZED AS REVENUE. THE COMPANY ACCRUES FOR SALES RETURNS AND OTHER ALLOWANCES AT THE TIME OF SHIPMENT. ALTHOUGH THE CoO
DOES NOT HAVE AN EXTENSIVE OPERATING HISTORY UPON WHICH TO DEVELOP SALES RETURNS ESTIMATES, WE HAVE USED THE EXPERTISE OF OUR MANAGEMENT TEAM, PARTICUI
those with extensive industry experience and knowledge, to develop a proper methodology.

Product Returns and Allowances

THE COMPANY AS PART OF NORMAL OPERATIONS ALLOWS FOR CUSTOMERS TO RECEIVE CREDIT FOR PATIENT PROCEDURES CANCELLED AFTER SHIPPING TO THE CUSTOMER FOR A
of criteria. These criteria include but are not limited to a physical symptom on the date of procedure that interferes with the patient's ability to go forward with
the procedure, discovery that a patient's condition is beyond treatment during surgery and other criteria as determined acceptable by management.

Stock-Based Compensation

TuE COMPANY MEASURES AND RECOGNIZES EXPENSE FOR ALL SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AT FAIR VALUE. THE COMPANY USES THE BLACK-SCHOLES OPTION VALUATION MODEL
ESTIMATE FAIR VALUE FOR ALL STOCK OPTIONS ON THE DATE OF GRANT. FOR STOCK OPTIONS THAT VEST OVER TIME, THE COMPANY RECOGNIZES COMPENSATION COST ON A ST
line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award.

Research and Development Costs

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS, INCLUDING SALARIES, RESEARCH MATERIALS, ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND CONTRACTOR FEES, ARE CHARGED TO OPERATIONS AS IN
THE COST OF EQUIPMENT USED IN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES WHICH HAS ALTERNATIVE USES IS CAPITALIZED AS PART OF FIXED ASSETS AND NOT TREATED
EXPENSE IN THE PERIOD ACQUIRED. DEPRECIATION OF CAPITALIZED EQUIPMENT USED TO PERFORM RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT IS CLASSIFIED AS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPME
expense in the year recognized.

Research and Development Reimbursement

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT REIMBURSEMENT RECORDED DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 IS A REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE GERMAN DISTRIBUTOR OF THE GLI
RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM IN SUPPORT OF THE PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT REIMBURSEMENT RECORDED DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 201
THE AMOUNT OF COST RECOVERABLE AS PART OF THE GRANTS RELATED TO THE QUALIFIED THERAPEUTIC DiSCOVERY PROJECT RECEIVED BY THE COMPANY IN OCTOBER 20
grants allowed for "Qualified Investments" to be recovered at 50% of the amounts expended up to the specified limits by tax year.
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Legal Contingencies

IN THE ORDINARY COURSE OF BUSINESS, THE COMPANY IS INVOLVED IN LEGAL PROCEEDINGS INVOLVING CONTRACTUAL AND EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIPS, PRODUCT LIABI
CLAIMS, PATENT RIGHTS, ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS, AND A VARIETY OF OTHER MATTERS. THE COMPANY IS ALSO SUBJECT TO VARIOUS LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL ENVIRO
REGULATIONS AND LAWS DUE TO THE ISOTOPES USED TO PRODUCE THE COMPANY'S PRODUCT. AS PART OF NORMAL OPERATIONS, AMOUNTS ARE EXPENDED TO ENSURE THA
COMPANY IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THESE LAWS AND REGULATIONS. WHILE THERE HAVE BEEN NO REPORTABLE INCIDENTS OR COMPLIANCE ISSUES, THE COMPANY BELIEVES THAT
IT RELOCATES ITS CURRENT PRODUCTION FACILITIES THEN CERTAIN DECOMMISSIONING EXPENSES WILL BE INCURRED AND HAS RECORDED AN ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION FO]
expenses.

THE COMPANY RECORDS CONTINGENT LIABILITIES RESULTING FROM ASSERTED AND UNASSERTED CLAIMS AGAINST IT, WHEN IT IS PROBABLE THAT A LIABILITY HAS BEEN INCURRI
THE AMOUNT OF THE LOSS IS REASONABLY ESTIMABLE. ESTIMATING PROBABLE LOSSES REQUIRES ANALYSIS OF MULTIPLE FACTORS, IN SOME CASES INCLUDING JUDGMENTS ABOU
POTENTIAL ACTIONS OF THIRD-PARTY CLAIMANTS AND COURTS. THEREFORE, ACTUAL LOSSES IN ANY FUTURE PERIOD ARE INHERENTLY UNCERTAIN. CURRENTLY, THE COMPANY
BELIEVE ANY PROBABLE LEGAL PROCEEDINGS OR CLAIMS WILL HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT ON ITS FINANCIAL POSITION OR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. HOWEVER, IF AC
ESTIMATED PROBABLE FUTURE LOSSES EXCEED THE COMPANY'S RECORDED LIABILITY FOR SUCH CLAIMS, IT WOULD RECORD ADDITIONAL CHARGES AS OTHER EXPENSE DURI
period in which the actual loss or change in estimate occurred.

Income Taxes

INCOME TAXES ARE ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER THE LIABILITY METHOD. UNDER THIS METHOD, THE COMPANY PROVIDES DEFERRED INCOME TAXES FOR TEMPORARY DIFFERENCE:
WILL RESULT IN TAXABLE OR DEDUCTIBLE AMOUNTS IN FUTURE YEARS BASED ON THE REPORTING OF CERTAIN COSTS IN DIFFERENT PERIODS FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND INC
PURPOSES. THIS METHOD ALSO REQUIRES THE RECOGNITION OF FUTURE TAX BENEFITS SUCH AS NET OPERATING LOSS CARRY-FORWARDS, TO THE EXTENT THAT REALIZATIO}
BENEFITS IS MORE LIKELY THAN NOT. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ARE MEASURED USING ENACTED TAX RATES EXPECTED TO APPLY TO TAXABLE INCOME IN THE Y
WHICH THOSE TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES ARE EXPECTED TO BE RECOVERED OR SETTLED. THE EFFECT ON DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF A CHANGE IN TAX
RECOGNIZED IN OPERATIONS IN THE PERIOD THAT INCLUDES THE ENACTMENT OF THE CHANGE. MANAGEMENT HAS DETERMINED THAT THE COMPANY, ITS SUBSIDIARY, ANI
PREDECESSORS ARE SUBJECT TO EXAMINATION OF THEIR INCOME TAX FILINGS IN THE UNITED STATES AND STATE JURISDICTIONS FOR THE 2010 THROUGH 2012 TAX YEARS.
EVENT THAT THE COMPANY IS ASSESSED PENALTIES AND OR INTEREST, PENALTIES WILL BE CHARGED TO OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE AND INTEREST WILL BE CHARGED TO I
expense.

Income (Loss) Per Common Share

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE IS CALCULATED BY DIVIDING NET INCOME (LOSS) AVAILABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS BY THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHA
OUTSTANDING, AND DOES NOT INCLUDE THE IMPACT OF ANY POTENTIALLY DILUTIVE COMMON STOCK EQUIVALENTS, INCLUDING PREFERRED STOCK, COMMON STOCK WARRAN
options that are potentially convertible into common stock as those would be anti-dilutive due to the Company's net loss position.

Securities that could be dilutive in the future as of June 30,2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012 2011
Preferred stock 59,065 59,065
Common stock warrants 1,959,799 3,819,185
Common stock options 2,381,306 2,423,806
Total potential dilutive securities 4,400,170 6,302,056
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Subsequent Events

ErrecTIVE APRIL 1, 2009, THE ComPaNY ADOPTED ASC 855 Subsequent Events. THIS STATEMENT ESTABLISHES THE ACCOUNTING FOR, AND DISCLOSURE OF, MATERIAL EVI
THAT OCCUR AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE, BUT BEFORE THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE ISSUED. IN GENERAL, THESE EVENTS WILL BE RECOGNIZED IF THE CONDITION EXIS]
DATE OF THE BALANCE SHEET, AND WILL NOT BE RECOGNIZED IF THE CONDITION DID NOT EXIST AT THE BALANCE SHEET DATE. DISCLOSURE IS REQUIRED FOR NON-RECOGNIZED
IF REQUIRED TO KEEP THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FROM BEING MISLEADING. THE GUIDANCE IN THIS STATEMENT IS VERY SIMILAR TO CURRENT GUIDANCE PROVIDED IN ACCOUN'
LITERATURE AND, THEREFORE, WILL NOT RESULT IN SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN PRACTICE. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS HAVE BEEN EVALUATED THROUGH THE DATE OUR FINANCIAL ST
were issued—the filing time and date of our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Use of Estimates

THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA REQUIRES MANAGEME
THE COMPANY TO MAKE ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS THAT AFFECT THE AMOUNTS REPORTED IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ACCOMPANYING NOTES. ACCORDINGLY, AC
results could differ from those estimates and affect the amounts reported in the financial statements.

Results of Operations

Financial Presentation

THE FOLLOWING SETS FORTH A DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE COMPANY'S FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE TWO YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 201
2011. THIS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH OUR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS APPEARING ELSEWHERE IN THIS ANNUAL REPOR
ForM 10-K. THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION CONTAINS FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. OUR ACTUAL RESULTS MAY DIFFER SIGNIFICANTLY FROM THE RESULTS DISCUSSED It
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. FACTORS THAT COULD CAUSE OR CONTRIBUTE TO SUCH DIFFERENCES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, THOSE DISCUSSED IN "ITEM 1A -
Factors," beginning on page 27 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year ended June 30,2012 compared to year ended June 30,2011

Product sales. THE COMPANY GENERATED REVENUE OF $5,071,088 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 COMPARED TO REVENUE OF $5,238,973 FOR THE Y
ended June 30,2011, a decrease of $167,885 or 3.20%.

WHILE TOTAL REVENUE DECREASED 3.20% OR APPROXIMATELY $168,000 IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011,
COMPANY EXPERIENCED GROWTH OF APPROXIMATELY 36% OR APPROXIMATELY $150,000 IN THE THE USE OF BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS IN THE TREATMENT OF N
PROSTATE CANCERS.. THESE NON-PROSTATE TREATMENTS USING BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS INCLUDE LUNG, COLORECTAL, HEAD AND NECK, CHEST WALL, VAGINAL C
BRAIN WHICH INCREASED FROM 8% OF TOTAL REVENUE DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 1o 11% OF TOTAL REVENUE DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,
THE COMPANY BEGAN SELLING ITS GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 WHICH CONTRIBUTED APPROXIMATELY $163,000
NEW REVENUE. THIS NEW REVENUE REPRESENTS APPROXIMATELY 3% OF THE TOTAL REVENUE FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012. THE COMPANY CONTI!
to experience a reduction in revenue contributed by prostate treatments using brachytherapy seeds of approximately $480,000 or 10%.

THE COMPANY EXPERIENCED A DECREASE OF 5.02% IN THE TOTAL NUMBER OF SEED BRACHYTHERAPY CASES FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,2012 AS COMPARED TC
year ended June 30,2011. Seed brachytherapy cases treating non-prostate cancers increased by 37.18% in the year ended June 30,2012 compared to
JUNE 30, 2011 WHILE SEED BRACHYTHERAPY CASES TREATING PROSTATE CANCER DECREASED BY 8.46% IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 COMPARED TO JUNE
2011.

THERE WERE EIGHT CASES TREATED WITH THE GLIASITE RTS PRODUCT LINE IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND NONE IN THE PRIOR YEAR AS THE PRODU!
introduced in the year ended June 30,2012.

MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THE OVERALL MARKET FOR PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY HAS RECEIVED INCREASED PRESSURE FROM OTHER TREATMENT OPTIONS WIT

REIMBURSEMENT RATES SUCH AS INTENSITY-MODULATED RADIATION THERAPY (IMRT) AS REVENUE GENERATED FROM TREATING THIS MODALITY DECREASED FROM 9
total revenue in the fiscal year ended June 30,2011 to 86% of total revenue in the fiscal year ended June 30,2012.
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MANAGEMENT HAS CONTINUED ITS FOCUS ON THE NEW TREATMENT MODALITIES AS THEY ARE EXPECTED TO BECOME A LARGER PORTION OF THE TOTAL REVENUE
FUTURE. REVENUES FROM TREATING THESE NEW MODALITIES GREW FROM 8% OF TOTAL REVENUE IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 10 11% OF REVENUE IN Tk
ended June 30,2012.

Cost of product sales. THE TOTAL COST OF PRODUCT SALES FOR BOTH SEED PRODUCTION AND GLIASITE RTS probUCTION WAS $4,367,884 FOR THE YEAR ENDEL
30,2012.

COST OF PRODUCT SALES RELATED TO SEED PRODUCTION WAS $4,234,542 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 COMPARED TO COST OF PRODUCT SALES RELATED
PRODUCTION OF $4,081,556 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011. IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012, THE COMPANY INCURRED $133,342 OF COST OF PROL
SALES RELATED TO THE PRODUCTION OF THE GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM. THIS WAS THE INITIAL FISCAL YEAR OF PRODUCING AND SELLING THE C
Radiation Therapy System.

THE COMPANY EXPERIENCED AN INCREASE IN THE COST OF PRODUCT SALES OF $286,328 OR 7% FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AS COMPARED TO THE °
ended June 30,2011. The fiscal year over fiscal year cost increase of $286,328 was impacted primarily by the reduction in research and development
PROJECTS UNDERTAKEN BY MANAGEMENT AND THE ADDITION OF PRODUCTION COSTS RELATED TO THE GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM IN THE YEAR ENDET
30, 2012 WHEN COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011. IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011, THESE RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS UTIL
PERSONNEL AND MATERIALS OF THE COMPANY WHOSE RELATED COST WERE TRANSFERRED TO THE RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT OPERATING EXPENSE. THES
reductions did not continue in fiscal 2012 as the research and development projects were substantially complete at June 30,2011.

THESE COST INCREASES IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 INCLUDED THE ADDITION OF $133,342 IN PRODUCTION COSTS RELATED TO THE GLIASITE RADI
THERAPY SYSTEM AND THE ADDITION OF SEED PRODUCTION COSTS OF $152,986. THE INCREASE IN SEED PRODUCTION COSTS OF $152,986 WAS CREATED BY
INCREASE OF APPROXIMATELY $27,000 IN THIRD PARTY PRE-LOADING EXPENSE; AN INCREASE IN PAYROLL AND BENEFITS EXPENSE OF APPROXIMATELY $91,000 as T
RESULT OF DECREASED USE OF PRODUCTION STAFF ON RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS; AN INCREASE IN OTHER PRODUCTION EXPENSES OF APPROXIMATELY $3
AS THE RESULT OF PROPERTY TAX, CALIBRATION EXPENSE AND TRAINING EXPENSE; AND AN INCREASE IN INTERNAL PRE-LOADING EXPENSE OF APPROXIMATELY $36
THAT RESULTED FROM THE INCREASED USE OF LABOR, BENEFITS AND MATERIAL AS THE RESULT OF THE INCREASED USE OF THE COMPANY IN-HOUSE LOADING SER'
customers that previously selected the third-party loading expense.

Gross margin. GrRoss MARGIN waS $703,204 For THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 COMPARED TO A GROSS MARGIN OF $1,157,417 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE
2011. THE DECREASE OF $454,213 or 39% WAS PRIMARILY DUE TO THE DECREASED UTILIZATION OF PRODUCTION PERSONNEL ON THE RESEARCH AND DEVELOP
PROJECTS DESCRIBED ABOVE, THE ADDITION OF PRODUCTION COSTS RELATED TO THE GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM AND THE REDUCTION IN PRODUCT SALES
year ended June 30,2012.

Research and development expenses. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 were $780,579 WHICH REPRESENT
decrease of $200,607 or approximately 20% less than the research and development expenses of $981,186 for the year ended June 30,2011.

THE COST DECREASE OF APPROXIMATELY $201,000 IN THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 WAS PRIMARILY DUE TO A DECREASE IN OTHER ORGAN RESEARCH EXI
OF APPROXIMATELY $381,000 AND AN INCREASE IN PROTOCOL EXPENSE OF $170,000 As THE COMPANY UNDERTOOK SOME NEW PROTOCOLS AND THE PRIOR YI
contained non-recurring reversals of accrued protocol expense.

Research and development reimbursement. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT REIMBURSEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 was $50,000 As THE REs
OF A REIMBURSEMENT OF DEVELOPMENTAL EXPENSES FROM THE DISTRIBUTOR OF THE GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM RECEIVED FROM THE GERMAN B.
DISTRIBUTOR COMPARED TO THE $515,853 RECEIVED FROM GRANTS DURING OCTOBER 2010 As PART OF THE QUALIFIED THERAPEUTIC DISCOVERY PROJECT ADMINIS
BY THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE UNDER THE PATIENT PROTECTION AND AFFORDABLE CARE AcT (PuBLic Law 111-148) THAT WAS RECORDED IN THE YEA!
June 30,2011.
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Sales and marketing expenses. SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES WERE $1,215,580 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 COMPARED TO SALES AND MARKET
expenses of $1,232,188 for the year ended June 30,2011, which represents a decrease of $16,608 or 1%.

THE DECREASE OF APPROXIMATELY $17,000 IS PRIMARILY THE NET RESULT OF A REDUCTION OF $32,000 IN MARKETING AND ADVERTISING EXPENSES WHICH RESU
FROM THE REVERSAL OF A $20,000 ACCRUED EXPENSE THAT MANAGEMENT DEEMED TO NO LONGER BE REQUIRED, A REDUCTION IN TRADE PUBLICATION ACTIV
APPROXIMATELY $12,000, AN INCREASE IN TRAVEL EXPENSE OF APPROXIMATELY $64,000 AS LODGING, MEALS, AUTO RENTALS AND MISCELLANEOUS EXPEN
increased as the result of increased headcounts; and a decrease in other expenses of $49,000.

General and administrative expenses. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,2012 were $2,355,015 COMPARED TO GENE
and administrative expenses of $2,422,884 for the year ended June 30,2011.

THE DECREASE OF APPROXIMATELY $68,000 IS PRIMARILY THE NET RESULT OF DECREASED BAD DEBT EXPENSE OF $22,000 AS THE RESULT OF IMPROVED BAD I
COLLECTION; DECREASED LEGAL EXPENSE OF $25,000 AS THE RESULT OF THE NON-RECURRING COST OF A FINANCING; INCREASED WAGES, BENEFITS, AND RELATED *
$116,000 AS THE RESULT OF A DECREASED USE OF STAFF, A RETURN TO A NORMAL HEADCOUNT IN CERTAIN DEPARTMENTS AND INCREASED INSURANCE COSTS; DI
SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PRIMARILY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE VALUATION OF THE OPTIONS GRANTED AND IMMEDIATELY VESTED TO THE CEQ OF APPROXIMA
$90,000, AND A DECREASE IN OTHER EXPENSE OF APPROXIMATELY $46,000 THAT IS PARTIALLY THE WITHDRAWAL OF A BUSINESS AND OCCUPATION TAX CREDIT FR
prior year.

Operating loss. IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012, THE COMPANY HAD AN OPERATING LOSS OF $3,597,970 compaRED TO $2,962,988 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JU
30, 2011, AN INCREASE OF $634,982 or 21%. THE COMPANY'S OPERATING LOSS INCREASE OF $635,000 WAS THE RESULT OF A DECREASE IN PRODUCT SALI
$168,000; INCREASE IN THE COST OF PRODUCT SALES OF $286,000; DECREASE IN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSE OF $201,000; DECREASE IN RESEARCH
DEVELOPMENT EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT OF $466,000; DECREASE IN SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSE OF $17,000; AND DECREASE IN GENERAL AND ADMINISTRAT
0f'$68,000.

Interest income. Interest income was $747 for the year ended June 30,2012 compared to interest income of $3,381 for the year ended June 30,2011.
THE DECREASE OF $2,634 orR 78% IS THE RESULT OF LOWER AVERAGE CASH BALANCES DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 IN COMBINATION WITH DECR
interest rates.

Change in fair value of warrant liability. THERE WAS A GAIN ON THE WARRANT LIABILITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,2012 IN THE AMOUNT OF $170,0(
COMPARED TO $334,000 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011. THE GAIN oF $170,000 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 WAS THE RESULT OF THE RECORDI
WARRANT LIABILITIES RELATED TO WARRANTS ISSUED IN COMBINATION WITH A STOCK ISSUANCE THAT OCCURRED IN OCTOBER AND DECEMBER 2011 COMPARED *
WARRANTS ISSUED IN COMBINATION WITH THE STOCK ISSUANCE THAT OCCURRED IN OCTOBER 2010. THIS GAIN REPRESENTS THE NET FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS *
WARRANT LIABILITY DURING THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AnD JUNE 30, 2011. THE WARRANT LIABILITY FOR THE WARRANTS ISSUED IN OcTOBER 2010 w.
extinguished during the year ended June 30,2011.

Financing and interest expense. FINANCING AND INTEREST EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 was $61,682 compareD 10 $216,606 FOR THE Y
ended June 30,2011, a decrease of $154,924 or 72%.

FINANCING EXPENSE INCLUDED INTEREST EXPENSE OF APPROXIMATELY $171 AND $9,388 FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011, RESPECTIVELY.
decrease 0f $9,217. The decrease is due to the decreased debt balances in the year ended June 30,2012.

THE REMAINING BALANCE OF FINANCING EXPENSE REPRESENTS THE AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED DEBT FINANCING COSTS OF APPROXIMATELY $0 AND $13,300 FOR

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011, RESPECTIVELY, AND THE AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED EQUITY FINANCING COSTS OF APPROXIMATELY $61,500 anD $193,
for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Liquidity and capital resources. THE COMPANY HAS HISTORICALLY FINANCED ITS OPERATIONS THROUGH THE SALE OF COMMON STOCK AND THE ISSUANCE OF REL.
COMMON STOCK WARRANTS. DURING FISCAL YEAR 2012, THE COMPANY USED EXISTING CASH RESERVES AND CASH RECEIVED THROUGH SALES OF COMMON STOCK TO FUN
operations and capital expenditures.

Cash flows from operating activities

CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES WAS APPROXIMATELY $2.45 MILLION IN FISCAL YEAR 2012 COMPARED TO APPROXIMATELY $2.42 MILLION IN FISCAL YEAR 2011, .
INCREASE OF APPROXIMATELY $29,000 orR 1.2%. CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES IS NET LOSS ADJUSTED FOR NON-CASH ITEMS AND CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS
liabilities.

THE INCREASE OF NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES OF $29,000 1S ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE INCREASE IN THE COMPANY'S NET LOSS OF $647,000 WITH AN INCREASE IN
CASH CHARGES OF $131,000 IN FISCAL YEAR 2012 COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR 2011 AND A REDUCTION OF $749,000 IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN THE FISCA
2012 compared to the fiscal year2011.

Cash flows from investing activities

CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES WAS APPROXIMATELY $96,000 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES WAS APPROXIMATEL
$160,000 ForR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011. CASH EXPENDITURES FOR FIXED ASSETS WERE APPROXIMATELY $55,000 IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012
APPROXIMATELY $137,000 IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 201 1. CASH EXPENDITURES FOR LICENSES AND OTHER ASSETS WERE APPROXIMATELY $40,000 IN THE YEAR ENDED |
30,2012 and were approximately $20,000 in the year ended June 30,2011.

Cash flows from financing activities

CASH PROVIDED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES WAS APPROXIMATELY $3.1 MILLION FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES W.
APPROXIMATELY $3.0 MILLION FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011. CASH PROVIDED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES WAS PROVIDED PRIMARILY THROUGH SALES OF COMMON STO
REDUCED BY THE PAYMENT OF DEBT AND PREFERRED DIVIDENDS IN THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011. CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVI
WAS USED MAINLY FOR PAYMENTS OF DEBT, PREFERRED DIVIDENDS AND THE CASH PAYMENT OF STOCK OFFERING COSTS DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND THE
ended June 30,2011.

Projected 2013 Liquidity and Capital Resources
At June 30,2012, cash and cash equivalents amounted to $2,672,711 compared to $2,112,254 of cash and cash equivalents at June 30,2011.

TuE COMPANY HAD APPROXIMATELY $5.34 MILLION OF CASH ON HAND AS OF SEPTEMBER 12, 2012. THE INCREASE FROM JUNE 30, 2012 WAS THE RESULT OF THE SALE
COMMON STOCK IN JULY 2012. AS OF THAT DATE, MANAGEMENT BELIEVED THAT THE COMPANY'S MONTHLY REQUIRED CASH OPERATING EXPENDITURES WERE APPROXIMATE
$200,000 WHICH REMAINS MATERIALLY UNCHANGED FROM AVERAGE MONTHLY CASH OPERATING EXPENDITURES IN FISCAL YEAR 2011. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT LESS
$300,000 WILL BE SPENT ON CAPITAL EXPENDITURES FOR THE ENTIRE FISCAL YEAR 2013, BUT THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT UNANTICIPATED NEEDS FOR CAPITAL EQUIPMEN
not arise.

DURING FISCAL YEAR 2013, THE COMPANY INTENDS TO CONTINUE ITS EXISTING PROTOCOL STUDIES AND BEGIN NEW PROTOCOL STUDIES FOR SEVERAL OF ITS NON-PR(
APPLICATIONS. THE COMPANY HAS BUDGETED APPROXIMATELY $150,000 IN FISCAL YEAR 2013 FOR PROTOCOL EXPENSES RELATING TO LUNG CANCER AS WELL AS CONTIl
WORK ON THE DUAL THERAPY PROSTATE PROTOCOLS. THESE EXPENDITURES MAY INCLUDE MAINTENANCE COSTS FOR THE ONLINE DATA COLLECTION SYSTEM DEVELOPED DURI
fiscal years 2011 and 2012.

BASED ON THE FOREGOING ASSUMPTIONS, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ON HAND AT JUNE 30, 2012 SHOULD BE SUFFICIENT TO MEET OUR ANTICIPA
cash requirements for operations and capital expenditure requirements through at least the next twelve months.
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MANAGEMENT PLANS TO ATTAIN BREAKEVEN AND GENERATE ADDITIONAL CASH FLOWS BY INCREASING REVENUES FROM THE COMPANY'S EXISTING TREATMENT APPLICATIONS (
Cs-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED TO BOTH NEW AND EXISTING CUSTOMERS (THROUGH OUR DIRECT SALES CHANNELS AND THROUGH OUR DISTRIBUTORS), WHILE EXPANDING IN’
market applications for Cs-131 and continuing to maintain the Company's focus on cost control.

ADDITIONALLY, MANAGEMENT PLANS TO INCREASE REVENUE THROUGH EXPANDING THE SALE OF THE FDA cLEARED AND ISO 13845:2003 cerTIFIED GLIASITE® RAD
THERAPY SYSTEM TO CURRENT CUSTOMERS, ADDING NEW CUSTOMERS THROUGH THE COMPANY’S DIRECT SALES FORCE, THROUGH THE EXISTING DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT
COVERS GERMANY, AUSTRIA, SWITZERLAND, ITALY AND LUXEMBOURG AND THE ADDITION OF OTHER DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS TO EUROPEAN UNION COUNTRIES COVERED BY T
CERTIFICATIONS. THIS PRODUCT WILL BE UTILIZED IN THE TREATMENT OF GLIOBLASTOMA MULTIFORME WHICH IS THE MOST COMMON AND AGGRESSIVE PRIMARY BRAIN CANCE
humans.

MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THE COMPANY WILL REACH BREAKEVEN WITH REVENUES OF APPROXIMATELY $750,000 PER MONTH WITH CASHFLOW BREAKEVEN FROM OPERATI
BEING REACHED AT APPROXIMATELY $700,000. HOWEVER, THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT THE COMPANY WILL ATTAIN PROFITABILITY OR THAT THE COMPANY WILL BE Al
ATTAIN ITS REVENUE TARGETS. SALES IN THE PROSTATE MARKET HAVE CONTINUED TO SHRINK, WHICH HAS NOT ALLOWED BREAKEVEN TO BE REACHED DURING THE PAST TV
years and these sales continued to decline during the year ended June 30,2012.

AS MANAGEMENT HAS FOCUSED ON EXPANDING INTO HEAD AND NECK, COLORECTAL, LUNG AND BRAIN APPLICATIONS AND EXPERIENCED GROWTH IN SALES FOR NON-PROSTATE
APPLICATIONS IN EXCESS OF 36% COMPARING FISCAL YEAR 2012 TO FISCAL YEAR 2011, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THE COMPANY MAY NEED TO CONTINUE TO RAISE ADDITIO}
capital after fiscal year 2013 is complete to meet NYSE MKT listing standards as this entry into new markets may take longer to generate revenues.

IN FISCAL YEAR 2011, MANAGEMENT SOLD COMMON STOCK PURSUANT TO BOTH AN "AT THE MARKET" OFFERING AND THROUGH A DIRECT REGISTERED OFFERING AS DESCRIBED
MANAGEMENT SOLD ADDITIONAL COMMON STOCK THROUGH AN UNDERWRITTEN OFFERING IN FISCAL 2012 AND A DIRECT OFFERING IN JULY 2012 UNDER ITS ForM S-Z
offering registration statement.

ON APRIL 22, 2010 WE ENTERED INTO A SALES AGREEMENT (THE "AGREEMENT") wWiTH C.K. CoorEr & Company, INc. ("CKCC"), WHICH WAS AMENDED ON JULy 2
2010. ON OctoBER 1,2010 THE ComPANY INSTRUCTED CKCC TO COMMENCE SALES VIA PLACEMENT NOTICE PERMITTING "AT THE MARKET" SALES OF COMMON STOCK THRO
OcTtoBER 31, 2010. CKCC soLb 304,227 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY RECEIVING $250,632 IN EQUITY NET OF OFFERING COSTS OF $118,]
($7,301 in commissions, $110,276 in legal and accounting expenses, and $571 in other costs). The offering of shares pursuant to the Agreement, as amended,
terminated on December 31,2010.

THESE SHARES WERE ISSUED PURSUANT TO THE COMPANY'S SHELF REGISTRATION STATEMENT (THE "REGISTRATION STATEMENT") ON Forwm S-3 (FiLE No. 333-162694), v
became effective on November 13, 2009, and a prospectus supplement filed on April 23,2010.

THERE WAS NO MATERIAL CHANGE IN THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM OUR PUBLIC OFFERING AS DESCRIBED IN OUR FINAL PROSPECTUS FILED WITH THE SEC PURSUANT TO RULE 42
All proceeds from this offering had been used as of June 30,2011.

ON NOVEMBER 22,2010, A SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT WAS EXECUTED BETWEEN AN INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR AND THE COMPANY FOR 2,250,000 SHARES OF COM
STOCK WITH AURORA CAPITAL ACTING AS THE PLACEMENT AGENT FOR THE TRANSACTION. AS PART OF THE TRANSACTION, THE INVESTOR RECEIVED FOUR SERIES OF
(COLLECTIVELY, THE "WARRANTS"). THE SERIES A AND SERIES C WARRANTS WERE AMENDED AND RESTATED VIA AN AMENDMENT AGREEMENT DATED DECEMBER 27, 201(
the Series C Warrants were further amended and restated via an Amendment Agreement dated March 31,2011.

THE SHARES AND WARRANTS WERE ISSUED PURSUANT TO THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT, AND PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENTS FILED ON NOVEMBER 24, 2010 AND ON DECEMBE
2010.

BY LETTER AGREEMENT DATED OCTOBER 27,2010, LIFETECH CAPITAL, A DIVISION OF AURORA CAPITAL, LLC, ACTED AS PLACEMENT AGENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE PLAC
OF THE SECURITIES IN THE NOVEMBER 2010 OFFERING. LIFETECH RECEIVED A CASH FEE OF 5% OF THE GROSS PROCEEDS RECEIVED UNDER THE OFFERING (EXCLUDING PROC
RECEIVED ON THE EXERCISE OF C OR D WARRANTS), AND ALSO RECEIVED WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 3% OF THE COMMON STOCK SOLD IN THE OFFERING AND 3% OF THE SER
AND C WARRANTS EXERCISED AT ANY TIME, WHICH WARRANTS ISSUED TO LIFETECH WERE NOT EXERCISABLE FOR SIX MONTHS FOLLOWING THE CLOSING, HAVE A FIVE YEAR TE
an exercise price of $1.56 per share.
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THE NoVEMBER 2010 OFFERING YIELDED NET CASH OF $2,026,255 WHICH WAS NET OF OFFERING cOSTs oF $223,745 ($112,500 oF commissioN EXPENSE, $108,927 ¢
LEGAL AND ACCOUNTING EXPENSE AND $2,318 OF OTHER COSTS). WARRANT LIABILITIES IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,724,000 WERE ESTABLISHED RELATED TO SERIES A, B,
Warrants. Deferred financing costs of $193,051 were established related to the warrant liabilities for Series A, B, and C Warrants.

The Series A Warrants were exercised on March 24,2011 for 538,660 shares of common stock in exchange for $475,000 net of commission expense.

THE COMPANY RECORDED FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO THE SERIES A WARRANTS LIABILITY THROUGH THE EXERCISE OF THESE WARRANTS ON MARcCH 24, 2011. The Cc
EXPENSED THE UNAMORTIZED DEFERRED FINANCING COST OF $16,044 AS FINANCING EXPENSE IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS. THE SERIES A WARR.
LIABILITY WAS RECLASSIFIED TO EQUITY AT THE FAIR VALUE REPORTED ON MARcH 24, 2011 oF $119,000 DURING THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARcH 31,2011 AS THE *
holder exercised the warrants during this period.

The Series B Warrants expired without being exercised and the fair value of the warrant liability for Series B was reclassified to equity was $152,000.

THE SERIES C WARRANT LIABILITY WAS RECHARACTERIZED FROM A WARRANT LIABILITY TO EQUITY AT THE FAIR VALUE REPORTED USING THE BLACK-SCHOLES OPTION '
MobpEL ON MARcH 31, 2011 AS THE WARRANT HOLDER AND THE COMPANY AMENDED THE AGREEMENT ON THAT DATE TO ALLOW FOR THE EQUITY TREATMENT OF THE
WARRANT. THE FAIR VALUE OF THE WARRANT LIABILITY FOR SERIES C THAT WAS RECLASSIFIED TO EQUITY WAS $1,119,000. Tue COMPANY EXPENSED THE UNAMORTIZED D
FINANCING COST OF $142,809 AS FINANCING EXPENSE IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS. ALL BUT 100 SERIES C WARRANTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OF COD
stock have now been exercised. Series D Warrants to exercise 1,140,432 shares at $1.56 per share remain outstanding as well.

ON OcTtoBER 13, 2011, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO AN UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT WITH WESTPARK CAPITAL, INC. AS MANAGING UNDERWRITER FOR A BEST EFFORT
NOTHING UNDERWRITTEN REGISTERED OFFERING OF 2,500,000 SHARES OF THE COMPANY’S COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE $0.001 PER SHARE, AT AN OFFERING PRICE TO THE PUB
$0.92 PER SHARE. WITH EVERY FIVE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK PURCHASED, THE PURCHASER RECEIVED A WARRANT TO PURCHASE ONE SHARE OF COMMON STOCK WITH AN EX
PRICE OF $1.058 WITH A FIVE YEAR TERM FOR A TOTAL OF 500,003 WARRANTS ISSUED IN THE INITIAL TRANSACTION. UNDER THE TERMS OF THE UNDERWRITING AGREEN
COMPANY ALSO GRANTED THE UNDERWRITERS A 45 DAY OPTION TO SELL UP TO AN ADDITIONAL 1,027,173 sHARES OF COMMON STOCK (WITH WARRANTS TO PURCHASE Ul
ADDITIONAL 205,435 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK) TO COVER OVER-ALLOTMENTS, IF ANY, AT THE OFFERING PRICE. THERE WERE 317,988 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK SOLD FR
OVER-ALLOTMENT AND 63,598 WARRANTS ISSUED AS PART OF THE SALE OF THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SHARES. NONE OF THE WARRANTS FROM EITHER THE INITIAL SALE C
COMMON STOCK OR FROM THOSE SOLD AS PART OF THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SALE OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK HAVE BEEN EXERCISED. THE GROSS PROCEEDS TO THE COMPANY
THE SALE OF THE INITIAL 2.5 MILLION SHARES OF COMMON STOCK WERE $2,300,000 AND THERE WERE NET PROCEEDS TO THE CoMPaNY OF $2,013,363. GROSS PROCEEDS
THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SALE OF 317,988 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK WERE $292,549 AND NET PROCEEDS WERE $261,123. THESE SHARES AND WARRANTS WERE ISSUED PU
to the Registration Statement and a prospectus supplement filed on October 13,2011.

THERE WAS NO MATERIAL CHANGE IN THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM OUR PUBLIC OFFERINGS AS DESCRIBED IN OUR FINAL PROSPECTUSES FOR THESE OFFERINGS FILED WITH THE
PURSUANT TO RULE 424 (B). THROUGH JUNE 30, 2012 WE HAD BEGUN TO USE THE NET PROCEEDS FROM OUR PUBLIC OFFERINGS AS DESCRIBED IN OUR FINAL PROSPECTUSE:
THESE OFFERINGS FILED WITH THE SEC PURSUANT TO RULE 424 (B) AND AS FURTHER DESCRIBED IN THE TABLE BELOW, AND INVESTED THE REMAINING NET PROCEEDS IN CA(
cash equivalents.

NO OFFERING EXPENSES IN EITHER OFFERING WERE PAID DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO ANY OF OUR DIRECTORS OR OFFICERS (OR THEIR ASSOCIATES) OR PERSONS OWNING TEN PEF
more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliates.
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The net cash received from the public offerings is:

Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to registered public offering, net $ 2,219,306
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to at the market offering, net 250,632
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to exercise of Series A warrants, net 475,000
Proceed from sales of common stock, pursuant to registered public offering, net 2,274,486
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to exercise of Series C warrants, net 834,797
Total proceeds from public offerings through June 30,2012 $ 6,054,221

Proceeds used in the year ended June 30,2012:

Purchase and installation of machinery and equipment $ 55,057
Indirect payments to directors and officers for database development 31,350
Direct payments of salaries to directors and officers 708,864
Working capital 1,754,094
Total proceeds used in the year ended June 30,2012 $ 2,549,365

ON JuLy 16,2012, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO A SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH LADENBERG THALMANN & Co., INC. AS PLACEMENT AGENT FOR THE SALE O}
MILLION OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK AT A PER SHARE PRICE OF $0.965. ON Jury 19,2012, THE COMPANY RECEIVED NET PROCEEDS OF $3.296 MILLION AFTER OFFERING C
0f'$204,000. These shares were issued pursuant to the Registration Statement and a prospectus supplement filed on July 17,2012.

NO OFFERING EXPENSES IN EITHER OFFERING WERE PAID DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO ANY OF OUR DIRECTORS OR OFFICERS (OR THEIR ASSOCIATES) OR PERSONS OWNING TEN PEF
more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliates.

MANAGEMENT DOES NOT ANTICIPATE NEEDING TO RAISE FINANCING DURING FISCAL 2013. IF FINANCING IS OBTAINED IT MAY BE DILUTIVE TO SHAREHOLDERS. OF COURSE, FUN
MAY NOT BE AVAILABLE TO US ON ACCEPTABLE TERMS, OR AT ALL. IF THE COMPANY IS UNABLE TO RAISE ADDITIONAL FUNDS, IT WILL HAVE TO DISCONTINUE OR SIGNIFICANTLY
operations.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

IN May 2010, MEDICAL EXERCISED THE FIRST OF TWO OPTIONS TO RENEW THE ORIGINAL LEASE THAT WAS ENTERED INTO ON MAY 2, 2007 wiTH ENERGY NORTHWEST, THE C
THE APPLIED PROCESS ENGINEERING LABORATORY (THE APEL LEASE), FOR AN ADDITIONAL 3 YEARS WITH A NEW LEASE EXPIRATION DATE OF APRIL 30, 2013. DUE TO A RED'

in some lab and office space at APEL, the rent has been reduced to approximately $23,100 per month.

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases, including the one remaining three-year renewal of the APEL lease, are as follows:

Year ending June 30,
2013 286,212
2014 286,212
2015 286,212
2016 238,510

$ 1,097,146

THE COMPANY IS SUBJECT TO VARIOUS LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS AND LAWS DUE TO THE ISOTOPES USED TO PRODUCE THE COMPANY'S PROL
AS PART OF NORMAL OPERATIONS, AMOUNTS ARE EXPENDED TO ENSURE THAT THE COMPANY IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THESE LAWS AND REGULATIONS. WHILE THERE HAVE BEE
REPORTABLE INCIDENTS OR COMPLIANCE ISSUES, THE COMPANY BELIEVES THAT IF IT RELOCATES ITS CURRENT PRODUCTION FACILITIES THEN CERTAIN DECOMMISSIONING EXPEN
WILL BE INCURRED. AN ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION WAS ESTABLISHED IN THE FIRST QUARTER OF FISCAL YEAR 2008 FOR THE COMPANY'S OBLIGATIONS AT ITS NEW PROL
facility. This asset retirement obligation will be for obligations to remove any residual radioactive materials and to remove all leasehold improvements.
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THE INDUSTRY THAT THE COMPANY OPERATES IN IS SUBJECT TO PRODUCT LIABILITY LITIGATION. THROUGH ITS PRODUCTION AND QUALITY ASSURANCE PROCEDURES, THE CON
works to mitigate the risk of any lawsuits concerning its products. The Company also carries product liability insurance to help protect it from this risk.

THE COMPANY RECEIVED A QUALIFY THERAPEUTIC DiscovERY PrOJECT (QTDP) GRANT IN LIEU OF A QTDP cREDIT FOR THE COMPANY TAX YEARS 2010 AND 201 1. THE ¢
oF THE COMPANY ASSOCIATED WITH THESE GRANTS ARE SUBJECT TO EXAMINATION AS ARE THE TAX RETURNS OF THE COMPANY. WHILE THERE IS NO INDICATION THAT THE I
REVENUE SERVICE INTENDS TO EXAMINE THESE RETURNS OR THE COSTS UTILIZED AS THE UNDERLYING BASIS FOR THE RECEIPT OF THE GRANT FUNDS, THESE GRANT FUNDS AR
to recapture if the associated costs are determined by the Service to not meet the definition of a "Qualified Investment" during an examination.

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Inflation

MANAGEMENT DOES NOT BELIEVE THAT THE CURRENT LEVELS OF INFLATION IN THE UNITED STATES HAVE HAD A SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE OPERATIONS OF THE COMPA
current levels of inflation hold steady, management does not believe future operations will be negatively impacted.

New Accounting Standards

ErrecTIVE JuLy 2011, THE ComPANY ADOPTED ASU 2011-02 "RecEIVABLES (Topic 310): A CREDITOR’S DETERMINATION OF WHETHER A RESTRUCTURING Is A TROUE
DEBT RESTRUCTURING". THIS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATE CLARIFIES PRESENTATION REQUIREMENTS FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS PART OF THE SEC Form 10-Q wHict
NOT IMPACTED FILINGS TO DATE, HOWEVER, THIS CLARIFICATION UPDATE MAY IMPACT FUTURE FILINGS. THE COMPANY'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND AMOUNTS PRESENTED IN T
financial statements were not impacted by this change.

ErreCTIVE JANUARY 2012, THE ComPANY ADOPTED ASU 2011-03 "TRANSFERS AND SERVICING (Topic 860): RECONSIDERATION OF EFFECTIVE CONTROL FOR REPURC
AGREEMENTS". THIS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATE CLARIFIES PRESENTATION REQUIREMENTS FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS PART OF THE SEC Form 10-Q WHICH HAV
IMPACTED FILINGS TO DATE, HOWEVER, THIS CLARIFICATION UPDATE MAY IMPACT FUTURE FILINGS. THE COMPANY'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND AMOUNTS PRESENTED IN T
financial statements were not impacted by this change.

ErrecTIVE JANUARY 2012, THE CompaNy ADOPTED ASU 2011-04 "FaR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Topric 820): AMENDEMENTS TO ACHIEVE ComMMON FAIR VALU
MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR U.S. GAAP AND IFRSs". THIS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATE CLARIFIES PRESENTATION REQUIREMENTS FOR FINA
statements as part of the SEC Form 10-Q which have not impacted filings to date, however, this clarification update may impact future filings. The Company's
accounting policies and amounts presented in the financial statements were not impacted by this change.

ErrECTIVE JANUARY 2012, THE CompPaNY ADOPTED ASU 2011-09 "COMPENSATION — RETIREMENT BENEFITS — MULTIEMPLOYER PLANS (SuBTOPIC 715-80): DIscLOSUR
ABOUT AN EMPLOYER’S PARTICIPATION IN A MULTIEMPLOYER PLAN (SEPTEMBER 2011)”. THIS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATE CLARIFIES PRESENTATION REQUIREMENTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS PART OF THE SEC ForM 10-Q WHICH HAVE NOT IMPACTED FILINGS TO DATE, HOWEVER, THIS CLARIFICATION UPDATE MAY IMPACT FUTURE FILINGS.
Company's accounting policies and amounts presented in the financial statements were not impacted by this change.

ITEM 7A - QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a smaller reporting company, the Company is not required to provide Item 7A disclosure in this Annual Report.

ITEM 8 — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The required accompanying financial statements begin on page F-1 of this document.
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ITEM 9 — CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
There were no disagreements or reportable events with DeCoria, Maichel & Teague, P.S.

ITEM 9A — CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

UNDER THE SUPERVISION AND WITH THE PARTICIPATION OF OUR MANAGEMENT, INCLUDING OUR PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER, WE CONDUC1
AN EVALUATION OF THE DESIGN AND OPERATION OF OUR DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES, AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED UNDER RULEs 13a-14(c) anD 15D
PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE AcT OF 1934, aAs AMENDED (THE "EXCHANGE AcT"), As OF JUNE 30, 2012. BASED ON THAT EVALUATION, OUR PRIN!
EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND OUR PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER CONCLUDED THAT THE DESIGN AND OPERATION OF OUR DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES WERE EFFECTT
DESIGN OF ANY SYSTEM OF CONTROLS IS BASED IN PART UPON CERTAIN ASSUMPTIONS ABOUT THE LIKELIHOOD OF FUTURE EVENTS, AND THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THA
DESIGN WILL SUCCEED IN ACHIEVING ITS STATED GOALS UNDER ALL POTENTIAL FUTURE CONDITIONS, REGARDLESS OF HOW REMOTE. HOWEVER, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES Tt
system of disclosure controls and procedures is designed to provide a reasonable level of assurance that the objectives of the system will be met.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

OUR MANAGEMENT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING ADEQUATE INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING, AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED IN RULE 13A
OF THE EXCHANGE AcT. UNDER THE SUPERVISION AND WITH THE PARTICIPATION OF OUR MANAGEMENT, INCLUDING OUR PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANC
OFFICER, WE CONDUCTED AN EVALUATION OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF OUR INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING BASED ON THE FRAMEWargrmw!/ Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

A MATERIAL WEAKNESS IS A SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCY, OR COMBINATION OF SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCIES, THAT RESULT IN MORE THAN A REMOTE LIKELIHOOD THAT A MAT
misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will occur and not be detected by management before the financial statements are published.

EFFECTIVE INTERNAL CONTROLS ARE NECESSARY FOR US TO PROVIDE RELIABLE FINANCIAL REPORTS AND EFFECTIVELY PREVENT FRAUD. IF WE CANNOT PROVIDE RELIABLE
REPORTS OR PREVENT FRAUD, OUR REPUTATION AND OPERATING RESULTS COULD BE HARMED. WE HAVE IN THE PAST DISCOVERED, AND MAY IN THE FUTURE DISCOVER, AREAS
INTERNAL CONTROLS THAT NEED IMPROVEMENT. IN ITS ASSESSMENT OF THE EFFECTIVENESS IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AS OF JUNE 30, 2012, THE Ci
determined that there were three deficiencies that in combination constituted a material weakness.

= Segregation of Duties - THE COMPANY DID NOT EMPLOY A SUFFICIENT COMPLEMENT OF FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING PERSONNEL DURING THE LAST T\
QUARTERS OF 2012 TO ENSURE THAT THERE WAS A PROPER SEGREGATION OF INCOMPATIBLE DUTIES RELATED TO CASH MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL REPC
IN THESE TWO QUARTERS, THE COMPANY HAD A SINGLE ACCOUNTING PROFESSIONAL AS AN EMPLOYEE WITH THE APPROPRIATE COMBINATION OF EDUCAT
AND EXPERIENCE TO PERFORM THE FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING FUNCTIONS THAT RESULTED IN THE CREATION OF INADEQUATE SECONDARY LEVEL OF REVIEW
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, FILINGS, REPORTS AND OTHER DOCUMENTATION TO ENSURE FINANCIAL INFORMATION WAS FREE OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT OR
SUCH A LACK OF SEGREGATION OF DUTIES IS TYPICAL IN A COMPANY THIS SIZE AND WITH LIMITED RESOURCES. ALTHOUGH THE CompPaNY's CEO aND Bo:
OF DIRECTORS REVIEW THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND WOULD MORE LIKELY THAN NOT DISCOVER A MISAPPROPRIATION OF FUNDS, THIS CANNOT BE ASSUR
the existing system.

»  Lack of Qualified Management - THE COMPANY HAS NOT EMPLOYED A CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, WITH APPROPRIATE EMPLOYMENT TERMS PROVIDING
FOR INDEPENDENCE FROM THE INFLUENCE OF EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT AND DIRECT ACCESS TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE, SINCE SEPTEMBER 2009. THE L2
oF A CFO REDUCES THE LIKELIHOOD OF NECESSARY OVERSIGHT BY EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT AND THE PROPER FUNCTION OF ENTITY-LEVEL CONTROLS NEC
to mitigate other deficiencies that may exist.

53

Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012 Powered by Momingstar® Document Research™

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



= Lack of a Dedicated Human Resource Function — THE COMPANY LACKS AN APPROPRIATELY TRAINED AND EXPERIENCED HUMAN RESOURCES FUNCTIC
EXPOSING THE COMPANY TO ADDITIONAL RISK RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT LAWS AND PRACTICES, ADDITIONAL RISK RELATED TO THE TIMELY REPLACEME
key personnel that could impact the Company's ability to continue operations or to timely meet financial reporting filing obligations.

As A RESULT OF THESE THREE DEFICIENCIES AND THE MATERIAL WEAKNESS RESULTING FROM THE COMBINATION OF THESE DEFICIENCIES, MANAGEMENT CONCLUDED THA
internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of June 30,2012.

The Company is in the process of developing and implementing a remediation plan to address the material weaknesses as described above.
The Company has taken the following actions to improve internal control over financial reporting:

= INAprL 2012, THE COMPANY HIRED A SENIOR ACCOUNTANT WITH SUPERVISORY EXPERIENCE FROM A BIG FOUR ACCOUNTING FIRM TO ADDRESS THE ISSUES W
segregation of duties.
= The Company plans to continue to enhance staff knowledge through continued training and periodic reviews.

IN LIGHT OF THE AFOREMENTIONED MATERIAL WEAKNESS, MANAGEMENT CONDUCTED A THOROUGH REVIEW OF ALL SIGNIFICANT OR NON-ROUTINE TRANSACTIONS AND ADJUSTN
THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,2012. As A RESULT OF THIS REVIEW, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THERE ARE NO MATERIAL INACCURACIES OR OMISSIONS OF MATERIAL FACT AN
BEST OF ITS KNOWLEDGE, BELIEVES THAT THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 FAIRLY PRESENT IN ALL MATERIAL RESPECTS THE F
condition and results of operations for the Company in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

THis ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K DOES NOT INCLUDE AN ATTESTATION REPORT OF OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM REGARDING INTERNAL CONTR
FINANCIAL REPORTING DUE TO A PERMANENT EXEMPTION FOR SMALLER REPORTING COMPANIES FROM THE INTERNAL CONTROL AUDIT REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 404(B)
Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

THERE HAVE NOT BEEN ANY CHANGES IN OUR INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING (AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED IN RULES 13A-15(E) anD 15D-15(E) unNDI
EXCHANGE ACT) DURING THE MOST RECENT FISCAL QUARTER THAT HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED, OR ARE REASONABLY LIKELY TO MATERIALLY AFFECT, OUR INTERNAL C
financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

OUR MANAGEMENT, INCLUDING OUR PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER, DOES NOT EXPECT THAT OUR DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND INTERNAL C(
WILL PREVENT ALL ERRORS AND ALL FRAUD. A CONTROL SYSTEM, NO MATTER HOW WELL CONCEIVED AND OPERATED, CAN PROVIDE ONLY REASONABLE, NOT ABSOLUTE, ASSU
THE OBJECTIVES OF THE CONTROL SYSTEM ARE MET. FURTHER, THE DESIGN OF A CONTROL SYSTEM MUST REFLECT THE FACT THAT THERE ARE RESOURCE CONSTRAINTS, AND THI
CONTROLS MUST BE CONSIDERED RELATIVE TO THEIR COSTS. BECAUSE OF THE INHERENT LIMITATIONS IN ALL CONTROL SYSTEMS, NO EVALUATION OF CONTROLS CAN PROVIDE .
ASSURANCE THAT ALL CONTROL ISSUES AND INSTANCES OF FRAUD, IF ANY, WITHIN THE COMPANY HAVE BEEN DETECTED. THESE INHERENT LIMITATIONS INCLUDE THE REALIT
JUDGMENTS IN DECISION MAKING CAN BE FAULTY, AND THAT BREAKDOWNS CAN OCCUR BECAUSE OF A SIMPLE ERROR OR MISTAKE. ADDITIONALLY, CONTROLS CAN BE CIRCUMVE
by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management or board override of the control.

THE DESIGN OF ANY SYSTEM OF CONTROLS ALSO IS BASED IN PART UPON CERTAIN ASSUMPTIONS ABOUT THE LIKELIHOOD OF FUTURE EVENTS, AND THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANC
ANY DESIGN WILL SUCCEED IN ACHIEVING ITS STATED GOALS UNDER ALL POTENTIAL FUTURE CONDITIONS; OVER TIME, CONTROLS MAY BECOME INADEQUATE BECAUSE OF CHAN(
CONDITIONS, OR THE DEGREE OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE POLICIES OR PROCEDURES MAY DETERIORATE. BECAUSE OF THE INHERENT LIMITATIONS IN A COST-EFFECTIVE CONTROL §'
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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ITEM 9B — OTHER INFORMATION

THERE WERE NO ITEMS REQUIRED TO BE DISCLOSED IN A REPORT ON FORM 8-K DURING THE FOURTH QUARTER OF THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 THAT HAVE NC
already disclosed on a Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

PART III

ITEM 10 — DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Each member of the Board of Directors serves a one-year term and is subject to reelection at the Company's Annual Meeting of Shareholders held each year.
Board Committees

THE BOARD HAS ESTABLISHED AN AUDIT COMMITTEE CONSISTING OF THOMAS LAVoY (CHAIRMAN), ROBERT KAUFFMAN, AND ALBERT SMITH; A COMPENSATION COMMITT
CONSISTING OF ALBERT SMITH (CHAIRMAN) AND ROBERT KAUFFMAN; AND A NOMINATING COMMITTEE CONSISTING OF ROBERT KAUFFMAN (CHAIRMAN), THOMAS LAVOY, A
Albert Smith. No other committees have been formed.

Audit Committee

THE AuDIT COMMITTEE WAS ESTABLISHED ON DECEMBER 8, 2006, THE DATE ON WHICH ITS CHARTER WAS ADOPTED. THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER LISTS THE PURPOSE;
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AS OVERSEEING THE ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESSES OF THE COMPANY AND AUDITS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE CoMmi
AND PROVIDING ASSISTANCE TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN MONITORING (1) THE INTEGRITY OF THE COMPANY'S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, (2) THE COMPANY'S COMPLIANCE V
LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS, (3) THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S QUALIFICATIONS AND INDEPENDENCE, AND (4) THE PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY'S INTERNAL
function, if any, and independent auditor.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS HAS DETERMINED THAT MR. LAVOY AND MR. KAUFFMAN ARE EACH AN "AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT" AS DEFINED IN ITEM 407(D
REGULATION S-K PROMULGATED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, AND EACH AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBER IS INDEPENDENT UNDER APPLICABLE NYSE MKT
STANDARDS. THE BOARD'S CONCLUSIONS REGARDING THE QUALIFICATIONS OF MR. LAVOY AS AN AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT WERE BASED ON HIS SERVICE AS A
FINANCIAL OFFICER OF A PUBLIC COMPANY, HIS EXPERIENCE AS A CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT AND HIS DEGREE IN ACCOUNTING. THE BOARD'S CONCLUSIONS REGARDING
QUALIFICATIONS OF MR. KAUFFMAN AS AN AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT WERE BASED ON HIS SERVICE AS A CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF MULTIPLE PUBLIC COMPANIES,
ACTIVE SUPERVISION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING OFFICERS OF THE PUBLIC COMPANIES FOR WHICH HE SERVED AS CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, AND HIS M.B.A.
Finance.

Executive Officers and Directors

The executive officers and directors serving the Company as of June 30,2012 were as follows:

Name Age Position Held Term*
Dwight Babcock 64 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer Annual
Brien Ragle 43  Controller, Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Robert Kauffman 72 Vice-Chairman Annual
Thomas LaVoy 52 Director Annual
Albert Smith 68 Director Annual
Fredric Swindler 65 Vice-President, Regulatory and Quality Affairs

William Cavanagh III 46 Vice President, Research and Development

* For directors only

DwicgHT BaBcock — MR. BaBcock was ApPOINTED CEO of THE CoMPANY ON FEBRUARY 18, 2009. HE wAs PREVIOUSLY APPOINTED CHAIRMAN AND INTERIM CEO oOF TH
CoMPANY ON FEBRUARY 26,2008 AND HAS SERVED AS A DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY SINCE 2006. MR. BABCcOCK HAS SERVED AS CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICE
Apex Data Systems, Inc., an information technology company, since 1975. Apex Data Systems automates the administration and claims adjudication needs of
INSURANCE COMPANIES BOTH NATIONALLY AND INTERNATIONALLY. MR. BaBcoCK WAS FORMERLY PRESIDENT AND CEO or BaBcock INSURANCE CorPORATION (BIC) FROM
UNTIL 1985. BIC WAS A NATIONALLY RECOGNIZED THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATOR OPERATING WITHIN 35 STATES. MR. BABCOCK HAS KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE IN THE E
ARENA AND HAS PARTICIPATED IN VARIOUS ACTIVITIES WITHIN THE VENTURE CAPITAL, PRIVATE AND INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL MARKETS. MR. BABCOCK STUDIED MARKETIN:
ECONOMICS AT THE UNIVERSITY OF ARIZONA WHERE HE CURRENTLY SERVES ON THE UNIVERSITY OF ARIZONA ASTRONOMY BOARD. MR. BABCOCK BRINGS OVER 35 YEARS OF
level experience to his service on the Company's Board.
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Brien Ragle — Mr. Ragle has over 15 years of finance and accounting experience, including SEC reporting, financial reporting, cost, project, and management
ACCOUNTING IN ADDITION TO PERFORMING OPERATIONAL ANALYSIS. MR. RAGLE BECAME ISORAY'S CONTROLLER — PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING OFFICER IN OC
2009. MRr. RAGLE was ISORAY’s CoST ACCOUNTING MANAGER FROM JANUARY 2007 UNTIL OcTOBER 2009. BEFORE JOINING ISORAY IN JANUARY 2007 As CosT Accou
MANAGER, MR. RAGLE wAs EMPLOYED BY BNG AMERIcA, LLC, A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF ENERGY Sorutions, LLC (ES) rrom 2005 1o 2006 As Pro
ACCOUNTING MANAGER FOR ALL PROJECTS LOCATED IN THE WESTERN UNITED STATES AND FROM 2000 To 2004 As A BusiNEss UNIT CONTROLLER BY SCM CONSULTAN
WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF TETRA TEcH, INc (TTEK). MR. RAGLE HOLDS BACHELOR OF ARTS DEGREES IN BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION WITH AN EMPHASIS IN ACCOUN1
AND HOSPITALITY MANAGEMENT FROM WASHINGTON STATE UNIVERSITY. MR. RAGLE 1S A CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON. MR. RAGLE FI
personal bankruptcy under Chapter 13 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code on January 26,2011.

RoBERT KAUFFMAN — MR. KAUFFMAN HAS BEEN A DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY SINCE 2005 AND WAS APPOINTED VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE COMPANY ON FEBRUARY 26, 20(
MR. KAUFFMAN HAs SERVED As CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHAIRMAN OF THE BoARD oF Aranco TecHNoLOGIES, INc. (OTCBB: ALAN), AN ARIZONA-B.
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY COMPANY, SINCE JuLy 1, 1998. MR. KAUFFMAN WAS FORMERLY PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF NASDAQ-LISTED PHOTOCOMM, [
FROM 1988 UNTIL 1997 (SINCE RENAMED KYOCERA SOLAR, INC.). PHOTOCOMM WAS THE NATION'S LARGEST PUBLICLY OWNED MANUFACTURER AND MARKETER OF WIRELES
ELECTRIC POWER SYSTEMS WITH ANNUAL REVENUES IN EXCESS OF $35 MILLION. PrRIOR TO PHOTOCOMM, MR. KAUFFMAN WAS A SENIOR EXECUTIVE OF THE ATLANTIC Rict
ComPANY (ARCO) WHOSE VARIED RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDED SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT oF ARCO SoLAR, INC., PRESIDENT oF ARCO Prastics CoMPANY AND Vic
PreSIDENT OF ARCO CHEMICAL COMPANY. MR. KAUFFMAN EARNED AN M.B.A. IN FINANCE AT THE WHARTON SCHOOL OF THE UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA, AND HOI
B.S. IN CHEMICAL ENGINEERING FROM LAFAYETTE COLLEGE, EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA. MR. KAUFFMAN HAS SUBSTANTIAL EXPERIENCE IN SERVING As CEO FORrR PL
companies, and brings these skills to his service on the Company's Board.

Tromas LaAVoy — MRr. LAVoyY HAS BEEN A DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY SINCE 2005. MR. LAVOY HAS SERVED AS CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF SUPERSHUTTLE INTERNAT
INC., SINCE JuLY 1997 AND AS SECRETARY SINCE MARCH 1998. SUPERSHUTTLE IS ONE OF THE LARGEST PROVIDERS OF SHUTTLE SERVICES IN MAJOR CITIES THROUGHOUT Tk
AND SOUTHWEST REGIONS OF THE UNITED STATES. HE HAS ALSO SERVED AS A DIRECTOR OF ALANCO TECHNOLOGIES, INc. (OTCBB: ALAN) SINCE 1998 AND PRESENTLY ¢
ON ITS AUDIT COMMITTEE. FROM SEPTEMBER 1987 TO FEBRUARY 1997, MR. LAVOY SERVED AS CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF NASDAQ-LISTED PHOTOCOMM, INC. MR. LA’
WAS A CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT WITH THE FIRM OF KPMG PEAT MARWICK FROM 1980 TO 1983. MR. LAVOY HAS A BACHELOR OF SCIENCE DEGREE IN ACCOUNTING
St. CLoup UNIVERSITY, MINNESOTA, AND IS A CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT. MR. LAVOY BRINGS OVER 25 YEARS OF CFO EXPERIENCE FOR PROGRESSIVELY GRO
companies in multiple industries to his service on the Company's Board.

ALBERT SMITH — MR. SMITH HAS BEEN A DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY SINCE 2006. MR. SMITH WAS THE CO-FOUNDER OF AND SERVED AS VICE CHAIRMAN OF CSI LEASING, I
A PRIVATE COMPUTER LEASING COMPANY FROM 1972 UNTIL MARCH 2005. HE FOUNDED EXTREME VIDEO SoLUTIONS, LLC A PRIVATELY HELD VIDEO CONFERENCING COMPA!
WITH HEADQUARTERS IN SCOTTSDALE, ARIZONA IN DECEMBER 2005. IN JANUARY 2008, HE FORMED FACE To FacE Live, INC. (SUCCESSOR TO EXTREME VIDEO SOLUTIONS) \
HE PRESENTLY SERVES AS CEO. MR. SMITH PRESENTLY SERVES AS CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD FOR DouL0Os MINISTRIES, INC. MR. SMITH HAS EXTENSIVE EXPERIENCE IN MARKI
AND SALES HAVING MANAGED A NATIONAL SALES FORCE OF OVER FIFTY PEOPLE WHILE AT CSI LEASING, INc. MR. SMITH HOLDS A BS IN BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION FROM F
STATE COLLEGE. MR. SMITH BRINGS HIS ENTREPRENEURIAL SKILLS IN FOUNDING AND GROWING MULTIPLE PRIVATE COMPANIES, TOGETHER WITH A STRONG SALES AND MARK
background, to his service on the Company's Board.

FREDRIC SWINDLER — MR. SWINDLER JOINED ISORAY MEDICAL IN OCcTOBER 2006 AND HAS OVER 40 YEARS EXPERIENCE IN MANUFACTURING AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCI
SWINDLER ALSO SERVES AS SECRETARY FOR ISORAY, INC., A POSITION HE HAS HELD SINCE JUNE 11, 2008. MR. SWINDLER SERVED AS VP, QUALITY ASSURANCE AND REGU
AFFAIRS FOR MEDISYSTEMS CORPORATION, A MANUFACTURER AND DISTRIBUTOR OF MEDICAL DEVICES, FROM 1994 UNTIL JOINING THE COMPANY. DURING HIS TENUF
MEDISYSTEMS CORPORATION, MR. SWINDLER DEVELOPED A QUALITY SYSTEM TO ACCOMMODATE VERTICALLY INTEGRATED MANUFACTURING, DEVELOPED REGULATORY STR:
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, AND SUBMITTED NINE PRE-MARKET NOTIFICATIONS (510(k)) To THE FDA. PRIOR TO THIS, MR. SWINDLER HELD VARIOUS POSITIONS WITH MARC
MEebicaL Probucts FRoM 1989 1o 1994, SHERWoOD MEDICAL PrODUCTS FROM 1978 TO 1989, OAK PARK PHARMACEUTICALS IN 1978, AND MEAD JoHNSON & Con
FROM 1969 10 1978. MR. SWINDLER HOLDS A BACHELOR OF SCIENCE DEGREE IN BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING FROM ROSE-HULMAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY AND A MAST
Business Administration from the University of Evansville.
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WiLLiAM CAVANAGH III — MR. CAVANAGH JOINED ISORAY MEDICAL IN JANUARY 2010. MR. CAVANAGH HAS MOST RECENTLY BEEN ENGAGED IN THE RESEARCH
DEVELOPMENT OF DENDRITIC CELL THERAPIES FOR CANCER AND INFECTIOUS DISEASES. HE SERVED AS CHIEF SCIENTIFIC OFFICER FOR SANGRETECH BiomEDICAL, LLC FOR T
YEARS PRIOR TO JOINING ISORAY MEDICAL. AT SANGRETECH, HE OVERSAW THE DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION OF A NOVEL CANCER THERAPY. MR. CAVANAGH BEGA!
EXTENSIVE CAREER IN CANCER TREATMENT TECHNOLOGIES IN THE EARLY 1990S, WHEN HE HELPED LEAD RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT OF A THERAPY INVOLVING THE INSER
RADIOACTIVE SOURCES DIRECTLY INTO THE PROSTATE FOR THE TREATMENT OF PROSTATE CANCER (PROSTATE BRACHYTHERAPY). HE HAS DESIGNED SEVERAL CANCER TREATME
STUDIES, IS LISTED AS AN AUTHOR ON 34 PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS, AND IS THE LISTED INVENTOR ON A U.S. PATENT APPLICATION DETAILING A NOVEL TREATMENT FOR CA
MR. CAVANAGH HAS ALSO SERVED AS DIRECTOR OF THE HAAKON RAGDE FOUNDATION FOR ADVANCED CANCER STUDIES IN SEATTLE, WASHINGTON, WHERE HE LED THE R
FOUNDATION IN THE SELECTION OF VIABLE RESEARCH PROJECTS DIRECTED AT TREATING ADVANCED CANCERS. MR. CAVANAGH HOLDS A B.S. IN BioLoGY FROM THE UNIVEI
Portland (Oregon) and completed two years of medical school before beginning his career in research management.

THE COMPANY'S DIRECTORS, AS NAMED ABOVE, WILL SERVE UNTIL THE NEXT ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COMPANY'S SHAREHOLDERS OR UNTIL THEIR SUCCESSORS ARE DULY E
AND HAVE QUALIFIED. DIRECTORS WILL BE ELECTED FOR ONE-YEAR TERMS AT THE ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS MEETING. THERE IS NO ARRANGEMENT OR UNDERSTANDING BETWEI
THE DIRECTORS OR OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY AND ANY OTHER PERSON PURSUANT TO WHICH ANY DIRECTOR OR OFFICER WAS OR IS TO BE SELECTED AS A DIRECTOR OR OFF
THERE IS NO ARRANGEMENT, PLAN OR UNDERSTANDING AS TO WHETHER NON-MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDERS WILL EXERCISE THEIR VOTING RIGHTS TO CONTINUE TO ELECT Tt
DIRECTORS TO THE COMPANY'S BOARD. THERE ARE ALSO NO ARRANGEMENTS, AGREEMENTS OR UNDERSTANDINGS BETWEEN NON-MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDERS THAT MAY DIR]
indirectly participate in or influence the management of the Company's affairs.

THERE ARE NO AGREEMENTS OR UNDERSTANDINGS FOR ANY OFFICER OR DIRECTOR TO RESIGN AT THE REQUEST OF ANOTHER PERSON, AND NONE OF THE OFFICERS OR DIRECTOF
on behalf of, or will act at the direction of, any other person. There are no family relationships among our executive officers and directors.

Significant Employees

A SIGNIFICANT EMPLOYEE OF OUR SUBSIDIARY, ISORAY MEDICAL, INC., AND HIS AGE AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT ARE SET FORTH IN THE TABLE BELOW. ALSO PROVIDED IS A
description of the experience of our significant employee during the past five years.

Name Age Position Held & Tenure
Lane Bray 84 Chief Chemist

LANE BrRAY — MR. BRAY IS KNOWN NATIONALLY AND INTERNATIONALLY AS A TECHNICAL EXPERT IN SEPARATIONS, RECOVERY, AND PURIFICATION OF ISOTOPES AND IS A
AUTHORITY IN THE USE OF CESIUM AND STRONTIUM ION EXCHANGE FOR DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY'S WEST VALLEY AND HANFORD NUCLEAR WASTE CLEANUP EFFORTS. II
MR. BRAY RECEIVED THE 'RADIATION SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY' AWARD FROM THE AMERICAN NUCLEAR SOCIETY. MR. BRAY HAS AUTHORED OR CO-AUTHORED OVER 110 R
PUBLICATIONS, 12 ARTICLES FOR NINE TECHNICAL BOOKS, AND HOLDS 28 U.S. AND FOREIGN PATENTS. MR. BRAY PATENTED THE USDOE/PNNL PROCESS FOR PURIFYING MEL
GRADE YTTRIUM-90 THAT WAS SUCCESSFULLY COMMERCIALIZED IN 1999. MR. BRAY ALSO INVENTED AND PATENTED THE PROPRIETARY ISOTOPE SEPARATION AND PURIFIC,
PROCESS THAT IS ASSIGNED TO ISORAY. MR. BRAY WAS ELECTED '"TRI-CITIAN OF THE YEAR' IN 1988, NOMINATED FOR 'ENGINEER OF THE YEAR' BY THE AMERICAN NUCLEAR S
IN 1995, AND WAS ELECTED 'CHEMIST OF THE YEAR FOR 1997' BY THE AMERICAN CHEMICAL SOCIETY, EASTERN WASHINGTON SECTION. MR. BRAY RETIRED FROM THE [
NORTHWEST NATIONAL LABORATORY IN 1998. SINCE RETIRING IN 1998, MR. BRAY WORKED PART TIME FOR PNNL ON SPECIAL PROJECTS UNTIL DEVOTING ALL OF HIS EFI
IsoRay IN 2004. MR. BRAY HAS BEEN A WASHINGTON STATE LEGISLATOR, A RICHLAND CiTy COUNCILMAN, AND A MAYOR OF RICHLAND. MR. BRAY HAS A B.A. IN CHEN
from Lake Forest College.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

SeEcTiON 16(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE AcT OF 1934 (THE EXCHANGE ACT) REQUIRES THE COMPANY'S DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND PERSONS
BENEFICIALLY OWN MORE THAN TEN PERCENT OF A REGISTERED CLASS OF OUR EQUITY SECURITIES, TO FILE WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE CoMMISSION (THE CoMMIS
INITIAL REPORTS OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP AND REPORTS OF CHANGES IN BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON STOCK. THE RULES PROMULGATED BY THE COMMISSION UNL
SEcTION 16(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT REQUIRE THOSE PERSONS TO FURNISH US WITH COPIES OF ALL REPORTS FILED WITH THE COMMISSION PURSUANT TO SECTION 16(A)
information in this section is based solely upon a review of Forms 3, Forms 4, and Forms 5 received by us.

WE BELIEVE THAT ISORAY'S EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND 10% SHAREHOLDERS TIMELY COMPLIED WITH THEIR FILING REQUIREMENTS DURING THE YEAR ENDED JU1
2012, EXCEPT AS FOLLOWS — DWIGHT BaBcock (THREE ForM 4s); WiLLIAM CAVANAGH (ONE ForM 4); AND FREDRIC SWINDLER (ONE ForM 4). EAcH oF THESE ForMm 4s
filed late.

Code of Ethics

WE HAVE ADOPTED A CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS THAT APPLIES TO ALL OF OUR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES AND A SEPARATE CODE OF ETHICS FOR CHIEF EXE
OFFICER AND SENIOR FINANCIAL OFFICERS THAT SUPPLEMENTS OUR CODE OF ConDUCT AND ETHIcs. THE CoDE oF CONDUCT AND ETHICS WAS PREVIOUSLY FILED AS EXHIBIT
to our Form 10-KSB for the period ended June 30,2006, and the Code of Ethics for Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers was previously filed
As ExHiBIT 14.2 TO THIS SAME REPORT. THE CODE OF ETHICS FOR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND SENIOR FINANCIAL OFFICERS IS ALSO AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC ON OUR W1
AT HTTP://WWW.ISORAY.COM/CORPORATE_GOVERNANCE. EACH OF THESE POLICIES COMPRISES WRITTEN STANDARDS THAT ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO DETER WRONGDOING
promote the behavior described in Item 406 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Nominating Procedures

THERE HAVE BEEN NO MATERIAL CHANGES TO THE PROCEDURES BY WHICH OUR SHAREHOLDERS MAY RECOMMEND NOMINEES TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS DURING OUR LAST
year.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
THE FOLLOWING SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE SETS FORTH INFORMATION CONCERNING COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES RENDERED IN ALL CAPACITIES DURING OUR PAST TWO F
YEARS AWARDED TO, EARNED BY OR PAID TO EACH OF THE FOLLOWING INDIVIDUALS. SALARY AND OTHER COMPENSATION FOR THESE OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND FORMER OFFIC

set by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, except for employee compensation which is set by officers of the Company.

Summary Compensation Table

Nonqualified
Non-equity deferred
Stock Option  incentive plan  compensation All other
Salary Bonus awards awards ~ compensation earnings compensation Total
Name and principal position Year ($) ($) ($) ($) (1) (%) ($) ($)
Dwight Babcock 2012 276,212 - - 42,078 - - - 318,290
Chairman and CEO 2011 271,000 - - 84,576 - - - 355,576
Frederic Swindler 2012 163,077 - - 5,680 - - - 168,757
VP-QA /RA 2011 160,000 - - 15,224 - - - 175,224
William Cavanagh 2012 154,039 - - 15,148 - - - 169,187
VP - R&D 2011 124,808 11,500 - 26,641 - - - 162,949
Robert Bilella 2012 97,200 85,270 - - - - - 182,470
NE Area Sales Director 2011 97,200 102,775 - 3,526 - - - 203,501
. AMOUNTS REPRESENT THE ASC 718 Compensation — Stock Compensation VALUATION FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011, RESPECTIVELY.

SUCH OPTIONS WERE AWARDED UNDER ONE OF THE COMPANY'S STOCK OPTION PLANS. ALL OPTIONS AWARDED (WITH THE EXCEPTION OF MR. BABCOCK'S STOCK OPT
GRANTS THAT WERE IMMEDIATELY VESTED ON THE GRANT DATE) VEST IN THREE EQUAL ANNUAL INSTALLMENTS BEGINNING WITH THE FIRST ANNIVERSARY FROM TH
GRANT AND EXPIRE TEN YEARS AFTER THE DATE OF GRANT. ALL OPTIONS WERE GRANTED AT THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE COMPANY'S STOCK ON THE DATE OF GRA
Company used a Black-Scholes methodology as discussed in the footnotes to the financial statements to value the options.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

Option awards

Equity
Incentive
plan awards:
Number of Number of Number of
securities securities securities
underlying underlying underlying
unexercised unexercised unexercised options
Option options unearned exercise option
#) #) options price expiration
Name exercisable unexercisable #) ($) date
Dwight Babcock, 50,000(1) - - 6.30 03/31/2016
Chairman and CEO 50,000(1) - - 3.80 06/23/2016
50,000(1) - - 3.11 08/15/2016
100,000(1) - - 0.75 05/13/2018
200,000(1) - - 0.26 06/01/2019
100,000(1) - - 1.43 06/30/2020
100,000(1) - - 0.99 06/07/2021
50,000(1) - - 0.98 06/27/2022
Fred Swindler 10,000(3) - - 4.40 03/02/2017
Vice-President, Quality Assurance and Regulatory Affairs 10,000(4) - - 4.14 06/01/2017
10,000(5) - - 0.65 07/01/2018
50,000(6) - - 0.26 06/01/2019
20,000(7) - - 1.43 06/30/2020
20,000(8) - - 0.99 06/07/2021
7,500(10) - - 0.98 06/27/2022
William Cavanagh 30,000(9) - - 0.84 01/08/2020
Vice-President of Research and Development 35,000(7) - - 1.43 06/30/2020
35,000(8) - - 0.99 06/07/2021
20,000(10) - - 0.98 06/27/2022
Robert Bilella 84,236(2) - - 4.15 06/23/2015
NE Area Sales Director 18,000(6) - - 0.26 06/01/2019
5,000(7) - - 1.43 06/30/2020
5,000(8) - - 0.99 06/07/2021
1) REPRESENTS OPTIONS ISSUED TO MR. BABCOCK WHICH WERE ALL IMMEDIATELY VESTED AND EXERCISABLE. THE GRANT DATES ARE 10 YEARS PRIOR TO THE EXPIR
date in the table above.
2) Represents the June 23,2005 grant, all of which were exercisable as of June 23,2008.
3) Represents the March 2,2007 grant, all of which were exercisable as of March 2,2010.
4) Represents the June 1, 2007 grant, all of which were exercisable as of June 1,2010.
5) Represents a July 1, 2008 grant, all of which were exercisable as of July 1,2011.
6) Represents a June 1,2009 grant, all of which were exercisable as of June 1,2012.
7) REPRESENTS A JUNE 30,2010 GRANT, ONE-THIRD OF WHICH BECAME EXERCISABLE ON JUNE 30, 2011, ONE-THIRD OF WHICH BECAME EXERCISABLE ON JUNE 30, 20
and the final third will become exercisable on June 30,2013.
8) REPRESENTS A JUNE 7, 2011 GRANT, ONE-THIRD OF WHICH BECAME EXERCISABLE ON JUNE 30, 2012, ONE-THIRD OF WHICH WILL BECOME EXERCISABLE ON JUNE
2013, and the final third will become exercisable on June 30,2014.
9) REPRESENTS A JANUARY 8, 2010 GRANT, ONE-THIRD OF WHICH BECAME EXERCISABLE ON JANUARY 8,201 1, ONE-THIRD OF WHICH BECAME EXERCISABLE ON JANUA

2012, and the final third will become exercisable on January 8,2013.

10) REPRESENTS A JUNE 27, 2012 GRANT, ONE-THIRD OF WHICH WILL EXERCISABLE ON JUNE 27, 2013, ONE-THIRD OF WHICH WILL BECOME EXERCISABLE ON JUNE

2014, and the final third will become exercisable on June 27,2015.

THE ComPANY HAS A 401(K) PLAN THAT COVERS ALL ELIGIBLE FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY. CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE 401(K) PLAN ARE MADE BY PARTICIPANT
THEIR INDIVIDUAL ACCOUNTS THROUGH PAYROLL WITHHOLDING. ADDITIONALLY, THE 401(K) PLAN PROVIDES FOR THE COMPANY TO MAKE CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE 401 (k) pL
AMOUNTS AT THE DISCRETION OF MANAGEMENT. THE COMPANY HAS NOT MADE ANY CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE 401(K) PLAN AND DOES NOT MAINTAIN ANY OTHER RETIREMENT I
for its executives or employees.
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Director Compensation

Non-equity Non-qualified
Fees earned Stock Option incentive plan deferred All other
or paid in awards awards compensation compensation compensation
Name cash ($) ($) ($) %) (%) (%) Total ($)
Robert Kauffman 61,000 - - - 61,000
Thomas LaVoy 49,000 - - - 49,000
Albert Smith 25,000 - - - 25,000

DURING FISCAL YEAR 2012, EACH NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR RECEIVED CASH COMPENSATION OF $2,000 PER MONTH. IN ADDITION, EACH NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR RECEIY
$1,000 PER BOARD MEETING ATTENDED IN PERSON OR $500 PER BOARD MEETING ATTENDED VIA TELEPHONE AND $500 PER COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDED. MR. KAUFF
RECEIVING AN ADDITIONAL $3,000 PER MONTH FOR SERVING AS VICE-CHAIRMAN, AND MR. LAVOY RECEIVED AN ADDITIONAL $2,000 PER MONTH FOR SERVING AS A
CoMMITTEE CHAIRMAN. EACH NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR HAD STOCK OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SHARES OF THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK OUTSTANDING AS OF JUNE 30, 2012
FOLLOWS - MR. KAUFFMAN AND MR. LAVOY EACH HAD STOCK OPTIONS TO PURCHASE 150,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK AND MR. SMITH HAD STOCK OPTIONS TO PURC
175,000 shares of common stock.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

As a smaller reporting company, the Company is not required to provide this disclosure.

Compensation Committee Report

As a smaller reporting company, the Company is not required to provide this disclosure.

ITEM 12 — SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The following tables set forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company's common stock and preferred stock as of September 10,
2012 FOR (A) EACH PERSON KNOWN BY THE COMPANY TO BE A BENEFICIAL OWNER OF FIVE PERCENT OR MORE OF THE OUTSTANDING COMMON OR PREFERRED STOCK OF
COMPANY, (B) EACH EXECUTIVE OFFICER, DIRECTOR AND NOMINEE FOR DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY, AND (C) DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY AS A GR
As ofF SEPTEMBER 10, 2012, THE CoMPANY HAD 34,582,202 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK AND 59,065 SHARES OF PREFERRED STOCK OUTSTANDING. EXCEPT AS OTHER\

indicated below, the address for each listed beneficial owner is c/o IsoRay, Inc., 350 Hills Street, Suite 106, Richland, Washington 99354.

Common Stock Share Ownership

Common
Common Shares Common Stock Stock Percent of

Name of Beneficial Owner Owned Options Warrants Class (1)

Dwight Babcock (2) 209,068 700,000 12,500 2.63%
Brien Ragle - 26,999 - 0.08%
Robert Kauffiman 88,802 150,000 - 0.69%
Thomas LaVoy 65,423 150,000 - 0.62%
Albert Smith 198,101 175,000 - 1.08%
Directors and Executive Officers as a

group 561,394 1,201,999 12,500 5.10%

1) PERCENTAGE OWNERSHIP IS BASED ON 34,582,202 sHARES OF COMMON STOCK OUTSTANDING ON SEPTEMBER 10, 2012. SHARES OF COMMON STOCK SUBJECT *
STOCK OPTIONS OR WARRANTS WHICH ARE CURRENTLY EXERCISABLE OR WILL BECOME EXERCISABLE WITHIN 60 DAYS AFTER SEPTEMBER 10, 2012 ARE D
OUTSTANDING FOR COMPUTING THE PERCENTAGE OWNERSHIP OF THE PERSON OR GROUP HOLDING SUCH OPTIONS OR WARRANTS, BUT ARE NOT DEEMED OUTSTAM
for computing the percentage ownership of any other person or group.

2) Mr. Babcock's common shares owned include 2,695 shares owned by his spouse.
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Preferred Stock Share Ownership

Preferred

Shares Percent of

Name of Beneficial Owner Owned Class (1)
Aissata Sidibe (2) 20,000 33.86%
William and Karen Thompson Trust (3) 14,218 24.07%
Jamie Granger (4) 10,529 17.83%
Hostetler Living Trust (5) 9,479 16.05%
Leslie Fernandez (6) 3,688 6.24%

(1) Percentage ownership is based on 59,065 shares of Preferred Stock outstanding on September 10,2012.
(2) The address of Ms. Sidibe is 229 Lasiandra Ct, Richland, WA 99352.

(3) The address of the William and Karen Thompson Trust is 285 Dondero Way, San Jose, CA95119.

(4) The address of Jamie Granger is 53709 South Nine Canyon Road, Kennewick, WA 99337.

(5) The address of the Hostetler Living Trust is 9257 NE 175th Street, Bothell, WA 98011.

(6) The address of Leslie Fernandez is 2615 Scottsdale Place, Richland, WA 99352.

No officers or directors beneficially own shares of Preferred Stock.
ITEM 13 — CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

IsoRAY MEDICAL, INC.'S PATENT RIGHTS TO ITS Cs-131 PROCESS WERE ACQUIRED FROM LANE BRAY, A SHAREHOLDER AND EMPLOYEE OF THE COMPANY, AND ARE SUBJECT TO
ROYALTY ON GROSS PROFITS AND CERTAIN CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTIONS. PURSUANT TO THE ROYALTY AGREEMENT, THE COMPANY MUST ALSO PAY A ROYALTY OF 2% OF GROS:
DEFINED IN THE ROYALTY AGREEMENT, FOR ANY SUB-ASSIGNMENTS OF THE AFORESAID PATENTED PROCESS TO ANY THIRD PARTIES. THE ROYALTY AGREEMENT WILL REMAIN T
UNTIL THE EXPIRATION OF THE PATENTS ON THE ASSIGNED TECHNOLOGY, UNLESS EARLIER TERMINATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE UNDERLYING AGREEME
Company recorded royalty expense of $19,497 and $26,474 for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively, related to these payments.

Patent and Know-How Royalty License Agreement

EFrFECTIVE AUGUST 1, 1998, PaciFic MANAGEMENT AsSOCIATES CORPORATION (PMAC) TRANSFERRED ITS ENTIRE RIGHT, TITLE AND INTEREST IN AN EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGFE
wITH DONALD LAWRENCE TO IsoRAY, LLC (A PREDECESSOR COMPANY) IN EXCHANGE FOR A MEMBERSHIP INTEREST. THE TERMS OF THE LICENSE AGREEMENT REQUIRE
PAYMENT OF A ROYALTY BASED ON THE NET FACTORY SALES PRICE, AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT, OF LICENSED PRODUCT SALES. BECAUSE THE LICENSOR'S PATENT APPLI
WAS ULTIMATELY ABANDONED, ONLY A 1% "KNOW-HOW" ROYALTY BASED ON NET FACTORY SALES PRICE, AS DEFINED, REMAINS APPLICABLE. TO DATE, MANAGEMENT BELI
THAT THERE HAVE BEEN NO PRODUCT SALES INCORPORATING THE "KNOW-HOW" AND THAT THEREFORE NO ROYALTY IS DUE PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT. M AN
believes that ultimately no royalties should be paid under this agreement as there is no intent to use this "know-how" in the future.

THE LICENSOR OF THE LAWRENCE "KNOW-HOW" HAS DISPUTED MANAGEMENT'S CONTENTION THAT IT IS NOT USING THIS "KNOW-HOW". ON SEPTEMBER 25, 2007 AND AGAIN
OcTtoBER 31,2007, THE COMPANY PARTICIPATED IN NONBINDING MEDIATION REGARDING THIS MATTER; HOWEVER, NO SETTLEMENT WAS REACHED WITH THE LAWRENCE FAm
TRUST. AFTER ADDITIONAL SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS WHICH ENDED IN APRIL 2008, THE PARTIES STILL FAILED TO REACH A SETTLEMENT. THE PARTIES MAY DEMAND BIl
arbitration at any time.

Director Independence

UsING THE STANDARDS OF THE NYSE MKT, THE CoMpPaNY'S BOARD HAS DETERMINED THAT MR. KAUFFMAN, MR. LAVoy, AND MR. SMITH EACH QUALIFY UNDER
STANDARDS AS AN INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR. MR. KAUFFMAN, MR. LAVoYy AND MR. SMmiTH EACH MEET THE NYSE MKT LISTING STANDARDS FOR INDEPENDENCE BOTI
DIRECTOR AND AS A MEMBER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE, AND MR. KAUFFMAN AND MR. SMITH EACH MEET THE NYSE MKT LISTING STANDARDS FOR INDEPENDENCE BOTH
DIRECTOR AND AS A MEMBER OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE. NO OTHER DIRECTORS ARE INDEPENDENT UNDER THESE STANDARDS. THE COMPANY DID NOT CONSIDER
relationship or transaction between itself and these independent directors not already disclosed in this report in making this determination.
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ITEM 14 — PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The Company paid or accrued the following fees in each of the prior two fiscal years to its principal accountant, DeCoria, Maichel & Teague, P.S.:

Year ended Year ended
June 30, June 30,
2012 2011
1. Audit fees $ 61,750 $ 56,250
2. Audit-related fees 14,528 13,684
3. Tax fees 11,500 10,350
4. All other fees 2,275 17,732
Totals $ 90,053 $ 98,016

AUDIT FEES INCLUDE FEES FOR THE AUDIT OF OUR ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, REVIEWS OF OUR QUARTERLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, AND RELATED CONSENTS FOR DOCUM
wiTH THE SEC. AUDIT-RELATED FEES INCLUDE CONSULTING FEES TO MEET THE COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY AcCT. TAX FEES INCLUDE FEES F
PREPARATION OF OUR FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAX RETURNS. ALL OTHER FEES ARE RELATED TO CONSULTING COSTS RELATED TO THE ACCOUNTING AND RECORDING C
accounting transactions that occurred in the year ended June 30,2012.

AS PART OF ITS RESPONSIBILITY FOR OVERSIGHT OF THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS, THE AUDIT COMMITTEE HAS ESTABLISHED A PRE-APPROVAL POLIC
ENGAGING AUDIT AND PERMITTED NON-AUDIT SERVICES PROVIDED BY OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS, DECORIA, MAICHEL & TEAGUE, P.S. IN ACCORDA
WITH THIS POLICY, EACH TYPE OF AUDIT, AUDIT-RELATED, TAX AND OTHER PERMITTED SERVICE TO BE PROVIDED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IS SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED
EACH SUCH SERVICE, TOGETHER WITH A FEE LEVEL OR BUDGETED AMOUNT FOR SUCH SERVICE, IS PRE-APPROVED BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE. THE AUD[T COMMITTEE
DELEGATED AUTHORITY TO ITS CHAIRMAN TO PRE-APPROVE ADDITIONAL NON-AUDIT SERVICES (PROVIDED SUCH SERVICES ARE NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW) UP TO A
ESTABLISHED AGGREGATE DOLLAR LIMIT. ALL SERVICES PRE-APPROVED BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE MUST BE PRESENTED AT THE NEXT AuDIT COMM
MEETING FOR REVIEW AND RATIFICATION. ALL OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED BY DECORIA, MAICHEL & TEAGUE, PS DESCRIBED ABOVE WERE APPROVED BY OUR AL
Committee.

THE COMPANY'S PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT, DECORIA, MAICHEL & TEAGUE P.S., DID NOT ENGAGE ANY OTHER PERSONS OR FIRMS OTHER THAN THE PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT'S
time, permanent employees.

ITEM 15 — EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(Except as otherwise indicated, all exhibits were previously filed)

Exhibit # Description

1.1 ComMmON Stock UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT, DATED OcTOBER 13, 2011, BY AND BETWEEN ISORAY, INC. AND WESTPARK CAPITAL, It
incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on October 13,2011.

2.1 MERGER AGREEMENT DATED AS OF May 27, 2005, By AND AMONG CENTURY PARK PicTURES CORPORATION, CENTURY PARK TRAN
Subsidiary, Inc., certain shareholders and IsoRay Medical, Inc. incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on August 3,2005.

2.2 CERTIFICATE OF MERGER, FILED WITH THE DELAWARE SECRETARY OF STATE ON JULY 28, 2005 INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FORM 8-
on August 3,2005.

3.1 ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BY-LAWS ARE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE EXHIBITS TO THE COMPANY'S REGISTRATION STATEME

September 15, 1983.
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32 CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION OF RIGHTS, PREFERENCES AND PRIVILEGES OF SERIES A AND B CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, FILED WIT
Minnesota Secretary of State on June 29, 2005 incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on August 3,2005.

33 Restated and Amended Articles of Incorporation incorporated by reference to the Form 10-KSB filed on October 11,2005.

34 TEXT OF AMENDMENTS TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED By-LAws oF THE COMPANY, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FOrM 8-K FILED
February 7,2007.

35 AMENDED AND RESTATED By-LAws oF THE COMPANY DATED AS OF JANUARY 8, 2008, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FORM 8-K FILEI
January 14,2008.

42 Intentionally Omitted.

4.3 Intentionally Omitted.

4.4 Intentionally Omitted.

4.5 Intentionally Omitted.

4.6 Intentionally Omitted.

4.7 Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference to the Form S-8 filed on August 19,2005.

4.8 Amended and Restated 2005 Employee Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference to the Form S-8 filed on August 19,2005.

4.9 Intentionally Omitted.

4.10 Intentionally Omitted.

4.11 Form of IsoRay, Inc. Common Stock Purchase Warrant, incorporated by reference to the Form SB-2/Al filed on March 24,2006.

4.12 2006 Director Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to the Form S-8 filed on August 18, 2006.

4.13 Intentionally Omitted.

4.14 Form oF IsoRAY, INc. CoMMON STock PURCHASE WARRANT, DATED AUGUST 9, 2006, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FOrRM 8-K FILE
August 18,2006.

4.15 Intentionally Omitted.

4.16 AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 DIRECTOR STOCK OPTION PLAN, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FORM S-8/Al FILED ON DECEMBER
2006.

4.17 Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to the Form S-8/Al filed on December 18, 2006.

4.18 Intentionally Omitted.

4.19 RIGHTS AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 1, 2007, BETWEEN THE COMPUTERSHARE TRUST CoMPANY N.A., AS RIGHTS AGENT, INCORPOR/
by reference to Exhibit 1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on February 7,2007.

4.20 CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION OF RIGHTS, PREFERENCES AND PRIVILEGES OF SERIES C JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK, INCORPORAT
reference to Exhibit 1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed February 7, 2007.

421 2008 Employee Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to the Form S-8 filed on January 14, 2008.

422 Form oF SERrIES [A] [B] [C] WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FORM 8-K FILED ON NOVEMBEI
2010.

4.23 Form of Series D Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on November 22, 2010.

4.24 Form of Amended and Restated Series A Warrant, incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on December 28.2010.

4.25 Form of Amended and Restated Series C Warrant, incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on December 28.2010.

4.26 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on October 13,2011.

10.2 UNIVERSAL LICENSE AGREEMENT, DATED NOVEMBER 26, 1997 BETWEEN DonaLD C. LAWRENCE AND WILLIAM J. STOKES OF PAc
Management Associates Corporation, incorporated by reference to the Form SB-2 filed on November 10, 2005.
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10.3 ROYALTY AGREEMENT OF INVENTION AND PATENT APPLICATION, DATED Jury 12, 1999 BETWEEN LANE A. Bray AnD IsoRay LI
incorporated by reference to the Form SB-2 filed on November 10, 2005.

10.4 Intentionally Omitted.

10.5 SecTioN 510(k) CLEARANCE FROM THE FooD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION TO MARKET LAWRENCE CSERION MopEL CS-1, DATED MARCI
2003, incorporated by reference to the Form SB-2 filed on November 10, 2005.

10.6 Intentionally Omitted.

10.7 Intentionally Omitted.

10.8 Intentionally Omitted.

10.9 Intentionally Omitted.

10.10 REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES SAFETY EVALUATION OF SEALED SOURCE, DATED SEPTEMBER 17, 2004, INCORPOF
by reference to the Form SB-2/A2 filed on April 27,2006.

10.11 Intentionally Omitted.

10.12 Intentionally Omitted.

10.13 Intentionally Omitted.

10.14 Intentionally Omitted.

10.15 Intentionally Omitted.

10.16 Intentionally Omitted.

10.17 Intentionally Omitted.

10.18 STATE OF WASHINGTON RADIOACTIVE MATERIALS LICENSE DATED OCTOBER 6, 2005, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FORM SB-2 FIL
November 10, 2005.

10.19 ExPrRESS PRICING AGREEMENT NUMBER 219889, DATED OcTOBER 5, 2005 BETWEEN FEDEX AND ISORAY MEDICAL, INC., INCORPORATED 1|
reference to the Form 10-QSB filed on November 21, 2005.

10.20 Intentionally Omitted.

10.21 Intentionally Omitted.

10.22 AGREEMENT DATED AUGUST 9, 2005 BETWEEN THE CURATORS OF THE UNIVERSITYMIBSOURI AND ISORAY MEDICAL, INC., INCORPORATED B
reference to the Form SB-2/A2 filed on April 27,2006 (confidential treatment requested for redacted portions).

10.23 Intentionally Omitted.

10.24 Intentionally Omitted.

10.25 EcoNnomic DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, DATED DECEMBER 14, 2005, BY AND BETWEEN ISORAY, INC. AND THE POCATELLO DEVELOPMEM
Authority, incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on December 20, 2005.

10.26 Intentionally Omitted.

10.27 Intentionally Omitted.

10.28 SERVICE AGREEMENT BETWEEN ISORAY, INC. AND ADVANCED CARE MEDICAL, INC., DATED MARCH 1, 2006, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO
Form SB-2/A2 filed on April 27,2006.

10.29 Intentionally Omitted.

10.30 Intentionally Omitted.

10.31 Intentionally Omitted.

10.32 Intentionally Omitted.

10.33 CoMMON STock AND WARRANT PURCHASE AGREEMENT AMONG ISORAY, INC. AND THE OTHER SIGNATORIES THERETO, DATED AUGUST 9, -
incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on August 18,2006.

10.34 Intentionally Omitted.

10.35 Forwm oF OFFICER AND DIRECTOR INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FORM SB-2 Post EFFECTIVE AMENDM
No. 2 filed on October 13, 2006.

10.36 Intentionally Omitted.

10.37 Intentionally Omitted.

10.38 Intentionally Omitted.

10.39 ForM oF CoMMON SToCK PURCHASE WARRANT DATED MARCH 21, 2007, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THE FORM 8-K FILED ON MARC
2007.

10.40 Intentionally Omitted.

10.41 Intentionally Omitted.

10.42 Intentionally Omitted.
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10.43
10.44
10.45
10.46
10.47
10.48
10.49

10.50
10.51
10.52
10.53
10.62
10.63
10.64
10.65
10.66
10.67
10.68
10.69
10.70
10.71
21.1

23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1
99.1

Reports on Form 8-K

Intentionally Omitted.

Intentionally Omitted.

Intentionally Omitted.

Intentionally Omitted.

Intentionally Omitted.

Intentionally Omitted.

CoNTRACT, DATED DECEMBER 10, 2008, BY AND BETWEEN ISORAY MEDICAL, INC. AND URALDIAL LLC, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE T
Form 8-K filed on December 12,2008 (confidential treatment requested for redacted portions).

Intentionally Omitted.

Intentionally Omitted.

Intentionally Omitted.

Intentionally Omitted.

LETTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN ISORAY, INc. AND LIFETECH CAPITAL, A DIVISION OF AURORA CAPITAL, LLC DATED OcTOBER 27, 2(
incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on November 22,2010.

FoRM OF SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 22, 2010, BY AND BETWEEN ISORAY, INC. AND THE SIGNATORIES THER
incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on November 22,2010.

Form ofF Lock-Up AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 22, 2010, BY AND BETWEEN ISORAY, INC. AND THE SIGNATORIES THERE'
incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on November 22,2010.

AMENDMENT AGREEMENT DATED AS OF DECEMBER 27, 2010, BY AND AMONG ISORAY, INC. AND THE INVESTOR THAT IS A SIGNATORY THERI
incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on December 28,2010.

LICENSE AGREEMENT DATED AS OF JUNE 1, 2011, BY AnD BETWEEN DR. REDDY's LaBoratoriEs (EU) LTp. anD IsoRay MepicatL, I
incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on June 7,2011 (confidential treatment requested for redacted portions).

FinaNnciaL CONSULTING AGREEMENT, DATED AUGUST 1, 2011, By AND BETWEEN SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS AND IsoRAay MEDICAL,
incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on August 5,2011.

INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT, DATED OcTOBER 31, 2011, BY AND BETWEEN ISORAY MEDIcAL, INc. AND KARLHEINZ Gc
Medizintechnik Gohl, incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on November 3,2011.

CoNTRACT No. 77/2011, pATED NoVEMBER 24,2011, BY AND BETWEEN IsoRAY, INC. AND URALDIAL LLC, INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE Tt
Form 8-K filed on December 8,2011.

SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT, DATED JULY 13,2012, By AND BETWEEN ISORAY, INC. AND CERTAIN PURCHASERS, INCORPORATED BY REFER
to the 8-K filed on July 16,2012.

PLACEMENT AGENCY AGREEMENT, DATED JuLy 13, 2012, FroM IsoRAY, INC. TO LADENBURG THALMANN & Co. INC., INCORPORATED HEREIN
reference to the 8-K filed on July 16,2012.

Subsidiaries of the Company, filed herewith.

Consent of DeCoria, Maichel & Teague, P.S., filed herewith.

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 - Chief Executive Officer, filed herewith.

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of'the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 02002 - Chief Financial Officer, filed herewith.

Certifications Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002, filed herewith.

STATE OF WASHINGTON REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES SAFETY EVALUATION OF DEVICE DATED NOVEMBER 21, 2
filed herewith.

On May 15,2012, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K announcing its financial results for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.
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ON Jury 16,2012, THE CoMPANY FILED A CURRENT REPORT ON FORM 8-K ANNOUNCING ITS ENTRY INTO A SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT PROVIDING FOR THE SALE OF
3,626,943 shares to certain investors with Ladenberg, Thalmann & Co. Inc. acting as placement agent.

ON JuLy 17,2012, THE COMPANY FILED AN AMENDED CURRENT REPORT ON FOrRM 8-K/A, AMENDING 1TS CURRENT REPORT ON ForM 8-K FILED ON JULy 16,2012, TO FILE
legal opinion for the offering as an exhibit to the Report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
IsoRay, Inc.
Richland, Washington

WE HAVE AUDITED THE ACCOMPANYING CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS OF ISORAY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES ("THE CoMPANY") (SEE NOTE 1) As oF JuNE 30,2012 anp 201
AND THE RELATED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS, CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS THEN ENDED. THESE FINANCIAL STATEM
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

WE CONDUCTED OUR AUDITS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARDS OF THE PUBLIC COMPANY ACCOUNTING OVERSIGHT BoARD (UNITED STATES). THOSE STANDARDS REQUI
WE PLAN AND PERFORM THE AUDIT TO OBTAIN REASONABLE ASSURANCE ABOUT WHETHER THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE FREE OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT. AN AUDIT 1
EXAMINING, ON A TEST BASIS, EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE AMOUNTS AND DISCLOSURES IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. AN AUDIT ALSO INCLUDES ASSESSING THE ACCOUN"
PRINCIPLES USED AND SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES MADE BY MANAGEMENT, AS WELL AS EVALUATING THE OVERALL FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION. WE BELIEVE THAT OUR .
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

IN OUR OPINION THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFERRED TO ABOVE PRESENT FAIRLY, IN ALL MATERIAL RESPECTS, THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION OF IsoRay, Iy
SUBSIDIARIES AS OF JUNE 30,2012 AND 2011, AND THE CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF THEIR OPERATIONS AND THEIR CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS THEN ENDED, IN CONFORMI1
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DeCoria, Maichel & Teague, P.S.

Spokane, Washington
September 26,2012
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IsoRay, Inc and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $57,604 and $63,867, respectively
Inventory
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization
Restricted cash

Inventory, non-current

Other assets, net of accumulated amortization

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued protocol expense
Accrued radioactive waste disposal
Accrued payroll and related taxes
Accrued vacation

Total current liabilities

Warrant derivative liability
Asset retirement obligation

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16, 17, 18)

Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value; 7,000,000 shares authorized:
Series A: 1,000,000 shares allocated; no shares issued and outstanding
Series B: 5,000,000 shares allocated; 59,065 shares issued and outstanding
Series C: 1,000,000 shares allocated; no shares issued and outstanding

Common stock, $.001 par value; 193,000,000 shares authorized; 30,950,108 and 26,443,118 shares issued and

outstanding
Treasury stock, at cost 13,200 shares
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Total shareholders' equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

June 30,
2012 2011

2,672,711  $ 2,112,254
865,056 792,835
444345 749,849
9,925 425901
144,116 141,154
4,136,153 4,221,993
2,416,853 3,208,911
181,027 180,809
469,758 -
301,691 277,182
7,505,482 § 7,888,895
389,105 §$ 372,259

- 98,159

52,000 108,060
119,881 125,014
88,006 70,706
648,992 774,198
314,000 -
724,298 662,181
1,687,290 1,436,379
59 59

30,950 26,443
(8,390) (8,390)
54,030,311 51,180,237
(48,234,738) (44,745,333)
5,818,192 6,452,516
7,505,482 $ 7,888,895

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Product sales
Cost of product sales

Gross income
Operating expenses:
Research and development expenses
Research and development reimbursement
Sales and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Non-operating income (expense):
Interest income
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Financing and interest expense

Non-operating income (loss) , net

Net loss
Preferred stock dividends

Net loss applicable to common shareholders

Basic and diluted loss per share

IsoRay, Inc and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per share:

Basic and diluted

For the year ended
June 30,

2012 2011

5,071,088 $ 5,238,973

4367.884 4,081,556
703,204 1,157,417
780,579 981,186
(50,000) (515.,853)

1,215,580 1,232,188

2,355,015 2,422,884

4,301,174 4,120,405

(3,597,970) (2,962,988)

747 3,381
170,000 334,000
(61,682) (216.,606)
109,065 120,775

(3,488,905) (2,842,213)
(10,632) (10,632)

(3,499,537) $ (2,852,845)

0.12) $ (0.11)

28,621,831 25,131,563

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Series B Preferred Stock

IsoRay, Inc and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

Common Stock

Treasury Stock

Additional Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Paid-in Capital Deficit Total

Balances at June 30, 2010 59,065 § 59 23,048,754 $ 23,049 13,200 $ (8,390) $ 48,084,783 $(41,903,620) $ 6,195,881
Issuance of common stock and stock

purchase warrants pursuant to registered

pubic offering, net 2,250,000 2,250 2,217,056 2,219,306
Initial fair value of derivative warrant
liablity (1,724,000) (1,724,000)
Exercise of derivative warrant liability 119,000 119,000
Reclassification of derivative warrant
liability 1,119,000 1,119,000
Expiration of derivative warrant liability 152,000 152,000
Issuance of common stock pursuant to at

the market, net 304,227 304 250,328 250,632
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

exercise of warrants, net 765,004 765 674,054 674,819
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

exercise of options 75,133 75 55,959 56,034
Payment of dividend to preferred

shareholders (10,632) (10,632)
Share-based compensation 242,689 242,689
Net loss (2,842,213)  (2,842,213)
Balances at June 30,2011 59,065 $ 59 26,443,118 $ 26,443 13,200 $ (8,390) $ 51,180,237 $(44,745,833) $ 6,452,516
Issuance of common stock and stock

purchase warrants pursuant to registered

pubic offering, net 2,817,988 2,818 2,271,668 $ 2,274,486
Initial deferral of financing costs 61,511 $ 61,511
Initial fair value of derivative liablity (484,000) $ (484,000)
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

exercise of warrants, net 1,669,402 1,669 833,128 834,797
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

exercise of options 19,600 20 5,076 5,096
Payment of dividend to preferred

shareholders (10,632) (10,632)
Share-based compensation 173,323 173,323
Net loss (3,488,905)  (3,488,905)
Balances at June 30, 2012 59,065 § 59 30,950,108 § 30,950 13,200 $ (8,390) $ 54,030,311  $(48,234,738) $ 5,818,192

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IsoRay, Inc and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended
June 30, June 30,
2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (3,488,905) $ (2,842,213)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities:
Allowance for doubtful accounts (6,263) 27477
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets 847,115 888,568
Amortization of deferred financing costs and other assets 77,242 233,180
Gain on fair value of warrant liabilities (170,000) (334,000)
Accretion of asset retirement obligation 62,117 56,790
Share-based compensation 173,323 242,689
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (65,958) 75,954
Inventory (164,254) (68,172)
Other receivables 415,976 (421,902)
Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other assets (2,962) (89,951)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 16,846 (32,142)
Accrued protocol expense (98,159) (143,870)
Accrued radioactive waste disposal (56,060) 48,000
Accrued payroll and related taxes (5,133) (61,499)
Accrued vacation 17,300 2,181
Net cash used by operating activities (2,447,775) (2,418,910)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of fixed assets (55,057) (137,496)
Additions to licenses and other assets (40,240) (19,718)
Change in restricted cash (218) (655)
Net cash used by investing activities (95,515) (157,869)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on notes payable - (179,995)
Preferred dividends paid (10,632) (10,632)
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to registered public offering, net 2,274,486 2,219,306
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to at the market, net - 250,632
Proceeds from sales of common stock, pursuant to exercise of warrants, net 834,797 674,819
Proceeds from cash sales of common stock, pursuant to exercise of options 5,096 56,034
Net cash provided by financing activities 3,103,747 3,010,164
Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 560,457 433,385
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,112,254 1,678,869
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 2,672,711 $ 2,112,254
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 171 $ 10,720
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Initial deferral of financing expense 61,511 § =
Initial fair value of warrant liabilities 484,000 1,724,000
Total non-cash investing and financing activities 545511 $ 1,724,000
Reclassification of derivative warrant liability to equity upon exercise - §  (119,000.00)
Reclassification of derivative warrant liability to equity - (1,119,000)
Reclassification of derivative warrant liability to equity upon expiration - (152,000)
Total Reclassification of derivative warrant liability -8 (1,390,000)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IsoRay, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011
1. Organization

CENTURY PARK PicTURES CORPORATION (CENTURY) WAS ORGANIZED UNDER MINNESOTA LAW IN 1983. CENTURY HAD NO OPERATIONS DURING THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBI
1999 through June 30, 2005.

On Jury 28, 2005, IsoRAY MEDICAL, INC. (MEDICAL) BECAME A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF CENTURY PURSUANT TO A MERGER. CENTURY CHANGED ITS NAME TO Isc
Inc. (IsoRay or the Company). In the merger, the Medical stockholders received approximately 82% of the then outstanding securities of the Company.

MEDICAL, A DELAWARE CORPORATION, WAS INCORPORATED EFFECTIVE JUNE 15,2004 TO DEVELOP, MANUFACTURE AND SELL ISOTOPE-BASED MEDICAL PRODUCTS AND DEVIC]
the treatment of cancer and other malignant diseases. Medical is headquartered in Richland, Washington.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Consolidation

THE ACCOMPANYING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INCLUDE THE ACCOUNTS OF THE COMPANY AND ITS WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (COLLECTIVELY THE COMPA?
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ARE STATED AT THE AMOUNT THAT MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY EXPECTS TO COLLECT FROM OUTSTANDING BALANCES. MANAGEMENT PROVIL
PROBABLE UNCOLLECTIBLE AMOUNTS THROUGH AN ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS. ADDITIONS TO THE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS ARE BASED ON MANA
JUDGMENT, CONSIDERING HISTORICAL EXPERIENCE WRITE-OFFS, COLLECTIONS AND CURRENT CREDIT CONDITIONS. BALANCES WHICH REMAIN OUTSTANDING AFTER MANAGEME
USED REASONABLE COLLECTION EFFORTS ARE WRITTEN OFF THROUGH A CHARGE TO THE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS AND A CREDIT TO THE APPLICABLE ACCOUNTS
Payments received subsequent to the time that an account is written off are treated as bad debt recoveries.

Inventory

INVENTORY IS REPORTED AT THE LOWER OF COST OR MARKET. COST OF RAW MATERIALS IS DETERMINED USING THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE METHOD. COST OF WORK IN PROC
finished goods is computed using standard cost, which approximates actual cost, on a first-in, first-out basis.

THE COST OF MATERIALS AND PRODUCTION COSTS CONTAINED IN INVENTORY THAT ARE NOT USEABLE DUE TO THE PASSAGE OF TIME, AND RESULTING LOSS OF BIO-EFFECTIVEN]
written off to cost of product sales at the time it is determined that the product is no longer useable.
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Fixed Assets
Fixep ASSETS ARE CAPITALIZED AND CARRIED AT THE LOWER OF COST OR NET REALIZABLE VALUE. NORMAL MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS ARE CHARGED TO EXPENSE AS INCURRJ
ASSETS ARE SOLD OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF, THE COST AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ARE REMOVED FROM THE ACCOUNTS AND ANY RESULTING GAIN OR LOSS IS RECOGN

operations.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Production equipment 3 to 7 years
Office equipment 2 to 5 years
Fumiture and fixtures 2 to 5 years

Leasehold improvements and capital lease assets are amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or the estimated useful life of the asset.

MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY PERIODICALLY REVIEWS THE NET CARRYING VALUE OF ALL OF ITS EQUIPMENT ON AN ASSET BY ASSET BASIS. THESE REVIEWS CONSIDER TH
REALIZABLE VALUE OF EACH ASSET TO DETERMINE WHETHER THERE IS AN IMPAIRMENT IN VALUE WHICH HAS OCCURRED, AND THERE IS A NEED FOR ANY ASSET IMPAIRMENT
down.

ALTHOUGH MANAGEMENT HAS MADE ITS BEST ESTIMATE OF THE FACTORS THAT AFFECT THE CARRYING VALUE BASED ON CURRENT CONDITIONS, IT IS REASONABLY POSSIB
CHANGES COULD OCCUR WHICH COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT MANAGEMENT'S ESTIMATE OF NET CASH FLOWS EXPECTED TO BE GENERATED FROM ITS ASSETS, AND NECESSITAT
impairment write-downs.

Other Assets

OTHER ASSETS, WHICH INCLUDE DEFERRED CHARGES, PATENTS AND LICENSES, ARE STATED AT COST, LESS ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION. AMORTIZATION OF PATENTS IS COM
USING THE STRAIGHT-LINE METHOD OVER THE ESTIMATED ECONOMIC USEFUL LIVES OF THE ASSETS. LICENSES INCLUDE COSTS RELATED TO LICENSES RELATED TO THE
TECHNOLOGY OR OPERATIONAL LICENSES. THESE LICENSES ARE RECORDED AT STATED COST, LESS ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION. AMORTIZATION OF LICENSES IS COMPUTED USI}
STRAIGHT-LINE METHOD OVER THE ESTIMATED ECONOMIC USEFUL LIVES OF THE ASSETS. THE COMPANY PERIODICALLY REVIEWS THE CARRYING VALUES OF LICENSES AND EVAIL
THE RECORDED BASIS FOR ANY IMPAIRMENTS. ANY IMPAIRMENTS ARE RECOGNIZED WHEN THE EXPECTED FUTURE OPERATING CASH FLOWS TO BE DERIVED FROM THE LICENSES
LESS THAN THEIR CARRYING VALUE. THE COMPANY PERIODICALLY REVIEWS THE CARRYING VALUES OF PATENTS AND ANY RELATED IMPAIRMENTS ARE RECOGNIZED WHE
expected future operating cash flows to be derived from such assets are less than their carrying value.

Asset Retirement Obligation

THE ESTIMATED FAIR VALUE OF THE FUTURE RETIREMENT COSTS OF THE COMPANY'S LEASED ASSETS ARE RECORDED AS A LIABILITY ON A DISCOUNTED BASIS WHEN THEY ARE I
AND AN EQUIVALENT AMOUNT IS CAPITALIZED TO FIXED ASSETS. THE INITIAL RECORDED OBLIGATION IS DISCOUNTED USING THE COMPANY'S CREDIT-ADJUSTED RISK-FREE RATE /
REVIEWED PERIODICALLY FOR CHANGES IN THE ESTIMATED FUTURE COSTS UNDERLYING THE OBLIGATION. THE COMPANY AMORTIZES THE INITIAL AMOUNT CAPITALIZED TO PROI
and equipment and recognizes accretion expense in connection with the discounted liability over the estimated remaining useful life of the leased assets.

Financial Instruments

At June 30, 2012 anD 2011, THE CARRYING VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SUCH AS ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER RECEIVABLES, ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND A(
liabilities, approximated fair value based on the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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THE COMPANY DISCLOSES THE FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, BOTH ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, RECOGNIZED AND NOT RECOGNIZED IN THE BALANCE SHEET, FOR WHIC
PRACTICABLE TO ESTIMATE THE FAIR VALUE. THE FAIR VALUE OF A FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT IS THE AMOUNT AT WHICH THE INSTRUMENT COULD BE EXCHANGED IN A (
transaction between willing parties, other than a forced liquidation sale.

Fair Value Measurement

ASC Toric 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, ESTABLISHES A FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY FOR THOSE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE V
DISTINGUISHES BETWEEN ASSUMPTIONS BASED ON MARKET DATA (OBSERVABLE INPUTS). THE HIERARCHY CONSISTS OF: LEVEL 1 — QUOTED MARKET PRICES IN ACTIVE MARKETS
IDENTICAL INSTRUMENTS; LEVEL 2 — INPUTS OTHER THAN LEVEL 1INPUTS THAT ARE OBSERVABLE; AND LEVEL 3 — UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS DEVELOPED USING ESTIMATES
assumptions determined by the Company.

At JunE 30,2012 AND 2011, THERE WERE NO ASSETS OR LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR-VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS WHICH WERE MEASURED USING LEVEL 1 INPUTS
COMPANY HAD ONE LIABILITY, THE WARRANT DERIVATIVE LIABILITY THAT WAS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS USING LEVEL 2 INPUTS DURING THE YEARS
JunE 30,2012 anD 2011. CERTAIN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ARE MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A NON-RECURRING BASIS; THAT IS, THE INSTRUMENTS ARE NOT MEASURED
VALUE ON AN ONGOING BASIS, BUT ARE SUBJECT TO FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS ONLY IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES (FOR EXAMPLE, WHEN THERE IS EVIDENCE OF IMPAIRMENT). *
Company had no assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during the years ended June 30,2012 or2011.

Warrant Derivative Liabilities

For the warrant derivative liabilities which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model.

Revenue Recognition

THe COMPANY RECOGNIZES REVENUE RELATED TO PRODUCT SALES WHEN (I) PERSUASIVE EVIDENCE OF AN ARRANGEMENT EXISTS, (II) SHIPMENT HAS OCCURRED, (I[I) THE FE
fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.

REVENUE FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30,2012 AND 2011 WAS DERIVED PRIMARILY FROM SALES OF THE PROXCELAN Cs-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEED, WHICH IS USED I
TREATMENT OF CANCER. THE COMPANY BEGAN SHIPPING ITS GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM IN THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 WHICH IS USED IN T
TREATMENT OF BRAIN CANCER. THE COMPANY RECOGNIZES REVENUE ONCE THE PRODUCT HAS BEEN SHIPPED TO THE CUSTOMER. PREPAYMENTS, IF ANY, RECEIVED FROM CUSTON
PRIOR TO THE TIME THAT PRODUCTS ARE SHIPPED ARE RECORDED AS DEFERRED REVENUE. IN THESE CASES, WHEN THE RELATED PRODUCTS ARE SHIPPED, THE AMOUNT RECO
DEFERRED REVENUE IS THEN RECOGNIZED AS REVENUE. THE COMPANY ACCRUES FOR SALES RETURNS AND OTHER ALLOWANCES AT THE TIME OF SHIPMENT. ALTHOUGH THE CoO
DOES NOT HAVE AN EXTENSIVE OPERATING HISTORY UPON WHICH TO DEVELOP SALES RETURNS ESTIMATES, WE HAVE USED THE EXPERTISE OF OUR MANAGEMENT TEAM, PARTICUI
those with extensive industry experience and knowledge, to develop a proper methodology.

Shipping and Handling Costs

SHIPPING COSTS INCLUDE CHARGES ASSOCIATED WITH DELIVERY OF GOODS FROM THE COMPANY'S FACILITIES TO ITS CUSTOMERS AND ARE REFLECTED IN COST OF PRODUCT :
Shipping costs paid to the Company by its customers are classified as product sales.
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Stock-Based Compensation

THE COMPANY MEASURES AND RECOGNIZES EXPENSE FOR ALL SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AT FAIR VALUE. THE COMPANY USES THE BLACK-SCHOLES OPTION VALUATION MODEL
ESTIMATE FAIR VALUE FOR ALL STOCK OPTIONS ON THE DATE OF GRANT. FOR STOCK OPTIONS THAT VEST OVER TIME, THE COMPANY RECOGNIZES COMPENSATION COST ON A ST
line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award.

Research and Development Costs

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS, INCLUDING SALARIES, RESEARCH MATERIALS, ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND CONTRACTOR FEES, ARE CHARGED TO OPERATIONS AS IM
THE COST OF EQUIPMENT USED IN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES WHICH HAS ALTERNATIVE USES IS CAPITALIZED AS PART OF FIXED ASSETS AND NOT TREATED
EXPENSE IN THE PERIOD ACQUIRED. DEPRECIATION OF CAPITALIZED EQUIPMENT USED TO PERFORM RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT IS CLASSIFIED AS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPME
expense in the year recognized.

Research and Development Reimbursement

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT REIMBURSEMENT INCLUDES ALLOWABLE COSTS THAT HAVE BEEN INCURRED FOR RELATED GRANTS AND OTHER COST SHARING ARRANGEMENTS FO
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. THESE AMOUNTS HAVE BEEN RECORDED IN PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS. AN ACCRUAL IN PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CUF
ASSETS FOR THESE COST REIMBURSEMENTS IS RECORDED IN THE YEAR IN WHICH IT IS EARNED AND THE ACCRUAL IS RELIEVED WHEN THE REIMBURSEMENT IS RECEIVED. RESEAR(
DEVELOPMENT REIMBURSEMENTS WERE $50,000 aND $515,853 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011 RESPECTIVELY. As OF JUNE 30,2012 aND 2011, NONE A
$406,537 WERE RECEIVABLE FROM THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE AND RECORDED IN PREPAID EXPENSE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS. THESE AMOUNTS WERE THE RESULT
RECEIPT OF THREE GRANTS AWARDED FROM THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE IN OcTOBER 2010 As PART OF THE IRS QUALIFIED THERAPEUTIC DISCOVERY PROJECT, WHICH C
expenses incurred during the fiscal and tax years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively.

Advertising and Marketing Costs

ADVERTISING COSTS ARE EXPENSED AS INCURRED EXCEPT FOR THE COST OF TRADESHOWS AND RELATED MARKETING MATERIALS WHICH ARE DEFERRED UNTIL THE TRADESHO
ADVERTISING AND MARKETING COSTS EXPENSED (INCLUDING TRADESHOWS) WERE $57,410 anp $83,815 ForR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 anD 2011, RESPECTIV
Marketing costs of $8,675 and $4,300 were included in prepaid expenses at June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively.

Legal Contingencies

TE COMPANY RECORDS CONTINGENT LIABILITIES RESULTING FROM ASSERTED AND UNASSERTED CLAIMS AGAINST IT, WHEN IT IS PROBABLE THAT A LIABILITY HAS BEEN INCURRI
THE AMOUNT OF THE LOSS IS REASONABLY ESTIMABLE. ESTIMATING PROBABLE LOSSES REQUIRES ANALYSIS OF MULTIPLE FACTORS, IN SOME CASES INCLUDING JUDGMENTS ABOU
POTENTIAL ACTIONS OF THIRD-PARTY CLAIMANTS AND COURTS. THEREFORE, ACTUAL LOSSES IN ANY FUTURE PERIOD ARE INHERENTLY UNCERTAIN. CURRENTLY, THE COMPANY
BELIEVE ANY PROBABLE LEGAL PROCEEDINGS OR CLAIMS WILL HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT ON ITS FINANCIAL POSITION OR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. HOWEVER, IF AC
ESTIMATED PROBABLE FUTURE LOSSES EXCEED THE COMPANY'S RECORDED LIABILITY FOR SUCH CLAIMS, IT WOULD RECORD ADDITIONAL CHARGES AS OTHER EXPENSE DURI
period in which the actual loss or change in estimate occurred.

Income Taxes

INCOME TAXES ARE ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER THE LIABILITY METHOD. UNDER THIS METHOD, THE COMPANY PROVIDES DEFERRED INCOME TAXES FOR TEMPORARY DIFFERENCE!
WILL RESULT IN TAXABLE OR DEDUCTIBLE AMOUNTS IN FUTURE YEARS BASED ON THE REPORTING OF CERTAIN COSTS IN DIFFERENT PERIODS FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND INC
PURPOSES. THIS METHOD ALSO REQUIRES THE RECOGNITION OF FUTURE TAX BENEFITS SUCH AS NET OPERATING LOSS CARRY-FORWARDS, TO THE EXTENT THAT REALIZATION
BENEFITS IS MORE LIKELY THAN NOT. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ARE MEASURED USING ENACTED TAX RATES EXPECTED TO APPLY TO TAXABLE INCOME IN THE Y
WHICH THOSE TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES ARE EXPECTED TO BE RECOVERED OR SETTLED. THE EFFECT ON DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF A CHANGE IN TAX
RECOGNIZED IN OPERATIONS IN THE PERIOD THAT INCLUDES THE ENACTMENT OF THE CHANGE. MANAGEMENT HAS DETERMINED THAT THE COMPANY, ITS SUBSIDIARY, ANI
PREDECESSORS ARE SUBJECT TO EXAMINATION OF THEIR INCOME TAX FILINGS IN THE UNITED STATES AND STATE JURISDICTIONS FOR THE 2010 THROUGH 2012 TAX YEARS.
EVENT THAT THE COMPANY IS ASSESSED PENALTIES AND OR INTEREST, PENALTIES WILL BE CHARGED TO OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE AND INTEREST WILL BE CHARGED TO I
expense.
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Income (Loss) Per Common Share

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE IS CALCULATED BY DIVIDING NET INCOME (LOSS) AVAILABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS BY THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SH#
OUTSTANDING, AND DOES NOT INCLUDE THE IMPACT OF ANY POTENTIALLY DILUTIVE COMMON STOCK EQUIVALENTS, INCLUDING PREFERRED STOCK, COMMON STOCK WARRAN
options that are potentially convertible into common stock as those would be antidilutive due to the Company's net loss position.

Securities that could be dilutive in the future as of June 30,2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012 2011
Preferred stock 59,065 59,065
Common stock warrants 1,959,799 3,819,185
Common stock options 2,381,306 2,423,806
Total potential dilutive securities 4,400,170 6,302,056

Use of Estimates

THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA REQUIRES MANAGEME
THE COMPANY TO MAKE ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS THAT AFFECT THE AMOUNTS REPORTED IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ACCOMPANYING NOTES INCLUDING
ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE; NET REALIZABLE VALUE OF THE ENRICHED BARIUM INVENTORY; THE ESTIMATED USEFUL LIVES USED IN CALCULATING DEPR
AND AMORTIZATION ON THE COMPANY'S FIXED ASSETS, PATENTS, TRADEMARKS AND OTHER ASSETS; ESTIMATED AMOUNT AND FAIR VALUE OF THE ASSET RETIREMENT OBL
RELATED TO THE COMPANY'S PRODUCTION FACILITIES; AND INPUTS USED IN THE CALCULATION OF EXPENSE RELATED TO SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION INCLUDING VOLAT

ESTIMATED LIVES AND FORFEITURE RATES OF OPTIONS GRANTED. ACCORDINGLY, ACTUAL RESULTS COULD DIFFER FROM THOSE ESTIMATES AND AFFECT THE AMOUNTS REPORI
financial statements.

3. Inventory

Inventory consisted of the following at June 30,2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Raw materials $ 261835 $ 62539%
Work in process 114,124 120,180
Finished goods 68,386 4,275
Total inventory $ 444345 $ 749,849

IN JUNE 2007, THE COMPANY PURCHASED $469,758 OF ENRICHED BARIUM THAT WILL BE USED IN FUTURE PRODUCTION OF ITS ISOTOPE. THE ENRICHED BARIUM IS HELD AT
OFF-SITE STORAGE LOCATION IN RICHLAND, WASHINGTON AND WAS INCLUDED IN RAW MATERIALS AT JUNE 30, 2011, AND IS NOW CLASSIFIED AS INVENTORY, NON-CURRENT ¢/
30,2012. The Company reclassified the material based on revised plans of management for utilizing the material.
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4. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following at June 30,2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Prepaid insurance $ 23,798 $ 26,285
Prepaid rent 23,367 23,697
Other prepaid expenses 70,258 64,479
Other current assets 26,693 26,693

§ 144,116 § 141,154

5. Other Receivables

OTHER RECEIVABLES CONSISTED OF RECEIVABLES THAT ARE NOT THE RESULT OF REVENUE CREATING ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY. THE OTHER RECEIVABLE RECORDED AS OF
2012 WAS PRIMARILY COMPRISED OF EMPLOYEE ADVANCES AND REFUNDS DUE TO THE COMPANY IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,925. THE OTHER RECEIVABLE RECORDED AS OF JUNE .
2011 WAS PRIMARILY A RECEIVABLE THAT WAS CREATED AS THE RESULT OF QUALIFIED THERAPEUTIC DISCOVERY PROJECT GRANTS RECEIVED BY THE COMPANY IN OCTOBER
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT REIMBURSEMENTS FOR PROJECT RELATED COSTS ARE RECORDED AS OPERATIONAL EXPENSE RECOVERIES WITH THE RELATED ENTRY BEING REC(
OTHER RECEIVABLES AS EARNED. THE PAYMENT OF THIS OTHER RECEIVABLE WAS RECEIVED IN JULY 2011 AND wAs $406,537 OF THE TOTAL OTHER RECEIVABLES AMOU
$425,901.

6. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consisted of the following at June 30,2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Production equipment $ 3,133,305 $ 3,047,899
Office equipment 189,301 103,597
Furniture and fixtures 148,265 148,265
Leasehold improvements 4,129,977 4,122,417
Construction in progress - 123,613

7,600,848 7,545,791
Less accumulated depreciation (5,183,995) (4,336,880)

$ 2,416,853 § 3,208,911

Depreciation and amortization expense related to fixed assets totaled $847,115 and $888,568 for 2012 and 2011, respectively.
7. Restricted Cash

THE WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, EFFECTIVE OcTOBER 2007, HAS REQUIRED THE COMPANY TO PROVIDE COLLATERAL FOR THE DECOMMISSIONING OF ITS FACILIT
SATISFY THIS REQUIREMENT, THE COMPANY FUNDED TWO CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSITS (CDs) TOTALING $172,500 IN SEPARATE BANKS. THE CDs BOTH HAVE ORIGINAL MATUR
OF THREE MONTHS BUT ARE TERMED RESTRICTED CASH AND CLASSIFIED AS A LONG-TERM ASSET AS THE COMPANY DOES NOT ANTICIPATE DECOMMISSIONING THE FACILITY UN’
END OF THE CURRENT LEASE PLUS THE ONE REMAINING THREE-YEAR LEASE OPTION PERIOD. THE END DATE OF THE CURRENT LEASE INCLUDING THE ONE REMAINING THR
RENEWAL OPTION 1S APRIL 2016. INTEREST EARNED ON THE CDS IS ROLLED-OVER AT THE MATURITY OF EACH CD AND BECOMES PART OF THE RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE.
EARNED AND ADDED TO RESTRICTED CASH DURING THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,2012 AND 2011 was $218 anD $655, RESPECTIVELY. THESE FUNDS WILL BE USED TO S
portion of the Company's remaining asset retirement obligations (Note 9).
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8. Other Assets

Other assets, net of accumulated amortization, consisted of the following at June 30,2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Deferred charges $ 98,435 §$ 73,988
Patents and trademarks, net of accumulated amortization of $71,244 and
$55,513 203,256 203,194
$ 301,691 $ 277,182

Amortization of patents and trademarks was $15,731 and $15,130 for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively.

FY2013 $ 16,597
FY 2014 16,597
FY 2015 16,597
FY 2016 16,597
FY 2017 14,109
Thereafter $ 122,758

9. Asset Retirement Obligation
IN SEPTEMBER 2007, AN ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION OF $473,096 WAS ESTABLISHED REPRESENTING THE DISCOUNTED COST OF THE COMPANY'S ESTIMATE OF THE OBLIGAT
TO REMOVE ANY RESIDUAL RADIOACTIVE MATERIALS AND ALL LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS AT THE END OF THE LEASE TERM AT ITS NEW PRODUCTION FACILITY. THE ESTIM

developed by qualified production personnel and the general contractor of the facility using level 3 fair value inputs.

During the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, the asset retirement obligations changed as follows:

2012 2011
Beginning balance $ 662,181 $ 605,391
Accretion of discount 62,117 56,790
Ending balance $ 724,298 $ 662,181

BECAUSE THE COMPANY DOES NOT EXPECT TO INCUR ANY EXPENSES RELATED TO ITS ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS IN FISCAL YEAR 2013, THE ENTIRE BALANCE AS OF JU
2012 is classified as a noncurrent liability.

10. Share-Based Compensation

The following table presents the share-based compensation expense recognized during the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Cost of product sales $ 47463 $ 35,087
Research and development 30,480 22,380
Sales and marketing expenses 10,182 10,004
General and administrative expenses 85,198 175,218
Total share-based compensation $ 173,323 § 242,689
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THE TOTAL VALUE OF THE STOCK OPTIONS AWARDS IS EXPENSED RATABLY OVER THE VESTING PERIOD OF THE EMPLOYEES RECEIVING THE AWARDS. As oF JUNE 30, 2012,
UNRECOGNIZED COMPENSATION COST RELATED TO STOCK-BASED OPTIONS AND AWARDS WAS $179,509 AND THE WEIGHTED-AVERAGE PERIOD OVER WHICH IT IS EXPECTED T(
recognized is approximately 0.95 years.

THE COMPANY CURRENTLY PROVIDES SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION UNDER THREE EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS: THE AMENDED .
REsTATED 2005 Stock OpTION PLAN (THE OPTION PLAN), THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 2005 EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN (THE EMPLOYEE PLAN), AND THE 2
DirecTor Stock OPTION PLAN (THE DIRECTOR PLAN). THE OPTION PLAN ALLOWS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO GRANT OPTIONS TO PURCHASE UP TO 1,800,000 SHARES OF
STOCK TO DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, KEY EMPLOYEES AND SERVICE PROVIDERS OF THE CoMPANY. THE EMPLOYEE PLAN ALLOWS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO GRANT OPTI
PURCHASE UP TO 2,000,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK TO OFFICERS AND KEY EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY. THE DIRECTOR PLAN ALLOWS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO
OPTIONS TO PURCHASE UP TO 1,000,000 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK TO DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY. OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER ALL OF THE PLANS HAVE A TEN YEAR MAX
TERM, AN EXERCISE PRICE EQUAL TO AT LEAST THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK ON THE DATE OF THE GRANT, AND VARYING VESTING PERI
DETERMINED BY THE BOARD. FOR STOCK OPTIONS WITH GRADED VESTING TERMS, THE COMPANY RECOGNIZES COMPENSATION COST ON A STRAIGHT-LINE BASIS OVER THE REQU
service period for the entire award.

A summary of stock option information within the Company's share-based compensation plans as of June 30,2012 is as follows:

Shares Price (a) Life (b) Value (c)
Outstanding at June 30,2012 2,381,306 $ 1.82 564 $ 473,951
Vested and expected to vest at June 30,2012 2.283,968 $ 1.86 559 $ 432,860
Vested and exercisable at June 30,2012 2,102964 $ 1.92 536 $ 460,950
(a) Weighted average exercise price per share.
(b) Weighted average remaining contractual life.
(c) Aggregate intrinsic value

THE AGGREGATE INTRINSIC VALUE OF OPTIONS EXERCISED DURING THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 anD 2011 was $13,764 anp $15,598, respecTIVELY. THE COMPAN
current policy is to issue new shares to satisfy option exercises.

THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE FAIR VALUE OF STOCK OPTION AWARDS GRANTED AND THE KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED IN THE BLACK-SCHOLES VALUATION MODEL TO CALCULATE 1
value are as follows for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011:

Years ended June 30,
2012 (a) 2011 (b)
Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 0.80 § 0.84
Key assumptions used in determining fair value:
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 0.71% 1.54%
Weighted average life of the option (in years) 4.77 4 .83
Weighted average historical stock price volatility 132.47% 130.04%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%
(a) During the year ended June 30,2012, the Company granted 110,000 stock options.
(b) During the year ended June 30,2011, the Company granted 357,500 stock options.
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THE BLACK-SCHOLES OPTION VALUATION MODEL WAS DEVELOPED FOR USE IN ESTIMATING THE FAIR VALUE OF TRADED OPTIONS WHICH HAVE NO VESTING RESTRICTIONS AN
FULLY TRANSFERABLE. IN ADDITION, OPTION VALUATION MODELS REQUIRE THE INPUT OF HIGHLY SUBJECTIVE ASSUMPTIONS, INCLUDING THE EXPECTED STOCK PRICE VOLAT
ALTHOUGH THE COMPANY IS USING THE BLACK-SCHOLES OPTION VALUATION MODEL, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT BECAUSE CHANGES IN THE SUBJECTIVE INPUT ASSUMPTIO'
CAN MATERIALLY AFFECT THE FAIR VALUE ESTIMATE, THIS VALUATION MODEL DOES NOT NECESSARILY PROVIDE A RELIABLE SINGLE MEASURE OF THE FAIR VALUE OF ITS STOCK
THE RISK-FREE INTEREST RATE IS BASED ON THE U.S. TREASURY SECURITY RATE WITH AN EQUIVALENT TERM IN EFFECT AS OF THE DATE OF GRANT. THE EXPECTED OPTI
volatility, and forfeiture assumptions are based on historical data of the Company.

A summary of the Company's stock option activity and related information for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011 is as follows:

2012 2011
Shares Price (a) Shares Price (a)
Beginning balance outstanding 2,423,806 $ 1.78 2,274,706 $ 1.96
Granted (b) 110,000 0.80 357,500 0.99
Expired (132,900) 0.68 (133,267) 3.28
Exercised (19,600) 0.26 (75,133) 0.75
Ending balance outstanding 2,381,306 $ 1.82 2,423,806 $ 1.78
Exercisable at end of year 2,102,964 $ 1.92 1,951,114 $ 2.01

(a) Weighted average exercise price per share.

(b) ALL OPTIONS GRANTED HAD EXERCISE PRICES EQUAL TO OR GREATER THAN THE ENDING CLOSING MARKET PRICE OF THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK O!
GRANT DATE. THE OPTIONS WERE GRANTED TO EMPLOYEES AND MANAGEMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND HAD VESTING PERIODS FROM IMMEDIAT
three years.

11. Shareholders' Equity
The authorized capital structure of the Company consists of $.001 par value preferred stock and $.001 par value common stock.
Preferred Stock

TuE COMPANY'S ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AUTHORIZE 7,000,000 sHARES OF $0.001 PAR VALUE PREFERRED STOCK AVAILABLE FOR ISSUANCE WITH SUCH RIGHT:
preferences, including liquidation, dividend, conversion, and voting rights, as described below.

Series A

SERIES A PREFERRED SHARES ARE ENTITLED TO A 10% DIVIDEND ANNUALLY ON THE STATED PAR VALUE PER SHARE. THESE SHARES ARE CONVERTIBLE INTO SHARES OF COMMO
AT THE RATE OF ONE SHARE OF COMMON STOCK FOR EACH SHARE OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, AND ARE SUBJECT TO AUTOMATIC CONVERSION INTO COMMON STOCK UPC
CLOSING OF AN UNDERWRITTEN PUBLIC OFFERING PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 COVERING THE OFFER ANI
COMMON STOCK IN WHICH THE GROSS PROCEEDS TO THE COMPANY ARE AT LEAST $4 MILLION. SERIES A PREFERRED SHAREHOLDERS HAVE VOTING RIGHTS EQUAL TO THE \
RIGHTS OF COMMON STOCK, EXCEPT THAT THE VOTE OR WRITTEN CONSENT OF A MAJORITY OF THE OUTSTANDING PREFERRED SHARES 1S REQUIRED FOR ANY CHANGES TO THE C¢
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, ByLaWs OR CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION, OR FOR ANY BANKRUPTCY, INSOLVENCY, DISSOLUTION OR LIQUIDATION OF THE COMPANY.
liquidation of the Company, the Company's assets are first distributed ratably to the Series A preferred shareholders. At June 30,2012 and 2011, there were no
Series A preferred shares outstanding.
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Series B

SERIES B PREFERRED SHARES ARE ENTITLED TO A CUMULATIVE 15% DIVIDEND ANNUALLY ON THE STATED PAR VALUE PER SHARE. THESE SHARES ARE CONVERTIBLE INTO §
COMMON STOCK AT THE RATE OF ONE SHARE OF COMMON STOCK FOR EACH SHARE OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK, AND ARE SUBJECT TO AUTOMATIC CONVERSION INTO COMMON
upon the closing of an underwritten public offering pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 covering the offer and sale
OF COMMON STOCK IN WHICH THE GROSS PROCEEDS TO THE COMPANY ARE AT LEAST $4 MILLION. SERIES B PREFERRED SHAREHOLDERS HAVE VOTING RIGHTS EQUAL TO THE
RIGHTS OF COMMON STOCK, EXCEPT THAT THE VOTE OR WRITTEN CONSENT OF A MAJORITY OF THE OUTSTANDING PREFERRED SHARES IS REQUIRED FOR ANY CHANGES TO THE C¢
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, BYLAWS OR CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION, OR FOR ANY BANKRUPTCY, INSOLVENCY, DISSOLUTION OR LIQUIDATION OF THE COMPANY.
LIQUIDATION OF THE COMPANY, THE COMPANY'S ASSETS ARE FIRST DISTRIBUTED RATABLY TO THE SERIES A PREFERRED SHAREHOLDERS, THEN TO THE SERIES B PR
shareholders.

ON DEcEMBER 16, 2011, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS DECLARED A DIVIDEND ON THE SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK OF ALL OUTSTANDING AND CUMULATIVE DIVIDENDS TI
DecemBER 31, 2011. THE TOTAL DIVIDENDS OF $10,632 WERE PAID AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2011. At June 30, 2012, THERE WERE 59,065 SERIES B PREFERRED SH?
OUTSTANDING AND CUMULATIVE DIVIDENDS IN ARREARS WERE $5,316 AND UPON ANY LIQUIDATION, DISSOLUTION, OR WINDING UP OF THE COMPANY, WHETHER VOLUNTAR
INVOLUNTARY, THE ASSETS OF THE COMPANY LEGALLY AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION, IF ANY, SHALL BE DISTRIBUTED RATABLY FIRST, TO THE HOLDERS OF THE SERIES A
Stock, second, to the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock and third, to the holders of the Common Stock.

Series C

SERIES C PREFERRED SHARES ARE ENTITLED TO A QUARTERLY DIVIDEND EQUAL, PER SHARE, TO THE GREATER OF $1.00 or 100 TIMES THE DIVIDENDS DECLARED ON THE COMM
IN SUCH QUARTER. EACH SHARE OF SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK HAS VOTING RIGHTS EQUAL TO THE VOTING RIGHTS OF 100 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK. THE SERIES C PREFERRI
WAS CREATED UPON ADOPTION OF THE COMPANY'S SHARE RIGHTS PLAN IN 2007. UPON LIQUIDATION OF THE COMPANY, THE COMPANY'S ASSETS ARE FIRST DISTRIBUTED RATABL
THE SERIES A PREFERRED SHAREHOLDERS, THEN THE SERIES B PREFERRED SHAREHOLDERS, THEN THE SERIES C PREFERRED SHAREHOLDERS. AT JUNE 30,2012 anp 2011, T
no Series C preferred shares outstanding.

IN ADDITION TO THE PREVIOUSLY OUTSTANDING SHARES OF COMMON STOCK AND SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK, THE COMPANY HAD THE FOLLOWING TRANSACTIONS THAT A
shareholders' equity during the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011.

Common Stock Offering

ON OcT10BER 1,2010, THE COMPANY MADE AN “AT THE MARKET”” SALE OF COMMON STOCK. THROUGH OcTOBER 31,2010, 304,227 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK WERE SOLI
behalf ofthe Company.

The gross cash proceeds and offering costs are described below.

October 1,2010
At the market offering

Gross cash proceeds $ 368,781
Commission expense (7,302)
Legal and accounting expense (110,276)
Other costs (571)
Net cash proceeds $ 250,632

In October 2010, the Company offered a temporary reduction in the exercise price of certain warrants to purchase shares of common stock previously issued.
On October 20,2010 the Company commenced soliciting warrant exercises from existing holders at a reduced exercise price of $0.95 per warrant exercised
prior to October 31,2010. Warrant holders exercised warrants to purchase 226,344 shares of common stock.
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October 20,2010
Warrant solicitation

Gross cash proceeds $ 215,027
Legal and accounting expense (15,208)
Net cash proceeds $ 199,819

ON NovEMBER 22, 2010, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO A SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT (AS AMENDED ON DECEMBER 27, 2010 AND MarcH 31, 2011) AS PART OF -
COMPANY’S REGISTERED OFFERING WITH AN INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR AND CLOSED THE TRANSACTION ON NOVEMBER 24, 2010 FOR THE SALE OF 2,250,000 SHARES OF C(
stock and four series of warrants.

BY LETTER AGREEMENT DATED OcTOBER 27, 2010, LIFETECH CAPITAL, A DIVISION OF AURORA CAPITAL, LLC, ACTED AS PLACEMENT AGENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE PLAC
OF THE SECURITIES IN THIS OFFERING. LIFETECH RECEIVED A CASH FEE OF 5% OF THE GROSS PROCEEDS RECEIVED UNDER THE OFFERING (EXCLUDING PROCEEDS RECEIVED O
EXERCISE OF C OR D WARRANTS), AND WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 3% OF THE COMMON STOCK SOLD IN THE OFFERING AND 3% OF THE SERIES A, B AND C WARRANTS EXEF
ANY TIME, WHICH WARRANTS ISSUED TO LIFETECH WERE NOT EXERCISABLE FOR SIX MONTHS FOLLOWING THE CLOSING, HAVE A FIVE YEAR TERM, AND AN EXERCISE PRICE OF
per share.

November 22,2010
Registered public offering

Gross cash proceeds $ 2,250,000
Commission expense (112,500)
Legal and accounting expense (108,927)
Other costs (2,318)
Financing costs 193,051
Net cash proceeds $ 2,219,306

ON OctoBER 13, 2011, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO AN UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT WITH WESTPARK CAPITAL, INC. AS MANAGING UNDERWRITER FOR A BEST EFFORT!
NOTHING UNDERWRITTEN REGISTERED OFFERING OF 2,500,000 sHARES OF THE COMPANY’S COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE $0.001 PER SHARE, AT AN OFFERING PRICE TO THE PUB
$0.92 PER SHARE. WITH EVERY FIVE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK PURCHASED, THE PURCHASER RECEIVED A WARRANT TO PURCHASE ONE SHARE OF COMMON STOCK WITH AN EX
PRICE OF $1.058 WITH A FIVE YEAR TERM FOR A TOTAL OF 500,003 WARRANTS ISSUED IN THE INITIAL TRANSACTION. UNDER THE TERMS OF THE UNDERWRITING AGREEN
COMPANY ALSO GRANTED THE UNDERWRITERS A 45 DAY OPTION TO SELL UP TO AN ADDITIONAL 1,027,173 sHARES OF COMMON STOCK (WITH WARRANTS TO PURCHASE Ul
ADDITIONAL 205,435 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK) TO COVER OVER-ALLOTMENTS, IF ANY, AT THE OFFERING PRICE. THERE WERE 317,988 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK SOLD FR
OVER-ALLOTMENT AND 63,598 WARRANTS ISSUED AS PART OF THE SALE OF THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SHARES. NONE OF THE WARRANTS FROM EITHER THE INITIAL SALE C
COMMON STOCK OR FROM THOSE SOLD AS PART OF THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SALE OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK HAVE BEEN EXERCISED. THE GROSS PROCEEDS AND NET PROCEI
THE COMPANY FROM THE SALE OF THE INITIAL 2.5 MILLION SHARES OF COMMON STOCK AND FROM THE OVER-ALLOTMENT SALE OF 317,988 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK W
described in the table below.

October 19,2011 December 7,2011

Registered offering  Over-allotment Total
Gross cash proceeds $ 2,300,000 $ 292,549 $ 2,592,549
Underwriting costs ! (140,087) (15,696) (155,783)
Legal costs (100,050) (14,230) (114,280)
Other costs (46,500) (1,500) (48,000)
Net cash proceeds $ 2,013,363 $ 261,123 2,274,486

1 Underwriting costs include commissions paid directly to the underwriter and underwriting fees.
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Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

ON NoVEMBER 22, 2010, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO A SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT (AS AMENDED ON DECEMBER 27, 2010 AND MARCH 31, 2011) AS PART OF *
COMPANY’S REGISTERED OFFERING WITH AN INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR AND CLOSED THE TRANSACTION ON NOVEMBER 24, 2010 FOR THE SALE OF 2,250,000 SHARES OF C¢
STOCK AND FOUR SERIES OF WARRANTS. THE TOTAL WARRANTS EXERCISABLE IN SERIES A, SERIES B AND SERIES C WILL BE A MAXIMUM AGGREGATE OF 2,168,026 FOR A MA
NUMBER OF BELOW MARKET SECURITIES ISSUED, TOGETHER WITH THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK SOLD IN THE OFFERING, OF NO GREATER THAN 4,418,026 SHARES OF CC
STOCK, WHICH IS THE MAXIMUM ISSUABLE UNDER THE NYSE MKT REQUIREMENTS WITHOUT OBTAINING SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL FOR THE ISSUANCE. SERIES D WARRANTS v
are not below market securities are expected to be exercisable to purchase 1,873,641 shares of common stock.

BY LETTER AGREEMENT DATED OCTOBER 27,2010, LIFETECH CAPITAL, A DIVISION OF AURORA CAPITAL, LLC, ACTED AS PLACEMENT AGENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE PLAC
OF THE SECURITIES IN THIS OFFERING. LIFETECH RECEIVED A CASH FEE OF 5% OF THE GROSS PROCEEDS RECEIVED UNDER THE OFFERING (EXCLUDING PROCEEDS RECEIVED O
EXERCISE OF C OR D WARRANTS), AND WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 3% OF THE COMMON STOCK SOLD IN THE OFFERING AND 3% OF THE SERIES A, B AND C WARRANTS EXEl
ANY TIME, WHICH WARRANTS ISSUED TO LIFETECH WERE NOT EXERCISABLE FOR SIX MONTHS FOLLOWING THE CLOSING, HAVE A FIVE YEAR TERM, AND AN EXERCISE PRICE OF
per share.

BASED ON THE GUIDANCE CONTAINED IN ASC 815, MANAGEMENT HAD CONCLUDED THAT THE WARRANTS IN SERIES A, SERIES B, AND SERIES C SHOULD BE CLASSIFIED A LIAE
AND HAD RECORDED A LIABILITY AT FAIR VALUE. THE COMPANY DETERMINED THE FAIR VALUE OF THE WARRANTS USING THE BLACK-SCHOLES FAIR VALUE MODEL. THE Cc
DETERMINED THE FAIR VALUE OF THE WARRANTS ON THE DATE OF THE OFFERING. THE COMPANY HAS RECOGNIZED A GAIN ON THE CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE DURING THE YEAR
June 30,2011.

Initial fair value of warrants at November 24,2010:

Series A $ 191,000
Series B 236,000
Series C 1,297,000
Total initial fair value $1,724,000
Change in fair value of warrants through June 30,2011

Series A $ 72,000
Series B 84,000
Series C 178,000
Total change in on fair value $334,000

The inputs to the Black-Scholes fair value model are listed in the table below:

Series A warrants

Transaction Stock Exercise Estimated Expected Risk-Free
Date Description Quantity Price Price Term Volatility Rate Valuation
11/24/2010 Registered offering 481,696  § 136 § 1.038 3 mo. 71.70% 0.187% $ 191,000
12/31/2010 Fair value adjust. 508,130 1.13 0.984 3 mo. 59.28% 0.167% (75,000)
03/24/2011 Fair value adjust. 538,660 1.07 0.921 3 mo. 58.81% 0.143% 3,000
03/24/2011 Reclassify to equity (119,000)
Total derivative warrants outstanding $ -
Series B warrants
Transaction Stock Exercise Estimated Expected Risk-Free
Date Description Quantity Price Price Term Volatility Rate Valuation
11/24/2010 Registered offering 562,500 § 136§ 1.038 6 mo. 66.50% 0.200% $ 236,000
12/31/2010 Fair value adjust. 562,500 1.13 0.984 6 mo. 62.22% 0.190% (86,000)
03/31/2011 Fair value adjust. 562,500 1.26 0.921 6 mo. 63.41% 0.170% 79,000
05/24/2011 Fair value adjust. 562,500 1.07 0.876 6 mo. 56.88% 0.110% (77,000)
05/24/2011 Warrant expiration (152,000)
Total derivative warrants outstanding $ -
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Series C warrants

Transaction Stock Exercise Estimated Expected Risk-Free
Date Description Quantity Price Price Term Volatility Rate Valuation
11/24/2010 Registered Offering 1,122,825  § 136 § 1.038 3 yrs 156.60% 0.810% $ 1,297,000
12/31/2010 Fair value adjust. 1,096,391 1.13 0.984 3 yrs 155.92% 1.020% (259,000)
03/31/2011 Fair value adjust. 1,049,701 1.26 0.921 3 yrs 153.35% 1.290% 81,000
03/31/2011 Reclassify to equity (1,119,000)
Total derivative warrants outstanding $ =

ON MARCH 24, 2011, THE WARRANT HOLDER EXERCISED THE SERIES A WARRANTS AND RECEIVED 538,660 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK AT EXERCISE IN EXCHANGE FOR CAS
Company reclassified the remaining fair value as of the exercise date of the Series A warrant liability to additional paid in capital.

Exercise of Series A warrants

Gross cash proceeds $ 500,000
Commissions expense (25,000)
Net cash proceeds $ 475,000

THE WARRANT DERIVATIVE LIABILITY THAT WAS RECLASSIFIED TO EQUITY AT FEBRUARY 24, 2011 was $119,000 UPON THE EXERCISE OF THE SERIES A WARRANTS FOR §
common stock.

AT MaRrcH 31, 2011, THE COMPANY AND THE WARRANT HOLDER AGREED TO A MODIFICATION OF THE SERIES C WARRANTS THAT ALLOWED THE COMPANY TO RECLASS!
warrants as equity. The Company reclassified the remaining fair value as of March 31,2011 of'the Series C warrant liability to additional paid in capital.

The amount reclassified to equity as part of this modification of warrants at March 31,2011 was $1,119,000.

THE WARRANT HOLDER ALLOWED THE SERIES B WARRANTS TO EXPIRE UNEXERCISED ON MAY 24, 2011. THE COMPANY RECLASSIFIED THE REMAINING FAIR VALUE AS
expiration date of the Series B warrant liability to additional paid in capital.

The amount reclassified to equity as part of this expiration of warrants at May 24, 2011 was $152,000.

In October 2010, the Company offered a temporary reduction in the exercise price of certain warrants to purchase shares of common stock previously issued.
ON OcTOBER 20, 2010 THE COMPANY COMMENCED SOLICITING WARRANT EXERCISES FROM EXISTING HOLDERS AT A REDUCED EXERCISE PRICE OF $0.95 PER WARRANT EXER(
PRIOR TO OCTOBER 31, 2010. WARRANT HOLDERS EXERCISED WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 226,344 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK. THIS SOLICITATION OF WARRANTS YIELDED $1

net of offering costs.

AT VARIOUS TIMES DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012, THE WARRANT HOLDER EXERCISED SERIES C WARRANTS AND RECEIVED SHARES OF COMMON STOCK IN EXCHANGE
time of the exercise.

Warrants exercised Gross proceeds

July 2011 50,000 $ 40,244
May 2012 1,579,402 773,032
June 2012 40,000 21,521
Total 1,669,402 $ 834,797
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The warrants activity is summarized as follows for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Warrants Price (a) Warrants Price (a)
Beginning balance outstanding 3,819,185 §$ 3.69 3,165,768 $ 5.62
Cancelled/expired (2,092,324) 5.89 (816,100) 5.00
Warrants exercised (1,669,402) .050 (765,004) 0.97
Granted 1,902,340 1.36 2,234,521 1.00
Ending balance outstanding 1,959,799 ' $ 138 3,819,185 § 3.69

(a) Weighted average exercise price per share.

The following table summarizes additional information about the Company’s common warrants outstanding as of June 30,2012:

Number of Warrants Range of Exercise Prices Expiration Date
6,000 $ 1.180 June 2015
25,000 2.000 July 2015
2,766 0.984 November2015
1,207,832 1.560 November2015
650,003 1.058 October2016
63,198 1.058 December2016
5,000 0.980 June2017
1,959,799

12. Income Taxes
The Company did not record an income tax provision or benefit for the years ending 2012 and 2011.

The significant deferred tax components using a 35% federal income tax rate for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012 2011
Property, plant and equipment $ 62,756 $ 85,305
Stock based compensation 241,166 180,503
Reserves 20,161 22,353
Other accruals 30,145 19,798
Asset retirement obligation 253,504 231,763
Net operating loss 13,608,723 12,533,730
Total deferred tax assets 14,216,455 13,073,452
Valuation allowance (14,216,455) (13,073,452)
Net deferred tax asset $ - $ -

AS MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY CANNOT DETERMINE THAT IT IS MORE LIKELY THAN NOT THAT THE COMPANY WILL REALIZE THE BENEFIT OF THE NET DEFERRED TAX .
valuation allowance equal to 100% of the net deferred tax asset has been recorded at year ends June 30,2012 and 2011.

THE COMPANY HAS FEDERAL NET OPERATING LOSS CARRY-FORWARDS OF APPROXIMATELY $38.9 MILLION AT JUNE 30, 2012 AND APPROXIMATELY $35.8 MILLION AT JUNE

2011 IN AVAILABLE LOSSES THAT CAN BE USED TO OFFSET FUTURE REGULAR TAXABLE INCOME. THESE NET OPERATING LOSS CARRY-FORWARDS LOSSES EXPIRE AT VARIO
through the years 2025 to 2032.
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The Company's statutory rate reconciliation is as follows:

2012 2011
Expected income tax benefit base on statutory rate of 35% $ (1,221,117)  $ (994,775)
Travel and entertainment 17,999 11,891
Officer’s life insurance - 84
Non deductible penalties 614 2,459
Warrant liability 59,500 (116,900)
Increase in valuation allowance 1,143,004 1,097,241
Income tax expense (benefit) $ -3 -

The Company has reviewed the tax positions taken and concluded that it does not have to book a liability for uncertain tax positions.

MANAGEMENT HAS DETERMINED THAT THE COMPANY, ITS SUBSIDIARY, AND ITS PREDECESSORS ARE SUBJECT TO EXAMINATION OF THEIR INCOME TAX FILINGS IN THE UNITED S1
AND STATE JURISDICTIONS FOR THE 2010 THROUGH 2012 TAX YEARS. IN THE EVENT THAT THE COMPANY IS ASSESSED PENALTIES AND OR INTEREST, PENALTIES WILL BE CHA
other operating expense and interest will be charged to interest expense.

13. 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan

THE ComPANY HAS A 401(K) PLAN, WHICH COMMENCED IN FISCAL YEAR 2007, COVERING ALL ELIGIBLE FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY. CONTRIBUTIONS TO T
401(K) PLAN ARE MADE BY THE PARTICIPANTS TO THEIR INDIVIDUAL ACCOUNTS THROUGH PAYROLL WITHHOLDING. THE 401(k) PLAN ALSO ALLOWS THE COMPANY TO
contributions at the discretion of management. To date, the Company has not made any contributions to the 401(k) plan.

14. UralDial, LLC

ON JANUARY 23, 2008, THE COMPANY, THROUGH ITS SUBSIDIARY ISORAY INTERNATIONAL LLC, BECAME A THIRTY PERCENT (30%) OWNER IN A RUSSIAN LIMITED LIAB
comPANY, URALDIAL, LLC (URALDIAL), A COMPANY BASED IN YEKATERINBURG, RUssIA. IN DECEMBER 2008, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO AN AGREEMENT TO SELL ITS T
PERCENT (30%) INTEREST IN URALDIAL FOR A NOMINAL AMOUNT. URALDIAL DID NOT HAVE ANY MATERIAL ASSETS OR LIABILITIES AT THE TIME OF THE COMPANY'S DISPOSITIO
ownership interest.

IN DeEcEMBER 2010, THE COMPANY NEGOTIATED A CONTRACT TO PURCHASE Cs-131 FRoM URALDIAL WHICH WAS RENEWED IN DECEMBER 2011. UNDER THE CONTRAC
CoMPANY WILL PURCHASE Cs-131 FROM URALDIAL RATHER THAN PURCHASING Cs-131 DIRECTLY FROM THE TWO SUPPLIERS IN RUSSIA THAT THE COMPANY HAD PURCHASED
previously. UralDial will provide Cs-131 from at least two Russian facilities subject to scheduled maintenance shutdowns of the facilities from time to time.

THE COMPANY HAS AN EXISTING DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT WITH URALDIAL THAT ALLOWS URALDIAL TO DISTRIBUTE PROXCELAN Cs-131 BRACHYTHERAPY SEEDS IN RuUssIz
was no revenue from this agreement in the years ended June 30,2012 or June 30,2011.

15. Distribution Agreement

ON OctoBER 31,2011, THE COMPANY ENTERED INTO A DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT WITH KARLHEINZ GOEHL-MEDIZINTECHNIK GOEHL (DISTRIBUTOR) LOCATED IN GERMANY
AGREEMENT APPOINTS THE DISTRIBUTOR AS THE EXCLUSIVE DISTRIBUTOR OF THE GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM WITHIN THE DEFINED TERRITORY OF GERMANY, /
Switzerland, Italy, and Luxembourg. The agreement terminates on August 30,2013 unless terminated earlier as provided for within the agreement and may be
EXTENDED BY MUTUAL AGREEMENT OF THE COMPANY AND THE DISTRIBUTOR. THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT MAKE THE DISTRIBUTOR THE IMPORTER OF RECORD AND LIABLE
VALUE ADDED TAXES FOR THE SHIPMENTS INTO THE EUROPEAN UNION. THE DISTRIBUTOR PAID $50,000 TOWARDS THE COSTS OF RETURNING THE GLIASITE RTS TO MARKET
European Union.
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16. Commitments and Contingencies

Royalty Agreement for Invention and Patent Application

A SHAREHOLDER OF THE COMPANY PREVIOUSLY ASSIGNED HIS RIGHTS, TITLE AND INTEREST IN AN INVENTION TO IsoRAY PrRopuUCTS LLC (A PREDECESSOR COMPANY) IN EXCHA
FOR A ROYALTY EQUAL TO 1% OF THE GROSS PROFIT, AS DEFINED, FROM THE SALE OF "SEEDS" INCORPORATING THE TECHNOLOGY. THE PATENT AND ASSOCIATED ROYALTY OB
were transferred to the Company in connection with the merger transaction.

THE COMPANY MUST ALSO PAY A ROYALTY OF 2% OF GROSS SALES, AS DEFINED, FOR ANY SUB-ASSIGNMENTS OF THE AFORESAID PATENTED PROCESS TO ANY THIRD PARTIES
ROYALTY AGREEMENT WILL REMAIN IN FORCE UNTIL THE EXPIRATION OF THE PATENTS ON THE ASSIGNED TECHNOLOGY, UNLESS EARLIER TERMINATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH T
of the underlying agreement.

During fiscal years 2012 and 2011, the Company recorded royalty expenses of $19,497 and $26,474, respectively.

Patent and Know-How Royalty License Agreement

THE COMPANY IS THE HOLDER OF AN EXCLUSIVE LICENSE TO USE CERTAIN "KNOW-HOW' DEVELOPED BY ONE OF THE FOUNDERS OF A PREDECESSOR TO THE COMPANY
LICENSED TO THE COMPANY BY THE LAWRENCE FAMILY TRUST, A COMPANY SHAREHOLDER. THE TERMS OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT REQUIRE THE PAYMENT OF A ROYALTY I
ON THE NET FACTORY SALES PRICE, AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT, OF LICENSED PRODUCT SALES. BECAUSE THE LICENSOR'S PATENT APPLICATION WAS ULTIMATELY ABANI
ONLY A 1% "KNOW-HOW" ROYALTY BASED ON NET FACTORY SALES PRICE, AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT, REMAINS APPLICABLE. TO DATE, MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT
HAVE BEEN NO PRODUCT SALES INCORPORATING THE "KNOW-HOW" AND THEREFORE NO ROYALTY IS DUE PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT. MANAGEMENT BELIEV
the possibility of a negative outcome in this matter is remote.

THE LICENSOR OF THE "KNOW-HOW" HAS DISPUTED MANAGEMENT'S CONTENTION THAT IT IS NOT USING THIS "KNOW-HOW". ON SEPTEMBER 25,2007 AND AGAIN ON OCTOBER
2007, THE COMPANY PARTICIPATED IN NONBINDING MEDIATION REGARDING THIS MATTER; HOWEVER, NO SETTLEMENT WAS REACHED WITH THE LAWRENCE FamiLy TruUsT. A

ADDITIONAL SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS, WHICH ENDED IN APRIL 2008, THE PARTIES FAILED TO REACH A SETTLEMENT. THE PARTIES MAY DEMAND BINDING ARBITRATION AT
time.

Operating [ ease Agreements

THE COMPANY LEASES OFFICE AND LABORATORY SPACE AND PRODUCTION AND OFFICE EQUIPMENT UNDER NON-CANCELABLE OPERATING LEASES. THE LEASE AGREEMENTS RE!
monthly lease payments and expire on various dates through April 2016 (including renewal dates). The Company's significant lease is described below.

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2013 $ 286,212
2014 286,212
2015 286,212
2016 238,510
$ 1,097,146

Rental expense amounted to $290,670 and $282,654 for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Qualified Therapeutic Discovery Project Grant

THE COMPANY RECEIVED THREE GRANTS DURING THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 UNDER THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE ADMINISTERED QUALIFIED THERAI
DiscovERY PROJECT. THESE GRANTS ARE SUBJECT TO EXAMINATION BY THE SERVICE. MANAGEMENT BELIEVES THAT THE COMPANY COMPLIED WITH THE GUIDANCE PROVIDED
THE SERVICE FOR "QUALIFIED INVESTMENTS" INCLUDIBLE IN THE QTDP. THE QTDP GUIDANCE PROVIDED BROAD LANGUAGE ALLOWING THE SERVICE THE ABILITY TO DIS?
cosTS. THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE GRANTS IS INCLUDED IN THE RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT REIMBURSEMENT SECTION OF THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
amount of $0 and $515,853 for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively, and this amount is subject to examination by the Service.

Royalty Agreements for Licensed Intellectual Property related to the GliaSite Radiation Therapy System

THE COMPANY IS REQUIRED TO PAY A ROYALTY TO DR.REDDY’S FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE IN THE FIELD OF TREATING BRAIN CANCER RELATED TO THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
IN THE PRODUCTION OF IOTREX WHICH IS A COMPONENT OF THE THE GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM. THE TERM OF THE ROYALTY AGREEMENT IS FROM THE DATE OF FIR
UNTIL THE EXPIRATION OF THE LAST PATENT. THE AGREEMENT PROVIDES FOR CERTAIN MINIMUM PAYMENTS BASED ON CALENDAR YEAR PERIODS AND A RATE OF 2.75% OF NET
as defined in the agreement. The initial royalty year began on January 1,2012.

Royalty Period Minimum Royalty
CY 2012 $ 5,000
CY 2013 10,000
CY 2014 20,000
CY 2015 25,000
CY 2016 and beyond $ 30,000

DURING THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012, THE COMPANY RECORDED THE INITIAL ROYALTY EXPENSE UNDER THE AGREEMENT OF $1,694 FOR THE FIRST SIX MONTHS
initial calendar year minimum royalty period. There was no royalty expense in the fiscal year ended June 30,2011.

THE COMPANY IS REQUIRED TO PAY A ROYALTY TO HOLOGIC, INC FOR THE EXCLUSIVE WORLDWIDE USE OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY EXCLUSIVE OF THE RADIOISOTOPE ASSO
WITH THE GLIASITE RADIATION THERAPY SYSTEM IN THE FIELD OF INTRACAVITY RADIATION THERAPY OF THE BRAIN. THE TERM OF THE ROYALTY AGREEMENT IS FROM THE E
DATE OF THE AGREEMENT (JANUARY 1, 20]2) AND CONTINUES THEREAFTER UNLESS TERMINATED EARLIER AS DEFINED IN THE AGREEMENT. THE AGREEMENT PROVIDES FOR £

payment based on a rate of 5% of net sales as defined in the agreement.

DURING FISCAL YEAR 2012, THE COMPANY RECORDED AGGREGATE ROYALTY EXPENSES OF $3,370 RELATED TO THE LICENSED INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY UTILIZED IN THE MANI
and sale of the GliaSite Radiation Therapy System. There was no royalty expense in the fiscal year ended June 30,2011.

17. Concentrations of Credit and Other Risks
The Company's financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, and accounts receivable.
THE COMPANY'S CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ARE MAINTAINED WITH HIGH-QUALITY FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS. THE ACCOUNTS ARE GUARANTEED BY THE FEDERAL D

Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000. At June 30,2012, cash balances uninsured by the FDIC totaled approximately $300,000.
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THE COMPANY'S ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE RESULT FROM CREDIT SALES TO CUSTOMERS. THE COMPANY HAD THREE CUSTOMERS WHOSE SALES WERE GREATER THAN 10% FOR T
ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND TWO CUSTOMERS WHOSE SALES WERE GREATER THAN 10% FOR THE YEAR ENDED 2011. THESE CUSTOMERS REPRESENTED A COMBINED 9.19%
28.4% of the Company's total revenues for the years ended June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively. These same customers accounted for a combined 50.1% and
28.8% of'the Company's net accounts receivable balance at June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively.

THE LOSS OF ANY OF THESE SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS WOULD HAVE A TEMPORARY ADVERSE EFFECT ON THE COMPANY'S REVENUES, WHICH WOULD CONTINUE UNTIL THE Com
located new customers to replace them.

The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and provides an allowance for doubtful accounts as necessary.
Inventories

MoOST COMPONENTS USED IN THE COMPANY'S PRODUCT ARE PURCHASED FROM OUTSIDE SOURCES. CERTAIN COMPONENTS ARE PURCHASED FROM SINGLE SUPPLIERS. THE FAILURE
ANY SUCH SUPPLIER TO MEET ITS COMMITMENT ON SCHEDULE COULD HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT ON THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS, OPERATING RESULTS AND FINAN
CONDITION. IF A SOLE-SOURCE SUPPLIER OR A SUPPLIER OF Cs-131 OR IRRADIATED BARIUM WERE TO GO OUT OF BUSINESS OR OTHERWISE BECOME UNABLE TO MEET ITS SU
COMMITMENTS, THE PROCESS OF LOCATING AND QUALIFYING ALTERNATE SOURCES COULD REQUIRE UP TO SEVERAL MONTHS, DURING WHICH TIME THE COMPANY'S PRODUC
could be delayed. Such delays could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results and financial condition.

VIRTUALLY ALL OF THE COMPONENTS USED IN THE PRODUCTION OF THE GLIASITE RTS ARE FROM SINGLE SOURCES. WE DO NOT HAVE FORMAL WRITTEN AGREEMENTS WIT
SUPPLIERS. ANY INTERRUPTION OR DELAY IN THE SUPPLY OF THESE COMPONENTS COULD HARM OUR BUSINESS AS THE COST AND/OR TIME REQUIRED MEET THE REGULZ
REQUIREMENTS OF THE FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION FOR THE UNITED STATES AND OUR NOTIFIED BODY FOR OUR CE MARK (THE BRITISH STANDARDS INSTITUTE
European Union may be prohibitive.

18. Related Party Transaction

DURING THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 anp JuNE 30,2011, THE COMPANY ENGAGED THE SERVICES OF APEX DATA SySTEMS, INC., OWNED BY DWIGHT BABCO(
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, TO BUILD AND MAINTAIN A WEB INTERFACED DATA COLLECTION APPLICATION TO AGGREGATE PATIENT DATA IN A CONTE
ENVIRONMENT. THE COMPANY INCURRED $18,270 IN COSTS RELATED TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF A MONO-THERAPY REGISTRY AND A COMBO-THERAPY REGISTRY WHICE
RECORDED AS FIXED ASSETS AS OF JUNE 30, 2012 AND MAINTENANCE COSTS RELATED TO THE REGISTRIES IN THE AMOUNT OF $13,080 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2012. THE C¢
INCURRED $62,401 IN COSTS RELATED TO THIS APPLICATION, WHICH ARE RECORDED AS A FIXED ASSET AT JUNE 30, 2011. THE AMOUNT ACCRUED FOR PAYMENT TO APEX
Systems, Inc. was $1,000 and $5,320 at June 30,2012 and 2011, respectively.

19. Subsequent Event

On July 13,2012, the Company entered into an agreement to sell 3,626,943 shares of common stock in a registered direct offering with an aggregate purchase
price of $3.5 million at a price per share of $0.965. The offering yielded $3,296,128 in cash after expenses.

Gross proceeds of registered direct offering $ 3,500,000
Commissions expense (87,500)
Legal expense (65,785)
Listing expense (47,000)
Other expense (3.587)
Net proceeds $ 3,296,128
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SIGNATURES

PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE AcCT OF 1934, THE REGISTRANT HAS DULY CAUSED THIS REPO
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: September 28,2012
ISORAY, INC., a Minnesota corporation

By /s/ Dwight Babcock
Dwight Babcock, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

By /s/Brien L. Ragle
Brien L. Ragle, Controller,
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, THIS REPORT HAS BEEN SIGNED BELOW BY THE FOLLOWING PERSONS ON B
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Dated: September 28,2012

/s/ Dwight Babcock
Dwight Babcock, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

/s/ Brien L. Ragle
Brien L. Ragle, Controller,
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Robert Kauffiman, Director and Vice-Chairman

/s/ Thomas LaVoy
Thomas LaVoy, Director

/s/ Albert Smith
Albert Smith, Director
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dln-t 7307 N. Division, Suite 222

decoria» maichel » teague Spokane, Washington 99208

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements Nos. 333-127717, 333-136728 and 333-148647 on Form S-8 and Nos.
333-140246, 333-141934, 333-162694, 333-17118 and 333-182678 on Form S-3 of our report dated September 26, 2012, with respect to the consolidated
balance sheets of IsoRay, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of June 30,2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’
equity and cash flows for the years then ended, which report appears in the Form 10-K filing for IsoRay, Inc. to be filed on or about September 27,2012.

Mr/jz, /%;'24—/,!7:%«7 FS.

DeCoria, Maichel & Teague, P.S.
Spokane, Washington
September 26,2012
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, Dwight Babcock, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of IsoRay, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a 15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 28,2012

/s/ Dwight Babcock
Dwight Babcock
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, Brien L Ragle, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of IsoRay, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a 15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: September 28,2012

/s/ Brien L. Ragle
Brien L. Ragle
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 32
Section 1350 Certifications

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002, each of the undersigned officers of IsoRay,
Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the Company), hereby certify that:

To my knowledge, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended June 30,2012 (the Report) fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: September 28,2012

/s/ Dwight Babcock

Dwight Babcock
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Dated: September 28,2012

/s/ Brien L. Ragle

Brien 1. ragle
Controller
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES
SAFETY EVALUATION OF DEVICE

NO. WA-1220-D-102-S DATE: 21 November 2011 PAGE: Page 1 of 15
SUPERSEDES: GA-1148-D-101-S
DEVICE TYPE: Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy

MODEL: GliaSite® Radiation Therapy System (RTS), with catheter Models 1020, 1030, & 1040.

MANUFACTURER/DISTRIBUTOR: IsoRay Medical, Inc.
Previously: Cytec Surgical Products II Suite 106
3581 Haddon Hall Drive 350 Hills South
Buford, Georgia 30519 Richland, Washington 99354-5411

Email: info@isoray.com Phone: 509-375-1202

RADIONUCLIDE FORM AND DESCRIPTION:

lotrex™, a proprietary liquid solution, consisting of a combination of iodide and sodium 3-[1-125] iodo-4- hydroxybenzenesulfonate (1-HBS).

ISOTOPE: MAXIMUM ACTIVITY: NOMINAL ACTIVITY:
lodine 125 1320 millicuries (48.84GBq) 1200 mCi (44.4 GBq + 10%)
LEAK TEST FREQUENCY: Not Applicable
PRINCIPAL USE: (AA) Manual Brachytherapy
CUSTOM DEVICE NO
Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012 Powered by Momingstar® Document Research™

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES
SAFETY EVALUATION OF DEVICE

NO. WA-1220-D-102-S DATE: 21 November 2011 PAGE: Page 2 of 15
DEVICE TYPE: Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy

DESCRIPTION:

The GliaSite® RTS System is a single-use, low-dose rate brachytherapy system consisting of a double-wall balloon catheter filled with lotrex™, a solution
containing organically bound 1-125. The system is intended to deliver intracavitary radiation therapy in patients with malignant brain tumors following
tumor resection surgery. Radiation therapy is delivered by inflating the balloon portion of the device with a combination of lotrex™ solution and saline.
After a patient-specific dwell time, the lotrex™ solution is removed from the catheter, and the catheter is then removed from the patient.

The GliaSite® catheter is constructed from common biocompatible materials and is configured similar to other currently marketed interstitial and
intracavitary brachytherapy applicators.

The GliaSite® catheter consists of a shaft with an inflatable dual silicon balloon configuration (balloon within a balloon) at the distal (treatment) end and an

infusion port at the proximal end. The three models of the GilaSite® RTS catheter refer to different sized balloons, and thus, different fill volumes. The
balloon diameters and maximum inflation/fill volumes are contained in the table below.

Catheter Model Balloon Diameter Maximum Fill Volume
1020 2cm SmL
1030 3cm 15mL
1040 4cm 35mL

The inner balloon acts as a reservoir for the lotrex™ solution. The outer balloon serves as the backup reservoir in the event the inner balloon should rupture.
The RTS catheter shaft is constructed from radiopaque silicone and bitumen tubing, and contains a malleable titanium element to assist in positioning the
balloon. Both ends of the inner balloon have radiopaque markers along the catheter shaft. Additionally, the catheter shaft is equipped with positioning
markers at 1 cm intervals beginning at the proximal end of the balloon.

The primary catheter lumen, which is used to access the inner balloon, is connected to the infusion port. To prevent leakage during insertion of the lotrex™
solution, the infusion port is equipped with a self-sealing silicone septum.

Refer to Figure 1a for a picture of an inflated, 3cm diameter GliaSite® RTS catheter. Refer to Figures 2 - 4 for a simplified step-by-step walk through ofa
typical GliaSite® treatment, showing how the GliaSite® is implanted and lotrex™ is inserted.
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REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES
SAFETY EVALUATION OF DEVICE

NO. WA-1220-D-102-S DATE: 21 November 2011 PAGE: Page 3 of 15

DEVICE TYPE: Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy
Labeling:

The GliaSite® catheters do not require standard radioactive materials labeling since (1) the catheters, when shipped, do not contain radioactive material; (2)
the only time the catheter contains radioactive material is when it is implanted in the patient; (3) radioactive material is removed from the catheter prior to
removal from the patient; and (4) the catheter is disposed as radioactive waste or decayed in storage.

The catheter itself is marked with "ISORAY" and the model number of the catheter.

The tray in which the catheter is provided, as well as the box in which the catheter and its ancillary equipment is shipped, is labeled in accordance with FDA
guidelines. A sample label for the GliaSite ® box is provided in Figure 5. A sample of the labels on the lotrex™ solution vial and shipping container is

provided in Figures 6 and 7. Figure 8 shows a photo of the GliaSite® catheter, uninflated and inflated, while Figure 9 shows the GliaSite® catheter and
lotrex™ vial.

DIAGRAMS:

Figure 1 Inflated GliaSite® RTS catheter

Figure 2 Implanted GliaSite® catheter

Figure 3 Surgical placement of the deflated GliaSite®
Figure 4 Infusion of lotrex™ solution

Figure 5 Sample GliaSite® box label

Figure 6 Sample lotrex™ vial label

Figure 7 Sample lotrex™ shipping container label
Figure 8 GliaSite® catheter

Figure 9 GliaSite® catheter and lotrex™ vial

Figure 10 GliaSite® RTS Tray
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REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES
SAFETY EVALUATION OF DEVICE

NO. WA-1220-D-102-S DATE: 21 November 2011 PAGE: Page 4 of 15
DEVICE TYPE: Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy

CONDITIONS OF NORMAL USE:

The GliaSite® catheters are sterilized and stored in sealed containers prior to use. The catheter is inserted into the patient during surgery and the balloon is
inflated. The entire catheter will be enclosed within the patient during the treatment time. The infusion port is located beneath the skin.

The Iotrex™ solution is received at the facility within 48 hours prior to its intended use in unit dose vials of 195 millicuries (£ 20mCi) each. The lotrex™ is

drawn from the vials into a syringe and injected into the GliaSite® catheter via the infusion port in the patient's private room or other secured location.
Removal of the Iotrex™ solution is accomplished by reversing the insertion procedure.

Both the GliaSite® catheter and the lotrex™ solution are single use, and are disposed as radioactive waste immediately upon removal from the patient.

Refer to the "Limitations and/or Other Considerations of Use" section for additional information regarding use of the GliaSite® Spectrum system.

PROTOTYPE TESTING:

The GliaSite® catheter has been subjected to a battery of tests to confirm its integrity in typical use as well as expected accident conditions. These tests
included bend and tensile testing of the catheter shaft, design pressure verification of the balloons, material interaction of the balloon (with x-ray contrast
solution, saline, and lotrex™), and the ability to successfully image the catheter.

Since the GliaSite® catheter must be able to withstand gamma sterilization in the mega-Rad range prior to any use, additional testing of the effects of the
radiation emitted from the lotrex" solution is not required.

Standard leak test methods for sealed sources cannot be used on GliaSite®. Instead, the GliaSite® catheter is evaluated based on the amount of pressure the
balloon can withstand, and the amount of liquid which will permeate the balloons over an extended period of time. It has been confirmed during animal and
clinical trials that, due to silicon's permeability to small molecules, approximately 1% of the afterloaded activity will diffuse across the membrane into the
body. This exposure has been evaluated and determined to have no adverse effects on the patient. Uptake in the thyroid gland may be minimized by

administering a thyroid-blocking agent to the patient prior to implantation of the GliaSite®.
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REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES
SAFETY EVALUATION OF DEVICE

NO. WA-1220-D-102-S DATE: 21 November 2011 PAGE: Page 5 of 15
DEVICE TYPE: Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy

PROTOTYPE TESTING (continued):

The makeup of the lotrex™ compound is such that it precludes uptake into the body or its organs. To simulate a complete catheter failure (both balloons

rupture and release the lotrex™ solution), lotrex " solution was injected directly into the brain and tracked through the body. Two hours following injection,
93% had been excreted from the body, while at 4 hours, 97.2% of the initial activity had been excreted. This shows that lotrex™ is removed from the body
more rapidly than standard radioiodide, which has a biological half-life of 8 hours.

To date, clinical trials using the GliaSite® RTS have used a maximum activity of450 mCi of lotrex ™. Data shows the GliaSite® catheter can safely handle
up to 1200 mCi of lotrex ™.

The GliaSite® RTS catheter has a shelflife of 5 years from the date of manufacture. The GliaSite® RTS catheter has undergone accelerated aging tests to
validate that this shelflife will not adversely affect product performance or safety. The lotrex™ solution has a maximum shelf life of 29 days based on the
requirement that no more than 20% of'the 1-125 can be in an unbound (iodide) form at the time of afterloading. The amount of unbound 1-125 increases over
time as the 1-HBS compound degrades.

EXTERNAL RADIATION LEVELS:

The manufacturer provided calculated exposure rates from the head of a patient who received a 1200 millicurie GliaSite® treatment with lotrex™.
Additionally, the manufacturer provided actual data collected during trials for patients who received GliaSite® treatments with up to 460 mCi of lotrex™.
There is no direct correlation between administered activity and exposure rates around the patient because (1) the location of the GliaSite® catheter with

respect to the surface of the head varies from patient to patient; and (2) the physical makeup of the patient (i.e., skull thickness and skin thickness) varies,
resulting in different levels of radiation attenuation.

The exposure rates around a patient are recorded in the table below.

Exposure Rate, mR/hr (uSv/hr)

Distance from calculated clinical range typical expected
Patient's Head (1200 mCi) (up to 460 mCi) (up to 460 mCi)
5 cm** 4310 (43,100) 20 —650 (200 —6500) 200 (2000)
30 cm 206 (2060) not reported not reported
100 cm 20 (200) 0.2-3.4 (2—34) 2 (20)
at room doorway not calculated 0.02-0.6 (0.2-60] <0.1(<1)

* %k . .. .
exposure rates were recorded at surface of head in clinical trials
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REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES
SAFETY EVALUATION OF DEVICE

NO. WA-1220-D-102-S DATE: 21 November 2011 PAGE: Page 6 of 15
DEVICE TYPE: Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy

QUALITY ASSURANCE AND CONTROL:

The manufacturer has implemented a Quality Control System which meets the qualifications of ISO 9001:1994, EN46001, and 21 CFR Part 820 (Quality
Systems Regulations), which encompasses FDA's Current Good Manufacturing Practices.

Items that are provided by suppliers or subcontractors must conform to the design controls and specification requirements of the manufacturer's Quality
System. The design controls provide evidence of device performance, verification and validation through all phases of use, and indicate the QC checkpoints

used during component construction.

LIMITATIONS AND/OR OTHER CONSIDERATIONS OF USE:

*  The GliaSite® RTS shall be distributed to persons specifically licensed for the use of radioactive materials in the healing arts by the NRC or an
Agreement State.

% Handling, storage, use, transfer, and disposal: To be determined by the licensing authority.
*  The GliaSite® RTS shall only be used under the supervision of an authorized user, or as approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA).

*  Users of the GliaSite® RTS shall have completed initial training by the manufacturer, or persons specifically licensed by the NRC or an Agreement
State to provide such training, prior to initial use.

*  The lotrex™ solution has not had a sealed source evaluation performed because it is a liquid and does not meet the requirements for a sealed source.
lotrex™ solution has been deemed acceptable for use in the GliaSite® RTS.

* It isrecommended that patients who will be administered lotrex™ via the GliaSite® RTS also receive a pre-dose thyroid blocking agent in accordance
with the precautions set out in the Instruction Manuals.

+ REVIEWER NOTE: Care should be taken during infusion and removal of lotrex™ solution to minimize the potential of surface contamination of the
patient.
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REGISTRY OF RADIOACTIVE SEALED SOURCES AND DEVICES
SAFETY EVALUATION OF DEVICE

NO. WA-1220-D-102-S DATE: 21 November 2011 PAGE: Page 7 of 15
DEVICE TYPE: Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy

LIMITATIONS AND/OR OTHER CONSIDERATIONS OF USE: (continued)

*  REVIEWER NOTE: Patients who have been administered lotrex™ solution using the GliaSite® RTS may be monitored and handled as if they were
undergoing a thyroid ablation procedure. For example, the product insert for lotrex™ recommends, "...all clothing, bandages or linens that come into

contact with urine, sweat, or saliva should be surveyed for the presence of 1257 Following radioactive lodine procedures will adequately protect
workers and the general public from radiation and radioactive material associated with the patient.

+ REVIEWER NOTE: Facilities may want to consider the orientation of the bed in the patient's room so that radiation from the head of the patient has
minimal impact on radiation workers and those in unrestricted areas.

+ REVIEWER NOTE: A radioactive spill kit should be available in the room for use by trained personnel in the event of a radioactive spill.

% This registration sheet and the information contained within the references shall not be changed without the written consent of the Washington State
Department of Health, Office of Radiation Protection.

SAFETY ANALYSIS SUMMARY:

The GliaSite® RTS delivers radiation therapy to the resected cavities of brain tumors. The GliaSite® catheter remains in a sterile package until
implanted in the patient following tumor resection. The system is radioactive only after the lotrex™ solution is injected into the GliaSite®
catheter, which has been previously implanted and contained wholly within the patient's body. The lotrex™ solution, shipped within 48 hours of
expected use, is contained within a double-walled balloon catheter shown to be compatible with the body and to maintain its integrity for the
duration of the therapy.

Both the GliaSite® catheter and the Totrex™ solution are single use and are disposed as radioactive waste immediately upon completion of
treatment.

Under normal use, the GliaSite® catheter is expected to release approximately 1% of the loaded activity into the body proper due to the
permeability of silicon to small molecules. This has been evaluated by the FDA and determined to have no adverse effects on the patient.

Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012 Powered by Momingstar® Document Research™
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SAFETY ANALYSIS SUMMARY (continued):

In the unlikely event that a GliaSite® catheter fails during treatment and releases the lotrex™ solution into the body, the lotrex™ solution will be
rapidly excreted from the body primarily through the urine. Using the maximum dose administered to date, 460 mCi, doses to vital organs under
this scenario are less than those received during a routine thyroid ablation using 150 mCi of I-131. To protect the patient in the event of device
failure, a thyroid blocking agent should be administered prior to device implantation and lotrex™ infusion, and continued during the course of
treatment as outlined in the precautions in the GliaSite® RTS Instruction Manual.

Based on review of the GliaSite® RTS, and the information and test data cited below, we conclude that this device is acceptable for licensing

purposes. Furthermore, we conclude that the GliaSite® RTS would be expected to maintain containment integrity under normal conditions of use
and also during accidental conditions which might occur during uses authorized in this certificate.

NOTE ABOUT THIS SSDE: This SSDE is being issued as a "new" SSDE solely because the owners and distributors of this device are now
Washington state licensees and no Agreement state may amend an SSDE issued by another state. This "new" SSDE relies primarily on the SSDE
issued by the state of Georgia to Proxima (and later, Cytec), for this device. Only the two changes made to the device by the state of Washington
licensee were reviewed in detail. These two changes are: (1) a new vendor (Vesta) and process for producing the balloons, now using a Liquid
Injection Molding (LIM) process rather than the old dipping process, (Vesta has always produced the catheters) and (2) reversion to the original
Proxima infusion port which is now solid Titanium again as opposed to the most recent port which used a polysulfone body and a Titanium floor.
Both the prior and the current ports use silicone septa. NOTE: At the request of the current manufacturer/distributor, IsoRay, all references and
authorizations for the GliaSite® Spectrum system have been deleted from this Sealed Source and Device evaluation.

Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012 Powered by Momingstar® Document Research™
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REFERENCES:
The following supporting documents for the GliaSite® RTS System are hereby incorporated by reference and are made a part of this registry
document.

%  Proxima Therapeutics, Inc.'s application with enclosures dated March 6, 2001, signed by James B. Stubbs, Ph.D., Vice President,
Scientific Affairs.

% Letter with enclosures dated August 6,2001, signed by James B. Stubbs, Ph.D., Vice President, Scientific Affairs.

%  Letters with enclosures dated 13 November 2002, 22 January 2003, and 1 October 2003, all signed by James B. Stubbs, Ph.D., Vice
President, Scientific Affairs.

%  State of Georgia Sealed Source & Device Evaluation, Number GA-1148-D-101-S, last amended in entirety 7 October 2003.

+  Application and attachments dated 17 August 2011 from IsoRay Medical, Inc., signed by Dale E. Boyce, Senior Radiation Scientist,
IsoRay Medical, Inc.

+ Additional documents, graphics, labels, etc. submitted to complete the SSD review.

ISSUING AGENCY: Washington State Department of Health, Office of Radiation Protection, Radioactive Materials Section.

This document is not a license to receive, possess or distribute radioactive material. Receipt, possession and distribution of radioactive material,
sources and devices containing radioactive material, are subject to the terms and conditions of applicable regulations and licenses issued by the

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission or Agreement States.

Date: 21 November 2011 Reviewer /s/ C. DeMaris
C. DeMaris
Date: 21 November 2011 Reviewer /s/ Anine Grumbles

Anine Grumbles

Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research
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Figure 1 Inflated GliaSite catheter
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(amended in its entirety)

[ Figure 3 .7 Surgical placement of the.

deflated GliaSite u-m the surgical
resection cavity. The infusion. port is
also plaoad subcutaneously.
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Figure 5 —GliaSite® box label
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Figure 6 —lotrex™ vial label (larger than actual size)
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FIGURE 9
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Figure 10 GliaSite RTS Tray

_Components of the GliaSite Catheter Tray

Description Quantity FDA Status
Item Mo.
1 GllaSite Catheler in Inner Tray wiTyvek Lid 1 Class | per 892,5650, Manual
Radionuclide Applicator System

2 GliaSite Catheler Quter Tray 1 MNIA

3 Pre-packaged lrays with 20 G X 1" 2 Class Il per 880. 5670, Needle,
Moncoring Needles (X 2) Hypodermic, Single Lumen

4 Poly/Tyvek Pouches Containing Right Angle 2 Class Il per BB2.5550, Central nervous
Anchoring Clips (3 2) systemn fluid shunt and components

5 GliaSile Catheler QOuter Tray Tyvek Lid 1 ﬁ_i

[ GliaSite RTS Instruction Manual

7 GliaSite Fluid Status Char M,

[] GliaSite Calhater Tray SBS Shelf Box NFA

9 GliaSile Catheter Tray Shell Box Label 1 MNIA

10 GliaSite Catheter Tray Lid Label 1 A

Source: IsoRay, Inc., 10-K, September 28, 2012
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